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~Annual Meeting Schedule

Incidental meeting rooms are available throughout the week and may be reserved by calling the National Council prior
to the meeting or via sign-up sheets located at the registration desk. Specific time has been made available on Friday,
beginning at 5:00pm, for any group to meet. Incidental meeting rooms will be allocated on a first-come, first-served basis.

Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday
August 18 August 19 August 20 August 21 August 22

11 :OOam-5:00pm 8:00am-2:00pm 7:30am-8:30am 6:30am-7:00am 7:00am-8:00am
Registration Registration Registr.ation Registration Registration
East Prefunction East Prefunction East Prefunction East Prefunction East Prefunction

1:OOpm-2:30pm 8:30am-9:30am 7:30am-8:30am 7:30am-8:30am 8:00am-9:00am
Concurrent Orientation Breakf~lstwith ETS Breakfast with The Resolutions Forum
Educational Sessions Summit III Summi;~ II, III Psychological Heritage C, D, E, F

• NCLEXTest Corporation
Development 9:30am-9:45am 8:30am-10:30am Summit Ballroom 9:00am-10:00am

• Accustomation Coffee Break, Testing Vendor Research Forum
Course Improves sponsored by ETS Presentation-ACT 7:30am-8:30am Heritage C, D, E, F
Pass Rate for Heritage C, D, E, F Elections
Foreign Nurses 9:45am-11 :15am Cameron 10:00am-10:15am

• Nursing Ethics: Concurrent 1O:30am-1 0:45am Coffee Break,
From Moral Networking Groups Coffee Break 8:30am-9:30am Research Poster
Certitude to • Executive Dir. NIS Forum Session
Quandary • Board Members 1O:45am-11 :30am Heritage C, D, E, F

Heritage D, E, F • Board Staff Long Range Planning 10:15am-12:30pm
To be announced Forum 9:30am-10:00am Delegate Assembly

3:00pm-4:30pm Heritag~C, D, E, F AECForum Heritage C, D, E, F
Concurrent 11 :15am-12:30pm Heritage C, D, E, F
Educational Sessions Lunch with ACT 11:30am-12:15pm 12:30pm-2:00pm

• CAT 101: Summit III Finance Committee 10:00am-10:15am Lunch Break
A Very General Forum Coffee Break,
Overview for the 12:30pm-1 :30pm Heritag,~C, D, E, F sponsored by ETS 2:00pm-5:00pm
CAT Newcomer Delegate Assembly Delegate Assembly

• Alcohol and Drug Heritage C, D, E, F 12:15pm-1:30pm 1O:15am-11 :30am Heritage C, D, E, F
Use Among Nurses Area Luncheons NP&EForum
in Missouri 1:30pm-3:00pm • Area I Heritage C, D, E, F

• When it Just Ain't Board of Directors • Area II
Right... Forum • Area III 11 :30am-1 :OOpm
Discipline? Heritage C, D, E, F • Area IV Awards Luncheon
Ethics? Neither! To be announced Summit Ballroom

Heritage D, E, F 3:00pm-3:15pm
Coffee Break 1:30pm--3:30pm 1:OOpm-2:00pm

5:00pm-6:30pm Testing Vendor CAT Testing Vendor
Early Bird Social 3:15pm-5:15pm Presentation-ETS Forum
Heritage A, B, C Testing Vendor Heritage C, D, E, F Heritage C, D, E, F

Presentation-CTB
Heritage C, D, E, F 3:30pm-03:45pm 2:00pm-5:00pm

Coffee Break, courtesy Delegate Assembly
5:15pm-7:00pm of Colorado Board of Heritage C, D, E, F
Dinner Break Nursing

5:00pm-6:00pm
7:00pm-8:00pm 3:45pm-04:45pm Special Interest
Candidates' Forum Board of Directors/CAT Groups
Heritage C, D, E, F Negotiating Team • This is a time for

Forum any special interest
8:00pm-10:00pm Heritage C, D, E, F group to reserve a PLEASE NOTE:
CTB Reception meeting room to Attendance at forums
Summit Ballroom 5:00pm-0 7:00pm dialogue on issues. marked by a shaded

Hospitality Hours, box is limited to
hosted concurrently by Member Board
ACT, CTB and ETS representatives.
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Business Agenda of the 1992 Delegate Assembly

VVednesday, August 19
12:30-1 :30 pm Resource Materials and Forums

Opening Ceremonies Orientation, Wednesday, 8:30-9:30am
- Introductions
- Announcements

Opening Reports
- Registration Committee
- Rules Committee Tab 2
- Adoption of Agenda Tab 2
- Committee to Approve Minutes of 1991 Delegate Assembly........ Minutes previously disseminated to

Member Boards
- Announcement of Delegate Assembly Committee Appointments

Report of the Committee on Nominations
- Slate of Candidates Tab 3
- Nominations from Hoor

Overview of Delegate Assembly

Friday, August 21
7:30-8:30 am

Election of Officers & Committee on Nominations Candidates' Forum,
Wednesday,7:00-8:00pm

Friday, August 21
2:00-5:00 pm

Officers' Reports Tab 4
- President's Address
- Treasurer's Report-Audit Tab 4, page 6

* Executive Director's Report Tab 5

Long Range Planning Committee Report Tab 6
Long Range Planning Committee Forum,
Thursday,1O:45-11:30am

Finance Committee Report Tab 7
Finance Committee Forum,
Thursday, 11:30am-12:15pm

* Election Committee Report

National Council of State Boards ofNursing, Inc.ll992
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Board of Directors' and Ad Hoc Committee Reports
- Introduction .. Tab 8
• NCLEX Use by Manitoba and Similarly-Situated

Provinces/Countries Tab 8, page 1
Board recommendation #1

• Limited Scope Job Analysis Status Tab 8, pagel
Board recommendation #2

- Computerized Adaptive Testing Reports
PN Field Test Team .. Tab 8, page 7
Education Information Team...... Tab 8, page 11
Implementation Team Tab 8, page 17
Negotiating Team Materials previously disseminated to

Member Boards; Testing Vendor
Presentations; Board of Directors!
Negotiating Team Forum, Thursday,
3:45-4:45pm; CAT Testing Vendor
Forum, Friday, 1:00-2:00pm

• Member Board contracts-CAT To be mailed in late July
Board recommendation #3

- Other recommendations, to be determined

* NCLEX Test Service & Data Center Report Tab 9

CST Steering Committee Report Tab 10

Nurse Information System Committee Report Tab 11
NlS Committee Forum,
Friday, 8:3(}-9:30 am

Foreign Educated Nurse Credentialing Committee Report Tab 12

Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program Committee Report Tab 13

* NACEP Test Service Report Tab 13

Saturday, August 22
10:15 am-5:00 pm (lunch break from 12:30-2:00 pm)

New Business (Saturday, 10:15 a.m.)
- Resolutions Committee Report Tab 19

Resolutions Forum,
Saturday,8:00-9:00am

Bylaws Committee Report Tab 14

Administration of Examination Committee Report Tab 15
Administration of Examination
Committee Forum, Friday, 9:3(}-1O:00am

Examination Committee Report.. Tab 16

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc./1992
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Communications Committee Report Tab 17

Nursing Practice and Education Committee Report & Subcommittees ..... Tab 18
NP&E Committee Forum,
Friday,1O:15-11:30am

- Nursing Practice & Education Committee
- Subcommittee to Study the Regulation of Advanced Practice
- Subcommittee to Study Regulatory Models for

Chemically Dependent Nurses

Adjournment

* Items which are flexible and will be taken up when time is available in the agenda.

NatioTUll Council ofState Boards ofNursing. Inc.l1992
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Standing Rules of the Delegate Assembly

1. Procedures
A. The Registration Committee, directly after the opening ceremonies of the first business meeting, shall

report the number of delegates and alternates registered as present with proper credentials, and the
number ofdelegate votes present. The committee shall make a supplementary report after the opening
exercises at the beginning of each day that business continues.

B. Upon registration:
1. Each delegate and alternate shall receive a badge which must be worn at all meetings.
2. Each delegate shall receive a voting card: a white voting card designates one vote, a pink

voting card designates two votes. Any change in voting cards must be made through the
Registration Committee.

C. A member registered as an alternate may, upon proper clearance of the Registration Committee, be
transferred from alternate to delegate.

D. Members shall be in their seal" at leastftve minutes before the scheduled meeting time. Delegates shall
sit in the section reserved for them.

E. There shall be no smoking in the meeting rooms.

2. Motions
A. All new business, except motions proposed by the Board of Directors or as recommendations made

in reports of officers or committees, shall be referred without debate to the Resolutions Conunittee;
motions proposed by the Board of Directors or by officers or committees shall be presented by the
Board or proposing officer or committee directly to the Delegate Assembly. The Delegate Assembly
by a majority vote may suspend this rule and inunediately consider a question.

B. Resolutions and recommendations shall be presented to the Resolutions Committee by 5:00 p.m. on
Thursday, August 20, 1992.

C. The Resolutions Committee shall prepare suitable resolutions to carry into effect reconunendations
referred to it, and shall submit to the Delegate Assembly, with the committee's own reconunendation
as to appropriate action accompanied by a fiscal impact statement, these and all other resolutions
referred to the committee.

D. All motions and amendments shall be in writing on triplicate motion paper signed by the maker and
shall be sent to the chair after they have been placed before the Delegate Assembly.

3. Debate
A. Any representative of a Member Board wishing to speak shall go to the appropriate microphone. For

this purpose, specific microphones shall be designated to be Uf;ed when speaking in the affirmative on
the motion on the floor and the others for speaking in the negative.

B. Upon recognition by the chair, the speaker shall state his/her name and Member Board.

C. Debate shall be alternated between the affumative and negative microphones.

----------------------------------------,.-_...
NatioTUlI Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc./1992
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D. No delegate or board member shall speak in debate more than twice on the same question on the same
day. or longer than two minutes per speech, without permission of the assembly granted by a majority
vote without debate. Other representatives ofMember Boards may speak only after all delegates and
board members who wish to speak on the: motion have spoken. Guests may speak upon recognition
by the chair.

E. A red card raised at the microphone interrupts business for the purpose ofa point oforder, a question
of privilege. orders of the day. a parliamentary inquiry or an appeal.

F. A timekeeper will signal when allotted time has expired.

4. Nominations and Elections
A. A delegate making a nomination from the floor shall be pennitted two minutes to give the

qualifications of the nominee and to indicate that written consent of the nominee and a written
statement of qualifications have been forwarded to the Committee on Nominations. Seconding
speeches shall not be permitted.

B. Electioneering for candidates is prohibited in the vicinity of the polIing place.

C. The voting strength for the election is detennined by those registered by 7:00 a.m. on the day of the
election.

D. Election for officers and members of the Committee on Nominations shall be held Friday, August 21,
1992, from 7:30 a.m. - 8:30 a.m.

E. Uno candidate receives the required vote for an office and repeated balloting is required, the president
shall announce the time for repeated balloting immediately after the original vote is announced.

5. Vendor Selection
If no vendor receives a majority vote on the first ballot the folIowing must occur before repeated balloting:

A. A recess will be called to allow time for clarification of issues by delegates.

B. The vendor receiving the lowest number of votes will be removed from the next ballot.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing. Inc.l1992
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Summary of Recommendations
to the 1992 Delegate Assembly

To provide an overview, the recommendations to be presented to the 1992Delegate Assembly for considerationare listed
below. These recommendations were received by May 15, the deadline for publication in the 1992 Book ofReports.
Additional recommendations will be considered during the 1992 Annual Meeting.

Committee on Nominations
1. Adoption of the 1992 Slate of Candidates

Treasurer
1. The auditor's report for the 12-month period beginning O<:tober I, 1990, and ending September 30, 1991.

Long Range Planning Committee
1. The Long Range Planning Committee recommends the approval of the revised National Council goals and

objectives as presented in the Organization Plan (Attachment A of Tab 6).

Board of Directors
1. The Board of Directors recommends that the National Council, at this time, decline the request for access to

NCLEX-PN from Manitoba and any other similarly situate.d province/country who might make a similar request.

2 The Board of Directors recommends that the Board dis(:ontinue evaluating the adequacy of sample size and
appropriate instrumentation for a limited scopejob analysis ofnurses in evolving levels ofnursing practice (directive
from 1989 Delegate Assembly), until further direction is received from the Delegate Assembly regarding future
examinations.

3. Information and possible recommendations on items considered at the Board ofDirectors' July Board meeting (e.g.,
Member Board Contracts-CAT, Nurse Information System. CAT vendor selection) will be forthcoming in lateJuly.

Bylaws Committee
1. The Bylaws Committee recommends the consideration of Ute two proposed amendments to the bylaws as presented

in Attachment A of its report.

Administration of Examination Committee
1. The Administration of Examination Committee recommends the following dates for the year 2002 administration

of the NCLEX: RN, February 5-6 (T-W), July 9-10 (T-W); and PN, April 10 (W), October 16 (W).

2. The Administration of Examination Committee recommends the following alternate dates for the year 2002
administration of the NCLEX: RN, March 12-13 (T-W), September 10-11 (T-W); PN, May 8 (W), November 13
(W).

3. The Administration ofExamination Committee recommends the Delegate Assembly approve the following policy/
statements for Modifications to the Examination for Candidates with Disabilities: It is the policy ofthe National
Council to cooperate with Member Boards in providing appropriate examination modifications for disabled
NCLEXcandidates whom MemberBoardsdeem eligiblefor licensure. The National Council willdo so bydesigning
and approving procedures which ensure that such modifications are psychometrically sound and safeguard the
fairness and security ofthe testing process for all candidates. The policy statement and procedures are presented
in Attachment A of the committee's report.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc./1992
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Nursing Practice and Education Committee
1. The Nursing Practice and Education Committee recommends that the Delegate Assembly adopt the Joint Statement

on Nursing Shortage prepared in collaboration with the American Nurses' Association and the National Federation
of Licensed Practical Nurses, Inc., as presented in Attachment D of the committee's report.

2. The Nursing Practice and Education Committee (NP&E) recommends that the Delegate Assembly direct NP&E to
monitor Member Board positions regarding entry into practice and report back to the Delegate Assembly every two
years. NP&E has been reporting annually regarding entry into practice positions. This year, a statement of the
position taken by responding boards and the year adopted have been incorporated into the report. Only one state
has reported taking a formal position since 1988. NP&E suggests that the topic can be adequately monitored by
collecting and reporting data on entry into practice every two years with the major Member Board survey profile.

Subcommittee to Study the Regulation of Advanced Nursing Practice
1. The Subcommittee to Study the Regulation ofAdvanced Nursing Practice recommends that the Delegate Assembly

adopt the Position Paper on the Licensure of Advanced Nursing Practice, as presented in Attachment A of the
committee's report.

2. The Subcommittee to Study the Regulation ofAdvanced Nursing Practice recommends that the Delegate Assembly
adopt the Model Legislative Language for Advanced Nursing Practice, as presented in Attachment B of the
committee's report.

NarioTUll Council ofSlale Boards ofNursing, /nc.l/992
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Report of the Committee on Nominations

The Committeeon Nominations met in Bloomingdale, Illinois., and three times via telephone conference call to complete
its work. Its frrst meeting was held in conjunction with the Fall Planning Retreat in October 1991. At that meeting, for
the benefit of new committee members and to refresh the minds of continuing committee members, the committee
reviewed its report which waspublished in the 1991 BookofReports. In so doing, the committee reexamined all identified
barriers to developing a full slate and discussed the actions which were implemented to minimize the barriers. The
committee's discussion also included additional ideas that may help to further minimize the barriers:

Time Commitment
The 1991 resolution requesting that the Delegate Assembly business be conducted within three days helped to address
this barrier. However, the committee recognized that the time commitmentofofficers continues to be a significant barrier
to obtaining qualified candidates. In light of this issue, the committee participated in ajoint meeting with the Bylaws
and Long Range Planning Committees in order to utilize groupprocess to examine the problem in greater depth and begin
to develop solutions.

RunniD~ Apinst a Popular Incumhent
The 1991 bylaw change which deleted the requirement of two names for each position helped to address the barrier of
completing a full slate when a popular incumbent is running. In further discussion, the committee considered exploring
another bylaw change regarding the terms of office. More specifically, if the number of terms of a particular office is
limited to two, but the number of terms an individual is allowed to serve remains at three, then current officers would
need to run for a different office if they chose to remain on the Board of Directors. This would promote consistency in
leadership as well as provide an opportunity for mentoring newly elected officers.

Term of appointment to own hoard
The committee expressed its support of the Communications Committee effort to produce orientation materials and
procedures for new board of nursing members which may, in tum, assist in promoting their early involvement in the
National Council.

No follow-up of initial call for nominations
The committee agreed that its increased effort over last year in disseminating the call for nominations was worth
continuing. Additionally, the committee decided to send a letter to the executive director of each Member Board that
encourages the submission of nominations. This letter would include the names of the individuals from theirjurisdiction
who may have been on the slate in 1991, but not elected; tllose individuals from their jurisdiction who submitted a
committee volunteer form, but were notappointed; and those individuals from theirjurisdiction who are currently serving
on a committee.

No previous National Council experience
This barrier was addressed by the 1991 revision to the nomination form which requests information about activity "in
organizations, including the National Council, that would be of benefit to the office to which the candidate may be
elected."

Want to he asked to run
The committee agreed that personal calls to Member Boards' executive directors remains a viable and worthwhile means
of encouraging nominations while receiving feedback on the nominations process.

Must he on Board of Directors to run for the office of President
The 1991 bylaws change broadened the requirements to any person who has been a delegate, committee member, or has
served on the Board of Directors.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, /nc//992
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The committee discussed that a significant barrier to completing a slate is the current situation whereby the National
Council, as dermed by its small membership, has a stable pool of candidates from which to draw while, at the same time
its growing committee structure is involving an increasing number of volunteers. It was agreed that executive diw..,wfs
should be encouraged to widen the candidate pool by fostering more board member and board staff participation in
National Council committees. The committee also commented that involvement in the National Council i" an
opportunity for an individual to demonstrate her/his professional commitment to nursing.

Discussion of FY92 Operational Plan
The committee reviewed and revised its FY92 activities and submitted them to the Long Range Planning Committee for
inclusion in National Council's FY92 Operational Plan. Additionally, the committee affirmed it'> policies and
procedures, recommending no change be made.

Nomination Forms
The committee reviewed and revised the nominations form and the call for nominations. Acting on the Board 01
Directors' suggestion last year regarding the candidate's personal statement, the committee increased the number of
words allowed and added the following sentence of enforcement: "Statements of over 150 words will be edited."
Concerned about the current form's possible interpretation whereby nominations could be made on behalfofa candidate
residing outside of the jurisdiction making the nomination, the committee requested that the nomination form be revised
to require a signature of the jurisdiction's president or executive director.

The dissemination schedule was determined. Nominations forms were distributed with five NewsLetters, beginning
November 8, 1991, and ending January 17, 1992. During the week of January 20, a letter encouraging submission of
nominations was sent to the executive director of each Member Board. The deadline for nominations was February 28.
1992.

Finalization of Slate
By the February 28 deadline, a total of 16 individuals had submitted completed nomination forms for consideration for
the 1992 ballot. The committee agreed to extend the nominations deadline for all positions for which there wa<; only one
nominee or less. Additionally, a call for nominations was made for Area I Director, since the current Area I Director had
submitted a nomination form for the office of Vice-President.

The committee finalized the slate during its April 13 telephone conference call, closing the ballot on all positions but the
Area IV Committee on Nominations position. The committee agreed that no further nominations for the Area IV
Committee on Nominations position would be accepted after April 17, 1992. The committee conducted it<; final
telephone conference calion April 21 , 1992. The slate was published in the May 8, 1992, NewsLetter as well as included
as part of this report.

Candidates' Personal Statements
The committee reviewed each candidate's personal statement and agreed that candidates in violation of the 150-word
rule be given the opportunity to edit their own personal statements to 150 words and promptly return their revised
statement to the National Council for publication. This request was made via memo from the Committee on Nominations,
pointing out the need for fairness and consistency for all candidates.

Candidates' Forum
The committee agreed that the success of previous Candidates' Forums suggests that it not be significantly changed.
Therefore, the committee made no change to the time limits offered all candidates and set the speaker order as follows:
1. Committee on Nominations, Area I
2. Committee on Nominations, Area II
3. Committee on Nominations, Area III
4. Committee on Nominations, Area IV
5. President
6. Vice-President
7. Area I Director

NationaL CounciL ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc./1992
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8. Area II Director
9. Area IV Director
10. Director-at-Large
The chair of the Committee on Nominations, Barbara Morvant, will moderate.

Slate of Candidates

An overview of the slate developed and adopted by the COllunittee on Nominations follows. More detailed information
on each nominee is provided in the subsequent pages of this report. This detailed information is taken directly from the
nomination forms. Each nominee on the slate will have an opportunity to expand on this information during the
Candidates' Forum, scheduled to be held Wednesday, August 19, 1992, from 7:00 - 8:00 p.m.

President
Donna Dorsey Maryland Area IV
Rosa Lee Weinert Ohio Area II

Vice President
Lorinda Inman Iowa Area II
Gail McGuill. Alaska Area I

Area I Director
Leola Daniels ldaho Area I
Fran Roberts Arizona Area I

Area II Director
Thomas Neumann Wisconsin Area II
Lawrence Stump Michigan Area II

Area IV Director
Iva Boanlman Delaware Area IV
Sister Teresa Harris New Jersey Area IV

Director-at-Large
Christine Alichnie Pennsylvania Area IV
Susan Boots Washington-PN Area I
Judi Crume Alabama Area III

Committee on Nominations
Awt.l
Judy Colligan Oregon Area I
Constance Connell Arizona Area I

Area II
Marty Lind-Martin Michigan Area II
Nancy Smart..... Illinois Area II

Area III
Georgia Manning Louisiana-RN Area III
Linda Murphey Arkansas Area III

Area IV
Doris Nuttelman New Hampshire Area IV

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992
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Detailed Information, as taken directly from nomination forms and organized as follows:
1. Name, Jurisdiction, Area
2. Present board position
3. Present employer
4. Educational preparation
5. Offices held or committee membership, including National Council activity
6. Professional organizations
7. Personal statement

President
1. Donna Dorsey, Maryland, Area IV

2. Executive Director

3. Maryland Board of Nursing

4. University of Maryland. MS, 1975
East Carolina University. BSN, 1967

5. National Council
CAT Negotiating Team, 1992-Present
CAT Education Information Team, 1991-Present
CAT Proposal Evaluation Team, 1991
Treasurer, 1987-1991
Finance Committee, Chair, 1987-1991
Bylaws Committee, 1984-1986

Maryland Nurses' Association
Committee on Impaired Nurses, 1986-Present

Maryland League for Nursing, President, 1979-1981
National League for Nursing
Northeast Regional Assembly of Constituent Leagues. Chair. IlJ81-1lJ83
American Red Cross, Baltimore Chapter

Health Services, Chair, 1986-Present
Board of Directors, 1988-1991

6. American Nurses' Association
Maryland Nurses' Association
National League for Nursing
Maryland League for Nursing
Sigma Theta Tau

7. I will bring to the position ofPresident ten years' experience as an executivedirector. tive years' a'i National Council
Treasurer and member of the Board ofDirectors. Additionally, my proven leadership in a variety of local, state and
national nursing and community organizations affords me unique qualifications to lead the Council. My experiences
provide me with a definitive perspective of organizations, including needs of members, staff and constituents. My
understanding of the relationship between policy decisions and fiscal implications coupled with my knowledge of
the organization enhances my ability to address the challenges ofCAT and Member Board needs. The future is both
exciting and challenging. Priorities are:

-Smooth transition to CAT
-Maintaining legally defensible examinations
-Financial stability
-Responding to Member Board needs
-Addressing needs of Boards with limited resources

I invite you to consider my experience and commitment and allow me to serve as your next President.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.!] YY2
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President
1. Rosa Lee Weinert, Ohio, Area II

2. Executive Director

3. Ohio Board of Nursing

4. Ohio State University, MS, 1975
Ohio State University, BSN, 1972
Good Samaritan Hospital, Diploma, 1949

5. National Council
Committee on Nominations, 1990-1992
Examination Committee Alternate, 1991-1993; 1988-1990; 1984-1986
Examination Committee, 1986-1988
Delegate, 1982-1991

Michigan Nurses' Association
Board/Committees, 1975-1980

Ohio Nurses' Association
District President, 1972-1975

6. American Nurses' Association
Ohio Nurses' Association
Sigma Theta Tau
Ohio State University College of Nursing Alumnae Association

7. My interest in seeking the Presidency stems from my involvement with the National Council over the past 10 years,
as noted above, and having participated in all Area II meetings. Hence, I gained a comprehensive understanding
of the goals of the National Council.

For 28 years, I held positions requiring effective leadt:rship skills. In each position, I successfully motivated
individuals and groups toward excellence in performance: and goal achievement. As President I would demonstrate
this ability to maximize the utilization of resources currently available within the National Council.

I believe the top priority for the National Council is facilitating a smooth transition to CAT while maintaining a
psychometrically sound and legally defensible examination. Secondly, the scope of responsibilities currently
assumed by the National Council should be critically evaluated to enable addressing the overwhelming issues facing
Member Boards today.

It would be the capstone of my professional career to sen'e the National Council as its President and I would pledge
my undaunted support.

Vice President
1. Lorinda Inman, Iowa, Area II

2. Executive Director

3. Iowa Board of Nursing

4. Loyola University, MSN, 1976
University of Iowa, BSN, 1971

Nalional Council ofSlale Boards ofNursing, Inc.lI992
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5. National Council
Long Range Planning Committee, 1989-Present

Numerous committees wi!bin hospilal and school of nursing

6. American Nurses' Association
Iowa Nurses' Association
National League for Nursing
Iowa League for Nursing
American Society for PsychoprophylaxislLamaze

7. Member Boards of the National Council ofState Boards ofNursing have articulated a strong support for the mission
statement, goals and objectives of the organization. They have also indicated the need for a strong resource in the
areas of regulation of nursing practice and education and licensee discipline. As a member of the Long Range
Planning Committee, I have been actively involved in the: assessment of member needs and the planning for the
future direction of the organization.

I will bring to !be position a commitment to the mission of the National Council. Additionally, I will work toward
the development of resources to assist Member Boards in the fulfillment of their responsibility to the public.

Vice-President
1. Gail MeGuill, Alaska, Area I

2. Executive Secretary

3. Alaska Board of Nursing

4. University of Alaska, Anchorage, MS Candidate, 1992
Seattle University, BSN, 1974

5. National Council
Area I Director, 1989-Present
Administration of Exam Committee, Chair, 1987-1989
Administration of Exam Committee, 1983-1987
Committee on Nominations, 1984-1986

Alaska Nurses' Association, Board Member, 1979-1980
Anchorage School District, Medical Advisory Board, 1986-1988

6. American Nurses' Association
Alaska Nurses' Association
National Nurses' Society on Addictions
Sigma Theta Tau
Theta Omicron

7. The National Council continues to be a thriving organization based upon a strong mission statement and strategic
objectives. At this point in the organization's maturity, I believe the Council's activities need to stay focused on two
major testing projects with !be main goal as successful implementation of computerized adaptive testing in all
jurisdictions. Objectives must be prioritized to use our human and financial resources in !be most efficient manner.

The nine years of experience I have with the National Council includes three years as the Area I Director. This
experience, along with my position as Executive Secretary for the Alaska Board ofNursing, has provided me with
the knowledge base, expertise and continuity that the Coundl needs to help lead it for the next two years. I look
forward to having the opportunity to serve you as the National Council Vice-President and, with you, to meet the
challenges and opportunities ahead.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, IncJl992



7

Area I Director
1. Leola Daniels. Idaho. Area I

2. Executive Director

3. Idaho Board of Nursing

4. University of Utah, MS, 1968
Idaho State University, BSN, 1957

5. National Council
Long Range Planning Committee, 1989-1992
Administration of Examination Committee, Chair, 1985-1987
Administration of Examination Committee, 1981-1985

Advisory Board, Governor's Commission on Alcohol-Drug Abuse, 199D-Present
Statewide Emergency Medical Services Committee, 1977-Present
EMS Grant Subcommittee, 1982-Present

6. American Nurses' Association
Idaho Nurses' Association
Official Registry of Who's Who of American Business Leaders
Sigma Theta Tau, Theta Upsilon Chapter

7. Seventeen years of board of nursing staff experience and the interface with surrounding area Member Boards has
made me aware of the issues and concerns of boards of nursing. An understanding of the National Council and its
mission and goals has been gained by committed, active participation on two committees and has prepared me to
assume a leadership role. Priorities include: 1) implementation of CAT, and 2) providing services to support
Member Boards. It would be an honor and privilege to share my knowledge and enthusiasm by serving as Area I
Director.

Area I Director
1. Fran Roberts, Arizona. Area I

2. Executive Director

3. Arizona State Board of Nursing

4. University of Colorado, PhD student
Arizona State University, MSN, 1981
Elmhurst College, BSN, 1976
Elmhurst College, BS, Psychology, 1976

5. National Council
Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program Committee, 1989-Present

Arizona Nurses' Association
Council on Gerontological Nursing, Past Chair
Arizona State Board of Nursing, Vice-President, 1985-1987
Arizona State University, Graduate College of Nursing, Adjunct Faculty
Arizona State University, Graduate College of Social Work, Adjunct Faculty

6. Arizona Nurses' Association
American Association of University Women
Sigma Theta Tau
Valley Leadership, Class X
Who's Who in American Nurses
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7. Having been both a Board Member and Executive Director, I bring a diversity ofperspectives and experience to the
National Council Board and Area I leadership. While I t:mbrace the comprehensive goals and objectives of the
Council, I see a void in leadership and advocacy at the National Council board level for the areas of unlicensed
personnel activity and disciplinary/regulatory concerns of the nursing profession. I commend the growth of the
National Council in areas of test development and administration, but believe this has been at the expense of
expanding into equally critical areas of licensure and regulation. As Area I Director and National Council Board
member, I would lend strength and energy to these and other National Council concerns.

Area 11 Director
1. Thomas Neumann, Wisconsin, Area n

2. Administrative Officer

3. Wisconsin Department of Regulation and Licensing

4. University of Minnesota, MS, 1982
University of Wisconsin, Madison, BSN, 1977
University of Wisconsin, Madison, BS, Education, 1972

5. National Council
Nursing Practice and Education Committee, Chair, 1989-Present
Nursing Practice and Education Committee, 1988-1989
Delegate, 1986-1992
Resolutions Committee, 1988

Governor's Nursing Education Coordinating Council, 1989-1991
Department of Regulation and Licensing

Administrator of Impaired Professionals Procedure

6. National League for Nursing
Sigma Theta Tau International Honor Society of Nursing
Phi Kappa Phi Honor Society

7. I have been involved with the National Council for the past six years, and have been a delegate to the Delegate
Assembly since 1986. As a member and chairperson of the Nursing Practice & Education Committee, I have had
the honor and challenge of working to achieve the Council's mission related to the safe, competent practice of
nursing. I fmnly believe that the National Council must frrst and foremost continue to meet the needs ofits Member
Boards and move at the direction of its Member Boards. I am most interested in serving on the Board of Directors
as the National Council progresses toward implementation of CAT, addresses key concerns regarding nursing
practice and education, and strives to maintain fiscal responsibility.

I would bring to the board enthusiasm, commitment, flexibility, candor, and, of course, humor, all essential for
perseverance in the regulatory arena.

Area 11 Director
1. Lawrence Stump, Michigan, Area n

2. Board Member, Michigan Board of Nursing

3. SI. Luke's Hospital, Saginaw, Michigan

4. North Carolina State University, MEd, 1980
Duke University Medical Center, Certificate - Anesthesia, 1971
University of Wisconsin, Madison, BSN, 1968
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5. North Carolina Association of Nurse Anesthetists
President, 1979-1980
President-elect, 1978-1979
Treasurer, 1975-1978

Michigan Association of Nurse Anesthetists
Board of Directors, 1989-1991
Member of various committees

Michigan Board of Nursing
CAT/Licensure Committee, Chair
Medication by Non-licensed Personnel Conunittee, Chair

6. American Nurses' Association
Michigan Nurses' Association
American Association of Nurse Anesthetists
Michigan Association of Nurse Anesthetists
University of Wisconsin Nurses Alumnae Association
Duke University Medical Center, Nurse Anesthesia Alumni Association

7. I am pleased that the National Council has revised the nomination form so that Member Board members have an
opportunity to present their relevant experience. The previous set-up favors Board employees over Board members.
Board members have a great deal to offer but their terms are often up before they are able to position themselves
fornational office. I am a member ofthe Michigan BoanJ ofNursing, and I want to serve on the Boardof the National
Council.

I have had extensive experience serving on boards and committees of state and national professional organizations.
I have served as President, President-elect, and Treasurer of the North Carolina Association of Nurse Anesthetists
and on the Board of the Michigan Association of Nurse Anesthetists. My experience as an educator, clinician, and
accreditation site visitor has provided me with the background necessary to become an effective Area IT Director.

Area IV Director
1. Iva Boardman, Delaware, Area IV

2. Executive Director

3. Delaware State Board of Nursing

4. Widener University, MSN, 1989
Rutgers University, BSN, 1964

5. National Council
Subcommittee to Study Regulation of Advanced Practice, 1991-1992

Claymont Community Center
Secretary, 1983-Present
Personnel Committee, Chair
Delaware Nurse Image Committee

6. American Nurses' Association
Delaware Nurses' Association

7. Having enjoyed staff and administrative positions in acute, home health and long term care, Associate Degree
education, utilization review, and quality assurance, I believe that I can identify with nurses in various positions and
settings. My experiences have provided me with an opportunity to be global in addressing issues. I thrive on
diversity, managing challenges, and being part of an organization that makes a difference. Conununication, both
sending and receiving, is comfortable for me, and this is essential in representing Area IV. National Council best
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positions itself to accomplish its goals and objectives by having consensus among Member Boards. I can contribute
to this end by being an active communicator between Area IV members and National Council. I believe that
continuing the National Council's agenda while recognizing the financial adversity of many Member Boards, and
increasing working relationships among national organizations to best employ expertise without duplication are
priority issues in 1992 - 1993.

Area IV Director
1. Sister Teresa Harris, New Jersey, Area IV

2. Executive Director

3. New Jersey Board of Nursing

4. St. Louis University, MSN, 1963
Seton Hall University, BSN, 1958
St. Mary's Hospital School of Nursing, Diploma, 1944

5. National Council
Nursing Practice and Education Committee, 1988-Present
Resolutions Committee, 1991

New Jersey Nurses' Association
Secretary, District 1,1970-1972
Board of Directors, 1970-1973
Council on Practice, Chair, 1968-1972
Committee to Amend Nurse Practice Act, 1974

6. American Nurses' Association
National League for Nursing
Nurses' House Charter Member
American Diabetes Association

7. My administrative background bas been the basis for my It:adership abilities throughout my many experiences as
Vice President of Nursing, Director of a nursing school and Executive Director of the New Jersey Board. As a
member of the Board, I have also held the offices of Secretary/freasurer and President. Though known as a quiet
leader, I am strong and goal-directed, with a continuing commitment to quality nursing. My quiet reserve should
not be misconstrued as a weakness but rather a strength ali a thinker, planner and leader. My priorities for National
Council would be continued promotion of public policy for safe and effective nursing practice. Research should
continue to produce and maintain a reliable testing tool. I would place an emphasis on communication between Area
IV and the National Council as well as among constituents of Area IV.

Director-at-Large
1. Mary Christine Alichnie, Pennsylvania, Area IV

2. Professional Member, Pennsylvania Board of Nursing

3. Bloomsburg University, Bloomsburg, Pennsylvania

4. University of Pennsylvania, PhD, 1986
University of Pennsylvania, MSN, 1977
Wilkes University, MSEd, 1978
University of Pittsburgh, BSN, 1972
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5. Pennsylvania Nurses' Association
President, District #3, 1988-1990
Commission on Nursing Education, Chair, 1986-1990

Sigma Theta Tau Nursing Honor Society, Theta Zeta Chapter, President, 1984-1986

6. American Nurses' Association
Pennsylvania Nurses' Association
National League for Nursing
Pennsylvania League for Nursing
Sigma Theta Tau International Honor Society of Nursing, Eta and Theta Zeta Chapters

7. Throughout my nursing career as an educator, administrator and practitioner, I have developed a keen awareness
of the need for participatory grass roots involvement within organizations for growth to occur. Member Boards are
faced with multiple future challenges, such as diminishing state financial resources and ever increasing demand for
services and regulatory actions. To facilitate the National Council's goals and objectives for the future, elected
officers must be able to excel in participatory governance with priority setting, policy making and resource allocation
by all constituencies.

I believe that I would bring to the Board ofDirectors a corruniunent to excellence with qualities ofenthusiasm, broad
knowledge base, creativity and foresight to proactively pllm for the future in making decisions which affect licensure
and practice issues. The National Council needs committed leaders to the grass roots process. I would be honored
to serve on the Board of Directors to facilitate said process.

Director-at-Large
1. Susan Boots, Washington.PN, Area I

2. Executive Director

3. Washington State Board of Practical Nursing

4. University of Washington, MN, 1979
University of Northern Colorado, BSN, 1978
Purdue University, AAS, 1972

5. National Council
Director-at-Large, 1991-1992
Examination Committee, 1987-1990
Committee on Nominations, 1987-1990
Resolutions Committee, 1987-1990
Job Analysis Monitoring Committee, 1987-1990

Washington State Nurses' Association
District Board Member, 1980-1984

County Mental Health Advisory Committee, Chair, 1989-1991
County Developmental Disability Board, Chair, Vice-Chair, 1980-1986
Zonta International Business Women's Club, Secretary, Treasurer, Vice-President, 1986-1992
PLU Faculty Organization, Secretary, Vice-Chair, 1979··1982

6. American Nurses' Association
Washington State Nurses' Association
National League for Nursing
Washington State League for Nursing
Council of Nurse Educators of Washington State
Sigma Theta Tau
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7. It is an honor to have served Member Boards and, as your Director-at-Large, to represent you while always striving
for the best decisions in the National Council's activities. Experience in health care, teaching, administration and
the government sectors of professional nursing aided in my understanding of the programs and committees of the
National Council and my integration into the activities of the Board.

The National Council has chosen to follow a proactive work plan for the nineties to position ourselves as a leader
ofnursing. Our future depends on the communication and delivery ofservices to Member Boards while responsibly
achieving this plan.

I pledge to continue my contacts with Member Boards seeking your desires and working on your behalf in setting
priorities and policy decisions in achieving National Council's goals.

Director-at-Large
1. Judi Crume, Alabama, Area In

2. Executive Officer

3. Alabama Board of Nursing

4. University of Kentucky, MSN, 1980
Murray State University, BSN, 1973

5. National Council
Communications Committee, Chair, 1990-Present
Communications Committee, 1989

Sigma Theta Tau, Secretary, 1991

6. American Society of Public Administration, 1991-Present
Arizona Administrators' Association, 1988-1991
Arizona Nursing Network. 1988-1991
Sigma Theta Tau

7. The National Council, through its membership, has established priorities for the next several years. I believe the
National Council should continue to focus on those priorities regarding testing and practice to meet the challenges
of the coming century. The need for a Board of Directors that each have demonstrated leadership abilities, critical
thinking skills, and licensing/regulatory expertise is vital to the accomplishment of the mission and timely decision­
making. A leadership role on the Communications Committee has provided me with a broad knowledge and
understanding of National Council activities. I would appreciate your support in providing me the opportunity to
serve on your behalf as the 1992 Director-at-Large for the National Council.

Committee on Nominations
AI:W
1. Judy Colligan, Oregon, Area I

2. Board President, Oregon State Board of Nursing

3. Good Samaritan Hospital and Medical Center, Portland, Oregon

4. Portland State University, MPA, 1990
Oregon Health Sciences University, MN, 1984
University of Oregon Medical School, BSN, 1975
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5. National Council
Subcommittee on Advanced Practice, 1991-Present

Oregon State Board of Nursing
Board President, current

Nurse Practitioner Prescriptive Authority Council, current Chair
Nurse Monitoring Conunittee, current Chair
Oregon Donor Board, Education, current Co-Chair
Good Samaritan Hospital and Medical Center
Institutional Ethics Conunittee, Education, current Chair
Washington Consulting Group, Washington, DC
U.S. Govenunent Task Force on Advanced Practice, member

6. American Nurses' Association
Oregon Nurses' Association
Council of Psychiatric-Mental Health Nursing (ANA)
Cabinet on Human Rights and Ethics (ONA)
Sigma Theta Tau
Beta Phi
Oregon Nurses' Association Nurse Practitioner Special Interest Group
Oregon Council of Clinical Nurse Specialists
Oregon Health Sciences University Nursing Alumni Association

7. I have been an active member of nursing for over 20 years in multiple clinical areas in both the private and public
sectors of health care. Recent experience in legislative, regulatory and advanced practice areas has broadened my
background in and beyond nursing.

I have been involved with National Council as a delegate to the 1991 Annual Delegate Assembly, as President of
the Oregon State Board ofNursing, and as a member of the National Council Subconunittee on Advanced Practice.
I believe three issues stand out as priorities for National Council: the transition to computerized nursing exams; the
issues related to advanced nursing practice regulations;. and the ongoing efforts of National Council to support
participation by both state board staff and appointed board members in the most effective and efficient manner.

I feel my background and eclectic practice would allow me to be an active participant on the Conunittee on
Nominations.

Al:W
1. Constance Connell, Arizona, Area I

2. Nursing Education Consultant

3. Arizona State Board of Nursing

4. Arizona State University, MS, 1986
University of NevadalLas Vegas, MS, 1976
Boston College University, BSN, 1954

5. National Council
Job Analysis Monitoring Committee, 1989-1991
Registration Conunittee, Delegate Assembly, 1989

National League for Nursing
BaccalaureatelHigher Degree/ADN Councils, 1984-Present

Arizona League for Nursing
Board of Directors, 1991-Present
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American Nurses' Association & Arizona Nurses' Association, 1960-Present
By-Laws Committee
Med-Surg Committee, Chair
Nomination Committee
Continuing Education Committee

6. Arizona StateWide Council, 1986-Present
Rural Health Advisory Committee, Chair, Member, 1981-1991
Sigma Theta Tau, Induction Committee Chair, 1976-Present
Arizona Council of Associate Degree Nursing, 1984-Present
Arizona Council- Practical Nurse Programs, 1984-Present

7. My past years of experience as an educator, practitioner and consultant have given me depth and understanding as
well as an appreciation of persons who have the ability to l~mplete jobs in an exemplary manner. I believe I will
be an asset to the Committee on Nominations in helping to select a slate of leaders who will be able to assist the
National Council in accomplishing the mission for which it exists. I would be honored to serve on this committee
and be a part of the process of selecting our leaders.

Arean
1. Marty Lind-Martin, Michigan, Area II

2. Nurse Consultant

3. Michigan Board of Nursing

4. Andrews University, MSN, 1987
Nazareth College, BSN, 1981
Kellogg Community College, ADN, 1974

5. National Council
Committee on Nominations, 1992

Michigan Nurses' Association, Board of Nursing Liaison, 1988-Present
Michigan League for Nurses, Board of Nursing Liaison, 1I988-Present
Michigan Association for ADN-PN Education, Board of Nursing Liaison, 1988-Present
Michigan Association of Colleges of Nursing, Board of Nursing Liaison, 1988-Present

6. Michigan Nurses' Association
Michigan League for Nursing
Sigma Theta Tau
Nazareth College Alwnnae Association

7. With the health care industry presently being of extreme public concern, the foremost priority of our organization
must be the growth and development of outstanding leadership.

The Committee on Nominations must submit a slate of nominees before the membership who can be visionary, yet
forthright on future issues and experienced in their judgment from pa<;t professional activities.

I am interested in providing this group of nominees for the membership's consideration and believe my experience
in clinical, academic, and regulatory positions has well prepared me for the opportunity.

Important items to be presented before the National Council during the next Board's teon would be implementation
of CAT, a responsiveness to the various boards of nursing and an efficiency of operation within economically
enforced financial restraints.

It would be a privilege to serve the National Council on ilts 1992-1993 Committee on Nominations.
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AreaU
1. Nancy Smart, llIinois, Area U

2. Board Member, I1linois Department of Professional Regulation

3. I1lini Restorative Care, Silvis, I1linois
Illini Hospital, Silvis, I1linois

4. Black Hawk Community College, English/Communications Courses
St. Mary's Hospital School of Practical Nursing, LPN, 1957

5. National Council
Job AnalysisIRole Delineation Advisory Panel, 1991-1992
Foreign Nurse Issues Ad Hoc Committee, 1991

National Federation of Licensed Practical Nurses
Illinois Delegate to National Convention, 1984-1992

Licensed Practical Nurse Association of I1linois
1st Vice-President, Executive Board Director, Board of Directors, 1984-1992
Division President, Division Treasurer

I1linois State Committee on Nominations
I1linois State Membership Committee
I1linois State Public Relations Committee
I1linois State Legislative Committee

6. National Federation of Licensed Practical Nurses
Licensed Practical Nurse Association of I1linois

7. Over 30 years ofexperience in nursing ali an LPN has given me the ability to understand the needs of the consumer
of health care and the needs of the nurse who delivers that care. My interest in the quality of care has taken me with
the problems at the bedside to those responsible for policy and procedure development. In attending the past four
annual National Council Delegate Assemblies, I have gained an understanding of the worlc of the National Council
and realize the importance of efficiently utilizing human and fiscal resources in fulfilling the organization's mission
ofpromoting public health, safety, and welfare. Understanding the written goals and objectives is only a beginning.
The recruiunent of well-qualified leadership bringing personal commiunent to the goals and objectives is essential.
Implementing 1991 bylaw changes, I'd like to participate in recruiting, reviewing qualifications, and presenting a
slate of candidates best prepared to serve.

Area In
1. Georgia Manning, Loui"iana-RN, Area III

2. Board Member, Louisiana State Board of Nursing

3. Glenwood Regional Medical Center, West Monroe, Louisiana
Manning Management Systems, Monroe, Louisiana

4. University of Mississippi, MN, 1979
Northeast Louisiana University, BS, 1975
Orange Coast College, AD, 1969

5. Louisiana State Board of Nursing, Board Member, 1988-Present
Louisiana State Board of Nursing, President, 1990-1991
Louisiana State Nurses' Association Convention, Delegate, 1980-1991
Louisiana State Nurses' Association, Board Member, 1~)80-1984

Monroe District Nurses' Association, Treasurer, 1980-1984
Voices of Glenwood Toasunasters, President, 1990-1991
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6. American Nurses' Association
Louisiana State Nurses' Association
Monroe District Nurses' Association
Sigma Theta Tau
Louisiana Organization of Nurse Executives

7. As a Board Member beginning my second term, I have had the opportunity to attend three Delegate Assemblies anG
three Area III meetings. From these meetings, I have gained an appreciation of the goals and direction of the National
Council. My background as a nursing service administrator and educator has given me the skills in recruiting and
interviewing qualified candidates. I would consider it a privilege to use these skills in securing candidates to fulfill
the goals of the National Council. My goal as a member of the Committee on Nominations would be to seek the
most qualified candidates to lead National Council in il~ future directives.

Area III
1. Linda Murphey, Arkansas, Area III

2. Executive Director

3. Arkansas State Board of Nursing

4. Emory University, MN, 1968
Northwestern State College, Natchitoches, BSN, 1960

5.

6.

7. Prior to my appointment a<; Executive Director of the Arkansas State Board ofNursing, I served six years as Director
of Education. I believe that eight years' service on a Member Board has given me ample opportunity to experience
frrsthand the problems and opportunities for service which confront Member Boards and, by extension, the National
Council. During that time, I have come to know and respect the people who comprise the leadership of National
Council and also to recognize those who have leadership and service potential for the organization. By seeking out
these people for National Council positions, I feel that I would be promoting the Council's goals and objectives. I
believe that promotion of Board member service on committees should be a priority.

Area IV
1. Doris Nuttelman, New Hampshire, Area IV

2. Executive Director

3. New Hampshire Board of Nursing

4. Vanderbilt University, EdD, 1989
University of Massachusetts, MS, 1975
University of Ma<;sachusetl~,MAT, 1975

5. National Council
Committee on Nominations, 1991-1992
Subcommittee to StUdy Regulatory Implications of Changing Models of Nursing Education, 1991

New Hampshire Nurses' Association
Commission on Education, 1984-Present
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6. American Nurses' Association
New Hampshire Nurses' Association
National League for Nursing
American Public Health Association
Sigma Theta Tau

7. My experiences in education, nursing and administration bave offered me exciting challenges and successes that will
assist me during my second year with the Committee on Nominations. My fIrst year with the committee helped me
understand the committee's purposes, objectives and tht: implementation strategies needed to achieve their goals.
As health care issues confront nurses and their colleagues, the National Council is faced with regional and national
health policies that affect the nursing profession. My familiarity with nursing education, practice, advanced practice,
nursing assistant activities, comparable educational experiences, legislative strategies and administrative laws
provides me with a multi-disciplinary background to assist the hardworking, effective Committee on Nominations
as it selects appropriate candidates to ensure the National Council fulfIlls its mission to serve Member Boards.

Committee on Nominations
Rosa Lee Weinert, OH, Area II. Chair (through February 1992)
Barbara Morvant, LA-RN, Area III, Chair (since February J992)
Marty Lind-Martin, MI, Area II (since February 1992)
Toma Nisbet, WY. Area I
Doris Nuttelman, NH, Area IV

Staff
Susan Woodward. Director ofCommunications
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Report of the President

Although the intent of this report is to describe the President's perspective on National Council events and activities
during the past year, it is impossible to avoid a comprehensive retrospective glance at the past two years. For several
months, my mind has been saturated with a variety ofthoughts about the role ofpresident, insights about the organization
and its place in both health care and regulation, as well as the issues and challenges I see before the National Council
in the future.

Roles/Responsibilities
Having served on the Board of Directors for three years before assuming the role of President, I was under the naive
assumption that I had a fair understanding of the time commitment and responsibilities of the President The National
Council Bylaws list ten duties of the President, which range from the very detailed (e.g., signing contracts) to the very
general (e.g., ...serve as official representative of the National Council).

During a Board retreat in the fall of 1991, a consultant described a process by which board members (of any board)
become attuned to the operation of the respective organization by using the analogy of the open window. He said that
for most board members, the "window" begins to open when board materials arrive prior to the meeting, with the window
at its most open during the early part of a board meeting and that frequently it begins to close at some point during the
last day of the meeting.

The greatest "ah-hah" to me was that in a role of president, the window must remain open all the time, and in addition,
regular, routine responsibility for the Member Board's "paying job" must be maintained. Perhaps the intense activity
in and around the Computerized Adaptive Testing (CAn project has exacerbated this perception, but it is likely that the
National Council will always be involved in some comprehensive project or another.

Little did I realize after the Delegate Assembly of 1990 what lay ahead with the CAT project. Having been a member
of the Committee for Special Projects and understanding its re:sponsibility, I still could not anticipate the magnitude and
complexity of the decisions to be made once CAT was determined to be feasible. However, the comprehensive
involvement of so many National Council participants has demonstrated that we are willing to assume a leadership role
in a national move to a new testing methodology.

Personally, two of the presidential roles have been the most interesting and rewarding. The first is the opportunity within
the organization to meet with board members and staff from across the country about issues which have daily impact on
the regulation ofnursing. Along with this has been the opportunity to participate with the large contingency ofvolunteers
on committees, teams and task forces. Each volunteer has demonstrated commitment by preparing, attending and
participating in activities devoted to accomplishing the National Council's mission, goals and objectives.

Another role of the president is to represent the National Council in an increasing number of liaison activities with other
organizations. It has been interesting to discover the similarities and differences between our organization and others,
especially in organizational and operational structure, purpose, mission, financial resources and future directions. The
National Council's clear focus on assisting Member Boards to accomplish their charge of protecting the public, as well
a<; its obvious regulatory and governmental responsibilities, seems well understood by other nursing organizations. The
innovative actions of the National Council in moving toward the new CAT testing methodology have garnered much
praise from colleagues. The National Council's role and responsibilities in the reform or restructuring of health care is
a frequent topic of discussion. Most of the organizations with whom the National Council maintains either formal or
informal liaison are in the process of analyzing potential activities and the desired impact of their organization in the
future of health care delivery.
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Having learned from management seminars that I tend to be a "big picture" person and intuitively seeing connections
within that "big picture," I find myself pondering about what can be learned from groups who have been in operation
much longer than National Council. John Carver in his book entitled, Boards that Make a Difference, says that board
members, as "moral trustees" for the organization, bear responsibility for the integrity of governance. While much could
be shared from this extremely insightful book, perhaps the most challenging is the enactment of strategic leadership, by
which the board concentrates on organizational leadership issues and less on operational detail. Ofcourse, this assumes
that an efficient staff (and committee) structure is in place to implement and retain accountability for operational details
which move the organization in strategic movement consistent with organizational mission, goals and objectives.

During the past year, the Long Range Planning Committee has developed and proposed revised goals and objectives.
These will allow greater operating effectiveness. Yet as an organization, decisions remain about the overall direction
of the National Council, prioritization of human financial resources, responsibility to a membership seriously impacted
by bUdgetary problems as well as the role of the National Council in the twenty-first century.

On my wish list for the upcoming years is the hope that a system l:an be developed to ensure that each year at the Delegate
Assembly, MemberBoard representatives examinetheorganizational"big picture," establish priorities andcollaboratively
set organizational direction. From this annual review of strategic direction, the Board of Directorswould then enact its
duty to "conduct the business of the National Council between Delegate Assemblies;" and each operational unit
(committee, team, stafO could operationalize its responsibilities. This unity of direction and strategy would seem to
strengthen the National Council's move into the future.

The Future
The National Council is a relatively young organization at fourteen years old. We have accomplished much and yet are
still in the development process. Our foundation was solid and our mission clear. We have been extremely fortunate
that the [mancial base has remained sufficient to encourage innovation and creativity especially in the testing arena. With
a relatively stable membership size based on the structure of the organization, some operational problems facing other
organizations will be minimized for the National Council.

Many ofyou havebeen exposedto the currentdiscussions aboutparadigms. Inhisbook, Future Edge, Joel Barkerdiscusses
organizational development of new paradigms for success. He notes three keys to the future ofany organization which
wants to participate fully in the twenty-first century: excellence, innovation and anticipation. He proposes that excellence
is necessary to even be in the game. Innovation must be coupled with excellence in order to maintain a position of
leadership. Anticipation is that characteristic which allows an organization to be in the right place at the right time with
an excellent innovative product or service.

Barker focuses much of the emphasis of his book on paradigm shift. Paradigm is defined as a set of rules and regulations
that establish or define boundaries and determine how one should behave within the boundaries in order to be successful.
Barker proposes the paradigm shift question by asking, "What is impossible to do in your organization, but if it could
be done, would fundamentally change it?"

For the National Council, will this be in the realm of information systems, electronic communication, state financial or
structural reorganization, privitization, new methods ofmeasuring competence, unexpected federal initiatives, international
emphasis or some yet unfathomed development? I have come to believe that at least a preliminary answer to that question
lied in the use of technology to enhance communication and networking among Member Boards for information
exchange.

Recently, a presenter at Southern Council of Colleges of Nursing discussed the Agenda for Healthcare Reform and
described substantial evidence indicating that health care as we know it will be restructured. She asked the rhetorical
question, "Where are the futurists in nursing?" That seemed a reasonable question, so I begin to inquire, especially in
the liaison meetings with nursing leadership ofother organizations. For the most part, the response was a perplexed look.
One of my personal dreams for the National Council is that we develop an interest in the future-Where is the
organization going? Will we be doing an updated version of the same things twenty years from now? How do we promote
the anticipation that ensures having the right product in the right place at the right time? Do we as an organization dare
to develop an alive, exciting vision for the future and consciollsly make decisions to move toward that vision?

National Council ofState Boards OfNursing, Inc./J992



3

Mostly Personal
No ordinary thanks are sufficient to acknowledge my gratitude to the many colleagues who lent support during the last
two years. First of all, appreciation must go to the Board of Directors for their exceptional commitment during a very
complex period of National Council activity. Heartfelt appreciation to lenni Bosma who taught me so much about
psychometrics and testing, efficiently coordinated a myriad of diverse projects and always provided thoughtful insight
and analysis. Thank you to the National Council staff, committee members and others involved with the National
Council. Special appreciation to the Georgia Board members and administration for sharing my time and attention.
Accolades to the Georgia Board stafffor their patience, support and concern, and for frequently stepping forward to assist
with extra responsibility. This has been an experience from which I have grown, learned much and hopefully had an
opportunity to contribute to the mission and goals of this organization.

Carolyn Hutcherson, President
Executive Director, Georgia Board of Nursing
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Report of the Vice-President

As the Vice-President of the National Council of State Boards ofNursing during the past year, I have participated in the
following activities since the 1991 Delegate Assembly:

• Attended all Board of Directors meetings and participated in all of the Board conference calls;

• Attended all Board Coordinating Committee meetings and participated in all Coordinating Committee
conference calls;

• Contributed to an article regarding the NCLEX standard setting process from the perspective of a Board
Member for Issues;

• Participated in the National Council Fall Planning Retreat;

• Served as the Boanlliaison to the Examination Committet~.

In swn, by all measurements, this has been a good year for the NationalCouncil-a year ofprogress and a year ofpromise.
To all those who have contributed to this success, I express my appreciation and gratitude.

As I end my six years as the Vice-President of the National Council, I find myself thinking a lot about where this
organization has been. Ithas a proud and impressive hislOry. But I think even more about where the organization is going.
I remain confident in the future ofthis organization and its leadership. I believe this organization provides a unique focus
for Member Boards within the broader national context of nursing regulation and licensure examinations. I believe the
National Council is strongly positioned to grow and prosper in the years ahead, and that it has the resources and
determination 10 be a superior organization. Its continued success is limited only by the collective imagination and hard
work of all its members and staff.

Thank you for the honor of serving the National Council as your Vice-President. It has been a privilege to have
represented you in this manner, and I thank you for this opportunity.

Joan Bouchard, Vice-President
Executive Director, Oregon State Board of Nursing
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Report of the Secretary

As Secretary to the National Council of State Boards of Nursing, I have participated in all meetings of the Board of
Directors and the Board and Committee Fall Planning Retreat. I have participated in six Board of Directors'
conference calls. I have reviewed all minutes of the Board of Directors' meetings prior to their public distribution,
as well as reviewed the Summary of Major Board Actions for publication in the National Council of State Boards of
Nursing Newsletter.

I have served on the Personnel Committee of the Board of Directors. I have been the liaison of the Board to the Nursing
Practice & Education Committee. I have received and reviewed committee meeting materials and offered feedback as
necessary.

It has been a privilege and honor to serve the National Council of State Boards of Nursing in this capacity. I appreciate
the delegates for allowing me the opportunity to represent you on the Board of Directors.

Judie K. Ritter, Secretary
Executive Director, Florida Board of Nursing
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Report of the Treasurer

Recommendation
1. The auditor's report for October 1, 1990, through September 30, 1991, be approved as presented.

Activity
The change in the fiscal year to October 1 through September 30 facilitated budget monitoring and control by allowing
revisions resulting from Delegate Assembly actions to be incorporated before the beginning of the fiscal year. This
provided the Finance Committee and the Board ofDirectors a more accurate financial picture and financial forecast on
which to base consideration of subsequent fiscal requests.

The audit was completed in December 1991, and reviewed by the Finance Conunittee in January 1992. The auditors
found no irregularities in the fmancial statements and expressed an unqualified opinion.

The National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc., continues to maintain a strong fmancial position. Revenues
exceeded expenditures due to an increased number of examination candidates, high interest rates on investments, and
royalties from the Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program (NACEP). Our success has been due to careful
management and monitoring by staff. Finance Conunittee, and the Board of Directors. This has been extremely
important as we have proceeded with the implementation ofComputerized Adaptive Testing (CAn and is reflected in
the continuing assurance of qUality in CAT while continually being aware of the fiscal impact.

We continue to maintain a conservative approach throughout the budget process. All requests for adjustments were
reviewed in terms of their impact on the approved budget as well as other financial resources. The requests, accompanied
by a reconunendation and pertinent specific information, were presented to the Board of Directors for its consideration
and action. Quarterly fmancial reports were reviewed by the Finance Conunittee and the Board ofDirectors. Following
review by the Board of Directors, the reports were sent to Member Boards.

During the past year. I attended all meetings of the Board of Directors and participated in all but one of the conference
calls ofthe Board ofDirectors. I attended all meetings of the Coordinating Committee. I chaired the FinanceConunittee

Throughout the year, I consulted regularly with Kathleen Hayden, Financial Manager, on all financial matters. I would
like to thank her for the commitment, expertise, and support she has given to me. to the Finance Committee, and to the
National Council.

The Finance Conunittee has been a dedicated and hard-working group of individuals who have been very conunitted to
their responsibilities. I would like to thank each of them for the support they have shown me.

I would like to thank the Member Boards for giving me the opportunity to serve the National Council as Trea'lurer. It
has been a very exciting year. and I am looking forward to this next year-with all of it') challenges.

Carol A. Osman, Treasurer
Executive Director, North Carolina Board of Nursing

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc/1992
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Report of Independent Auditors

Board of Directors
National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets ofNational Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc., as of September
30, 1991 and 1990, and the related statements of revenue and expenses, changes in fund balance and cash flows for the
year ended September 30, 1991, and the 15-month period ended September 30, 1990. These financial statements are the
responsibility of management of National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these fmancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standardo;, Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
fmancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial state:ment presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc., at September 30, 1991 and 1990. the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the year ended September 30, 1991, and the IS-month period ended September 30, 1991 in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles.

Ernst & Young
December 4,1991

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992
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Balance Sheets
National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Examination fees due from member boards
Inventories (less reserve for obsolescence of

$22,000 in 1991 and $16,000 in 1990)
Accrued interest, prepaid expenses and other

Total current assets

Investments, at cost (market: 1991 - $6,493,162;
1990 - $5,378,588)

Property and equipment:
Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improvements
Equipment and computer software

Less accumulated depreciation

Liabilities And Fund Balance

Accounts payable
Accrued salaries and payroll taxes

Total current liabilities

September 30,
1991 199U-------

$521,291 $1,137,894
')0,453 90,599
92,897 465,557

62,018 52,445
369,808 213,840

1,136,467 1,960,335

6,453,534 5,369,047

179,485 169,575
429,954 414,277

609,439 583,852

475,411 403,164
--

134,028 180,688

$7,724,029 $7,510,070

$253,135 $1,694,180
187,384 123,847

440,519 1,818,027

Deferred revenue:
Examination fees collected in advance (net of

prepaid processing fees of $134,862 in
1991 and $112,707 in 1990) 1,232,658 ')65,103

Fund balance:
Unrestricted ­

Undesignated
Designated

Restricted

Total fund balance

See notes to financial statements.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, /nc.l/992

3,045,836 3.210,401
2,911,381 1,047,264

5,957,217 4,257,665

93,635 469,275

6,050,852 4,726,940

$7,724,029 $7,510,070



Statements of Revenue and Expense
National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

Year ended
September 30, 1991

9

15-month
period ended

September 30, 1990

Revenue - unrestricted funds:

Examination fees $7,256,956 $8,415,163
Less cost of development, application and processing 4,165,464 5,515,410

Net examination fees 3,091,492 2,899,753

Member boanl contracts 186,000 366,000
Publications 194,774 217,351
Delegate assembly 55,873 143,260
Honoraria and other 47,158 14,550
Nurse aid program 409,734 484,050
Investment income 520,749 544,789

Total revenue - unrestricted funds 4,505,780 4,669,753

Program and organizational expenses - unrestricted funds:
Member boanl contracts 5,662 18,968
Publications 79,956 68,013
Delegate assembly and convention planning 76,318 157,465
Nurse aide program 40,304 222,708
Job analysis studies 40,466 58,089
Computerized adaptive testing 359,369 324,118
Board meetings and travel 184,866 137,730
Public relations and communications 79,092 72,015
Other committee expenses 123,878 116,319

Total program and organizational expenses -
unrestricted funds 989,911 1,175,425

Administrative expenses - unrestricted funds:
Staff salaries and benefits 1,262,483 1,173,635
Professional fees 77,559 46,517
Office supplies 89,302 93,360
Insurance 28,433 41,211
Rent and utilities 250,160 170,825
Equipment maintenance and rental 30,133 39,008
Depreciation 72,247 101,578
Miscellaneous 6,000 4,154

Total administrative expenses - unrestricted funds 1,816,317 1,670,288

Total expenses - unrestricted funds 2,806,228 2,845,713

Revenue in excess of expenses - unrestricted funds 1,699,552 1,824,040

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc/1992
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Restricted grant revenue:
Computerized simulation testing
Nurse information system

Expenses related to restricted grants:
Computerized simulation testing
Nurse information system

Revenue (less than) in excess of expenses ­
restricted funds

Revenue in excess of expenses

See notes to financial statements.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992

107,606

375,640
107,606

(375,640)

$1,323,912

1.159,041

798.462

360,579

$2,184,619



Statements Of Changes In Fund Balance
National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

Year Ended September 30, 1991
and IS-month period ended September 30,1990

Umestricted Restricted
Designated Designated Designated Designated Designated Total Computerized

for computerized for crisis Designated for working for role for computer Unrestricted Simulation
Undesignated adaptive testing management for NACEP capital reserve delineation acquisition Fund Testing Total

Fund balance at
July 1,1989 SI,323,585 S597,937 SI21,836 S39O,267 S2,433,625 SI08,696 S2,542,321

Revenue in excess of
(less than) expenses 1,886,816 (324,118) 261,342 1,824,040 360,579 2,184,619

Fund bal ance at
September 30,1990 3,210,401 273,819 121,836 651,609 4,257,665 469,275 4,726,940

Transfer to Board-
designated funds (2,875,(95) 1,448,733 956,387 248,100 221,875

Transfer to
undesignated funds 651,609 (651,609)

Revenue in excess of
(less than) expenses 2,058,921 (359,369) 1,699,552 (375,640) 1,323,912

Fund bal ance at
September 30, 1991 S3,045,836 SI,363,183 S121,836 S S956,387 S248,100 S221,875 S5,957,217 S93,635 $6,050,852

See notes to financial statements.

--
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Statements of Cash Flows
National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

Year ended
September 30. 1991

IS-month
period ended

September 30. 1990

Operating activities:
Revenue in excess of expenses
Adjustments to reconcile revenue in excess of expenses

to net cash provided by operating activities ­
Depreciation
Provision for obsolete inventories
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
Increase in accrued interest, prepaid expenses and other
Increase in inventories
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable
Increase in accrued salaries and payroll taxes
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities:
Net additions to property and equipment
Increase in investment<;, net

Net ca'\h used by investing activities

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

Ca<;h and cash equivalent,> at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See notes to financial statements.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc./1992

$1,323,912 $2,184,619

72,247 101,578
6,000

372,806 (212,252)
(155,968 ) (45,957 )
05.573) (14,609)

0,441,045) 1,158,750
63,537 23,740

267,555 (723,714 )

493,471 2,472,155

(25,587) (118,574 )
0,084,487) 0,902,021)

0,110,074) (2,020,595 )

(616,603 ) 451,560

1,137,894 686,334

$521,291 $1,137,894
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Notes To Financial Statements
National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

September 30, 1991, and September 30, 1990

1. Organization and operation

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc. (the Council\) is anot-for-proti tcorporation organized under the statutes
of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The primary purpose of the Council is to serve as a charitable and educational
organization through which state boards of nursing act on matters of common interest and concern affecting the public
health, safety and welfare, induding the development oflicensing examinations in nursing. The Council is a tax-exempt
organization under Internal Revenue Code section 50I(c)(3).

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Examination fees: Examination fees collected in advance net of processing costs incurred are deferred and recognized
as revenue at the date of the examination.

Cash eguiyalents' Cash equivalents consist of money market funds.

Services of volunteers; Officers, committee members, the Board of Directors and other nonstnff associates assist the
Council, without remuneration, in various program and administrative functions. No value has been ascribed for such
voluntary services.

Pension plan: The Council maintains a defined-contribution pension plan covering all employees who complete six
months of employment. Contributions are based on employec compensation. The Council's policy is to fund pension
cost'i accrued. Pension expense was $90,720 and $78,526 fl lr 1991 and 1990 periods, respectively.

Progerty and eguipment: Property and equipment are sta\l:d on the basis of cost. Provisions for depreciation are
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated uscfullives of the assets.

Inyesunepts: Investments are carried at cost. Investmcnts consist of the following at September 30:

Cost

1991

Market
value Cost

1990

Market
value

U.S. government obligations
Certificate of deposit

$4,953,534
1,500,000

$6,453,534

$4,993,162
1,500,000

$6,493,162

$4,369,047
1,000,000

$5,369,047

$4,378,588
1,000,000

$5,378,588

Board-desiWated funds: The Board of Directors has designated certain funds to be used for specific projects. These
projects include the development ofcomputerized adaptive testing for licensure examinations, the purchase ofpaper and
printing materials to be used in the event of a security break ()(:curring directly prior to a scheduled examination (crisis
management), role delineation research study, the acquisition of computer equipment, and a working capital reserve.
These funds are reflected as designated unrestricted fund~ in the accompanying financial statements.

Restricted fupds; In 1988, the Council was awarded a restricted grant from the Kellogg Foundation to develop a software
system to ensure clinical competence of nurses and to ensure interprofessional collaboration between nursing and
medicine, through computer-based clinical simulation. The gnml, amounting to $1,868,954, was received in full in four
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installments through December 1991. If at the end of this conuniunent there remain any unexpended funds, the
unexpended cash balance is to be returned to the Kellogg Foundation.

In 1991, the Council received a restricted grant from The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation to support the study of the
feasibility ofestablishing a national nurse data base. The grant. amounting to $1 07.606. was expended during tiscall991.
In addition, the DivisionofNursing of the Public Health Service awarded a grant of$15.000 to the Council for this project
and the American Nurses' Association contributed in-kind services.

3. Commitments

On September 1. 1989, the Council entered into a lea<;e agreement for office space. Under this agreemeOl. the Council
has the option to tenninate the lease after five years. or continue under the lease agreement through August 31. 1999.

Future noncancelable rental conuniunents as of September 30, 1991. are as follows:

1992 $258.540
1993 263.718
1994 269.003

During fiscal 1990. the Council entered into a software license and maintenance agreemeOl with the National Board of
Medical Examiners. In consideration for the provision of this agreement. the Council is obligated to pay a base annual
fee of $50.000. subject to inflation adjusunents. The Council has the option of tenninating this agreement provided that
notice is given 18 months prior to tennination.

4. Subsequent event

In October 1991. the Board of Directors approved an additional $1,100,000 as designated funds for the Computerized

Adaptive Testing (CAD Project.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc./1992
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Report of the Area I Director

As Area I Director, I participated in all the Board meetings and conference calls with the exception ofthe April conference
call. In addition, I chaired the Board Projects Conunillee and the Area Directors' group and served as the Board liaison
to the Long Range Planning Committee. I represemed the National Council at the Association of State and Territorial
Directors of Nursing annual meeting, May 18-19, 1992, held in Juneau, Alaska.

The Area I meeting was held in Portland, Oregon, on April 23 -24, 1992. Thirteen ofour eighteen Member Boards were
represented at this meeting. The representatives were informf'.d of the progress related to computerized adaptive testing
and updated on major National Council activities impacting the Member Boards. The attendees discussed additional
subjects of interest including:

• Nurse aide program requirements
• Licensure of foreign educated nurses
• Prescriptive authority for advanced nurse practitioners

Appreciation is extended to the Oregon Board of Nursing, its Executive Director, Joan Bouchard, and its staff for
arranging the meeting and for attending to our needs during the meeting which included wonderful restaurants, directions
to the hottest shopping spot" and the opportunity to obtain autographs of the Los Angeles Lakers. Thanks to Monica
Woods, Oregon Board staff, for preparing the minutes of the meeting.

The talents of the Area I volunteers are vital to continuing a thriving organization and yourefforts are greatly appreciated.
I extend my appreciation to all of the Area I boards who responded to my requests during the year.

Thank you again for the opportunity to serve a<; your represenr.ltive on the Board of Directors this year. The conunitrnent
of the Area I Member Boards to the National Council and your support have made my term very rewarding.

Gail M. McGuill, Area I Director
Executive Director, Alaska Board of Nursing

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992
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Report of the Area II Director

As Area II Director of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing, I have participated in all Board of Directors'
meetings and conference calls held this year, including the Fall Planning Retreat. I have also served as the Board liaison
to the Foreign Educated Nurse Credentialing and the Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program Committees, as Chair
of the Board of Directors' Personnel Committee, and as a member of the Computerized Adaptive Testing (CAn
Implementation Team.

I represented the National Council at the National Federation of Licensed Practical Nurses annual meeting in Witchita,
KS, and participated in a presentation on the implementation ofcomputerized adaptive testing (CAn. I also represented
the National Council at the ern MacMillanlMcGraw-Hill Invitational in New Orleans, Louisiana.

The Area II meeting was held in Dearborn, Michigan, on April 4 and 5, 1992. Fifty-five participants represented 13 of
the 14 jurisdictions. Marty Lind-Martin and the Michigan Board of Nursing were warm and friendly and welcomed all
to very gracious surroWldings.

Participants included: Carolyn Hutcherson, National Council President; Dr. Jennifer Bosma, Executive Director;
Barbara Halsey, CAT Project Manager; and Vickie Sheets, Director for Public Policy, Nursing Practice and Education.

Dr. Bosma presented information related to the Americans with Disabilities Act, including legal review by cOWlsel.
Major discussion centered on modifications and Member Board responsibilities related to testing.

Reports were presented and discussed, including:

• Long Range Planning Committee Report - Marcia Rachel
• Advanced Practice Draft Position Statement - Jean Jackson
• Nurse Information System Committee Report - Vickie Burbach
• Disciplinary Data Bank - Vickie Sheets
• CAT Education Infonnation Team and CAT-PN Field Testing - Barbara Halsey

Additional topics of infonnation and discussion were focused on: overviewofNational COWlcil staffandresponsibilities;
the raised NCLEX-RN passing standard; visioning activities of the Board of Directors; status of various CAT
committees' activities; related implementation of CAT and the 1992 Delegate Assembly decision responsibilities;
NCNEf licensure verification project; and the scheduling of a Regulatory Day to be added to the 1993 Area II meeting.

Discussion was held regarding state financial constraints which may limit participation at the Delegate Assembly. There
was consensus that the Finance Committee should consider some funding mechanism to assure representation by every
jurisdiction.

The 1993 Area II meeting will be hosted by the Kansas Board of Nursing.

Serving as the Area II Director has been rewarding and challenging. Thank you for the opportunity to serve you during
the past two years.

Shirley Brekken, Area II Director
Board member, Minnesota Board of Nursing
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Report of the Area III Director

As Area III Director of the National Council ofState Boards of Nursing, I attended all Board ofDirectors' meetings and
conference calls and served as liaison to the Nurse Information System Committee, Computerized Adaptive Testing
(CAn Education Information Team, CAT Implementation Team, and CAT-PN Field Test Team. Additionally, I
participated as a member of the Board of Directors' Projects Committee and Policy Committee.

The Area III Meeting was held March 30-31, 1992, in Jackson, Mississippi. There were 65 individuals in attendance,
representing 14 of the 16 Member Boards in Area III. The President, Executive Director, and Director for Public Policy,
Nursing Practice and Education represented the National Council at the meeting, and representatives from ern
MacMillanlMcGraw-Hill attended as well. Reporl<; were presented regarding National Council projects and activities,
and specific Area III concerns were discussed and information shared among jurisdiction representatives regarding
pertinent regulatory and testing issues. Prior to the meeting, jurisdictions submitted written reports of specific
jurisdiction activities for the past year. Reports were compiled and distributed to attendees as a meeting handout.

Throughout the past year, Area III Member Boards participated actively in a wide variety ofNational Council committees
and activities. The issues on which we worked were complex and challenging. To have represented and served an Area
with such vast resources of knowledge and talent has indeed been an honor and plea<;ure.

Marcella L. McKay, Area III Director
Executive Director, Mississippi Board of Nursing
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Report of the Area IV Director

As Area IV Director, I have attended all meetings of the Board of Directors, participated in all but two conference calls
and served as a member of the Board ofDirectors' Projects Committee. On April 22-25, 1992, I represented the National
Council at the annual convention of the National Student Nurses' Association held in Phoenix, Arizona.

The Area IV Member Boards met on April 30 - May 1, 1992, in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. Eleven of the fourteen
jurisdictions were represented at the meeting for a total of44 attendees. Representing the National Council were Carolyn
Hutcherson, President; Dr. Jennifer Bosma, Executive Director; Dr. Carolyn Yocom, Directorof Research Services; and
Marcia Rachel, Chair, Long Range Planning Committee. Also in attendance representing CTB MacMillanlMcGraw­
Hill were Sally Gensberg, NCLEX Program Director, and Sandi Hollister, Data Center Manager.

Agenda items included the following:
1. Organizational, committee and testing service reports
2. NCLEX-RN Standard Setting
3. Impact of Americans With Disabilities Act
4. "Nursing's Agenda For Health Care Reform"
5. Issues related to home health aides
6. MainelAlaska Project
7. Resolutions submitted by the Delaware and Pennsylvania Boards

The 1993 Area IV spring meeting will be held on April 29-30 in Burlington, Vermont.

Many thanks to the Pennsylvania board members and staff for their wonderful hospitality. The incredible beauty of the
Pennsylvania Dutch countryside and sublime simplicity of its Amish people will long be remembered.

As my term nears completion, it seems fitting and proper to publicly recognize the ever-constant support provided by
the Maine State Board of Nursing during my service to the National Council. The degree to which I was sustained by
the board's patient understanding cannot be measured.

An old Webster's Dictionary defines gratitude as "a feeling of thankful appreciation." So it is with gratitude to the Area
IV Member Boards, the National Council staff and my present and past board colleagues that I respectfully submit my
final report.

Jean Caron, Area W Director
Executive Director, Maine State Board of Nursing
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Report of the Director-at-Large

Since the 1991 Delegate Assembly, as Director-at-Large, I have participated in the following activities:

• Attended meetings of the Board of Directors and participated in Board conference calls.
• Participated in the Fall Planning Retreat in Bloomingdale, Illinois, in October 1991.
• Served on the Board Personnel Committee.
• Served on the Board Policy Review Committee.
• Served on the Board ofDirectors for the Federation ofRegulatory Boards (FARB). In this role, I attended two Board

meetings and participated in the Annual FARB Forum.
• Served as the Board liaison to the Communications Conunittee.

The FARB Forum held in Charleston, South Carolina. was well-attended. Evaluations were very good, demonstrating
that those who attended received valuable information. I have been active in plans for the 1993 FARB Forum.

The Board has been challenged this year by changes in many areas. One of the most rewarding has been working toward
a dynamic plan for the future which integrates all of the National Council's work. The Board of Directors and the Long
Range Planning Committee have challenged the National Council to look toward the future with vision and anticipation.
During meetings of the Board. I endeavor to represent all National Council members. I have been open to
communications from Member Boards and communicated your ideas to the Board of Directors. Thank you for the
opportunity to represent all of you on the Board of Directors during this exciting time of change this year.

Susan Boots. Director-at-Large
Executive Secretary, Washington State Board of Practical Nursing
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Report of the Executive Director

Introduction
This report highlights major areas of staff activity from May 1991 through April 1992. Activities are linked to the key
outcome objectives which each department has striven to accomplish. An alphabetical list of staff names, including
position, accompanies this report. A description of staff responsibilities is found behind Tab 22, Orientation Manual,
in this Book ofRepons.

Testing Department
Objective 1: To maintain the highest quality and integrity of me National Council Licensure Examinations (NCLEX).
Supporting activities:
• Compiled evidence used by the Board in re-evaluating the NCLEX-RN pa<;sing standard;
• Monitored, analyzed and reported the implications of the Americans with Disabilities Act for examination

modifications;
• With CfB, set and implemented a prioritized agenda for psychometric research;
• Designed and carried out a study of the relationships between time and NCLEX performance for English-as-a­

Second-Language candidates;
• At the direction of the Administration ofExamination Committee, requested and reviewed security procedures from

jurisdictions not having procedures less than two years old on file;
• With CfB, worked to institute a repeater tracking service;
• Recruited, screened and coordinated notification of NCLEX panel members;
• Provided daily liaison with and periodic monitoring of CTB.

Objective 2: To facilitate a successful, smooth transition to Computerized Adaptive Testing (CAT).
Supporting activities:
• Drafted and issued a Request for Proposals to potential vendors of CAT testing services; participated in analysis,

negotiation, and evaluation of bids;
• Drafted a Ma<;ter Plan to guide the transition to CAT; following approval, facilitated all implementation activities

according to the plan;
• Facilitated nurse experts' complete review of the PN item pool;
• Worked with software developers to enhance the CAT software;
• Coordinated plans for CAT-PN field testing, including design, contact with jurisdictions and schools, candidate

recruitment materials, and test sites;
• Developedandanalyzedresponses to surveys regarding legal/regulatory a<;pecl<; ofCAT implementation; disseminated

information regarding legal implications to appropriate groups;
• Supported the production of a Member Board readiness "Checklist for Legislative Review;"
• Drafted and disseminated information about CAT by a variety of means: exhibit<;, brochures, articles, speeches,

fact sheets, Q&:A Reference Guide, newsrelea'ies, and vitleo;
• Made presentations on CAT to a variety of audiences;
• Worked with a business consultant to explore opportunities for CAT-related commercial product development, at

the request of the Board of Directors.

Objective #3: To produce and promote a high-quality Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program (NACEP), in
compliance with all federal standards.
Supporting activities:
• Monitored Federal Register for issuancl'f tinal regulallions; worked with legal counsel and The Psychological

Corporation (TPC) to assure compliance y April 1, 1992;
• Worked with TPC to a<;sure production, . d field testing of new forms of the written NACEP and manual skills

situations;
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• Revised tbe checklist of manual skills for horne healtb aides;
• Sponsored a tbird Nurse Aide Conference in Baltimore in December and secured appropriate, informative speakers;
• Compiled evidence used by tbe Board in re-evaluating tbe NACEP written and manual skills passing standards:
• Worked witb legal counsel to execute a one-year contract extension witb TPC as directed by the Board;
• Provided daily liaison witb and periodic monitoring of TPC.

Public Policy, Nursing Practice and Education Department
Objective: To promote public policy related to the safe and effective practice of nursing in the interest ofpublic welfare.
Supponing activities:
• Supported committee work pertaining to advanced practice, including gatbering current data about state regulation

of advanced practice, and sponsoring two "leadership roundtables" on tbe topic of advanced nursing practice to
encourage dialogue and draft a position paper and model statutory language;

• Encouraged Member Boards to request information from the disciplinary data bank, by providing a variety of
metbods of access;

• Developed the conversion of the disciplinary data bank to a new database, incorporating new fields (mirroring those
anticipated for tbe National Practitioner Data Bank, NPDB) and new reports;

• Developed ideas for future research regarding disciplinary processes utilized by Member Boards;
• Monitored current issues witb potential implications for Member Boards' functions, e.g., HIVIHBV/AIDS

legislation, NPDB, Americans with Disabilities Act, health care reform proposals;
• Represented tbe National Council to a variety of audiences on issues of importance to the National Council and

Member Boards;
• Served as a member of the Executive Committee of tbe National Practitioner Data Bank;
• Supported committee work pertaining to cooperative paper on nursing shortage, continued competence, and impact

of disabilities on practice;
• Consulted on a daily basis witb Member Board and other callers regarding issues related to nursing regulation.

Communications Department
Objective: To be recognized by all audiences as the prime source of information and expertise regarding the regulation
of nursing practice and education.
Supponing activities:
• Published Issues, State Nursing Legislation Quanerly, the Newsletter, and the Annual Repon on a regular ba<;is;
• Published newsreleases, fact sheets, CAT Communiques and other special-purpose publications as warranted;
• Wrote and published The NCLEX Process as an information resource on NCLEX for general audiences;
• Planned meetings which bring Member Boards and otbers together to interact on issues affecting nursing regulation,

e.g., tbe Annual Meeting, Area Meetings, Fall Planning Retreat, Nurse Aide Conference III;
• Explored new meeting types which may enhance opportunities for "acting and counseling together," e.g., concurrent

educational sessions at tbe Annual Meeting and planned Area Meeting regulatory conferences in 1993;
• Drafted and, after approval, implemented a Communications Plan for tbe National Council;
• Provided and coordinated assistance to and among Member Boards through tbe Resource Network;
• At tbe direction of tbe Board, carried out an awards program to support recognition of the value of Member Boards'

and volunteer participation in the National Council.

Research Department
Objective: To provide research and information valuable to Member Boards, and to provide and promote use of
information about nursing regulation by others as appropriate.
Supponing activities:
• Instituted a database of surveys conducted by and about Member Boards' functions, and published its contents on

a periodic basis;
• Performed tbe biennial update of Member Board Profiles and annual compilation of licensure statistics;
• Completed a study demonstrating the technical and financial fea<;ibility of establishing a nurse information system

(externally funded);
• Worked witb committee and legal counsel to draft a contract which delineates terms of implementation for a nurse

information system, disseminated it, and contacted Member Boards during their review to discuss their potential
participation;
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• Submitted a proposal for funding of a study of approaches to regulatory management of the chemically dependent
nurse to the National Institute for Drug Abuse;

• With the National Board of Medical Examiners, modified the Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing (CSn
software to reflect changes in the testing model, including use of a free-entry format for nursing assessments; added
to the underlying databases; initiated new case development;

• Designed studies to explore the applicability ofCST for competence assessment at levels other than initial licensure;
• Drafted, disseminated and analyzed responses to a survey of Member Boards' needs related to credentialing of

foreign-educated nurses;
• Performed in-depth research into nursing competencies across settings and levels of practice, drafted a new

instrument for use in job analysis and role delineation studies, and pilot tested the instrument (Attachment A);
• Sought permission from Member Boards for participation of nurses/candidates within their jurisdictions in the role

delineation study scheduled for 1992-93;
• Interacted with other organizations collecting data and performing research relevant to nursing and health care,

including Interagency Conference on Nursing Statistics and National Nursing Research Roundtable; represented the
National Council at appropriate conferences.

Administration Department
Objective: To assure National Council programs and services are well-planned and implemented, consistent with
Delegate Assembly and Board direction.
Supporting activities:
• Facilitated selection of qualified people to perform the work of the organization, through the employment process

and by supporting the Board of Directors in the conunitlee appointment process;
• Facilitated effectiveness of meetings through liaison activities, clarifying needed outcomes, providing resources,

and promoting information exchange between related groups;
• Supported organizational long range planning through work with the Long Range Planning Conunittee and Board

of Directors;
• Created systems for tracking theprojected activities ofall groups and coordinated reporting ofoutcomes to the Board

of Directors;
• Worked with the Board to compile, revise and edit a Board Policy Manual;
• Maintained frequent contact and follow-up responses with Member Board representatives, by phone and in person;
• Coordinated interorganizational leadership liaison meetings and promoted the inclusion of National Council

viewpoints in relevant issues.

Operations Department
Objective: To provide cost efficient and effective operational services and environment.
Supporting activities:
• Supplied and monitored financial reports which provide information on the organization's current and projected

financial status;
• Arranged for the annual audit by certified public accountants;
• Invested the National Council's funds to assure security and high return;
• Converted to a local area computer network and more powerful and efficient computer system;
• Assisted Member Boards with NCNEf and the related pilot projects for access to disciplinary data and licensure

verification;
• Negotiated for expanded space;
• Planned and implemented a change in the health benefits program for staff.

The staff is pleased to have been able to contribute to the National Council's mission while working in concert with so
many dedicated volunteer leaders during the past year. We wish to express our thanks to the Board of Directors and
MemberBoards for providing challenging and rewarding work and foroffering the opportunity to help make a difference.

Executive Director
Jennifer Bosma, Ph.D., C.AE
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1991-92 National Council Staff

Administrative Staff
Jennifer Bosma, Ph.D., C.A.E Executive Director
Doris E. Nay, M.A., R.N Associatf~Executive Director

Ruth Bernstein, M.B.A. CAT Project Associate
Anna Bersky, M.S., R.N CST Project Director
Jodi Borger NCLEX Administrative Assistant
Nancy Chornick, Ph.D., R.N Research Associate
Susan Davids Manager of Meetings and Convention Services
Larry Early, Ph.D Director afTesting Services (through January 1992)
Ellen Gleason, M.S.I.R NACEP Program Manager
Christopher T. Handzlik Editor
Barbara Halsey, M.B.A. CAT Project Manager
Kathleen J. Hayden, B.B.A. Financia1 Manager
Ellyn Hirsch CAT Administrative Assistant
Ellen Julian, Ph.D Psychometrician
William J. Lauf, M.B.A., C.D.P Director of Operations (through September 1991)
Nancy Miller, M.S., R.N NCLEX Program Manager
Melanie Neal NIS Project Manager
Kerry Nowicki Publications Manager
Bruce Rowe .Information Resource Manager (through November 1991)
Larry Sankey Information Resource Manager
Matthew Schulz, Ph.D Psychometrician (through September 1991)
Vickie Sheets, J.D., R.N Director for Public Policy, Nursing Practice and Education
Tom Vicek, M.B.A., C.P.A Director of Operations
Ann Watkins Executive Secretary
Anne Wendt, Ph.D NCLEX Program Manager
Susan Woodward Director of Communications
Carolyn J. Yocom, Ph.D., R.N DireclOr of Research Services
Anthony R. Zara, Ph.D Director of Testing Services

Support Staff
Renee Albers Research
Wanda Anderson Operations
Cynthia Bentel Research
Richard Bentel Public Policy, Nursing Practice and Education
Tamara Bowles Testing
Yvonne Brown Communications
Beth Cayia Research (through July 1991)
Haiba Hamilton Communications
Beverly Howard Testing
Marco Huerta Operations (through May 1992)
Jerrold Jacobson Research
Donna Masiulewicz NACEP
W. Louise Peter Testing
Sandra Rhodes Adminis.tration
Cathy Streeter Research (through October 1991)
Mary Trucksa Operations
Fleurette Workman Reception
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Attachment A 5

Development of Job Analysis and Role Delineation
Data Collection Instrument

Background
The National Council periodically conducts job analysis and role delineation studies to obtain information about the
practicepatternsofnursing personnel. AJob Analysis Study ofEntry-LevelRegistered Nurse (RN) Practice andaRole
Delineation Study are scheduled for implementation in fall 1992. The Job Analysis Study of Entry-Level Licensed
PracticaJlVocational Nurses (PNNNs) is scheduled for January 1994. The data collection instrument used in studies
performed between 1984 and 1990 was developed in 1984. Because this instrument needs to reflect current nursing
practice, a new one is currently being developed for use in the upcoming studies.

Instroment Development
DuringFY92, a new datacollection instrumentwas developedand pilot tested. In order to assure that the data collected
with the new instrumentreflect currentnursing practice, a two-step process was used in its developmenL This process,
which was reviewed and approved by the External Job Analysis Monitoring Panel, consists of: (1) establishment of
a conceptual framework and (2) development of activity statements.

Establishment of a Conceptual Framework
A conceptual framework was used to provide structure for the initial list of nursing activities and to provide a method
of reviewing the list for comprehensiveness and representativeness. The framework used was the one identified by
the Examination Committee after reviewing results of the 1985 job analysis study.

This conceptual framework consists of two components: (1) the Nursing Process and (2) Client Needs. The Nursing
Process component consists of five steps: assessment, analysis, planning, implementation, and evaluation. Client
Needs, the second component, is comprised of four major categories: (1) safe, effective care environment, (2)
physiological integrity, (3) psychosocial integrity, and (4) health promotion/maintenance. Each of the four major
categories of Client Needs is further broken down to a total of 17 subcategories. These two components interact to
producea holistic picture ofnursing practice. Additionally, integrated throughout the framework are the roleelements
ofnursing practice which include communication skills, principles ofteachingand learning, community resources and
family systems.

Development of Activity Statements
A list of approximately 1,300 nursing activity statements, representing the activities of a wide range of nursing
personnel (e.g., nursing aides,licensed practicaVvocational nurses, registered nurses, and advanced practitioners),
was compiled from a variety ofsources. Sources used for developmentofthe list include: (1) currentnursing literature,
(2) computerized descriptions, (3) critical incident descriptions, (4) Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing (CST)
nursing intervention data base, and (5) nursing activities used in previous job analysis studies.

Examination ofthe nursing literature consisted ofa review of nursing journals published within the past five years and
the most recent editions ofnursing reference books which arecommonly used within the nursing profession. Examples
include: AmericanJournal ofNursing,Nursing Outlook, Luckman and Sorenson's Medical andSurgicalNursing, and
Whaley & Wong's Nursing Care ofInfants and Children.

Job descriptions were obtained from all types of health care institutions where nursing personnel are employed. In
order to assure representation from a variety of institutions and geographic locations, four health care facilities were
randomly selected in each jurisdiction. These institutions were requested to provide job descriptions for all levels of
nursing personnel. A total of 84 institutions responded. The job descriptions were reviewed for nursing-related
activities.
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Critical incident descriptions were obtained from the 1990 RN job analysis study. In this study, newly licensed RNs
were asked to describe two situations in which they did something that had a significant impact on the well-being of
their clients. Approximately 3,000 critical incident descriptions were analyzed to identify nursing activities
performed.

In addition to the utilization of nursing literature, job descriptions, and critical incident descriptions as sources for
nursing activities in compiling the initial list, the CST nursing intervention database and nursing activities identified
in the previously used job analysis data collection instrument were also considered. The initial nursing activity list,
derived from all of the above sources, served as the foundation for the fmal data collection instrument to be used in
both the job analysis and the role delineation studies.

Refinement of Activity List
After the initial list of nursing activity statements (n=l,3S6) was compiled, the activities were then categorized
utilizing the conceptual framework described above. Thi'l procedure was followed in order to detennine if
inadequacies existed in either the activity list or the conceptual framework. Analysis of the categorized activities
demonstrated no inadequacies within any of the categories. Also, no difficulties were encountered by staff when
categorizing the activities using this framework, thereby providing some evidence that both the list and framework
were acceptable at this stage of the study.

An advisory panel was convened to evaluate the initial nursing activity list. The Job Analysis and Role Delineation
Data Collection Instrument Advisory Panel (Advisory Panel) was composed of clinical experts from a wide variety
of specialty areas and geographic backgrounds. The initial list of nursing activities was evaluated by the Advisory
Panel to detennine if the activities were representative of the domain ofnursing. The Advisory Panel also suggested
additional nursing activities and reviewed the list for redundancy, as well as incomplete or ambiguous wording.

After the Advisory Panel agreed that the revised nursing activity list was comprehensive and represented the domain
of nursing, a structural grid was developed. The grid consisted of a two dimensional theoretical framework with the
accepted North American Nursing Diagnosis Association (NANDA) nursing diagnoses extending horizontally and
other theoretical frameworks, such as body systems and outlines of nursing textbook content, extending vertically.
Each of the nursing activities was plotted on the grid to detennine if any discrepancies existed between the nursing
content represented by the grid and the list of nursing activities. Analysis of the plotted nursing activities indicated
that the list was representative of the content area of the grid, indicating suppon for the conceptual framework.
However, the plotted activities also revealed that some nursing content was more heavily represented compared to
other content areas. Using the structural grid as a guide, the number of nursing activities was reduced, with attention
directed toward frequently represented content areas. The resulting list (n=279) reflected a more even distribution of
activities across the content areas.

During the second meeting of the Advisory Panel, the reduced list of nursing activities was reviewed to confmn that
the list continued to be comprehensive and representative of the domain ofnursing practice. Because the list was still
lengthy, the Advisory Panel also suggested additional reductions in the list. Finally, the Advisory Panel reviewed the
directions and demographic questions to be used in the data collection instrument for comprehensiveness and clarity.

Following the second Advisory Panel review, the revised list of 266 nursing activities was reviewed by a variety of
nurses. Nurses on the National Council staffand on cm's staffreviewed the list as well as nursing service personnel
and nurse educators.

The nursing service sector was represented by 20 nurses from II variety ofclinical areas and geographic locations who
were currently in practice and had expressed a willingness to review the list. The nursing activity list was sent to them
with the following criteria included as a guide: (1) the nursing activity list must represent the domain of nursing; (2)
the list can contain no more than 2S0 to 300 activities to insure an adequate response rate; and (3) the activities need
to be varied enough to measure differences among the different types ofhealth care personnel. The nurses were asked
to provideany comments which would help fina1ize a listofnursing activities representativeofwhat nursing personnel
do (i.e., indicate activities which don't apply to currentnursing practice, add activities which should be included, etc.).
Eighteen nursing service personnel (90%) responded to our request. Most of their comments reflected geographic
differences in terminology. Revisions were made based on their suggestions.
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In order to obtain input from nurse educators. the following approach was used. Nursing education programs.
representing baccalaureate. associate degree. diploma and licensed practical/vocational nursing education in all
jurisdictions were randomly selected (n=185). Deans of these programs were requested to give the nursing activity
list to nurse educators in theirprograms who are currently in clinical practice. The nurseeducators were provided with
the same criteria as those nurses working in nursing service agencies. They were asked to indicate those activities
which should be included in the data collection instrument for the job analysis and role delineation swdies. To date.
the response rate from nursing programs is 87% (n=162) and responses continue to be received. Feedback from nurse
educators has resulted in revisions in the nurse activity list

Inaddition to requesting nurses to evaluate the nursing activity portion ofthe instrument. the data collection instrument
is currently being pilot tested. Pilot testing is being done not only to eliminate difficulties associated with
administration.but to further validate the contentofthe instrument. Ateach pilot testing session. participants areasked
to complete the data collection instrument and then to answer questions that address content validity. as well as any
difficulties they encountered while answering the items.

Members of the Advisory Panel are also conducting pilot testing sessions in their health care agencies using the same
protocol as National Council staff. In addition. 20 nursing personnel. who previously indicated a willingness to
participate in the pilot swdy. have been sent a data collection instrument with instructions. Modifications are being
made in the data collection instrument based on results from each pilot testing session.

Future Activities
After pilot testing is completed. the fmallist ofnursing activities will again be categorized according to the conceptual
framework and the structural grid. as describedabove. to ensure thatall areasofthe nursing domain will be represented
in the fmal version of the data collection instrument

The External Job Analysis Monitoring Panel is scheduled to meet in June to review the final draft of the data collection
instrument and the methodology for conducting both the job analysis and role delineation studies.

Advisory Panel
Sandra Gayle Hendy. OR. Area I
Noreen A. Hubner. ME. Area IV
Nancy Smart, a. Area II
Cerena Henderson Suarez. TX-RN. Area ill
Kathleen Zambo. SO. Area II

External Job Analysis Monitoring Panel
Angela Jacobs. M.S .• R.N.• Azusa Pacific University
Michael Kane. Ph.D.• University of Wisconsin-Madison

Staff
Nancy Chornick. Research Associate
Carolyn Yocom. Director ofResearch Services
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Report of the Long Range Planning Committee

Recommendation
1. The Long Range Planning Committee recommends the approval of the revised National Council goals and

objectives as presented in the Organization Plan (Attachment A).

Background
In 1988, the LongRange Planning Committeewas established asa standing committeeby the Delegate Assembly. The
bylaws' charge to this committee is to establish and implement periodic review of National Council's structure,
effectiveness, mission statement, goals, objectives, and strategies, and propose revisions as indicated.

At the 1990 Delegate Assembly, the delegates reaffInned the mission statement of the National Council, and the Long
Range Planning Committee presented the updated rank ordering of the National Council's goals and objectives.

In 1991, the Long Range Planning Committee presented a preliminary description ofthe data received from the Trend
Analysis survey to the Delegate Assembly.

Meetings
The Long Range Planning Committee met October 7-9, 1991; November 25, 1991, by conference call; January 8-10,
1992; February 27,1992, by conference call; April 8-10, 1992, and June 11-12, 1992.

Activities
The committee analyzed and interpreted the Trend Analysis data as well as reviewed the rank ordering of the goals
and objectives, the reaffInned mission statement, and the current long range plan. Aproposed Organization Plan was
subsequently drafted. The proposed Organization Plan was shared with the Board of Directors and National Council
staffand was presented at each Area Meeting. Based on the comments received, the proposed Organization Plan was
fmalized for presentation to the 1992 Delegate Assembly.

Future Activities
During FY93, the Long Range Planning Committee will ask Member Boards to rank order the goals and objectives.
The committee will review the Organization Plan of the National Council to detennine the effectiveness of the
structure of the National Council in facilitating the implementation of the plan. Recommendations will be developed
as indicated.

Committee Members
Marcia Rachel, MS, Area m, Chair
Pat Broten, NO, Area II
Leola Daniels, ID, Area I
Nancy Durrett, VA, Area m
Lorinda Inman, lA, Area II
Jeanette Ware, VT, Area IV

Board Liaison
Gail McGuill

Staff
Doris E. Nay, Associate Executive Director
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Attachment A

NATIONAL COUNCIL OF STATE BOARDS OF NURSING

Proposed Organization Plan

The mission of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing is to promote public policy related to
the safe and effective practice of nursing In the Interest of public welfare. It strives to accomplish this
mission by acting in accordance with the decisions of its member boards of nursing on matters of
common interest and concern affecting the public health, safety and welfare. To accomplish its aims,
the National Council provides services and guidance to its members in performing their functions
which regulate entry to nursing practice, continuing safe nursing practice and nursing education
programs.

Goal I. Licensure and Credentialing

Provide Member Boards with examinations and standards for
licensure and credentialing.

Objective A. Conduct job analysis studies to serve as the basis for
examinations.

Objective B. Provide examinations that are based on current accepted
psychometric principles and legal considerations.

Objective C. Implement computerized adaptive testing for the licensure
examinations.

Objective D. Conduct research and development regarding computerized
clinical simulation testing for initial and continued licensure.

Objective E. Provide a competency evaluation program for nurse aides.

Objective F. Promote consistency in the licensure and credentialing process.

Objective G. Investigate mechanisms for evaluating continued competence.
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Goal II. Nursing Practice

Provide information, analyses and standards regarding the
regulation of nursing practice.

Objective A. Develop documents which provide guidance regarding the
regulation of nursing practice.

Objective B. Develop documents regarding health care issues which affect
safe and effective nursing practice.

Objective C. Conduct research on regulatory issues related to disciplinary
activities.

Objective D. Provide information about disciplinary actions taken by Member
Boards.

Objective E. Review and analyze actions of government and other entities
that affect the regulation of nursing practice.

Goal III. Nursing Education

Provide information, analyses and standards regarding the
regUlation of nursing education.

Objective A. Develop documents which provide guidance regarding the
regulation of nursing education.

Objective B. Develop documents regarding issues that affect the regulation of
nursing education.

Objective C. Provide for Member Board needs related to the approval
process of nursing education programs.

Objective D. Review and analyze actions of government and other entities
that affect the regulation of nursing education.
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Goal IV. Information

Promote the exchange of information and serve as a
clearinghouse for matters related to nursing regulation.

5

Objective A. Implement a comprehensive repository of information.

Objective B. Establish a nurse information system for use by Member Boards
and others.

Objective C. Provide consultative services for Member Boards.

Objective D. Facilitate communication between National Council, Member
Boards and related entities.

Goal V. Organization

Implement an organizational structure that uses human and
fiscal resources efficiently.

Objective A. Implement a planning system to guide the National Council.

Objective B. Implement a fiscal resource management system.

Objective C. Maintain a system of governance that facilitates leadership and
decision making.

Objective D. Conduct and disseminate research pertinent to the mission of
the National Council.
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Report of the Finance Committee

Meeting Dates
The Finance Committee met October 7, 1991; January 27-28, 1992; April 9-10, 1992; and June 15-16, 1992.
Conference calls were held November 19, 1991; December 3, 1991; May 1, 1992; and July 27, 1992, to review
quarterly financial infonnation and any proposals to be presented to the Board of Directors with a fiscal impact

Activities
• Reviewed the FY93 budget including capital acquisition requests, and presented the tentative budget to the Board

at its July meeting. The final budget, with any budget adjustments resulting from Delegate Assembly action
incorporated therein, will be approved by the Board foJ' implementation October I, 1992.

• Met with Ernst & Young audit f1fJ11 to discuss the FY91 audit. The committeealso reviewed the management letter
and recommended to the Board approval of the FY91 audit

• Surveyed Member Boards in connection with providing financial assistance for delegates to the Annual Meeting.

• Recommended fee schedule for FY92 Annual Meeting.

• Reviewed all fmancial policies and submitted revisions to four policies for approval by the Board of Directors.

• Reviewed five-year financial forecasts, particularly in connection with the Computerized Adaptive Testing
(CAn project and Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing (CSn.

• Reviewed funding proposals for the Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing Project

• Developed Policy on Inventory Obsolescence.

• Reviewed requested changes to the CAT Designated Fund and provided the Board with appropriate recommendations.

• Reviewed a summary of the Designated Fund covering Phases I and II of the CAT project and recommended that
the balance remaining in the CAT Designated Fund be transferred to the undesignated fund balance.

• Developed FY93 Budget Assumptions and Budget Call~ndar.

• Discussed with the Director ofResearch Services the problems encountered with the timing of receiving funding
for continuation of a project and the end of the first phase. Developed a mechanism to address the problems.

• Revised Guidelines for Area Meetings to specify responsibilities related to expenses.

The Finance Committee has had an interesting and challenging year. To see the diversity and complexity of National
Council's activities, as the committee has reviewed them from the fiscal perspective, has been exciting. The work of
the committee has been facilitated by Kathleen Hayden, Financial Manager. The committee would like to express its
appreciation to her as well as to the staff for their responsiveness to requests from the committee.
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Committee Members
Carol Osman, NC, Area III, Treasurer and Chair
Lucille Baldwin, AZ, Area I
Charlene Kelly, NE, Area II
Sheila McMahon, DE, Area IV
Barbara Morvant, LA·RN, Area 1II

Staff
Kathleen J. Hayden, Financial Manager
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Report of the Board of Directors

Recommendations
The Board of Directors recommends that:

1. The National Council, at this time, decline the request for access to NCLEX-PN from Manitoba and any other
similarly situated province/country who might make a similar request.

2. The Board ofDirectors discontinue evaluating the adequacy ofsample size and appropriate instrumentation for
a limited scope job analysis of nurses in evolving levels of nursing practice (directive from 1989 Delegate
Assembly), until further direction is received from the Delegate Assembly regarding future examinations.

The following issues will be addressed in supplementary mailings to the Board's report to the Delegate Assembly:

1. Information and comparative evaluation of test service proposals for Computerized Adaptive Testing (CAT)
administration of NCLEX. (late June)

2. Essential features of the proposed Member Board contract with the National Council, to be effective with the
frrstCAT administration. (afterthe July 13-15 Board ofDirectors , meeting)

3. When the information is available so that a decision regarding implementation ofa Nurse Information System
(NIS) may be made, that decision will be made by the Delegate Assembly. (The Board anticipates that a
recommendation may be receivedfrom the Nurse Information System Committee in July.)

4. A description of a study of the effects of time and English-as-a-Second-Language on NCLEX perfonnance,
based on analysis of the February 1992 NCLEX-RN and April 1992 NCLEX-PN.

Background and Rationale - Recommendation #1
At the August 1991 meeting of the Delegate Assembly, the delegates adopted a resolution that the National Council study
the issues related to the use of licensure examinations in Manitobaand similarly situated provinces/countries, and present
a report describing options to the 1992 Delegate Assembly. TIle Board ofDirectors' Projects Committee (Gail McGuill,
Jean Caron, and Marcella McKay) was charged with studying the issues and describing the options. The committee
identified several areas for investigation: National Council organizational issues, definitions related to international
testing, and psychometric issues.

The Projects Committee began to meet this charge by carefully reviewing National Council's mission statement, goals
and objectives, and bylaws:

• The National Council's mission statement, reaffrrmed by the 1990 Delegate Assembly, states, ".... strives to
accomplish this mission by acting in accordance with the decisions of its Memher Boards o(NursiM....".

• The goals and objectives ofthe National Council directly relate to the achievementofthe mission ofthe National
Council.

• Bylaws Article III. Membership and Fees, A.I. defines a state board of nursing as, "the governmental agency
empowered to license and regulate nursing practice in any state, territory orpolitical subdivision ofthe United
States ofAmerica." Article III.A.2. states, "Any stale board ofnursing that agrees to use, under the terms and
conditions specified by the National Council, one or more licensing examinations developed by the National
Council and pays the required fees lIUJy be a member ofthe National Council."
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Based on the above information, the committee determined that at this time a province/country not considered a territof',
or political subdivision of the United States of America would not be eligible to be a member of the National Council
of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

The committee then requested a legal definition of "similarly situated" from Attorney Thomas 0' Brien of Vedder. Price.
Kaufman & Kammholz. His response was that "similarly situated" defies definition, absent an articulation of factors 10

be used to make the comparison, e.g., educational system, language, and culture.

The committee investigated other issues related to international test use and eligibility for use of examinations. The chairs
of the National Council's Examination, Administration of Examination and Bylaws Committees were contacted and
invited to assist in the deliberation of these issues. A telephone conference call with those committee chairs was held on
February 21,1992. The discussion addressed the pros and cons of the various forms ofintemational test use such as use
of NCLEX outside the Member Board jurisdictions; the creation of generic "1st level" and "2nd level" nursing
examinations; and also the tailoring of an examination for a province/country. Areas of eligibility considered were
English speaking provinces/countries and those with similar licensure standards or nursing education. During the
discussions, multiple issues were identified relating to international test use and eligibility for use of NCLEX. e.g.,
security, increased need for item development, job analysis, need to revisit the mission statement, need for bylaws
changes. The participants expressed a concern regarding the wisdom of pursuing, at this time, the issue of access to
NCLEX by non-members of the National Council, given the many activities currently being studied, developed and/or
implemented by the National Council, e.g., CAT, NIS, CST, DDB, Advanced Practice.

After careful review of all the data and assessment of the potential impact on National Council resources, the Board or
Directors, as directed by the 1991 Delegate Assembly, present, the following three options for consideration in
responding to the request from Manitoba and to other similarly situated provinces/countries who might make similar
requests for access to NCLEX-PN.

• Option 1 - At this time, decline the request from Manitoba and to otller similarly situated provinces/countries
who might make similar requests for access to NCLEX.

• Option 2 . Consider a contract for use of examinations without membership.

This option would require a bylaws change. Issues such a'i those involving security and the need for more items
would have to be studied.

• Option 3 - Consider an associate membership which would allow access to examinations.

This option would require a bylaws change, and the issues related tojob analysis, examination development and
administration would have to be addressed.

The implementation of Options 2 and 3 would require considerable hum~Ul and fiscal resources from tile
National Council, primarily affecting the testing committees and staff ali well as research staff.

Background and Rationale - Recommendation #2
Following report of the work of the Task Force on Examinations for the Future and the Subcommittee on PNNN
Competencies, the 1989 Delegate Assembly directed "toot when the BoardofDirectors OOsdetermined there is sufficiern
information regarding the validity ofthe qualitative instrument, and sufficient sample size in differentiated practice sites
to suppon the conduct ofajob analysis, then the Board ofDirectors will recommend to the Delegate Assembly that a
limited scope job analysis will be conducted to determine whether the three sets of hypothesized competencies are
validated." The Board has reported each year since then that the conditions for undertaking the limited scopejob analysis
to determine whether or not the synthesized competencies were valid have not been achieved. At this point, three years
later, the conditions are still not in place. If they were, the competencies would have to be re-examined and updated prior
to conducting the research. Thus, the Board recommends that the monitoring be discontinued. At such time a'i tile
Delegate Assembly directs activity with respect to future examination development, the appropriate design and
monitoring will be initiated.
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Activities
The following are the major actions taken by the Board during the past year.

NCLEX
• Directed staff in preparation for data collection to enable analysis of perfonnance of Englisb-as-a-Second­

Language candidates on NCLEX-RN and -PN.

• Considered a candidate's challenge to one item 011 the July 1991 NCLEX-RN and upheld the item as a
psychometrically sound, valid and correctly keyed item.

• In response to the Americans with Disabilities Act, approved an interim policy regarding examination
modifications for disabled candidates.

• Based on recommendation of a panel of judges and survey data from nursing educators, nursing service
personnel, and boards of nursing, detennined that the new NCLEX-RN passing standard, effective July 1992,
will be slightly more difficult than the current standard, requiring that candidates answer approximately two to
three more questions correctly.

Computerized Adaptive Testing (CA T)
• Issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) for test services capable of providing item development and research,

applications processing, and/or computerized testing for CAT.

• Selected WA-PN, GU, TX-VN, LA-PN, MO, OH, and NJ as the jurisdictions for PN field testing for CAT in
conjunction with the October 1992 NCLEX-PN.

• Surveyed Member Boards regarding CAT jurisdictional legal issues related to CAT implementation.

• Adopted a Ma<;ter Plan for the transition to CAT, including objectives, activities, responsibilities, decision
points, budget and staffing.

• Explored the market and potential business plan for CAT commercial products; decided not to pursue product
development at this time due to need to devote avai:table resources to CAT transition.

• Designated funds for development of additional PN and RN test items to reach a goal of two acceptable item
pools prior to CAT implementation.

• On the basis of submitted proposals and recommendcttion by the CAT Proposal Evaluation Team, selected the
following companies with which to negotiate contracl<; for services for CAT-NCLEX, for presentation to the
1992 Delegate Assembly: American College Testing, CTB MacMillanlMcGraw-HiII, and Educational Testing
Service; each bidder also ha<; a subcontractor for provision of computerized testing services.

Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program (NACEP)
• Authorized the use of a checklist, administered by a registered nurse and used in conjunction with the

recommended guidelines, for the manual skills evaluation component of the NACEP.

• Approved revisions to the NACEP Blueprint, ba<;ed on the nurse aide job analysis, for implementation in May
1992.

• Adopted criteria for NACEP test services which will be used in the process of negotiations for future NACEP
contracts; evaluated the perfonnance of The Psychological Corporation and communicated results to TPC
management.
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• Re-evaluated the passing standards for the NACEP and set a higher stand.'U"d for the written evaluation. Each
task in the manual skills evaluation has its own percentage of elements required to be performed correctly in
order to successfully complete the task; three of five tasks in the "situation" must be successfully completed
to pass the manual skills evaluation, which is the same standard as previous.

Public Policy, Nursing Practice and Education
• Approved convening of a "Leadership Roundtable for Advanced Practice," consisting of groups offering

certification for advanced practitioners, to discuss issues related to regulation of advanced practice.

• Reviewed several drafts and provided input regarding the position paper and model statutory language for
regulation of advanced practice, at the request of the Subcommittee on Regulation of Advanced Practice.

• Directed staff to prepare information and facilitate networking among Member Boards on HlVIHBV issues
involved in the preparation of statewide plans for compliance with Centers for Disease Control (CDC)
guidelines.

• Approved funds for conversion of the formal<; and databa<;e program for the Disciplinary Data Base.

• Reviewed input on Nursing 'sAgendaforHealth Care Reformandencouraged the Nursing Practice andEducation
Committee to seek other committees' viewpoints, a<; well as input from Member Boards, reganJing regulatory
implications of the agenda.

Communications and Information
• Approved a National Council Communications Plan with three primary objectives:

1. To establish communications which facilitate: a responsive exchange between external and internal
audiences.

2. To enhance the National Council's image and credibility through utilization ofa variety ofprofessional
communications vehicles.

3. To create and seek communications opportunities that promote, inform and educate on issues
regarding the regulation of nursing practice and regulation.

• Approved a generic annual meeting schedule to be implemented in 1993, providing for all business and related
forums to be conducted on Thursday through Saturday, with optional educational sessions preceding and/or
following these d.'1Ys.

• Approved a recommendation to conduct the 1993 Regulatory Conference a<; a day added to each of the 1993
Area Meetings, optional for attendees; the agenda may be tailored for each Area, and the presenters will be
primarily Member Board representatives with expertise in current regulatory issues.

• Directed that the future of licensure verification be studied within the larger issue ofelectronic communications!
information access for the National Council membership.

Research
• Adopted criteria for and appointed an advisory panel 10 the research staff to consult on the preparation of an

instrument to be used in future job analysis and role delineation studies; disbanded the Job Analysis Monitoring
Panel, but retained the External Job Analysis Monitoring Panel for review of study methodology and results.

• Approved funding to pay expenses for staff, some project activities, and software license following the end of
the W.K. Kellogg Foundation grant funds and pending a Kellogg decision regarding further funding.

• Approved a budget increase request from the NIS Committee to allow for an additional stage of the feasibility
study involving the drafting of contracts with each Member Board delineating that Board's participation in the
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NIS (i.e., data to be provided, guidelines for National Council use and release of the data, and charges!
remuneration for data release); performance of this legal work was anticipated to reveal the level of state
participation possible and facilitate securing external funding for a subsequent stage.

Organizational
• Appointed members to committees for FY92, including Administration of Examination, Bylaws, CAT Teams

(PN Field Test, EducationlInfonIlation, Implementation, Proposal Review, Negotiating, and Expert Panels),
Communications, Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing Steering Committee, Examination, Finance,
Foreign Educated Nurse Credentialing, NACEP, Long Range Planning, Nurse Information System, and
Nursing Practice and Education.

• Formed Board of Directors committees for the yewf. Projects: Gail McGuill, Chair; Jean Caron; Marcella
McKay. Personnel: Shirley Brekken, Chair; Susan Boots; Judie Ritter. Coordinating: Carolyn Hutcherson,
Chair; Joan Bouchard; Carol Osman. Board liaisons to standing and ad hoc committees were established.

• Established a Board of Directors Policy manual.

• Adopted an Annual Planning System to serve as a guide for staff, committees and Board in coordinating
meetings each year.

• Began consideration of an organizational vision for the National Council and agreed to develop a draft
document for response by the membership.

Operations
• Performeda written performance appraisal of the Executive Director; adopted a professional development plan,

key accountabilities and weights for FY92 for the Executive Director.

• Approved and implemented new compensation and benefits plans for National Council staff, based on review
and market analysis performed by Ernst & Young.

• Created a designated fund for acquisition of local area computer network and file server hardware.

Meetings
The Board of Directors met on the following dates since the time of the last annual report to the Delegate Assembly:

June 17-19, 1991
July 28-29, 1991
August 3, 1991
August 19, 1991 *
September 9, 1991 *
October 5-6, 1991
October 20-22, 1991
November 15, 1991 *
December 9-10, 1991
January 16, 1992 *
February 20-23, 1992
March 9, 1992 *
April 14, 1992 *
May 6-8, 1992

* Indicates meetings via telephone conference call
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Board Members
Carolyn Hutcherson, GA, Area III, President
Joan Bouchard, OR, Area I, Vice-President
Judie Ritter, FL, Area III, Secretary
Carol Osman, NC, Area III, Treasurer
Gail McGuill, AK, Area I, Area I Director
Shirley Brekken, MN, Area II, Area II Director
Marcella McKay, MS, Area III, Area III Director
Jean Caron, ME, Area IV, Area N Director
Susan Boots, WA, Area I, Director-at-Large

Staff
Jennifer Bosma, Executive Director
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Report of the Computerized Adaptive Testing ­
Practical Nurse Field Test Team (CAT-PN Team)

Introduction
The National Council Delegate Assembly decided to implement Computerized Adaptive Testing (CAT) for nurse
licensure because it offers some significant advantages over paper-and-pencil testing. CAT provides increased
measurement precision over paper-and-pencil testing. When CAT is implemented, examinations will be administered
throughout the year. Licensure examination results will be available in much less time following the CAT examination,
enabling candidates to enter the workforce as licensed nurses sooner. CAT testing may be less stressful since it provides
an individualized testing setting for candidates. Also, CAT can significantly reduce the amount of time needed to
complete the examination.

CAT Feasibility Study
Phase I
The feasibility of CAT for NCLEX was investigated in two phases. The major tasks accomplished in Phase I were the
development of the CAT software, investigation into the capabilities of the software through pilot testing, assessment
ofnurses' interactions with the software, pursuit ofexternal funding for the project. and the communication ofoutcomes.
Phase I was completed in 1988 with a report to the Delegate Assembly, which then approved the commencementofPhase
II.

Phase /I
In August 1988, the Delegate Assembly voted to continue the CATFeasibility Study through Phase II, but due to possible
PN test plan changes, to field test CAT using only RN candidates in July 1990, and February 1991. Phase II expanded
the study to investigate the feasibility of the entire CAT measuring system, with the RN field testing designed to provide
pivotal information about psychometric comparability and administrative logistics. Phase II was completed with a fmal
report to the 1991 Delegate Assembly.

From Phase II, it was determined that CAT and paper-and-pencil nurse licensure testing are psychometrically
comparable and that previous computer experience had no effect on candidate performance. The field testing also
showed CAT testing security could be maintained and that demographically diverse groups of candidates are not
disadvantaged by taking a CAT examination. In August, 1991, based on the successful results of the CAT-RN field
testing, the Delegate Assembly voted to proceed with the implementation of computerized adaptive testing for the
NCLEX. As part of the transition, CAT will be field tested with PNNN candidates, as well.

The CAT-PN Field Test Team Charge

1. Review the PN field test design, monitor the implementation of the field test study, and assist in interpretation
of findings.

2. Develop team action plan and budget for accomplishing the necessary work and submit it to the Board of
Directors.

3. Provide recommendations to the BoanJ of Directors concerning the timeline for implementation ofCAT-PN.

4. Report the results of the CAT-PN field testing to thl~ Board of Directors.

5. Assure that any factors influencing the reliability or validity or fairness of the NCLEX-PN administered via
CAT are identified and appropriately addressed prior to implementation of CAT for NCLEX-PN.
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6. Prepare regular report'i of team plans and activities for use by the Board of Directors in coordinating CAT
activities. Develop recommendations formatters relating to National Council policy and budgetaryadjusunents.
Given policy and bUdgetary constraints, maintain accountability for PN field testing.

Purpose of the CAT-PN Field Testing
The purpose of the CAT field testing for PNNN candidates is to replicate the CAT-RN field testing study to ensure that
CAT is a feasible measurement technology for administering the NCLEX-PN. Specifically, the research is being
conducted to address the psychometric comparability of CAT-PN to paper-and-pencil NCLEX. to investigate the
efficacyofthe field-tested CAT procedures for PN candidates, and to gather reactions ofPNcandidates to the CAT testing
process. The CAT-PN field tests are scheduled to take place in conjunction with the October 1992. NCLEX-PN
administration (within approximately two weeks before and after the NCLEX examination dates).

CAT-PN Field Test Study Design and Selection of Jurisdictions
The CAT-PN Field Test Team discussed the issue ofCAT-PN field test design. considering all viewpoints expressed
at Delegate Assembly. and believes that the purposes of the CAT-PN field testing (mainly to gather psychometric
information) can be accomplished with a single CAT administration.

The CAT-PN Team discussed the number ofjurisdictions participating in the PN field testing and decided the number
of states should be determined by the candidate sampling design and psychometric information needed. The CAT-PN
Team also discussed that island jurisdictions comprise about 10 percent of the membership of the National Council (6
of62) and that very little information has been gathered about their capabilities and environments. Given the candidate
sampling requirements as specified by legal counsel, the field testing timeline. and the purposes offield testing. the CAT­
PN Team recommended seven jurisdictions, including one island, be selected for the CAT-PN field test.

The CAT-PN Field Test Team reviewed the selection process developed for the RN field testing and determined there
was not sufficient time to solicit applications from Member Boards wishing to become CAT field test states. Therefore,
the team selectedjurisdictions for participation based on the jurisdiction's characteristics. candidate demographics. and
previous CAT experience. The jurisdictions (and alternates) Wl~re selected by the team and approved by the Boanl of
Directors.

Ma..I
Washington-PN
Guam
(Alt) Oregon

AmLll
Missouri
Ohio
(Alt) Minnesota

Area III
Louisiana-PN
Texas-VN
(All) Florida

Area IV
New Jersey
(All) Pennsylvania
(All) Virgin Islands

These jurisdictions have been asked to contribute staff time and effort. Their full participation and cooperation will be
instrumental in making the CAT-PN field testing a success.

The CAT-PN Team strongly believes that with a single CAT-PN field test being conducted. it is imperative the
psychometric results be valid and stable. With statistical stability being a paramount goal. the CAT-PN Team
recommended that the sampling design for the CAT-PN field testing include 150 candidates per jurisdiction (except for
the islandjurisdiction), comprising a target sample of900 candidates. In each jurisdiction, approximately 75 candidates
will take the CAT examination before the paper-and-pencil NCLEX-PN. and approximately 75 will take it after.

Candidate Recruitment
Jurisdiction visits have been completed in six jurisdictions serving as CAT-PN field test sites: Louisiana-PN. Missouri.
New Jersey. Ohio, Texa'i-VN, and Washington-PN. The boards of nursing arranged for meetings ofa CAT project staff
person with the PN Program Directors. General information about CAT was shared along with specific information on
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motivating and recruiting candidates for the CAT-PN field test. While in Chicago, a representative of the Guam Board
ofNurse Examiners met with CAT project staff to discuss candidate motivation and recruitment techniques. The boards
ofnursing have gathered information on the demographic composition ofeach PN nursing education program, providing
the National Council an opportunity to review and assist in the selection of targeted programs for field test participation.

In April 1992, education programs were selected, faculty coordinators identified, and initial candidate recruitmentefforts
started. Letters, fact sheets, brochures, and personal contact will be used to recruit and motivate candidates to participate
in the CAT-PN field tests.

In order to obtain the necessary psychometric information, appropriate candidate selection procedures are very
important. The candidate sampling design specifies that the National Council oversample from protected minority
groups (African-Americans, Hispanics, Asians) as well as repeat candidates to assure their adequate representation in
the field tests. Foreign-educated and disabled candidates will be included in the CAT-PN field test, although their
numbers are anticipated to be small.

Item Pool for CAT-PN Field Testing
In preparation for the CAT-PN field test, the NCLEX-PN item pool has been reviewed. Content experts verified that
the text is accurate and coherent, checked for correct spellings and matching names, and verified that every question
reflects current practice. The reviewers were chosen according to NCLEX Panel ofContentExpert qualifications. Two
complete reviews of the NCLEX-PN item pool were conducted. Tryout items from the NCLEX-PN administered in 492
will be added to the PN item pool prior to the October field test. Proper functioning of the CAT software will be verified
by an external computer programmer, CAT project staff and the CAT-PN Field Test Team.

CAT-PN Field Test Sites
The CAT-PN Team discussed potential testing sites for the CAT-PN field tests. Many of the operational issues were
determined by the 1991 Delegate Assembly vote to use a national vendor(s) for computerized test administration
services. The CAT-PN Team and Board ofDirectors decided that it would be advantageous to conduct the CAT-PN field
tests in professional computerized test centers operated by vendors with the potential of being selected as the actual
vendor for CAT. Because the timing of the field testing does not permit waiting until the 1992Delegate Assembly vendor
selection vote to select field testing sites, the CAT-PN Tl~am recommended binding contracts with professional
computerized test site vendors be negotiated for the CAT-PN field tests.

Administration Services and Sites
The CAT-PN Team reviewed the three test site proposals submitted by administration service vendors (Le., Insurance
Testing Corporation, Sylvan-Kee Systems, and The Roach Organization) and decided to contract with all three for the
field test. Although using three contractors requires additional staff work in negotiating contracts and training of
personnel, the CAT-PN Team believes the benefits ofusing all three outweigh the costs. By using all three, we are certain
to gain experience with the administration service chosen by the 1992 Delegate Assembly. In addition, experience with
all three vendors will provide further reference check infonnation. The following administration service computerized
test site assignments have been made:

Insurance Testing Corporation:

Sylvan-Kee Systems:

The Roach Organization:

Missouri
Ohio

Louisiana
New Jersey

Texas
Washington

Due to the distance and travel expenses required to conduct the field test in Guam, the CAT-PN Team suggested a
National Council staff member assist the Guam Board of Nurse Examiners to conduct the test independently. By
eliminating this site from the vendors' proposals, lower rates per candidate were negotiated, thereby decreasing costs to
meet budget constraints.
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Timeline

April - May 1992 Candidate Recruiunent
June 1992 Candidate Selection and Recruiunent
July - September 1992 Continued Candidate Motivation/SuPJXlIt
July - August 1992 Training of Testing Service(s) Personnel
September 1992 Sending of Admission Documents to Candidates
October 1992 CAT-PN Field Test
December 1992 - February 1993 Data Analysis
February 1993 External Psychometric Review Panel
March 1993 CAT-PN Meeting to Review Results
April 1993 Preliminary Results Presented at Area Meetings
August 1993 Results and Recommendations Presented to the Delegate Assembly

CAT-PN Budget Summary

PN Advisory Conunittee Conunittee Travel 14.100 3 members. 4 two-day trips
PN Advisory Conunittee Telephone .450 2 conference calls
PN Field Test Conunittee Travel 11.700 121-dayBODNisitor/Observertrips
PN Field Test StaffTravel 42,000* (4 site visits, 4 training visits, 4 pre-

and 4 post-NCLEX assistanoe trips)
PN Field Test Honorarium (Candidate) 108,000 * 1,080 x $100
PN Field Test Site Rental 64.000 * 1,080 x $60
PN Field Test Legal Fees 15.000 * approximately 67 hours x $225
PN Field Test Consultants 7,200 100 hours x $50; 1,000 for items.

1,200 for NCLEX scores
PN Field Test Computer Programming 50,000 All CAT fixes and enhanoements

* Reflects approved budget modifications

Committee Members
Barbara Kellogg, SC. Area III, Chair
Marjorie Bronk, TX-VN, Area III
Helen Kelley, MA, Area IV

Board Liaison
Marcella McKay

Staff
Barbara Halsey, CAT Project Manager
Ruth Bernstein, CAT Project Associate
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Report of the CAT Education Information Team (CElT)

Introduction
The Board ofDirectors, recognizing the need for a national CAT education and information program for successful CAT
implementation, appointed the CAT Education Information Team (CEm. The BoardofDirectors charged the CElT with
the following responsibilities:

1. Provide direction regarding all educational and informational issues related to CAT.
2. Prioritize education/information dissemination opportunities and recommend policies governing National

Council participation.
3. Generate ideas about marketing and public relations opportunities that suit appropriate audiences and support

possible commercial efforts, if implemented.
4. Develop team action plan and budget for accomplishing the necessary work and submit it to the Board of

Directors.
5. Report to the Board ofDirectors and seek approval formatters relating to National Council policy and budgetary

constraints while retaining the authority to develop and implement all CAT communications.

The CElT met on the following dates: September24-26, 199]; December 9-10, 1991; February 7-8,1992; and May 11­
12, 1992, at the National Council. The CElT also met via telephone conference calion March 25 and April 29, 1992.

CElT Action Plan
The CAT Education Information Team gave much thought and consideration in developing a CElT Action Plan. Prior
to finalizing the action plan, the CElT reviewed and evaluated many types of communication vehicles to gain a better
understanding of the related costs and production timelines. The CElT selected the most appropriate and cost-effective
vehicles to maximize the communications effort. The CElT Action Plan, which encompasses a three-year time period,
establishes CAT communication strategies, identifies appropriate audiences, specifies suitable communication vehicles
for each audience, creates a plan for reaching the audiences, and prioritizes the communications flow.

As part of its action plan, the CElT identified and prioritized 14 target audiences for the purpose of educating and
informing about CAT. The target audiences include Member Boards, testing organizations, legislators, other
government agencies, professional organizations/associations, media, RN and PN educators, nursing practice groups,
military, recruiters, RN and PN students, applicants who are not students, consumer groups, and health care agencies.
The CAT communications activities were then placed within a three-year timeline, based on the prioritized audiences.
(Attachment A)

CAT Communications
General CA TBrochure
The CElT prepared a general brochure on CAT to begin the communication effort for all audiences. The brochure
provides a basic introduction to CAT, and answers some of the most commonly-asked questions. Each Member Board
was sent 500 copies of the brochure in March 1992 and can receive more copies upon request.

Publications
The CElT identified two ways to communicate about CAT yia publications: 1) to submit articles in various national
nursing journals to reach a wide-spread audience, and 2) to utilize already-existing National Council publications such
as Issues and the Newsletter. CElT members submitted articles for publication in the Journal ofPractical Nursing, The
American Nurse, and Nursing Management. The winter edition of Issues outlined the CAT project. A "CAT Corner"
has been instituted in the Newsletter to help keep Member Boards informed about the project.
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CAT Communiques
lbree CAT Communiques were published and distributed to Member Boards to provide them with comprehensive
discussion on specific topics. Topics explored in the CAT Communiques were: the CAT Master Plan, the CElT Action
Plan, CAT-PN Field Testing.

Fact Sheet on Legal Issues
A fact sheet was distributed to all Member Boards which outlined some of the potential statutory/regulatory changes
Member Boards may need to make in order to accommodate the use of CAT for licensure testing. Accompanying the
fact sheet was a copy of the legal opinion obtained from the National Council legal counsel regarding CAT as a "written"
examination.

Checklist for Legislative Review
The CElT drafted a checklist of items that boards of nursing need to consider changing in their practice acts and/or
regulations prior to CAT implementation. Following review and input by the CAT Implementation Team, the checklist
was distributed and discussed during Area Meetings. The checklist will be distributed to all Member Boards in July 1992,
Also, possible changes due to CAT implementation are being studied for incorporation into the Model Nurse Practice
Act and Model Nursing Administrative Rules.

CA T Legal Issues
The CElT notified Member Boards that the National Council will provide a free copy of its publication, Collected Works
on the Legal Aspects ofComputerized Adaptive Testing, to any state attorney general or testing director who requests
one.

Speaking Engagements
Since the Delegate Assembly decided to implement CAT, the National Council has been contacted regarding speaking
engagements about CAT and NCLEX. The CElT developed speaking engagement guidelines consistent with National
COWlcil's existing policy. Speaking engagements have been accepted according to this policy, including Faculty
Development '92; Texas Association of Vocational Nurse Educators~Massachusetts Board of Nursing; Bayou Council
of Vocational Nurse Educators; and Program Directors Meetings in all CAT-PN field test states. Between January and
May 1992, a total of 22 presentations have been given to various groups representing both RNs and PNs.

Exhibiting
A backdrop and table-top display were acquired so that the National Council could exhibit CAT information at various
nursing conventions. The National Council exhibited at meetings of: Sigma Theta Tau (November 1991); American
Association of Colleges of Nursing (March 1992); National Student Nurses' Association (April 1992); National
Association of Practical Nurse Educators (May 1992); and American Nurses' Association (June 1992). The CAT
software was available for "hands-on" demonstrations at the exhibit booth. Exhibiting also provided the opportunity to
distribute CAT-related materials and answer questions via face-to-face communication.

Prepared Speeches
In assisting Member Boards to present about CAT, as well as to provide a standard set of CAT information being
disseminated, the CElT developed a prepared speech for Member Boards. A copy of the speech and a set of
accompanying overheads was supplied to each Member Board in June 1992, and slides are available "on loan" from the
National Council. The CElT developed a feedback form to be completed after each CAT presentation. The feedback
will assist the CElT to identify which audiences are being reached and identify the strengths and weaknesses in the
prepared speeches. Prepared speeches will be updated as more information is made available.

NCLEX-CA T Video
A general information video about NCLEX-CAT was produced and distributed to Member Boards in June 1992. The
video provides a basic definition ofCAT and an overview ofCAT' s advantages. The video can be used as a stand-alone
information piece or as a supplement to the prepared speeches. A single copy of the video is available to Member Boards
without charge, and multiple copies for Member Boards and others are available through the National Council for
purchase.
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CA T Question & Answer Reference Guide
In order to assist Member Boards in conveying accurate information about CAT, the CEIT has organized a "master list"
of CAT questions and answers. Copies of this guide were distributed to all Member Boards in March 1992, and are
intended for internal board use only since the guide will be updated periodically as more information is made available.

Area Meetings
Area Meetings provided an opportunity for the CElT to showcase many of the educational and infonnational items
prepared for use by Member Boards, such as CAT Question and AnswerReference Guide, general CAT brochures, and
the Member Board Checklist for Legislative Review.

Future Directions
The CEIT continues its work on developing regional workshops for late 1992 and early 1993. Evaluation of the various
communication efforts occurs at each meeting and revisions to the three-year action plan are made as needed.
Attachment A contains the most up-to-date outline of the CAT educational and infonnational communications planned
for the next two years.

Members
Charlie Dickson, AL, Area III, Chair
Donna Dorsey, MD, Area IV
Faith Fields, AR, Area III
Julie Campbell-Warnock, CA-RN, Area I

Board Liaison
Marcella McKay

Staff
Barbara Halsey, CAT Project Manager
Kerry Nowicki, Publications Manager
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Attachment A

CAT Education Information Team

ACTION PLAN

As developed at its September 24-26, 1991, meeting.
Updated May 12, 1992

YEAR 1 l1991-92l

General CAT brochure

Fact sheets

Legal resource sheet, written resource

Legislativelregulatory assistance

General CAT video
(all audiences)

Exhibiting
Sigma Theta Tau, November 1991
NLN, December 1991
AONE, May 1992
ANA, June 1992

Prepared speeches for Member Boards

Q &: A Reference Guide

Presentations, including by request
Area Meetings
ANA
AERA

Advertise CAT materials

YEAR 2 l1 992·93)

Update and continue

Revise and continue
(legislators, other govt. agencies)

Continue

Continue

Continue
NLN
NSNA
AONE
NAPNES
NF1..PN
AACN
NOADNE
CLEAR
Sigma Theta Tau
Council of Baccalearuate

and Higher Degree Nurses
Council of Diploma Nurses
Council Olll Practical Nursing

Update and continue

Update and continue

Continue
Area Meetings
AONE
AACN
NLN

Continue

YEAR 3 l1993-94l

Update and continue

Revise and continue

Continue

Continue

Continue

Update and continue

Update and continue

Continue
Area Meetings
Citizens Advocacy

Continue
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YEAR 1 <J991·92)

Article development/submission
Nursing & Health Care
Resource Applications
Journal ofPractical Nursing
American Nurse
Nurse Educator
Journal ofProfessional Nursing

Book ofReports

Portable Display Unit

CAT Communiques (4)

Evaluation/feedback forms

Workshop support materials

YEAR 2 0992-93)

Continue

Continue

Continue

Continue (6)

Continue

Continue

Regional workshops

Issues, CAT focus

Student specific video

Student specific brochure

Demonstration disk

YEAR 3 (J 993-94!

Continue
American Nurse

Continue

Continue

Continue

Continue

Continue

Continue

Continue

1be NCLEX Process 11

Continue

Newsreleases
Feature stories
1V news
Letters to editor
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Report of the Computerized Adaptive Testing
Implementation Team (CIT)

Introduction
Following the 1991 Delegate Assembly approval to implement computerized adaptive testing (CAn for future
National Council licensure examinations, the Board of Directors appointed the Computerized Adaptive Testing
ImplementationTeam (CIT). The CIT provides a Member Board perspectiveon CAT implementationand issues. The
Board of Directors charged the CIT with the following responsibilities:

I. Plan, coordinate, and monitor activities to enable Member Boards to implement CAT testing in their individual
jurisdictions.

2. Identify and focus on resolving questions related to implementation in such a way that no jurisdiction is
disadvantaged or compromised in the process.

3. Work closely with staff and other CAT teams, with specific focus on providing direction for the comprehensive
plans for components of the implementation. This includes providing input into the beta test design, providing
coordination between test services and Member Boards, designing mechanisms for providing Member Board
support throughout the transition to CAT, designing and implementing a complaint resolution process for boards,
and developing jurisdiction-specific timelines for implementation.

The CIT met on March 23 and 24, 1992, and plans to meet four times annually after vendor selection, throughout the
transition to CAT and initial stages of implementation.

Member Board Checklist for legislative Review
The CIT provided input on the Member Board Checklist for Legislative Review which was drafted by the CAT
Education Information Team to assist Member Boards in reviewing or revising statutes or regulations potentially
affected by computerized adaptive testing. This input was incorporated into a draft which was presented at Area
Meetings for additional review. Input from the Area Meetings was incorporated and the checklist will be mailed to
all Member Boards for use.

CAT Vendor Proposals
The CIT reviewed proposals and responses to clarifying questions from the top three vendors for computerized
adaptive testing services, and provided input to the Negotiating Team regarding beta testing, security, item
development and research, data center functioning, and testing centers.

Member Board Contracts
The CIT reviewed a draft of the new Member Board contract (to be implemented for CAT administration) and made
suggestions for clarifications and additions to the Board of Directors.

Future Directions
Over the coming year, the CIT will be monitoring and directing efforts in the following areas of the CAT transition
(as dermed in the CAT Master Plan): Vendor and CommitteeTransition, Member Board Support, and Implementation
Follow-Up.
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Committee Members
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Annual Report of the NCLEX. Test Service 1991·1992

Introduction
This report provides a summary of CTB Macmillan/McGraw-Hill's activities with the National Council Licensure
Examinations (NCLEX) from July I, 1991, through June 30, 1992. During this time, the NCLEX project staff
members have provided support for the following major phases of the NCLEX program:

Examlnstlon Development
• continued development of valid and reliable Registered Nursing (RN) and Practical (Vocational) Nursing (PN)

tests that accurately measure entry-level proficiency in the RN and PN professions

• development of test items that measure the performance of the job-related nursing skills identified in the RN and
PN test plans

• placement of 252 additional tryout items in NCLEX-PN 492 as PN-Computerized Adaptive Testing (CAT)
tryouts

• placement of 360 additional tryout items in NCLEX-PN 092 as PN-CAT tryouts

• continued monitoring of the RN and PN item pools to determine pool deficiencies and direct item development
at targeted test plan areas and difficulty levels

• coordination of a mail-in item-writing project to develop RN items for use as additional CAT field test items in
NCLEX-RN 293

• content/editorial revision and revalidation of items that are over four years old for use as additional CAT tryout
items in NCLEX-RN 293 and NCLEX-PN 493

• placement of Bias Sensitivity Review Panel (BSRP) revised items as research tryout items in NCLEX-PN 492,
NCLEX-RN 792, along with matched research control items

• preparation ofquarterly and yearly item pool tallies according to specifications requested by the National Council

• preparation of yearly RN and PN item pool text and statistics tapes

• updating of the CSAR item bank to reflect the new statistical parameters and development of item pool tallies
according to the 17 subcategories of client needs

• planning and implementatioo of modifications to the CSAR database including the addition of BSRP recommendations
for items and the Mantel-Haenszel statistic; extensive quality control procedures performed to ensure the accuracy
of these modifications

• coordination and facilitation of the BSRP; revision of the: BSRP procedural manual; incorporation of information
provided by the BSRP into item development

• review of items for characteristics that result in appropriate difficulty levels; incorporation of difficulty level
information into additional item writer training
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• continued implementation of operational definitions for the NCLEX-RN and -PN test plans (for Examination
Committee and ern staff use)

• preparation of criteria for rewriting items from case to individual format (for Examination Committee review)

• revision of ern's RN and PN item-writing procedures manuals

• addition of approximately 30 reference books and texts to the CTB NCLEX nursing library to ensure currency of
validation material

Examination Admlnlsfratlon, SCoring, and Reporting
• reporting of examination results and Jurisdiction Summary Reports ("Green Sheets") in a timely manner

• continued work with the Administration of Examination Committee and National Council staff to monitor all
shipping and security procedures

• support to Member Boards in tracking the arrival of examination booklets

• updating of the Candidate Information Brochure to include information about the Americans with Disabilities Act
(ADA) and deadlines for arranging for examination modifications; preparation and distribution of brochure
inserts with ADA information printed in spring 1992

• distribution of the new scoring brochure, beginning with the NCLEX-PN 091 examination

ReSBllrr:h and Technical Support
• technical support in all areas of research, including the monitoring of examination statistics, passing standards,

and the performance of special research studies requested by the National Council and its committees

• provision of a quarterly review of literature related to testing and measurement, published in the NCLEX
Quarterly Reports

• implementation of new techniques to detect possible ethnic or gender bias in test items and refmement ofexisting
statistical procedures for implementation with small ethnic groups

• provision of information to aid in the design of the Computerized Adaptive Testing field test

• contribution to the development of policies and procedures for the Bias Sensitivity Review Panel

Examination Development

Item Writing
A major focus of the ern test development staff has been the coordination, training, and support of item writers in
the development of NCLEX test items. This year, that focus has become increasingly important in anticipation of the
changeover to computerizedadaptive testing. Additional item development efforts have been initiated to substantially
increase the item pool. These efforts include additional item-writing sessions and a mail-in item-writing program, as
well as revision and revalidation of over-four-year-old items that met difficulty-level criteria

Because of the complex item pool needs for CAT, item development plans had to become increasingly specific in
regard to difficulty level, test plan coverage, and general nursing content coverage. Additional training was developed
to assist item writers in targeting item difficulty. Recycling items that already demonstrated a particular difficulty
within desired test plan and content areas was another strategy used to meet the highly specific CAT item pool
requirements. Additional monitoring of the content of the pool has been required in order to reduce the extent of
duplication in item writing and to ensure content coverage for the CAT item pool.
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Item Writini-CQoferences
Two RN Item-Writing Conferences, one RN-CAT Item-Writing Conference, one PN Item-Writing Conference, and
one PN-CAT Item-Writing Conference, were held during the past year. Participants were sent pre-conference
exercises,providedas an introduction to CfB 's item developmentprocess. These exercises were rated by CfB content
staff and the ratings were shared with the Examination Committee.

RN Item Writioi
A RN Item-Writing Conference was held July 8-12,1991, in Monterey, California Sixteen writers selected by the
National Council were invited to participate. These writers represented California, Idaho, Massachusetts, Minnesota,
Missouri, Mississippi, New Hampshire, New York, Pennsylvania, South Carolina. Texas, and Wisconsin. Three
hundred thirteen items were created by the item writers and then reviewed by CfB nursing consultants and editing
staff. Thirty-six items from the NCLEX-RN 291 tryouts with unacceptable statistics were revised at the session.

A second RN Item-Writing Conference was held January 13-17, 1992, in Monterey, California. The sixteen writers
selected by the National Council represented Arkansas, California, Georgia,lllinois, Missouri, Nebraska, New Jersey,
Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Washington, and Wisconsin. A total of 384 items were written.

A thirdRN Item-Writing Conference was held June 1-5, 1992, in Monterey, California, to develop items forRN-CAT.
The twenty-two writers selected by the National Council represented Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, Iowa, Missouri,
Nebraska, Oklahoma. Pennsylvania, Texas, and Virginia. The total number of items written will be presented in next
year's Annual Report.

Writers have been selected for the July 9-13, 1992, RN Item-Writing Conference, which will be held in Monterey,
California. Information about this conference will be provided in the 1992-1993 Annual Report

RN Mail-In Item Writin&
Mail-in test items were solicited from item writers to obtain additional RN-CAT items for use as NCLEX-RN 293
tryouts. Twelve writers who had previously attended item-writing sessions and were recommended for return
participated as mail-in writers. These writers developed 170 items.

RN Recycled Items
Approximately 752 RN items representing desired test plan areas and difficulty ranges from the over-four-year-old
item pool were reviewed and revised by CfB content and editorial staff. The items were revalidated in current texts
and joumals. They were then reviewed at the March 2-7, 1992, Panel ofContent Experts Session. These items were
developed as additional CAT tryouts for NCLEX-RN 293.

PN Item Writini
A PN Item-Writing Conference was held August 19-23, 1991, in Monterey, California. The 14 participants selected
by the National Council represented A1aska, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Michigan, Missouri, Oklahoma.
Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Washington, West and Virginia.. A total of 299 items were written and 21 items with
unacceptable statistics from the NCLEX-PN 491 tryouts were revised.

A PN-CAT Item-Writing Conference was held February 24-28, 1992, in Monterey, California. Fifteen writers
participated in developing PN-CAT items. The writers represented Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, New Mexico, New
York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Oregon, Pennsylvania, and South Carolina. During this session, 237 items were
written for possible inclusion as CAT items.

The total number of items written at the May 20-21, 1991, PN-CAT Item-Writing Conference was 252. This figure
was not available in time for last year's Annual Report
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PN Recycled Item WritinK
Approximately 158 PN items representing desired test plan areas and difficulty ranges from the over-four-year-old
item pool were reviewed and revised by CTB content and editorial staff and revalidated in current texts and journals.
These items were then reviewed at the May 18·22, 1992, Panel of Content Experts Session. These items were
developed as additional CAT tryouts for NCLEX-PN 493.

Panel of Content Experts
Six Panel ofContentExperts Conferences were coordinated during the past year. Two of those conferences were RN,
one was a RN-CAT, one was a PN, and two were PN-CAT. At the conferences, items were reviewed to ensure
existence of one and only one correct response (documented in two standard nursing textbooks or one textbook and
one approved journal), to ensure that the content represents current entry-level practice, and to address any regional
or nurse practice act issues.

RN Panel of Content EJwerts
A Panel of Content Experts Conference was held September 23-27, 1992, in Monterey, California, for the review of
NCLEX-RN test items. The 15 participants selected by the National Council represented Alabama, California,
Colorado, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Texas, and Washington. A total of 313 newly
written items were reviewed as well as 36 revised items from NCLEX-RN 291 unusable tryouts. Ten items were
deleted during the review, and 339 were accepted for inclusion in the pool.

A RN-CAT Panel of Content Experts Conference convened in Monterey, California, March 2-7, 1992. The 20
participants selected to participate by the National Council represented Alabama. Connecticut, Colorado, Georgia,
illinois, Kentucky, Minnesota. New Hampshire, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, Oklahoma. Oregon, South Carolina.
Tennessee,Texas, andWashington. During this session, 750 recycled items and mail-in items were reviewed; 68 items
were deleted during review, and 682 were accepted for inclusion in the pool.

A second RN Panel of Content Experts Conference convened March 16-20, 1992, in Monterey, California. The 16
participants selected to participate by the National Council represented California, Colorado, Idaho, Kentucky,
Louisiana, Maryland, Minnesota, New Mexico, North Carolina. North Dakota, Oklahoma, South Dakota, and
Vermont. During this session, 382 newly written items were reviewed; 17 items were deleted during review, and 365
were accepted for inclusion in the pool.

PN Panel of Content Euzerts
A Panel of Content Experts Conference was held September 9-13, 1991, in Monterey, California, for the review of
NCLEX-PN-CAT test items. The 15 participants selected by the National Council represented Arkansas, Hawaii,
Idaho, Iowa, Kentucky, Maryland, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, South Dakota.
Washington, andWisconsin. A total of243 items were reviewed. Ten items were deleted and 233 items were approved
for future use as experimental items. In addition, 177 RN items that were selected for possible inclusion in the PN pool
were reviewed; of these, 23 were deleted and 154 were accepted as being representative of PN entry-level practice.
These items were coded to the PN Test Plan and were validated according to PN validation procedures.

A Panel of Content Experts Conference was held Novembe,r 18-22, 1991, for the review of PN items. The 15
participants represented Colorado, Connecticut, Idaho, Louisiana, Massachusetts, Nevada, New York, North
Carolina, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, South Dakota, Texas, and Washington. The panel reviewed 295 newly
created items and 20 revised items from the NCLEX-PN 491 unusable tryouts. During review, 22 items were referred
to the RN pool, 7 were deleted from the RN pool, and 286 were accepted for inclusion in the PN pool.

A second PN-CAT Panel ofContentExperts Conference was held May 18-22, 1992, in Monterey, California. The 15
participants selected by the National Council represented Alabama, Arkansas, Georgia, Louisiana, Michigan,
Missouri, Minnesota, New Jersey, North Carolina. Pennsylvania, and Tennessee. A total of237 newly written items
were reviewed. Additionally, 158 recycled items targeted by b-value were reviewed. The total number of items
accepted for inclusion in the pool and the total number of items deleted during this review session will be presented
in the next Annual Report

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992



5

BSRP5ensItMtyRtwewPBnIII
CTB coordinates the meeting of the Bias Sensitivity Review Panel (BSRP) at CTB headquarters in Monterey,
California, four times per year. Panel members represent the four largest minority ethnic groups taking the
examination. A linguist also serves on the panel.

The BSRP provides the judgmental process that complements the statistical procedures which detect potential bias in
NCLEX test items. During sessions, the panel members review selected items for facial bias and culturally bound
material. A summary of the items reviewed was sent to the National Council after each session. Items identified by
the panel as requiring revision were reviewed at the following Examination Committee Meeting.

TheBSRP meetings took place August 12-14,1991; October 28-30, 1991; February 10-12,1992; andMay4-6,1992.
The February meeting was the final meeting for the flISt BSRP panel. All panel members served a full two-year term.
Each panel member was presented with acertificate ofappre.ciation from the National Council at a farewell luncheon.

The newly appointed BSRP panel members participated in their flISt session in May. The new panel received ten and
one-half hours of orientation and training, including exercises and practice items. A newly designed and updated
BSRP Orientation Manual was used with the new panel.

Continuing Education Credits
Both item writers and Panel of Content Experts members were awarded 41.4 contact hours of Continuing Education
credit for their participation in those conferences.

Member Board Review of Experlmentsl Items
CTB staffcompleted a review of information provided by Member Boards in their 1991-1992 review ofexperimental
items. Eight hundred fony-five experimental PN items were available for Member Board review during the late
summer/early fall review period. A total of 11 Member Boards participated in this review. Items identified as
inconsistent with entry-level practice were submitted to the PN Panel of Content Experts, which met in December
1991. The items designated as inconsistent with a state Nurse Practice Act were submitted with documentation to the
National Council for final review in September 1991,and were reviewed by theExaminationCommittee at itsOctober
9-11,1991, meeting.

Eight hundred sixty-four RN items were available for Member Board review during the winter review period. Atotal
of nine Member Boards participated in this review. Items designated as inconsistent with entry-level practice were
submitted to the RN Panel ofContentExperts in March 1992. The items designatedas inconsistent with a state Nurse
Practice Act were submitted with documentation to the National Council in March 1992, and were reviewed by the
Examination Committee at its March 3Q.April2, 1992, meeting.

CTB continues to closely monitor the security and packaging procedures for review drafts. Feedback from Member
Boards indicated that refmed review draft packaging methods have greatly facilitated inventorying procedures.

Item BBnk Assessment
CTB completed its annual assessment and update of the RN item pool in November 1991, and completed the PN item
pool update in December 1991. A tally of items in the pool, according to difficulty and discrimination indices, was
provided to the National Council. Talliesalso reflected revised specifications from the National Council-new tallies
included Item Response Theory (IRT) difficulty statistics.

The tallies were sent to the National Council in December 1991. A computer tape of the statistics ofall usable items
and a tape of the corresponding item text were also provide.d.
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RevlSBd Item Pool Tallies
ern completed programming modifications to enhance the item pool tally reports that are provided to the National
Council. The enhanced reports which provide infonnation about the 17 subcategories of client need, facilitate the
ability to direct item development at targeted test plan areas and difficulty levels.

These reports are now provided to the National Council on a quarterly basis, after each examination administration.

ExamlnSf/on Construction
The two registered nursing examinations (NCLEX-RN 792 and NCLEX-RN 293) and the two practical nursing
examinations (NCLEX-PN492 and NCLEX-PN 092) were developedaccording to the RN and PN testplans approved
by the Delegate Assembly, and the test construction guidelines established by the Examination Committee. The
examinations were constructed to be equivalent to previous fonns ofRN and PN examinations from both a content and
a statistical perspective. They were reviewed by ern's nursing consultant staff, editorial staff, research staff, and the
Examination Committee to ensure that all items met the established criteria.

EXBmlnation Committee Meetings
The Examination Committee met in Monterey, California, on October 5-8,1991; December 9-11, 1991; March 30­
April 3, 1992; and June 15-19, 1992. At these meetings, ern staff worked in cooperation with committee members
to review all NCLEX and CAT examination materials and to discuss related issues.

ern Test Development staff provided infonnation as requested and provided summary reports on all committee­
related activities. CTB Technical Coordinators presented research reports analyzing results of the two RN
examinations and the two PN examinations. In addition, Person-Fit reports, Ethnicity/Gender reports, and results of
various research studies were presented. Additional research studies that were completed and presented in 1991- 1992
are described in the Research and Technical Suppon section of this report. Test development activities presented to
the Examination Committee are described in the test development section.

Staffing Changes
ern made a number of changes to the project management staff assigned to the NCLEX program. The new project
team focuses resources in suppon of expanding services, including additional CAT item development efforts. Sally
Gensberg was appointed to the position of NCLEX Program Director, and she now serves as the overall manager of
all NCLEX services for the National Council. Andrea Kingman oversees all NCLEX operations as Testing Services
Manager. Rachel Holz, NCLEX Test Development Manager, has taken on the increased project management
responsibilitiesassociated with increased item developmentfor CAT. The reorganization ofthe NCLEX staffhasbeen
designed to improve resource allocations and communications in response to the evolution of NCLEX research and
development needs.

Examination Administration, SCoring, and Reporting

ExamlnSf/on Administration
Two RN and two PN examinations were administered during the past year. The NCLEX-RN 791 examination was
administered to 76,649 candidates. The NCLEX-RN 292 examination was administered to 42,203 candidates. The
NCLEX-PN 491 examination was administered to 24,844 candidates. The NCLEX-PN 091 examination was
administered to 39,899 candidates. Infonnation regarding NCLEX-PN 492 was not available when this repon was
prepared and will be reponed in the 1992-1993 Annual Report

Examination Materials Retrieval/SCoring
All examination materials were collected and accounted for under secure conditions. Candidate infonnation, test
materials, and late applications were checked by the CTB scoring staffand the Data Center stafffor completeness and
accuracy, and test materials were scanned.
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The passing scores were set in cooperation with the National Council according to the established standard of entry­
level competence, and all score reports were shipped on or before the scheduled date.

CfB staff continue to provide the service of automatically handscoring all examinations within a particular range of
the passing score. Approximately 1,039 booklets were handscored during the verification process for NCLEX- PN
491 (this figure was not available for the 1990·1991 Annual Report); 1,936 booklets were handscored for NCLEX­
RN 791; 1,581 were handscored for NCLEX-PN 091; and 1,554 were handscored for NCLEX-RN 292. At the time
this report was written, information regarding the number ofexamination booklets verified for NCLEX- PN 492 was
not available. This information will be included in the 1992·1993 Annual Report

CfB reviewed booklets for other abnormal candidate markings and omitted responses, updated candidate information
that was in error, and provided a scoring tracking record to each Member Board to summarize key dates in the scoring
cycle and summarize details of incomplete, duplicate, or inaccurate candidate data.

Handscorlng
CfB responded to 107 handscoring requests from candidates for the NCLEX-RN 291, which represents a 70 percent
decrease from the previous year; and responded to 39 requests for the NCLEX-PN 491, which is the same number of
requests as the previous year. (These figures were not available for the 1990-1991 Annual Report.) Two hundred and
thirty-three handscoring requests were received for the NCl.EX-RN 791 examination, which represents a 12 percent
decrease from the previous year, and 32 handscoring requests were received for the NCLEX-PN 091 examination,
which is a 40 percent decrease from the previous year. At the time this report was written, 20 handscoring requests
had been received (to date) for NCLEX-RN 292, and no requests had been received for NCLEX-PN 492.

No scoring errors were revealed as a result of the handscoring process. All scores remained as originally reported.

candidate Infonnatlon Brochures
Effective with the NCLEX-PN 091 examination, the 1991··1992 revised generic Candidate Information Brochures
were included with candidate applications. CfB staffworked in cooperation with the Administration ofExamination
Committee to ensure that the new brochures addressed the needs of the candidates and Member Boards.

The committee also updated the Candidate Information Brochure to include information about the Americans with
Disabilities Act. CfB printed 173,000inserts for the Candidate Information Brochure informing candidates of the new
Americans with Disabilities Act deadlines for arranging examination modifications. Inserts were collated into
brochures for the spring 1992 shipment. The brochures for the fall 1992 shipment will be reprinted with this
information.

Brochures for the NCLEX-PN 092 and NCLEX-RN 293 elt.amination administrations were distributed to Member
Boards in April 1992. Brochures for the NCLEX-PN 493 and NCLEX-RN 793 examination administrations will be
distributed to Member Boards in September 1992.

New Scoring Brochure
CfB developed a new scoring brochure that was distributed with the NCLEX-PN 091 exam. This brochure was
distributed to candidates at the test site, after they completed the NCLEX examination. The brochure describes what
happens to the testbooklets after they leave the test site, and e,xplains the steps taken to ensure accuracy during scoring.
Brochures were field tested by nursing students at a nursing school in Monterey, California, to ensure clarity.
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OperBtlonallssues
The following operational issues have been addressed:

Quality Assurance Program
CTB staffparticipated in off-site quality control meetings in August 1991 and June 1992 to review the entire NCLEX
work flow process. Thirty-two staff members from the various departments involved with the NCLEX program were
invited to the day-long sessions. These meetings served as a vehicle to communicate ideas between departments,
improve procedures, and discuss project issues from a broad perspective. The meetings' agenda covered current
operational procedures and documentation, as well as suggestions for improvement. Topics of discussion included
project milestones and timelines, training needs, availabilityofstatistics for the Bias SensitivityReview Panel, scoring
issues, project documentation procedures, the manufacturing of test books and ancillary materials, and inter­
departmental communication. The format for the NCLEX Quarterly Report was also examined. Minutes from both
meetings were prepared and distributed to all staff members involved.

Modifications toprocedures discussed in the meeting weredocumentedanddistributed inThe NCLEXProcess,CTB's
internal document for project procedure details and comprehensive documentation. The NCLEX Process is updated
on a quarterly basis, with input from all departments involved in the project. The binder is reviewed by all staff who
work on the NCLEX.

Conversion to MVS
In the latter part of 1991, CTB made a company-wide change in computer operating systems. The new operating
system, MVS, is an IBMoperating system that is more powerful than its predecessor. The new system was operational
within two years' time. The conversion process was a comprehensive effort involving long hours for many staff
members.

Currently, MVS makes it possible to work more effectively, improving on quality by eliminating manual steps in data
processing. In the future, MVS will allow for continual growth and implementation of new technology.

Programming Modifications to Individual Candidate Reports
CTB revised the Individual Candidate Reports to print with a 10 percent screened background, effective with the
NCLEX- RN 292 examination. The screened background is a precautionary measure designed to deter candidates
from altering their pass/fail results. Implementation of this new format involved a one-time programming fee.

Characteristic Storage and Retrieval (CSAR) ModHlcatlons
Modifications to the CSAR database were planned and implemented. These modifications provided for the addition
to CSAR of the Mantel-Haenszel statistic and BSRP item recommendations. Extensive quality control procedures
were performed following the modifications to their ensure accuracy.

Research and Technical Support
The research staff continues to provide the National Council with the information needed to monitor the technical
performance of each examination. Technical reports have been submitted to the National Council for the NCLEX­
PN 491, NCLEX-RN791, NCLEX-PN 091, NCLEX-RN 292, andNCLEX-RN492 examination administrations. In
each technical report, CTB test development and research staff have provided a detailed description of the
development activities andanalysescarried out for each examination. Tables ofhistorical statistics werealso included
in those reports.
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Other ReSIIBrch Activities
• CTB continues to publisha review ofliterature regarding pertinentmeasurementissues in CTB'sQuarterly Report

to the National Council.

• A design for the replication of the RN Item Classification Study was submitted to the National Council in July
1991.

• The CTB Test Development Manager prepared a report postulating reasons for the recent increase in distractor
point-biserials.

• A report describing the possibility ofPN examination statistics being affected by RN students who take the PN
examination was submitted to the National Council and forwarded to the Examination Committee.

• CTB conducted additional research, as requested by the Examination Committee, regarding items having a
positive disU'actor point-biserial, and sent a report to the National Council in November.

• CTB completed cheating analyses for the Arizona, Washington, Kansas, andFloridajurisdictionsfor the NCLEX­
RN 791 examination. The reports were sent to the jurisdictions in August 1991. CTB also conducted a cheating
analysis for the Oregon jurisdiction for the NCLEX..PN 091 examination and the results were reported in
November 1991.

• CTB staff coordinated and participated in an RN Standard Setting Session on January 27-29, 1992. Nine judges
recommended a new passing score for NCLEX-RN 792 at this session. The appointed judges represented
Alabama, Arizona, California, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, and Wisconsin.
Attending from the National Council was the Project Director for Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing. A
report on the NCLEX-RN 792 standard setting was presented to the National Council in February 1992. The new
standard is a Board modification of the standard set in July 1988.

• Six NCLEX staff members from CTB attended the American Educational Research Association (AERA)/
National Council on Measurement and Education (NCME) Conference in San Francisco on April 20-24, 1992.
CTB research staffpresented two papers at the conference: Dimensionality and DIP in a Licensure Examination
and AssessiDl~ the Impact of Multidimensionality on the Classification Decisions of an IRT-based Licensure
Examination.

Annual CTB • Natlonsl Council Research Meetings
CTB continues to work with the NationalCouncil to discuss the results ofcurrentresearch studies and to identify future
research directions for the NCLEX examinations. To this end, CTB research staff met with National Council staff in
Bloomingdale, nlinois, on October 7, 1991, to develop a schedule of research studies.

On April 20, 1992,CTB research staffmet with the National Council staffin San Francisco, California, during the 1992
Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association to discuss the results of the research studies
completed at that time and to consider possible issues that would merit investigation in the future.

Future research projects were listed and prioritized at both meetings. Item difficulty and item development targeting,
and the possible effects on item statistics resulting from restricted variability of candidate ability distributions were
given high priority.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992



10

Res_reh Studies
The CfB research staff has conducted the following research studies during the past year:

Person-Fit Analyses
Person-fit analyses are studies conducted to assess whether or not there is any evidence suggesting that candidates
have had prior access to items which appeared in previously administered examinations. Such analyses were
conducted on NCLEX-RN 791 and NCLEX-PN 091. Reports summarizing these analyses and the obtained results
were submitted to the National Council in October 1991 and January 1992.

To enhance person-fit analyses, CfB research staffconducted research comparing the W2 statistic with the presently
used person-fit statistic (WI) which is currently used in these analyses. The two person-fit statistics are sensitive to
different kinds of items. The old statistic (W1) is influenced by very difficult and very easy items, while the new W2
statistic is more sensitive to items ofaverage difficulty. A report on the use of the WI versus the W2 statistic in person­
fit analysis was presented to the Examination Committee in October.

Etbnicity/Gender Bias Analysis
Ethnicity/gender bias analyses were conducted on NCLEX-PN 491, NCLEX-RN 791, NCLEX-PN 091, and NCLEX­
RN 291. Reports summarizing these analyses and the obtaine.d results were submitted to the National Council after
each examination administration.

CfB has been able to extend its analyses to minority groups with small candidate populations that have not been
previously investigated. This is a result of analyses conducted last year on the effects on the Mantel-Haenszel alpha
statistic of reducing the cell size minimum for bias analyses of RN and PN examinations.

RN DimensionalitY Analyses'"
CfB completedfollow-up studies for the final phase ofdimensionality research for the NCLEX-RN examination. The
first of these phases was an exploration and characterization ofthe seconddimension underlying RN test perfonnance.
The second phase involved assessing the impact of the second dimension on pass-fail classifications. The final report
was submitted to the National Council in March 1992.

PN DimensionalitY Study'"
CfB completed a study that examined the dimensionality of the PN examinations and the practical implications
associated with that dimensionality. A report was sent to the National Council in March and presented at the March
Examination Committee meeting.

Context Effect Study'"
A study was conducted to investigate whether or not the rewriting ofcase-bound items into individual items had any
significant effects on item perfonnance in the NCLEX-RN and -PN examinations. For the RN study, with the possible
exception ofitems in the "psychosocial integrity" client need category, there was no indication that the rewriting from
multiple item cases to single item cases has significant effect on the examination results. The PN study results were
less conclusive than those for the RN. Additional studies will help detennine whether effects are present for PN items.
A report was submitted to the National Council in March.

RN and PN Scale Drift Studies'"
CfB completed a study that investigated the nature of drift (changes in the scale) underlying the RN examinations to
detennine ifa factor was needed to correct item parameters for this drift. The results were presented in a report to the
National Council in January. A similar study for the PN examinations was completed and the results were presented
to the National Council in May.

... TMse studies were perfomwd at 110 utra cltDrge to tM NatioMl COll1lCil. !ISing hours colltribwted by CTB for special research projects.
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Item Scro1linK Study
CTB conducted an item scrolling study to determine the number of NCLEX items that would exceed the maximum
CAT screen scrolling requirements. The database included PN items from 087 through 090 and RN items from 288
through 291. Case items were identified as to whether the situation, stem, or answer choices exceeded the maximum
length; individual items were identified when the stem or answer choices exceeded the maximum length. The last
administration date for each item that exceeded the maximum count was also provided.

Communications

National Councll/CTS Communication Ssrvlces
CTB has instituted the following programs and services in tht: area ofcommunication with Member Boards, educators,
and related consumer groups:

24-Hour EmerWlCY TeleJlhone Service
CTB continues toprovide an emergency telephone number so that Member Boards may reach CTB personnel 24 hours
per day. When the National Council and CTB are closed, Member Boards can reach the CTB Security Department
who will then contact the appropriate NCLEX personnel at home.

Direct Toll-Free Access to NCLEX Staff and Conference Information
In May 1992, CTB instituteda new 24-hour toll-free telephone number specifically for NCLEX. The number provides
recorded information about NCLEX Summary ProfIles and NCLEX Conferences, and access to key NCLEX staff
members. The new telephone number is 1-800-CTB-NCLX or 1-800-282-6259.

NCLEX News & Notes
CTB editorial staffproduced and distributed the spring 1991, winter 1991,and summer 1992editions ofNCLEX News
& Notes, a newsletter for Member Boards and educators.

Rej)ons
CTB staff produced four quarterly reports and one annual report

NCLEX Inyitational Conferences
CTB presented the Third NCLEX Regional Invitational Conferenceon April 22-23, 1992, in New Orleans, Louisiana.
Five staff members from CTB, as well as the National Council's Executive Director and Project Director of
Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing, were present at the conference. Over 140 educators and Member Board
staff attended the two-day conference. The conference included an overview of test development, administration,
scoring and reporting, the application process, research, and the NCLEX Summary ProfIles. A workshop for educators
was given by CTB staffon the principles ofitem writing. A presentation ofComputerized Clinical Simulation Testing
(CSn and Computerized Adaptive Testing was given by the National Council's CST Project Director. Conference
participants were given an opportunity for hands-on experience with CST.

Pre-conference planning began during the first week of February; approximately 1,000 announcements were sent to
all Member Boards, to various consumer groups, and to registered and practical nursing programs in Georgia,
Louisiana, North Carolina, South Carolina, Oklahoma, Texas, Virginia, Arkansas, Florida, Kentucky, Tennessee,
Alabama, and Mississippi. Additionally, a new toll-free telephone number was set up to accommodate inquiries about
the conference. CTB collaborated with the Louisiana State Board of Nursing and the Louisiana State Board of
Practical Nurse Examiners to coordinate various aspects of the conference.

CTB produced informational material for distribution at the conference. The NCLEX Invitational binder and the
Principles of Item Writing were both revised. The Invitational binder, which was distributed to all conference
attendees, describes the processes of test development, research, scoring and reporting, and the NCLEX Data Center.
The Principles ofItem Writing is an instructional guidebook that was distributed to all participants in the Item-Writing
Seminar at the Invitationals. Additional copies of materials were made available for mail-order purchase.
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Additionally, CI'B provided all conference attendees with continuing education Certificates ofCompletion for their
participation. Conference attendees received 13.8 CEUs for attending the full two-day conference, and 6.9 CEUs for
attending one day of the conference. Conference attendees were asked to complete continuing education and CI'B
program evaluations.

CI'B has begun planning the next Regional Invitational Conference which will be held in Albuquerque, New Mexico
(Area I). That conference will take place on November 12-13, 1992.

The NCLEXTesting Services Managersubmittedan article for publication in National Council's fall edition offssues,
describing the NCLEX Regional Invitational Conferences.

IrIfIetings/Conterences
National Council Annual Meetini
The National Council's Thirteenth Annual Meeting was held in Chicago, Illinois, from July 29-August 3, 1991. Nine
staff members from CI'B attended all Annual Meeting sessions and forums.

CI'B's test developmentandresearch staffgave presentations at an educational forum on July 30, 1991. This four-hour
educational session provided an overview ofall NCLEX test development activities. The NCLEX Test Development
Manager presented information about the item writing,PCB, BSRP, and testassembly processes. The NCLEXEditing
Manager described editing procedures and item processing. CI'B's Director of Research Applications discussed
NCLEX research and statistical analysis, including such topics as bias research, and the standard-setting process.
Evaluations by participants indicated that attendees found the educational forum informative and interesting. CI'B
hosted a dessert reception at the Hyatt Regency on Tuesday evening, following the Candidates' Forum.

All Annual Meeting attendees were provided with packets containing a description of the CTB and Data Center staff,
information about the 1992 Regional Invitationals, a special NCLEX brochure produced specifically for the Annual
Meeting, an issue of NCLEX News & Notes, and an NCLEX Summary Profiles brochure.

Contract Eyaluation
The National Council and CI'B staffparticipated in quarterly conference calls to discuss contract issues on September
30,1991;December 16,1991; and June 22, 1992. Topics ofdiscussion included theNCLEX item bank,computerized
adaptive testing, research, and other issues related to the contract.

On April 3, 1992,CI'B managers met with the National Council DirectorofTesting Services, and the National Council
NCLEX Program Manager for the annualevaluation ofCI'B'sservice. Issuesand proceduresrelated to various aspects
of the contract were discussed.

1991 Fall PlanniOi Retreat
On October 6-8, 1991, seven CI'B staff members attended the 1991 Fall Planning Retreat in Bloomingdale, Illinois.
During the retreat, CI'B staff attended the Examination Committee Meeting and the Administration of the
Examination Committee Meeting.

CI'B and the National Council testing services staff also held their fall Research Planning Meeting and the annual
Three-Year Planning Meeting at the Fall Planning Retreat. During these meetings, the NCLEX Three-Year Plan was
presented and discussed. Suggestions made at both these planning meetings were incorporated into the final Three­
Year Plan document, including the final ranking of the NCLEX research agenda for 1992.

Administration of Examination Committee (ABC)

The NCLEX Associate Testing Services Manager attended the Administration of Examination Committee meeting
held on October 6-8, 1991, in Bloomingdale, Illinois. At this meeting, she presented information and answered
questions about the administration ofNCLEX-PN 491 and NCLEX-RN 791.
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The Associate Testing Services Manager and the NCLEX Program Director also attended the Administration of
Examination Committee meeting held on March 11-12, 1992, in Chicago, llIinois. Information about the administtation
of NCLEX-PN 091 and NCLEX-RN 292 and issues related to security were discussed at the meeting. During the
meeting, the committee updated the Candidate Information Brochure to include information about the Americans
with Disabilities Act. Refinements to the questions for English-as-a-Second Language (ESL) Candidates, found on
examination booklet covers, were also revised.

At the March meeting, the Associate Testing Services Manager also presented information about reflective paper, a
new technology used by CTB on other testing programs. The advantages of using reflective paper are that it erases
more thoroughly than Trans-Optic paper and has a higher contrast with the ink, making it easier to read. The AEC
approved the use of reflective paper for printing NCLEX examinations, beginning with the NCLEX-RN 792
examination.

1992 Area Meetinis
An overview ofCTB's current item developmentactivities, Bias Sensitivity Review Panel activities, research studies,
NCLEX invitational conferences, the new NCLEX toll-free telephone number, and operational issues was presented
by CTB staff at each Area Meeting.

The NCLEX Program Director and the NCLEX National Accounts Managerattended the Area I Meeting in Portland,
Oregon, the Area nmeeting in Dearborn, Michigan, and the Area 1lI Meeting in Jackson, Mississippi. The NCLEX
Program Director and the NCLEX Data Center Manager attended the Area IV Meeting in Lancaster, Pennsylvania.

Overview for New NCLEX Promm Director
CTB's Professional Assessment Services Manager and the newly appointed Program Director for NCLEX visited the
National Council's offices on March 10 and II, 1992. During their visit, the National Council's Director of Testing
Services, NCLEX Program Manager, Director of Communications, Director of Research Services, Director of
Operations, Associate Executive Director, Director for Public Policy, Nursing Practice and Education, and the CST
Project Director presented an overview of their areas of work and discussed current issues.

During the visit, CTB presented a new monthly report indicating the use of research hours. The report provides the
National Council with the up-to-date information needed for evaluating research hour usage and adjusting the research
agenda

CTB also presented information about the new toll-free NCLEX telephone number that facilitates direct access to
NCLEX project staff and services. The number will also provide recorded information for services such as the
Summary Profiles and conferences such as the NCLEX Invitationals.

Additionally, CTB discussed ways to combine communication efforts with the National Council. One method
discussed was the possibility of discontinuing CTB'sNCLEX News & Notes, and in its place, providing information
to Member Boards and educators regularly in a special section of the National Council's newsletter, Issues.

Lastly, CTB discussed the informational needs ofArea Meetings and invitational conferences. CTB sent out a survey
in June 1992 to get information about the content, frequency, and locations desired by Member Boards for invitational
conferences.

Special WorkshQP on the Americaos with Disabilities Act: Compliaoce Issues for Certification and Licensure
Aiencies
On April 9, 1992, the CTB Testing Services Manager attended a workshop regarding the new Americans with
Disabilities Act. The workshop was sponsored by the National Organization for Competency Assurance and the
Council on Licensure Enforcement and Regulation. Four speakers spoke at the workshop. A question and answer
period and informal discussion followed.

Following the workshop, the NCLEX Program Director provided information to the National Council's Director of
Testing Services regarding services offered by CTB in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act. This
information was disseminated to Member Boards by the National Council.
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Special Requests and Addnlonal services
In addition to supporting the majorphasesofthe NCLEX program, theernprojectstaffmembers have also responded
in a timely and effective manner to all requests from the National Council and its Member Boards for additional
services and information. ern provided the following services at no additional cost:

• responded to five requests from Member Boards for spedal analysis of suspected cheating

• responded to 17 requests from Member Boards for review of previously administered examinations: eight
Member Boards requested a review of NCLEX-PN 090 and nine Member Boards requested a review ofNCLEX­
RN791

• provided answer keys for each exam administration to the National Council for Member Board reviews

• provided sample examination materials to a Member Board for review of testing options for a visually impaired
candidate

• printed 173,000 inserts for the NCLEX Candidate Information Brochure informing candidates of new deadlines
for arranging examination modifications in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act; collated inserts
into brochures and shipped in late April 1992

• provided cost estimates and timelines for options for providing the NCLEX examinations on audio tape to
candidates with disabilities

• produced and distributed the NCLEX News & Notes, a newsletter for Member Boards and educators

• revised the NCLEX Bias Sensitivity Review Panel Orientation Manual

• performed a review of the National Council's job analysis survey instrument

• provided information and costs for collecting ESL data from candidates during the NCLEX-PN 091 test
administration (The information provided was related to the development, design, and printing of a separate
scannable form, the development ofa scan program and a program that would incorporate the data onto the GRT,
and the development and production of examiner instructions.)

• completed programming for the addition of Mantel-Haenszel statistics and BSRP process codes to the CSAR
database

• provided options related to a contract extension for NCLEX paper-and-pencil testing, at the Annual Meeting in
August 1991

• provided background data related to the PN-CAT field U~st states to assist in the sampling design

• prepared information for the Examination Committee regarding the cognitive levels targeted in NCLEX items;
reviewed paper-and-pencil examinations and simulated CAT examinations to identify the number of items
meeting the criteria for each cognitive level in each examination

The following services were provided to the National Council and its Member Boards at additional cost:

• responded to requests from Member Boards for 139 failure candidate reviews: 27 for NCLEX-RN 291; 17 for
NCLEX-PN 491; 54 for NCLEX-RN 791; 14 for NCLE.X-PN 091; and 27 (to date) for NCLEX-RN 292

• prepared large print NCLEX examination booklets for testing visually impaired candidates for NCLEX-RN 791,
NCLEX-RN 292, and NCLEX-PN 492 examination administrations
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• performed special initial handscoring services for candidates with disabilities for two Member Boards

• provided the National Council with diskettes containing text and statisticsfor the usable PNitems that are less than
four years old. using hours contributed by CTB for special research projects

• provided results for NCLEX-RN 292 and NCLEX-RN 791. and NCLEX-PN 091 on diskette for two Member
Boards

• performed a content analysis in response to an item challenge of NCLEX-RN 791

• revised the Individual Candidate Reports to print with a 10 percent screened background. effective with the
NCLEX-RN 292 examination

• prepared the NCLEX-PN 492 tryout item text and statistics on diskette for the National Council

• conducted a study for the Arizonajurisdiction to establish a baseline for their cheating analysis (The baseline data
obtained in the study were used to reevaluate the results of the NCLEX-RN 791 Arizona cheating analysis.)

NCLEX Summary Profiles
During the past year. CTB conducted a promotional campaign for the NCLEX Summary Profiles service. As a result.
subscriptions to the Summary Profiles continued to increase. In early September. approximately 1.000 non­
subscribing PN schools were sent Summary Profiles promotional brochures along with recruitment information for
potential item writers and PCB members. In February 1992. a new toll-free number was made available for recorded
Summary Profiles information and access to staff (l-800-CTB-NCLX). Information about the NCLEX Summary
Profiles was also presented to approximately 140 nursing educators at the April 22-23 Invitational Conference in New
Orleans. Louisiana.

The April 1991 Summary Profiles were shipped to 196 practical nursing programs on July 3. 1991.

The July 1991 Summary Profiles were shipped beginning September 26. 1991. to 707 registered nursing programs.

Summary Profiles for the October 1991 PN examination were shipped on January 8.1992. to 219 practical nursing
programs to date. The NCLEX-PN 091 Summary Profiles also included a copy of the NCLEX News & Notes and a
flyer announcing the April 1992 Invitational Conference in New Orleans. Louisiana.

Summary Profiles for the February 1992 examination began to be shipped on May 5.1992. The initial shipment was
for 692 schools. and late renewals and new orders continue to be received. These profiles included a flyer announcing
the November 1992 Regional Invitational in Albuquerque. New Mexico.
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Annual Report of the NCLEX Data Center

Introduction
This report provides an overview of ern Macmillan/McGraw-Hill's activities in the National Council Data Center
during the past year and covers NCLEX-RN 791, NCLEX-PN 091, NCLEX-RN 292, AND NCLEX-PN 492. This year,
efforts in the NCLEX DataCenter have concentrated on implementing the new Program Code Correction Process as well
as providing support to all Member Boards.

Applications Processing
The Data Center shipped a total of 325,000 application packets to Member Boards during the fall 1991 and spring 1992
sendout periods. The generic candidate brochures contained an insert to reflect the new Americans with Disabilities Act
requirements for disabled candidates. (This information will be printed in the new brochure for fall 1992.) These
brochures are now included as part of the application packet.

The four NCLEX examinations covered in this report reflect a total of 194,316 applications processed and represent an
increase of 11,484 or 6.28 percent over last year's 182,832 applications. An additional 5,225 applications were returned
to candidates for errors, for receipt after the deadline, or for being too early to process.

A summary of applications processed is included on the following page.

Program Code Changes
For anyone examination, a maximum of 40 Member Boards sent in program code corrections and/or changes in
education or repeat status, for a total of 3,604 candidates. This total is 202 candidates more than the 3,402 total number
of candidates for 1991, or an increa<;e of 5.9 percent.

Telephone Communication
The Data Center responded to over 1,421 telephone calls during the year; many of these calls were inquiries regarding
candidate application receipt status.

Candidate Code Change/Correction Process
Starting with NCLEX-RN 791, a pre-examination roster was sent to all Member Boards. These rosters list all candidates,
by program/school name, in a given jurisdiction, regardless ofwhere the candidates are testing. Member Boards, in turn,
send the rosters to each school listed for verification. The pre-examination roster was included in the deliverables
package sent to each Member Board, resulting in deliverables arriving seven to ten days earlier than usual.

Application Packets
Beginning with the spring application packets send-out, the inserts for all regions will contain separate pages for PN and
RN codes. The typeface on the inserts will now be larger and easier to read, making it easier for candidates to identify
the correct program codes. School codes for schools of practical nursing will be printed on a different color paper than
that for registered nursing school codes. The Data Center will continue to include both PN and RN information in all
packets, except those states with two boards. (States with two boards may receive both RN and PN information in all
packets upon request.)

Special Processing for Candidates on Military Assignment
The Data Center waived processing fees for candidates who were unable to sit for the NCLEX-RN 291 and the NCLEX­
PN 491 examination due to military assigrunent in the Persian Gulf.
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Applications Processed
The following is a summary of the NCLEX-RN 791, NCLEX-PN 091, NCLEX-RN 292, and NCLEX-RN 492
applications processed to date.

Table I. Summary of Applications Processed
Applications Processed: RN791 PN091 RN292 PN492

Including Tape and Late Applications 79,902 41,662 45,007 27,655
Application Returns 1,593 1,375 1,143 1,114

Candidate Code Corrections To Date:
Number of Candidates 932 1092 578 1002
Percent of Direct Applications 1.8% 3.4% 2.9% 5.2%
Number of Boards 40 35 37 ~q

As Table 1 illustrates, approximately 194,316 applications were received and processed at the Data Center during
1991-1992.
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Report of the Steering Committee, Computerized
Clinical Simulation Testing Project

Overview
In August 1991, the Delegate Assembly of the National Council ofState Boards ofNursing directed that research and
development of Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing (CSl) be continued. During the past year, CST funding
proposals were preparedand submitted to the W. K. Kellogg Foundation (October 1991) and to the HeleneFuld Health
Trust (February 1992). The W. K. Kellogg Foundation has notified the National Council that the proposal has been
reviewed by staffbut as yet no funding decision has been made. Helene Fuld has deferred a decision on our funding
request pending Kellogg's decision. Due to delays in response to funding requests, project staff presented written
requests to the W. K. KelloggFoundation for extensions ofthe projectutilizing "leftover"Phase I project funds. These
funds were used to begin work on some activities proposed for Phase IT of the CST Project. The current extension
expires on June 30, 1992. At its May 1992 meeting, the Board ofDirectors was apprised of the amount of remaining
KelloggFundsanticipated as ofJune 30, 1992. The Board directed thatprojectactivities becontinued using additional
National Council funds and the remaining Kellogg funds. These funds will be used to complete the database and to
work on case revisions between July 1 and December 31, 1992.

Activities
During FY92, the CST Steering Committee met two times and had one conference call.

Phase II: Project Goals and Activities of the CST Steering Committee and Staff

Goal I: Model Customlutlon
Activities
1. The cuedassessmentscreen has been removed and all assessments and interventions will now be specified through

the same screen. This not only simplifies the model but also makes the test more realistic since the test provides
no unrealistic cues for examinee action.

2. Five database consultants contributed to the development ofa nursing assessment default database which will be
programmed to work with the new simulation model. The assessment database currently contains about 90
"parent" nursing assessment tenns which, with their respective synonyms, compile a dictionary of5,000+ nursing
assessment tenns.

3. In collaboration with the National Board of Medical Examiners (NBME), the CST orientation system was
modified to reflect changes in the simulation model.

Goal II. CBse Development
Actiyities
1. The Scoring Key Development Committee (SKDC) met to validate scoring keys for cases used in the FY91 pilot

sbJdy. Outcomes ofthe key validation activities contributed to the validity of the scoring system as well as to the
identification of the characteristics of a "good case."

2. A new Case Development Committee (CDC) was appointed by the Board of Directors in August 1991. Four of
the original CDC members and six new members were appointed to the committee. The CDC met three times to
revise old cases to fit the new simulation model and to work on 20 new cases designed to fit the new simulation
model. Case revision and new case development is facilitated by guidelines which identify the characteristics of
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a good case and the pitfalls ofcase development The new set of guidelines for case development were generated
based on outcomes of the CST pilot study. At its March 1992 meeting, the CDC reviewed 12 flow charts. Eight
flow charts were approved for programming and four were returned for author revisions. In April, Case
Development Committee activities were suspended, pending the outcomes of Kellogg Foundation action on the
Phase II funding request

Goa/III. F/e/dlPllot Testing
Actiyities
1. Outcomes of the FY91 pilot study data analyses were further reviewed on a case-by-case and item-by-item basis.

The results of this review assisted in the identification of guidelines for case development which include the
characteristics of a good case.

2. Field testing of the model modifications and assessment database scheduled for springof 1992 had to be cancelled
due to the unanticipated amount of work and time needed to develop and "test out" a dictionary (database) of
nursing assessment terms. Model modifications as well as the use of free text entry for requesting nursing
assessments precipitated much more work than was anticipated. Case specific responses for all terms in the
database relevant to each case have to be rewritten. In the original model, all assessment data was available
through 25 options which could be selected from the assessment screen. In the new model, with the new
assessment database, it ispossible to obtain assessment data through any ofapproximately 90 different assessment
parent terms. Each term must be reviewed for its relevance to a case and potential need for a case-specific
response.

3. The CST Steering Committee discussed plans for various pilot studies of alternative uses for CST (discipline,
continued competence, re-entry, and licensure). These studies will be designed to collectdata which will facilitate
decisions regarding these varied applications of CST.

Goa//V. Information Dissemination
The following CST presentations and demonstrations were given:

1. Presentation given at the convention of the National Student Nurses' Association in Chicago, in November 1991;
2. Presentation on the psychometric characteristics of CST was given at a nursing research conference on Clinical

Decision Making in Chicago, in November 1991;
3. Presentation given to the National Council's Examination Committee in Monterey, California, in December

1991; addressed issues that will have to be dealt with if CST is ultimately used for initial licensure exams (e.g.,
standard setting);

4. Presentation was given at the meeting of the National Federation of Licensed Practical Nurses (NFLPN) in
Wichita, Kansas, in September 1991;

5. Two presentations were given at the "Nursing Education Conference" in Orlando, Florida, on January 4 and 5.
1992, sponsored by the Medical College of Pennsylvania;

6. Presentation was given at St PetersburgJunior College, St. Petersburg, Florida, on January 6, 1992, co-sponsored
by the College, the Florida Board of Nursing, and six other groups/colleges;

7. Discussed and demonstrated CST at a meeting with the American Hospital Association (AHA) staff in Chicago,
in January 1992;

8. Two papers on CST research fmdings presented at the Tenth Annual Research Conference of the NLN Council
of the Society for Research in Nursing Education (CSRNE) in San Francisco, California, in February 1992;

9. Paper on the CST research findings presented at a meeting of the Midwest Nursing Research Society (MNRS) in
Chicago, on March 30, 1992;

10. Demonstrated CST videodisc cases to staff at the Fuld Institute for Technology in Nursing Education (FITNE) in
Athens, Ohio, on March 18, 1992;

11. Presentation and demonstration was given at the era Invitational in New Orleans, Louisiana, in April 1992;
12. Presentation of CST interactive video by NBME at the annual meeting of the Royal Australasian College of

Physicians in Adelaide, Australia, in May 1992.
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13. Presentation given at the 8th Annual Nurse Educator Conference sponsored by St. Louis University School of
Nursing in Sl Louis, Missouri, in May 1992.

14. Demonstration and CST "hands on" experience provided at the convention of the American Nurses' Association
in Las Vegas, Nevada, in June 1992.

Committee Members
Debra Brady, NM, Area I, Chair
Patricia Beck, NY, Area IV
Dorothy Fiorino, OR, Area n
Sheryl Jackson, SO, Area n
Barbara McCant, GA-RN, Area ill
Sally Phillips, CO, Area I

Board Liaison
Carol Osman

Staff
Anna Bersky, csr Project Director
Carolyn Yocom, Director ofResearch Services
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Report of the Nurse Information System Committee

Background
The Nurse Information System (NIS) Committee was established in 1986 to study the need for and use of a
comprehensive, national database on all licensed nurses, and, if needed, to determine the steps necessary to create the
system. In 1988, the Delegate Assembly approved the committee's recommendation that the "National Council pursue
obtaining a grant or other outsidefunding to assist Member Boards in selling up a system to collect in/ormation from
licensees."

When approached about its interest in funding the NIS, the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF) suggested that
conducting a feasibility study would strengthen the proposal for funding NIS implementation. The National Council
received foods from RWJF, the Public Health Service's Division of Nursing, and the American Nurses' Association to
conduct an II-month feasibility study beginning in October 1990. The results of the study showed that the NIS is both
technically and fmancially feasible, but did not definitively answer questions regarding the availability ofdata elements
from the boards of nursing (see Attachment 1 for the report on the feasibility study).

The NIS Committee determined that it was imperative to know if the boards of nursing could provide the information
needed to establish the database before recommending that the NIS be implemented and seeking funding for the project.
Because of this concern, the committee, with approval of the Board ofDirectors, decided to negotiate agreements with
each individual Member Board delineating what dataelements the Member Board can release and provide with ease for
the NIS. Another purpose of the data collection agreement is to allow Member Boards to maintain control over their
licensee information by stating the terms under which National Council can release NIS data to others. The agreement
also contains provisions for the Member Boards to receive royalties when their licensee data is released.

The NIS isdesigned tobea nationaldatabaseon nurselicensees thatwill providean unduplicatedcountas well asaccurate
and up-to-date information on nurse characteristics. During the implementation phase, Member Boards will collect NIS
data on new and renewing licensees, and transfer that information to the National Council for compilation in the NIS.
The external funds obtained for NIS implementation will be available to assist Member Boards with the costs of data
collection and transfer. Following implementation, boards will be asked to transfer those data that may change over time
each time they renew licenses, and to send data on new licensees and address changes every six months. The table below
showsessential and desired NIS data elements, and indicates whatdata wouldbe collectedon an ongoing basis following
the implementation phase. See the NIS Question and Answer sheet (AttaChment 2) for some more detailed information.

Table 1. Proposed NIS Data Elements.

Essential Data Elements··

Names·
Home Address·
Social security number
Date of birth
State in which currently licensed·
License number
Original state of licensure
Date licensed in original state
Type of basic nursing education program
Year of graduation

Desired Data Elemepts

Gender
Race/ethnic origin
Levels of educational preparation·
Employment status·
Type of employer·
Type of position·
Practice area·
Work ZIP code·
County of residence·

*These daJa elements will be collected on an ongoing baris. following the implementation phase.

··/t is essential thai some combination ofthese daJa elements be availablefor unduplication. /t is understood thai not all boards will
be able to provide all essential dma elements.
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The NIS Committee bas worked hard to devise an NIS that will be beneficial to the Member Boards. If implemented,
the NIS will be a resource on licensee characteristics that will help Member Boards in their mission to protect the public
health. 1be NIS will assist Member Boards to detect applicants for endorsement who do not report previous licenses
or disciplinary actions. Through the NIS, boards could obtain a listing of states in which an applicant for endorsement
is or was licensed. By then linking with the Disciplinary Data Bank, National Council could check if the applicant had
been disciplined in any of those states. License verification will still be the responsibility of the Member Boards. The
NIS will allow a Member Board otherwise unable to expand data collection to have important information on their own
licensees. The National Council could fill requests for data and labels from state data sets, with royalties from these sales
going directly toMember Boards. Some Member Boards may see increased revenue from this arrangement. particularly
if they currently have limited data on their own systems. Member Boards could use the NIS to track the movement of
licensees across borders, and would be able to obtain comparative data from other states and regions. The NIS also will
provide an excellent and unique sampling frame for the National Council and others conducting research in areas of
importance to the Member Boards.

Activities
The committee met on October 7-8, 1991; March 8-9, 1992; and May 28-29,1992. It held conference calls on October
31,1991; November 13,1991; February 18, 1992; and April 20, 1992. During the past year, the committee has focused
on developing the NIS model contract. presenting the contract to the Member Boards, pursuing additional sources of
external funding, and preparing for the eventual possibility of NIS implementation.

The NIS contract was developed during fall 1991 by the NIS Committee, staff, and legal counsel. The contract was
reviewed by both the Finance Committee and the BoardofDirectors before it was sent to Member Boards for negotiation
and approval early in 1992. Member Boards have been contacted regularly regarding the status of the contract and to
address questions and concerns about the NIS. At the writing of this report, the NIS Committee has not received enough
responses from Member Boards on the NIS contract to formulate its recommendation to the BoardofDirectors regarding
NIS implementation. The committee plans to make a recommendation at the Board of Directors' July meeting, and to
inform the Delegate Assembly of the recommendation in an addendum to this report.

In addition to contract development. the committee bas been seeking external funding for NIS implementation. Over
30 foundations and organizations were contacted to ascertain their interest in funding the NIS, and five have indicated
that they are willing to review a grant proposal. National Council bas received a check for $500.00 in support of the NIS
from the National Association of Boards ofExaminers for Nursing Home Administrators, with their request for further
information on the project. A proposal for funding to cover the cost of computer equipment required to implement the
NIS was submitted to the Dr. Scholl Foundation in May 1992, and a grant proposal will be submitted to the RobertWood
Johnson Foundation in July 1992.

Other activities of the committee over the past year include developing the NIS data collection form, evaluating fmal
results of the NIS pilot study, making a fmal report to the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation on the feasibility study, and
various activities related to contract negotiation and plans for NlS implementation.

Committee Members
Marie Hilliard, CT, Area IV, Chair
Patricia Brown, WA-RN, Area I
Vicky Burbach. NE, Area II
Carol McGuire, KY, Area III
Barbara Powers, IN, Area II

Board Liaison
Marcelia McKay

Staff
Melanie Neal. NIS Project Manager
Carolyn Yocom, Director 0/Research Services
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Attachment 1

This is an addendum to the Nurse Infonnation System (NIS) Committee report provided in the Book ofReports. This
report includes results of the pilot sbldy and market survey, an update on responses to the Member Board Survey, and
the NIS Committee's recommendations regarding NIS implementation.

HIS Pilot Study
Pilot study data were collected in Georgia. Nebraska, and South Carolina at their regular renewal times. Data from
Georgia and Nebraska were scanned and then sent to the National Council by April 1991. The National Council has
experienced a delay in receiving the data from South Carolina.

Georgia and Nebraska data were analyzed to detect sets ofduplicate records, and distinguish them from sets
of records that looked similar but actually represented individual licensees. The data elements were tested on 1) all
sets of records with the same first and last names in the Georgia file, 2) a segment ofrecords with the same fll'st and
last names in both the Georgia and Nebraska fIles (FILE A). and 3) a second segment of duplicates drawn from the
Georgia and Nebraska files (FILE B). Two segments were used because of the difficulty in sorting the combined
Georgia and Nebraska files. This problem is related to current softwareand hardware constraints, and does not impact
the feasibility of the NIS.

Social security number was mosteffectiveatdetecting sets ofduplicaterecords and distinguishing them from
groups of records representing persons who have some similar infonnation (e.g., same names), but are actually
different people (see Table 1). Date ofbirtb, used in conjunction with names, did virtually as well as social security
number in unduplicating records. Date of graduation and original year of licensure did DOt perfonn as well when
analyzed separately, but were moderately effective when used together to unduplicate data. Combinations of data
elements,excluding social security numberand dateofbirtb, werealso tested. Thefollowing variables in combination
were moderately effective: original state oflicensure, original date oflicensure, basic nursing education, and date of
graduation.

Table 1. Number ofsets ofduplicate records detected by selected data elements.

Data Georgia FILE A FILEB
Element (n=53.123) (n=3.682) (n=2841l
Social !leCuritv no. 27 3 6
Date of birth 21 3 4
Date of 2I'8duation 173 121 108
0ri2. vr of Iic. 177 128 104

These results show that it is possible to produce an unduplicated list of licensees using data from multiple states. The
most effective "unduplicators" are social security number and date of birth in conjunction with names. If these
variables are missing, a combination of other data elements can be used but with less assurance of detecting all
duplicates. When South Carolina data are available, they will be combined with Georgia data to verify the results. It
is anticipated that a higher number of duplicates will be found due to the close proximity of the two states.

Member Board Survey
Sixty-one MemberBoards have now responded to the survey requesting information regarding availability oflicensee
data,constraints on data release, and the costofsupplying data for an NIS. While most Boards are able to provide data
necessary to produce an NIS, some Boards have legal or policy restrictions on releasing certain data elements. Table
2 summarizes the constraints on release of essential data elements, by jurisdiction.

National Council ofState Boards ofNllrsing./nc.lI992



4

Table 2. Proposed NIS Data Elemenls (Essenlial) RestrictedFrom Release By Board OfNUTs;ng
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Documentation of legal constraints. which was provided by some Member Boards. has been reviewed by National
Council legal counsel. The results of the legal review showed that circumstances differ for each state. Some states
must comply with the federal restriction on release of social security number. and some can release restricted
information with the consent of individual licensees. Recommendations from legal counsel included developing a
proposal for presentation to each MemberBoardadministratorand their legal counsel/Attorney General thatdescribes
the NIS. its potential uses. and options for Member Board participation.

Market Analysis
IncoUaborationwith theAmerican Nurses' Association(ANA)amarketanalysis was performed todeterminepotential
users of the NIS. the amount and types of NIS data desired. what use would be made of the data, and the current
frequency and cost of acquisition of nurse lists. This information will assist in detennining whether NIS-generated
income would be sufficient to support ongoing maintenance of the system.

A total of 1145 survey forms (see Attachment 1), mailed to 4700 groups{mdividuals. were completed and
returned. Of those returning the fonn and providing valid data. 590 (55%) indicated an interest in purchasing a
comprehensive list of nurses (RN and/or LPNNN) nationwide. The size of the list that respondents indicated they
would be interested in purchasing ranged between 1000· SOOO names (n=233) to more than 1 million names (n=26).
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Selection characteristics that respondents indicated would be most desirable in constructing a partial list of licensees
were: employment status (n=304), type of employment (n=368), practice area (n=510), and level of education
(n=55S). The desired data transmittal fonnat included all available possibilities (e.g., roster/printout, mailing labels,
electronic media--tape, floppy disk).

The purchased lists would be used by a variety ofusers for a variety of reasons (See Figures 1 through 7).
The most frequently identified uses were for research (n=386), staffrecruitment (n=318), and marketing products and
services (n=263).

The gross income that could be generated by marketing NIS infonnation was estimated using the following
procedure: 1) crosstabulatingprojected annual purchase size by averagecostoflists currently used; and 2) for all those
indicated a purchase frequency ranging between "weekly" and "biennially", using the midpoints of each size range
(e.g., 1000 - 5(00) and each cost range (e.g., $20 - $34/1000 names) identified. (Note: $10 was used for the <$20
response and $100 was used for the >$95 response.) The outcome ofthis procedureyielded a projected $1,368,275.50
annual income. This figure can only be used as a gross estimate because of several limitations. These limitations
include a) the use ofa variedpricing structure, b) no guarantee that the respondents would actually use the system, and
c) the respondent group probably does not include all potential users of the system.

Based on the above findings, the Committee detennined that income generated by the NIS appears to be
sufficient to maintain the system. The Committee would again like to emphasize that the Boards will not experience
a decrease in revenues due to releaseofNIS data by the National Council. The National Council's charge for data will
include the net profit a Board would receive for release ofthe same data, and that amount will be returned to the Board.

Future Plens
At its 1uly 1991 meeting, the NIS Committee reviewed the preliminary results of the NIS Feasibility Study. Based on
the outcomes of the pilot study and market survey, they concluded that the NIS is both technically and fmancially
feasible. However, responses to the Member Board survey indicated that some Boards may be able to provide only
a limited amountofinfonnation due to legaland/orpolicy constraints. Considering these findings, the Committee has
adopted a two-stage approach for NIS implementation:

Stage I: Develop contracts with each Member Board delineating the Board's participation in the NIS. Through
the contractnegotiation process, the Committee hopes to answerall questions Boards may still have regarding the
NIS, and to identify alternatives through which Boards may provide restricted infonnation. In addition, the
Committee will evaluate approaches that could be used to facilitate changes in federal laws restricting the use of
social security number.

Stage ll: Develop data collection and management systems and begin data collection. During this stage, the
National Council will establish infonnation management systems required to store, retrieve, and process licensee
data. The system will be used to obtain an unduplieated count ofRNs and LPNs/VNs, and provide a data source
for Member Boards and others interested in characteristics of the nurse population.

Through participation in the NIS, Boards will have the opportunity to contribute to the nursing profession by
helping to provide a count of all licensees and accurate information about the nursing resources of the nation. This
data will assist in decisions about state and federal funding for education programs, and will be the basis for health care
planning regarding nursing. In tum, some benefits Boards will receive from the NIS are:

• access to data on their own licensees that may not be currently collected.
• regional data on the supply of licensees and characteristics of those licensees.
• comparative data from other states and regions.
• option to have National Council fill requests for data and labels.
• link with the Disciplinary Database.
• back-up system for licensee data maintained by National Council
• options to collect and access data currently not included in umbrella agency's data system.

National Council o/State Boards o/Nursing, Inc./1992



6

Figure I. Data uses by researchers
(n-59)

Percent

120

100

10

60

20

o

S.I 1.7

Uses
_ a...ard,

o Aecrull SIGfI

~ Polley DeCI.'lon CJ aecrull WemZJ.,.

m:ml ),«.,"-1 S.,,,lco.

Figure 2. Data uses by government
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Figure 4. Dala usea by educallonal
programs (n o394)
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FIgure 7. Data uses by product servIce
companIes (n-73)
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Attachment 2

Questions and Answers on the Nurse Information System (NIS)

Q: What is the NIS?
A: The NIS will be a national database containing demographic information on all licensed nurses. It will provide
an Wlduplicated cOWlt of licensees, and be a resource on the characteristics of licensed nurses (e.g., employment status,
educational preparation, clinical specialty, etc.).

Q: Who is responsible for its development?
A: In 1986, the National Council BoardofDirectors charged the NIS Committee with the task ofstudying the need
for and use of a comprehensive national database on all licensed nurses, and, ifneeded, to determine the steps necessary
to create the system.

Q: How has the Delegate Assembly been involved?
A: In 1988, theDelegate Assembly approved the NIS Committee's recommendation that "NationalCouncilpursue
obtaining a grant or other outside funding to assist Member Boards in setting up a system to collect information from
licensees." It also approved the recommendation that "the committeecontinue to work with Member Boards to identify
data currently available in a computerized format for inclusion in a national information system."

Q: Has funding been received?
A: In November 1990. the National Council received a $1l16.772 grant from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation
in support of the NIS feasibility study. Funding for the study was also received from the Public Health Service'sDivision
of Nursing and the American Nurses' Association.

Q: What work has been completed to date?
A: The NIS feasibility study bas been completed, and the results showed that the NIS is both technically and
fmancially feasible. However. the results did not definitively answer questions on the availability ofNIS data. National
COWlcll is currently negotiating data collection agreements with the Member Boards to clearly determine what data will
be available for the NIS.

Q: Has the original purpose of the NIS project changed?
A: No. The original purpose of the NIS was to produce a national. unduplicated count of nurse licensees. and this
still holds true. In 1990. when funding was received to conduct the feasibility study, the Robert Wood Johnson
Foundation suggested that external funds would be available for implementation of the NIS but not for ongoing
maintenanceof the system. It was determined thatexpansionofthe NIS to include demographic datadescribing the nurse
population would enhance its marketability, thereby raising revenue to support ongoing maintenance.

Q: Is the NIS project related to national licensure?
A: Just as the implementation of a national nursing exanl did not lead to national licensure. the NIS project is in
no way related to national licensure. Some individuals have Iaised the concern that the NIS will lead to a system for
national licensure. but this is not the intention of the National Council or the Member Boards that have agreed to
participate in the database. With National Council developing and InaDaging the NIS. Member Boards will maintain
control over their licensee data and help to insure that the information is used in ways that will benefit the boards and
the nursing profession.

Q: How will boards benefit from the NIS?
A: The NIS will be a resource on licensee characteristics that will help Member Boards in their mission to protect
the public health. The NIS. with its link to the Disciplinary Data Bank, will assist Boards in detecting applicants for
endorsement who do not report previous licenses or disciplinary actions. Member Boards could choose to expand their
collection ofdata on licensees by using the NIS form provided by the National Council. The National Council could fill
requests for data and labels from state data sets. with royalties from these sales going directly to the Member Boards.
Some boards may see increased revenue from this ammgement, particularly if they have limited data on their own
systems. Member Boards could use the NIS to track the movement of licensees across borders. and would be able to
obtain comparative data from other states and regions.
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Q: How will NIS implementation be funded?
A: The 1988 Delegate Assembly directed the National Council to seek external funding to support NIS
implementation. The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, the major funder of the NIS feasibility study, has expressed
interest in reviewing a proposal for NIS implementation. Additional sources of funding are being explored.

Q: What costs will be involved in NIS participation?
A: The NIS Committee bas worked hard to identify ways to reduce the cost and workload for Member Boards as
they participate in the NIS. External funding will be obtained to assist Member Boards with the cost of collecting and
transferring data.

Q: How will the NIS acconunodate various Member Board data restrictions?
A: Some boards place restrictions on the uses of their licensee data, and these limitations can be explicitly stated
in the NIS contract. For example, a board could limit release of data to educational and research purposes.

Q: Explain the NIS contract.
A: The National Council established contracts for three reasons: 1) the contract delineates the data that a board
is able to contribute to the NIS; 2) the contract offers a Member Board the opportunity to maintain control over data
released for the NIS; and 3) responses to the contract will pennit the National Council to determine ifan adequate amount
of data is available for the NIS.

Q: Won't boards lose revenue if they currently charge a fee when releasing their own data?
A: No. Boards can opt to respond to all requests for data that they currently fill. National Council would be
available to supply data that the board is unable to provide (e.g., an unduplicated national or regional data set). In any
case, Member Boards can receive royalty payments whenever their data is released through the NIS and should not
experience a drop in revenue. In fact, it may be possible to recognize increased revenue once the NIS becomes a viable
program.

Q: How will National Council insure the confidentiality ofdata that boards don't want released to third parties?
A: One of the major goals of NIS implementation is to develop a security system to insure the confidentiality of
NIS data. The system will limit access to data within the National Council, so that only staff with the responsibility of
processing information will have access. Because some boards restrict the release of data to third parties, systems will
be set up to insure that boards can approve the requests for data that National Council receives.

Q: What are some uses for the NIS data?
A: The NIS will be the only national, unduplicated source ofinfonnation on nurse licensees. It will be an excellent
and unique sampling frame for the National Counciland others conducting research in areas of importance to the Member
Boards. State as well as federal government agencies could have access to the statistics they need to make decisions on
funding for existing education programs and the need for additional programs. The NIS will give health care planners
access to information on the geographical distribution of licensees that might lead to solutions to the nursing shortage
in certain areas.

Q: What is the likelihood of the NIS being implemented by a group other than the National Council?
A: In 1989, the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) sponsored a conference on nursing data
in response to a recommendation by the Secretary of Health and Human Services' Commission on Nursing. The
commission, charged with investigating the extent of the nursing shortage, recommended establishment of a data source
to assess nursing resources in relation to health planning and manpower. A significant outcome of the HRSA conference
was the consensus that the National Council was the logical organization to address the need for nurse manpower data.
Because of the great need for and interest in a databalie like the NIS, it is likely that another group will undertake it"
development if the National Council does not do so. As the developer of the NIS, the National Council will insure that
the Member Boards maintain control over licensee data compiled in the databa'ie, and that boards can benefit from the
system.
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Report of the Foreign Educated Nurse Credentialing
Committee

Background
The Foreign Nurse Issues Ad Hoc Committee was fonned in 1990 to study the multiple issues related to licensure of
foreign educated nurses. Based on the recommendations of this ad hoc committee, the Board adopted a motion to
establish the Foreign Educated Nurse Credentialing Committee (originally named "Committee on Foreign Nurse
Credentialing") for FY92 and possibly FY93. The charges to the committee were:

1. To conduct an assessmentofMemberBoards' needs for a central repository for infonnation about foreign RN and
LPN/LVN nursing education programs and/or a central service for collecting, maintaining and evaluating
credentials ofgraduates of foreign nursing education programs and, ifa need is identified, to follow through with
an investigation of existing agencies' service capabilities.

2. To develop criteria to guide evaluation of the comparability of foreign nursing education programs.

3. To investigate regulatory implications of the participation of foreign educated nurses in graduate nursing
programs in the U.S. in which they may be expected to perform clinical activities without supervision.

Meetings
The Foreign Educated Nurse Credentialing Committee met October 7-8,1991; January 13-14, 1992; and March 3-4,
1992.

Activities
A questionnaire was developed by the committee and sent to all Member Boards to gather data related to the charges.
The response rate was 83 percent with 51 Member Boards returning a questionnaire. Results of the survey and
subsequent activities will be reported as they relate to the above charges.

1. Analysis of the surveydatadetennined that the majority ofMember Boards reported aneed for a central repository
and evaluation services. Member Boards reported that annually 18,569 foreign educated RNs apply for initial
licensure and 4,372 foreign educated RNs apply for endorsement In regards to foreign educated LPN/LVNs,
3,669 apply for initial licensureand 793 apply for endorsementannually. These numbers are consideredan under­
estimation because some jurisdictions were unable to retrieve these data.

The majority of Member Boards reported they would use a central repository (n=34) and evaluation services
(n=37), if they were established. However, Member Boards indicated that use of these services would be
contingent on two critical factors: cost and comprehensiveness of data. Based on survey results, the committee
initiateda search for potentialproviders of these services. Apreliminary survey ofavailable services ofevaluation
agencies revealed that no oneagency currently provides the full rangeofservices which MemberBoards indicated
is needed.

2. The survey data pertaining to Member Boards' minimum curriculum requirements for approved nursing
education programs indicates there are very diverse criteria among the jurisdictions. As a result, the committee
concluded that establishment of a baseline set of academic criteria that would facilitate Member Boards'
evaluation of foreign educated nurses is not feasible. The committee has begun to draft "Guidelines for the
Evaluation ofForeign Educated Nurse QualificationsIt which describes a process for evaluating nursing education
programs to assist Member Boards.
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3. Survey results indicated that 55 Member Boards (89%) require both U.S. and foreign educated graduate nursing
students who panicipate in clinical activities to be licensed in either its jurisdiction or another National Council
jurisdiction. In terms of specific dilemmas reported by Member Boards regarding foreign educated graduate
nursing students, the majority (81 %) ofMember Boards stated there were no specific dilemmas. Member Boards
reporting dilemmas generally indicated their difficulties related to the processing and evaluation of credentials.
Only one Member Board reported having a dilemma related to requests to waive requirements.

Future Activities
In accordance with the recommendations of the Board, the committee will continue to gather information on the
availability of services. It will conduct a comprehensive investigation ofexisting evaluation agencies to determine
their capability ofproviding foreign educated nurse evaluation services to Member Boards. The survey will focus on:
(1) current capabilities of existing agencies, (2) evaluation of the quality of their services, and (3) the willingness of
agencies to expand their current services.

The committee also will fmalize "Guidelines for Evaluation of Foreign Educated Nurse Qualifications" to assist
Member Boards. The proposed guidelines will be distributed, for review, fmt to selected experts in the field and then
to Member Boards who have experience in evaluating credentials of foreign educated nurses. The guidelines will be
pilot tested to detennine their potential benefit to Member Boards.

Committee Members
Cynthia VanWingerden, VI, Area IV, Chair
Carmen Eoz, OH, Area n
Jean Penny, FL, Area ill
Pat Swann, GA-PN, Area ill
Harriett Wedgeworth Clark, CA-RN, Area I

Board Liaison
Shirley Brekken

Staff
Nancy Chornick, Research Associate
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Report of the Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation
Program (NACEP) Committee

Introduction
The Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program (NACEprM) Committee continued activities to oversee the ongoing
development and implementation of the NACEP. The NACEP is owned by the National Council and developed in
conjunction with The Psychological Corporation ('fPC) as the test service. NACEPis currently used in 22 states. NACEP
meets federal mandates for nursing home nurse aide and home h(~th aide competencyevaluation as required for services
covered by MedicareIMedicaid reimbursement.

Activities 1992

Meeting Dates
Reports and recommendations were submitted to the Board of Directors after each meeting of the NACEP Committee.

The committee met as follows:
• October 7-10, 1991, in Bloomingdale, Illinois
• February 10-11,1992, in San Antonio, Texas
• February 19,1992, telephone conference
• March 16, 1992, telephone conference
• April 6-7, 1992, in Chicago, Illinois

Final Rules Issued
The fmal rules for nurse aides employed as home health aides .and for nurse aides employed in long term care facilities
were issued in JUly 1991 and September 1991 respectively. The manual skills component of the NACEP was revised to
reflect changes in the final federal guidelines. A Task Development Panel met in January 1992 to develop new tasks
which were reconfigured with other federally required tasks. There are now 27 tasks which have been configured into
seven situations.

Passing Standard
A Standard Setting Panel met in March 1992 to recommend new passing standards for the written/oral and manual
components of the evaluation. The committee approved the recommended passing standards which were then presented
to the Board of Directors in May 1992. The Board approved the recommended passing standards.

Compliance with Final Rules
TPC and the committee worked successfully to assure compliance with the April I, 1992, deadline for compliance with
the final rules.

Security Issues
The administration of the evaluation and implementation of security measures were closely monitored. Security-related
incidents were thoroughly investigated and corrective mea<;ures were implemented.

Statistics
Item statistics and the results of the administration of the written/oral and mmlUal skills evaluation components were
carefUlly studied. Passing rates for the written/oral and manual skills component'i remained at the same level as the
preceding year.
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Communications
Member Boards were kept apprised of matters relating to NACEP on an ongoing basis via fact sbeets and updates
provided by the National Council. The Directory of Nurse Aide Registries was updated on a quarterly basis and
distributed to Member Boards and other interested agencies.

A quarterly publication, Insight: NACEP News & Issues. was introduced in the sununer of 1992 to provide information
regarding nurse aide regulation and other timely infonnation regarding nurse aide roles and responsibilities.

The NACEP Committee continued to promote the cooperation of constituent members and other organizations in oroer to
safeguard public health and welfare. Infonnation regarding federal legislation was distributed to Member Boards and other
interested organizations as it became available. Letters commenting on proposed changes have been and continue to be
forwarded to legislators and officials of the Health Care Fmancing Administration (HCFA). National Council staff has
maintained regularcommunication with representatives from HCFA to assure compliance with fmal federal regulations and
to provide input on proposed and final regulations.

A third national Conference on Nurse Aides/Assistants was held in Baltimore, Maryland. Representatives of HCFA
spoke to interested parties from state agencies and Member Boards regarding inteq>retation of the final rules relating to
nurse aide training, competency evaluation and the nurse aide registry.

Marketing
Marketing efforts focused on retention of states currently using the NACEP. In addition to renewing contracts with
several NACEP users, new contracts were established (Attachment A). A survey of NACEP users was conducted and
indicated overall satisfaction with the NACEP (Attachment B).

Other matters addressed by the committee included review of implementation and marketing reports; development of
a study guide for nurse aides and/or nurse aide educators; and increased home health aide marketing efforts.

Staff Changes
There were staffing changes for the NACEP: Barbara Halsey, the NACEP Program Manager, assumed the position of
CAT Project Manager in October 1991. Ellen Gleason, fonnerly the NCLEX Administrative Assistant, assumed the
position of NACEP Program Manager in December 1991.

Summary
The implementation of the NACEP has been facilitated by the issuance of final regulations for nurse aides in home health
and long tenn care settings. The concerted efforts of the Board of Directors, the NACEPCommittee, The Psychological
Corporation, National Council staff and user state agencies have produced and implemented an evaluation program
which is in full compliance with all federal regulations. Activities in this past year, have focused on the continued
development and enhancement of all aspects of the evaluation program, ensuring that it continues to be a reliable, valid
and secure evaluation. The program continues to be cost-effective and self-supporting.

Through the efforts of the Board ofDirectors, the NACEP Committee and National Council staff, NACEP continues to
promote public health and safety. The NACEP Committee would like to thank The Psychological Corporation for its
continued efforts in producing a legally defensible and psychometrically sound competency evaluation program and the
Board of Directors, staff and legal counsel of the National Council for their continued assistance and support

National Council ofState Board~ ofNursing, /nc.//992
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Committee Members
Sharon Weisenbeck, KY, Area III, Chair
Caroline Ace, PA, Area IV
Nelwyn Broussard, LA, Area III, Consultant
Sarah Greene-Burger, DC, Area IV, Consultant
Ted Day, WA, Area I, Consultant
Linda Fleming, CO, Area I
Etta Johnson-Foster, MD, Area IV
Janette Pucci, KS, Area II
Fran Roberts, AZ, Area I
Carol Ruby, NY, Area N, Consultant
Wanda Ryan, IL, Area II, Consultant
Mary Tyrrell, MN, Area II

Board Liaison
Shirley Brekken

Staff
Ellen Gleason, Program Manager, Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program
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Attachment A

N.ACEP USERS

District of Columbia
Co-op 1

Virgin Island 6

Co-op 3

New HampshIre
M uftl-provld er

ALASKA

CA Communlt
Colleges

Hybrid

Full Service Co-op 1 Co-op 2 Co-ap 3
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NATIONAL COUNCIL OF STATE BOARDS OF NURSING, INC.
NURSE AIDE COMPETENCY EVALUATION PROGRAM

APRIL 1992 USER STATE AGENCY SURVEY· CUMULATIVE RESULTS
N =1~J

SA A D SD Other*

1. The Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program 10 8 1
(NACEP) is a psychometrically sound and legally
defensible evaluation of nurse aide competence.

2. The NACEP written evaluation is a valid measure of the 5 13 1
knowledge, skills and abilities a nurse aide needs to
perform competently on the job.

3. The NACEP manual skills evaluation is a valid measure of 2 12 4 1
the knowledge, skills and abilities a nurse aide needs to
perform competently on the job.

4. NACEP meets all the legal requirements in this
jurisdiction:

a. for aides employed in long term care. 8 11

b. for aides employed in home health (when used
with the Home Health Aide Supplemental 6 10 3
Checklist).

c. for aides employed in acute care settings
(hospitals). 5 9 2 3

5. The quality of the NACEP as an evaluation of nurse aide 3 13 3
competence is high.

6. The contractual relationship between The Psychological 6 12 1
Corporation and this agency is satisfactory.

7. The test service provides accurate and necessary 5 13 1
information regarding the NACEP.

8. The test service answers inquiries from this agency in a 5 11 2 1
reasonable amount of time.

9. Evaluation materials from the test service arrive on time 4 13 2
at test sites.

SA = Strongly Agree
A = Agree
D = Disagree

SD = Strongly Disagree
·Other includes responses such as no answer given, not applicable, perhaps, etc.

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1992
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SA A D SD Other"

10. Candidates receive score reports within the time period 3 13 2
specified by your contract.

11. The state agency score reports have been received in a 2 12 5
timely manner.

12. Any implementation problems which occurred were 3 15 1
resolved satisfactorily with the test service.

13. NACEP security measures are effective. 7 10 2

14. Feedback on the NACEP from nurse aides has been 3 12 4
positive.

15. Feedback on the NACEP from facilities has been positive. 14 4 1

16. The application process is easy for candidates and 2 14 1 1 t
sponsors to compete.

17. NACEP is an effective evaluation for home health aides 1 15 3
(when used in conjunction with the Home Health Aide
Supplemental Checklist) as well as long term care aides.

18. The Nurse Aide Practice Test has been useful. 2 12 5

Yes No Other"

22. In your jurisdiction, are you currently using
NACEP to evaluate:

a. aides employed in long term care settings 18 0 1

b. aides employed in home health settings 11 7

c. aides employed in acute care (hospital)
settings 10 8

Very Low Med High Very
Low High

26. Overall, how satisfied is this agency with the Nurse Aide 1 6 9 3
Competency Evaluation Program (NACEP) offered by the
National Council of State Boards of Nursing and The
Psychological Corporation. Please respond on a scale of
1 to 5, with 1 indicating a very low level of satisfaction.

Responses to open-ended questions (19-21 and 23-25) are available upon request.
·Other includes responses such as no answer given, not applicable, perhaps, etc.

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1992
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NATIONAL COUNCIL OF STATE BOARDS OF NURSING, INC.
NURSE AIDE COMPETENCY EVALUATION PROGRAM

USER STATE AGENCY QUESTIONNAIRE
COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE RESULTS

1992 1991 7/90

1. The Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program 3.42 3.38 3.18
(NACEP) is a psychometrically sound and legally
defensible evaluation of nurse aide competence.

2. The NACEP written evaluation is a valid measure: 3.16 3.16 3.61
of the knowledge, skills and abilities a nurse aide
needs to perform competently on the job.

3. The NACEP manual skills evaluation is a valid 2.94 3.11 2.82
measure of the knowledge, skills and abilities a
nurse aide needs to perform competently on the
job.

4. NACEP meets all the legal requirements in this
jurisdiction:

a. for aides employed in long term care. 3.42 3.29 3.05

b. for aides employed in home health (when 3.38 3.08
used with the Home Health Aide
Supplemental Checklist).

c. for aides employed in acute care settings 3.19 2.91
(hospitals).

5. The quality of the NACEP as an evaluation of 3.00 3.17 2.94
nurse aide competence is high.

6. The contractual relationship between The 3.26 2.88 3.05
Psychological Corporation and this agency is
satisfactory.

7. The test service provides accurate and necessary 3.21 2.77 2.68
information regarding the NACEP.

8. The test service answers inquiries from this 3.17 2.83 3.00
agency in a reasonable amount of time.

9. Evaluation materials from the test service arrive 3.10 2.86 2.77
on time at test sites.

10. Candidates receive score reports within the time 3.05 233 2.05
period specified by your contract.

Averages calculated - highest possible score = 4.00, lowest possible score = 1.()(J

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.j1992
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1992 1991 7/90

11. The state agency score reports have been received 2.84 2.58 2.23
in a timely manner.

12. Any implementation problems which occurred 3.10 2.70 2.81
were resolved satisfactorily with the test service.

13. NACEP security measures are effective. 3.26 3.00 3.37

14. Feedback on the NACEP from nurse aides has 2.95 2.55 2.77
been positive.

15. Feedback on the NACEP from facilities has been 2.68 2.52 2.42
positive.

16. The application process is easy for candidates and 2.94 2.52 2.44
sponsors to complete.

17. NACEP is an effective evaluation for home health 3.06 2.91 2.23
~ (when used in conjunction with the Home
Health Aide Supplemental Checklist) as well as
lon~ term care aides.

18. The Nurse Aide Practice Test has been useful. 3.14 3.38 3.55

.Other includes responses such as no answer given, not applicable, perhaps, etc. This type ofresponse was not used
in calculating the results for questions 1 through 18.

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1992
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Annual Report of the NACEP Test Service

Introduction
This report provides a summary of The Psychological Corporation's activity with the Nurse Aide Competency
Evaluation Program (NACEP) ofthe National Council ofState Boards ofNursing Inc., from May 1991, through April
1992.

During that period, focus continued to be on test development, retaining current states, increasing market share, and
improving communication with state users. The report is divided into four major areas: PsychomeUic Support,
Statistical Data, Operations Issues, and Marketing.

Psychometric Support
The Psychological Corporation managed test development activity for both the written and manual skills evaluations
this year. We continued to examine test fonn reliability, item characteristics, and passing rates.

During this period, five new forms were developed for the NACEP Written Evaluation. To start that development
process, we reviewed and reclassified the item bank based on the new blueprint; inventoried and identified areas
needing new items; sponsored thedevelopmentofa new expanded blueprint; contracted with experienced item writers
to write new items; andreceived, edited,andprepared 145 items for item review. Next,ThePsychological Corporation
facilitated an Item Review Meeting at the National Council to review the new items, and then conducted a national
field test of those items. Acceptable field-tested items were added to the item bank, and the updated item bank was
used to construct five new written evaluation forms. Those forms were reviewed and approved by the NACEP
Committee. The first new written evaluation fonn was administered in May 1992.

The long-awaited final rule for Nurse Aide Training and Competency Evaluation from HCFA was published in the
Federal Register on September 26, 1991. In response, we revised the NACEP Manual Skills Evaluation to include
additional personal care sk:i11s and eliminated all tasks requiring the use of manikins. A new Manual Skills Task
Development Committee developed nine additional manual skills tasks based on the list of tasks proposed by the
NACEP Committee. They were presented to the NACEP Committee; and, based on discussion and input from the
NACEP nurse consultant, a number ofchanges were made prior to the assembly ofsituations (forms) for field testing.
The new tasks were field tested and then incorporated into seven new manual sk:i11s situations to comply with current
federal regulationsand the NACEPEvaluation Blueprint(effectiveMay 1992). The NACEPCommittee reviewedand
approved the new situations, and testing began in early April to meet federal timelines.

A meeting was held in March to determine a passing score for both the written and manual skills evaluations using the
modified Angoff technique. The results of this meeting were presented to both the NACEP Committee and the Board
of Directors to assist them in setting a recommended passing score for the NACEP.

Statistical Data
AttachmentApresents selected resultsofthe NACEP testadministrations processed March 1, 1991, through February
29,1992.

Table 1 displays information on the written/oral administration. A total of 40,768 administrations of the written or
oral evaluation were processed; the percentpassing was 96.8 percent. In states administering the evaluation to at least
100 candidates, the percent of candidates passing ranged from 89.7 percent to 99.7 percent The Psychological
Corporation uses a national monthly testing schedule in full service states.

National Council o/State Boards o/Nursing. /nc.l/992
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Tables 2 and 3 provide manual skills infonnation. A total of 3'7,743 manual skills evaluations were processed; the
percentpassing was 92.4 percenL In states administering the evaluation to at least 100candidates, the percentpassing
ranged from 65.9 percent to 98.3 percenL (This wide range of percent passing may be attributed to the amount of
training required in states; prior to OBRA, some states had no training requirements for nurse aides.) Table 3 details
the percent of candidates passing by task.

Table4 and Figures 1and 2 reflect selected demographic variables basedon self-reported infonnation. Eighty percent
ofthe candidates who were administered the written/oral evaluation indicateda levelofeducationofgrade 12orabove.
Thirty-four percent of the candidates who were administered the written/oral evaluation were minorities.

Operations Issues
Several measures were taken this past year to improve communication among state users, the National Council, and
The Psychological Corporation. Quality Assurance Surveys and state NACEP Anomaly Notices were developed and
implemented to communicate important infonnation to jurisdictions.

In May 1991, The Psychological Corporation initiated quality assurance surveys. Candidates at both manual and
written evaluation centers are randomly surveyed each quarter. In general the results of the surveys have been very
positive and indicate that candidates are satisfied with the application process, testing facilities, and the level of
difficulty of the tests. Results of these surveys have been shared with state users.

In July 1991, The Psychological Corporation introduced the state NACEP Anomaly Notice which is a summary ofall
irregularities in NACEP testing that occur in a state during a given month. This notice has improved communication
by keeping state program administrators better infonned about test administration problems occurring in their
jurisdictions.

In April 1992, it was decided to produce a quarterly summary ofthe anomaly notices. For theperiod ofJanuary-March
1992,eightofthe twenty-two states had no anomalies and four statesexperienced a single anomaly during the quarter.
Most of the anomalies reported were common ones (e.g., candidates arriving at test sites without tickets). Outofover
300 test administrations, one critical incident occurred. In April, an examiner reported that eleven written evaluation
booklets were taken from a testing room. The Psychological Corporation and the National Council investigated the
situation and developed several new security procedures (e.g., on-site visit if security break confirmed) to be
considered by the NACEP Committee.

Marketing
The NACEP experienced another year ofhigh success in retaining states. All but one of the NACEP states which had
contractexpiration dates between May of 1991 and April of 1992 have renewed orextended their agreements. As was
expected, the State of Dlinois implemented a state-developed nurse aide test and did not renew its contract with The
Psychological Corporation. Alabama, Alaska. Arizona, the District of Columbia. Idaho, Louisiana, Nevada, North
Dakota, Oregon, Rhode Island, South Carolina. South Dakota. Vennont, Virginia, the Virgin Islands, and Wyoming.
16 states in all, expressed their continued confidence in The Psychological Corporation by going forward with the
NACEP. Of those 16 states, only five: North Dakota, Rhode Island, Vennont, Virginia, and West Virginia issued
fonnal requests for proposals. We responded appropriately and were awarded new contracts in Rhode Island,
Vennont, Virginia, and West Virginia. In North Dakota, The Psychological Corporation was one of several vendors
approved by the State; however, the North Dakota Board of Nursing has continued to work exclusively with our
company in providing the full service NACEP.

While we endeavored to accomplish that client retention record, we also worked hard to win new contracts. Though
our proposals did not win in New York and Minnesota, we were successful in California. Working with the
Chancellor's Office of the California Community Colleges, the NACEP wiD be administered throughout the state
beginning in May 1992.

National Council o/State Boards o/Nursing,/nc.f1992
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The Co-op Service One, Two, and Three options, introduced last year, continue to work smoothly and offer marketing
flexibility. These delivery models allow state agencies a choice in the level of responsibility for the administration
of the NACEP while still maintaining the integrity of the program. The term "co-op" emphasizes the cooperative
rather than "turnkey" arrangement for testing services entered into by a state and ThePsychological Corporation. The
availability of the "co-op" options made it possible to respond quickly to the needs of California and put together an
attractive program. Alaska, Arizona, California, the District ofColumbia, Idaho, Louisiana, Maine, Nevada, Oregon,
Rhode Island, South Dakota, the Virgin Islands, and Wyoming, over half of the NACEP states, operate under a
cooperative option.

As stated in last year's repon, "Because of the quality of the evaluation instrument, the security ofadministration, and
the flexibility of service offered by The Psychological Corporation, states continue to show a high degree of interest
in the NACEP." We remain optimistic about the future growth of the program. Attachment B provides information
on nurse aide programs by contractor.

National Council ojState Boards ojNursing,/nc.l1992
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Attachment A

Table 1. NACEP Written/Oral Evaluation
Number Tested and Percent Passing by State
March 1. 1991 - February 29. 1992

Written/Oral Written OralQ

State Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent
Tested Passing Tested Passing Tested Passing

Alabama 3,067 93.6 2,994 94.6 73 53.4
Alaska 218 96.3 218 963 b b
Arizona 3,623 98.0 3.565 98.7 58 56.9
Colorado 3,408 97.8 3,332 98.5 76 65.8
Delaware 782 94.8 747 96.3 35 62.9
District of

Columbia 387 94.6 380 94.5 7 100.0
Idaho 1,749 993 1,739 99.4 10 70.0
Illinois 5,033 97.4 4,885 97.8 148 84.5
Louisiana 1,207 90.3 1,185 90.5 22 773
Maine 353 99.7 353 99.7 b b
Maryland 1,115 97.4 1,108 97.5 7 85.7
Nevada 811 98.6 804· 98.8 7 85.7
New Hampshire 528 99.4 528 99.4 b b
North Dakota 1,109 98.9 1,100 99.2 9 66.7
Oregon 3,249 98.9 3,212 99.1 37 81.1
South Carolina 3,220 89.7 3,119 91.0 101 49.5
South Dakota 1,231 98.9 1,223 99.0 8 75.0
Vermont 742 98.7 733 98.8 9 88.9
Virginia 5,676 97.0 5,622 97.2 54 79.6
Virgin Islands 44 88.6 44 88.6 b b
West Virginia 2,435 99.2 2,413 99.3 22 86.4
Wyoming 781 99.4 TI8 99.5 3 66.7

Total 40,768 96.8 40,082 97.2 686 69.4

a Includes Spanish
b No oral evaluations administered

Table prepared 5/11/92
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Table 2. NACEP Manual Skills
Number Tested and Percent Passing by State

Number Number Percent
State Tested Passing Passing

Alabama 3,560 3,386 95.1
Alaska 226 219 96.9
Arizona 2,099 2,008 95.7
Colorado 3,840 3,523 91.7
Delaware 961 846 88.0
District of Columbia 639 525 82.2
Illinois 4,919 4,648 94.5
Louisiana 1,387 914 65.9
Maine 372 338 90.9
Maryland 615 545 88.6
Nevada 1,167 1,099 94.2
New Hampshire 727 688 94.6
North Carolina 3 3 100.0
North Dakota 1,256 1,215 96.7
Oregon 3,433 3,205 93.4
South Carolina 3,260 2,982 91.5
South Dakota 1,456 1,365 93.8
Vermont 863 837 97.0
Virginia 6,053 5,618 92.8
Virgin Islands 11 11 100.0
Wyoming 896 881 98.3

Total 37,743 34,856 92.4

Note: Data reflects candidates tested from 3/1/91 through 2/29/92.

Table prepared 5/11/92
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Table 3. NACEP Manual Skills
Percent Passing by Task (In Descending Order)

Task

Lift and carry a box
Make an unoccupied bed
Make an occupied bed
Transfer resident from bed to chair
Give range-of-motion exercises to a knee and ankle
Brush the teeth
Position the call signal
Give a partial bath
Put on elastic stocking
Wash hands
The resident is choking: give abdominal thrusts
Apply a transfer belt and walk the resident to a chair
Reposition the resident in a wheelchair
Use Universal Precautions
Move and turn the helpless resident
Measure and record temperature, pulse and respirations
Give catheter care
Put on a vest restraint
Give perineal care

. .
Percent Passmg

97.2
96.2
94.5
93.8
91.5
89.8
89.8
89.0
88.3
88.2
85.1
81.5
792
78.8
76.3
58.2
58.2
52.5
52.5

• Total N = 37,743. Data reflects candidates tested from 3/1/91 through 2/29/92.

The following tasks were not tested during this period:
Feed the resident
Walk the resident
Measure and record blood pressure
Measure and record height and weight

Table prepared 5/11/92
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Table 4. NACEP Written/Oral Evaluation
Number and Percent of Candidates Tested by Selected Variablea

March 1. 1991 - February 29, 1992
Candidates Tested

Variable
Number Percent

~
Female 34,080 88.8
Male 4,315 11.2

Highest Level of Education
Grade 7 or less 210 0.5
Grade 8 578 1.5
Grade 9 1,101 2.9
Grade 10 2,233 5.8
Grade 11 3,467 9.0
High School 27,198 70.8
Two years' college 2,502 6.5
Four years' college 1,148 3.0

Native Lanlmage
English 37,245 97.0
Other 1,153 3.0

Ethnicity
American Indian 920 2.5
Asian American 462 1.2
Black 9,181 24.5
Hispanic 1,524 4.1
Other 549 1.5
White 24,856 66.3

Experience
Less than 6 months 15,939 48.2
6 months - 1 year 5,499 16.6

1 - 2 years 2,896 8.8
2 - 3 years 1,727 5.2

3 - 5 years 2,079 6.3

5 years or more 4,916 14.9

a Number of candidates is based on those responding to questions and includes first-time test takers
only. Information is self-reported. Missing information is not included in the calculation of
percentages.

Table prepared 5/11/92
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Figure 1. NACEP Written/Oral Evaluation
Percent Tested by Level of Education

Grade 12
71%

20%

College
g%

Note: Data reflects candidates tested from 3/1/91 through 2/'lB/92. Number of candidates is
based on those responding to questions and includes flfst-time test takers only. Information
is self-reported. Missing information is Ilot included in the calculation of percentages.

Chart prepared 5/11/92
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Figure 2. NACEP Written/Oral Evaluation
Percent Tested by Ethnicity

66%

Other
9%

Note: Data renects candidates tested from 3/1/91 through 2/2i3/92. Number of candidates is
based on those responding to questions and includes first-time test takers only. Information
is self-reported. Missing information is not included in the calculation of percentages.

Chart prepared 5/11/92
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Attachment 8

LIST OF NURSE AIDE PROGRAMS BY CONTRACfOR

The Psychological Educational Testing Service Multiple Provider
Corporation

Hawaii California
Alabama Michigan Indiana
Alaska Oklahoma Louisiana
Arizona Pennsylvania Mississippi
Colorado New Hampshire
Delaware Assessment Systems, Inc North Carolina
District of Columbia
Idaho Connecticut Other
Maine Massachusetts
Maryland Minnesota Florida
Nevada New Jersey Georgia
North Dakota New York Illinois
Oregon New Mexico Iowa
Rhode Island Ohio Kansas
South Carolina Texas Kentucky
South Dakota Washington Missouri
Vermont Montana
Virginia Health Care Training Nebraska
Virgin Islands Corporation or Arkansas Tennessee
West Virginia Utah
Wyoming Arkansas Wisconsin

National Council of State Boards of Nursing. /nc.j1992
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Report of the Bylaws Committee

Recommendation
The committee recommends the consideration of the two proposed amendments to the bylaws as presented in
Attachment A of this report

Meeting Dates
The committee met one time, October 5-7,1991, and held one telephone conference calion April 27, 1992.

Activities
The specific activities of the Bylaws Committee were as follows:

1. Participated in the National Council's Fall Planning Retreat held in Bloomingdale, Illinois.

2. Reviewed the National Council's bylaws for potential changes.

3. Reviewed all proposed bylaw amendments submitted by Member Boards and committees.

4. Prepared the proposed amendments to the bylaws for presentation to the 1992 Delegate Assembly.

Committee Members
Libby Lund, TN, Area III, Chair
A. Frank Caron, CO, Area I (through January 1992)
Timothy McBrady, ME, Area IV
William Polaski, PA, Area IV
Mildred "Mickey" Wade, NY, Area I (March 1992-present)
Christine Zambricki, MI, Area IT

Staff
Vickie R. Sheets, Director for Public Policy, Nursing Practice and Education

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992
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CUlTentBylaw Proposed Bylaw
Amendment

Rationale Bylaws Committee
Recommendation

1. Bylaws Amendment proposed by the Oregon State Board' of Nursing

Article V Officers

B. Qualifications. Add new section
B.6. Any candidate
for the Director-at­
Large position shall
be a board member
of a Member Board.

State Boards of
Nursing have board
members and public
members who are, in
the majority of
states, appointed by
the governor to
represent the public,
and have Executive
Directors who serve
at the pleasure of
the board. The
current trend in
which the National
Council Board of
Directors is
overwhelmingly
composed of
executive directors is
an unbalanced mix
and does not
accurately reflect the
appointed decision­
makers of each
state.

The Bylaws Committee
does not recommend this
proposed change.
Bylaws Committee
members noted that
proposals to "earmark"
particular offices have
been suggested in the
past, but these proposals
have not passed. The
trend at the last
Delegate Assembly was
to open up the candidate
pool for the presidency.
The Bylaws Committee
is reluctant to limit the
pool of candidates for
any officer position. The
committee acknowledges
that the make-up of the
Board of Directors has
been primarily executive
directors or board staff
members, but does not
agree that targeting an
office would improve the
balance. HistoricallY,
Member Board members
have run very well in
National Council
elections. The challenge
has been to fmd
individuals who are able
to make the time
commitment, on top of
their employment and
state board
responsibilities, to serve
on the National Council
Board. The Bylaws
Committee is also
concerned that having a
targeted office might
even discourage Member
Board members from
running for other offices.

National Council of State Boards 0/ Nursing, Inc.j1992
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Current Bylaw Proposed Bylaw
Amendment

Rationale Bylaws Committee
Recommendation

2. Bylaws Amendment proposed by the Administration of Examination Committee

Article X Committees

D.2.f. establish dates
for the
administration of the
examinations.

Delete. Examination dates
have been approved
by the Delegate
Assembly through
the year 2001, and
the Administration
of Examination
Committee (AEC) is
proposing additional
dates for 2002 to the
1992 Delegate
Assembly. AEC
recommends
deletion of this item
from the list of AEC
duties because, with
the upcoming
implementation of
computerized
adaptive testing
(CAT), setting
further dates for
paper-and-pencil
examinations would
be futile.

The Bylaws Committee
does not recommend this
proposed change. The
bylaws language reads
simply "establish dates
for the administration of
examination,· it does not
indicate that this must be
done now for many years
in the future. The
members of the Bylaws
Committee believe that
having dates established
through 2001 has met
the requirements of the
current bylaw, and
suggest that a change in
the AEC policies and
procedures may
accomplish AEC's
immediate goal without
the need for a bylaws
amendment.

The Bylaws Committee
suggests that a complete
review of the bylaws for
changes that are needed
for the implementation
of CAT, including the
suggestion to delete
Article X section 0.2.£.,
should be completed
with the input of several
groups, including
representatives from the
Administration of
Examination Committee.
the Examination
Committee and the
Bylaws Committee. This
type of comprehensive
review by several groups
working together would
assist in the
identification and

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc/1992
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Bylaws Committee
Recommendation

implementation of all
necessary CAT changes
together. The Bylaws
Committee requests a
joint meeting at the 1992
Fall Retreat to perform
this review.
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Report of the Administration of Examination
Committee

Recommendations
1. The committee recommends the following dates for tht~ year 2002 administration of the NCLEX: RN, February

5-6 (T-W), July 9-10 (T-W); and PN, April 10 (W), October 16 (W).

2. The committee recommends the following alternate dates for the year 2002 administration of the NCLEX: RN,
March 12-13 (T-W), September 10-11 (T-W); PN, May 8 (W), November 13 (W).

3. The committee recommends the Delegate Assembly approve the following policy/statements for Modifications
to the Examination for Candidates with Disabilities: It is the policy ofthe National Council to cooperate with
Member Boards in providing appropriate examination modifications for disabled NCLEX candidates whom
Member Boards deem eligible for licensure. The National Council will do so by designing and approving
procedures which ensure that such modifications are psychometrically sound and safeguard the fairness and
security of the testing process for all candidates. Presented in Attachment A is the policy statement and
procedures for your infonnation.

Introduction
The Administration of Examination Committee (AEC) is charged with maintaining the security of the licensure
examinations (NQ.EX-RN and NCLEX-PN) and assuring that Member Boards are in compliance with all designated
security measures.

Activities
The committee held meetings on October 7-8,1991, and Mar(:h 11-12, 1992. Conference calls were held on October
18, 1991; January 27, 1992; February 3, 1992; February 19, 1992; and May 7, 1992.

Candidates with Disabilities
The committee reviewed and ratified National Council staff authorizations for modifications issued to 185 candidates
with disabilities for the NCLEX-RN 791,292 and NCLEX-PN 091, 492. Conditions included: 136Iearning/reading
disabilities, 17 visual disabilities, nine physical disabilities, and seven hearing disabilities. Extended time was granted
to 162 candidates; readers were granted to 42 candidates; recorders were granted to nine candidates; large print exams
were granted to three candidates; black and white booklets were granted to one candidate; and aids were granted for 11
candidates.

Research on modifications for candidates with disabilities continued. The committee reviewed data obtained from
surveys of candidates who sat for the NCLEX-RN 791,292 and NCLEX-PN 091, 492. Forty-five complete data sets
(Member Board, candidate and candidate's nursing program) were obtained from a possible 133. Since a larger database
is necessary, data will continue to be collected from candidates who request modifications on future examinations.

With the passage of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and accompanying regulations, the committee held
extensive discussions of how this law would affect administration of the NCLEX examinations and what modifications
would be necessary to the policy and procedures for modifications to the NCLEX examinations. A draft policy on
modifications to the NCLEX for candidates with disabilities was approved by the National Council Board of Directors,
to be used until the meeting of the 1992 Delegate Assembly. This policy, its accompanying request form, and information
on the ADA was presented to Member Boards through the Newsletter and at Area Meetings and will be presented at a
forum during the 1992 Annual Meeting.
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Failure Candidate Reviews
Sixty-eight requests for failure candidate reviews were authorized by National Council staff. These were reviewed and
ratified by the committee. A failure candidate challenged one item on the NCLEX-RN 791 exam, but the item was upheld
as valid by the Board of Directors.

Security Measures
The current status ofsecurity measures and procedures to implement security measures were reviewed by the committee.
Ail Member Boards whose procedures to implement security measures had not been revised in the past three years were
asked to submit updated versions for review by the committee. In all, thirty-four setsofprocedures to implement security
measures were requested. Twenty sets of procedures to implement security measures were received, two were approved
and eighteen are pending.

The committee reviewed a report on the administration of the NCLEX-PN in Germany by the Delaware Board of
Nursing. No unusual incidents were reported.

Site Visits
Representatives of the committee made site visits to the NCLEX administration site in Puerto Rico for the NCLEX-RN
791 and NCLEX-RN 292. Reports of the site visits were reviewed by the committee.

National Council staff observed the administration of NCLEX-PN 492 in Michigan. A report of the site visit will be
reviewed by the Administration of Examination Committee at its next meeting.

Representatives of the committee will observe at selected sites for the Computerized Adaptive Testing PN Field Tests
in October 1992.

Examination Administration Concerns
Reports ofproblems with examinations and scoring and tracking reports for NCLEX-RN 791. 292 and NCLEX·PN 091,
492 were reviewed and appropriate actions taken.

The committee discussed a continued increase in late test booklet orders and its implications for the implementation of
the crisis management pian. Member Boards with a history of late test booklet orders received letters expressing concern
and explaining the fonnula for estimating the number of test booklets needed.

The committee discussed concerns from a Member Board regarding a candidate who altered her results to the NCLEX­
PN491 to indicate that she had passed the exam. Use ofa screened areawith the word "NCLEX" covering thebackground
of the results makes it more difficult to alter its appearance. This safeguard was put in place beginning with the NCLEX­
RN 292 exam.

The committee discussed the potential for including a candidateconfidentialityagreement on the cover of the test booklet
to help deter candidates who report questions on the examination back to review courses for use by future candidates.
This issue will continue to be discussed. especially in relation to computerized adaptive testing. In the interim, additional
infonnation regarding the confidentiality of test items will be added to the candidate brochure at its next revision.

The committee reviewed the status of English-as-a-Second-L:mguage (ESL) research. Test booklet covers were
modified to include questions for ESL research beginning with the NCLEX-RN 292.

The committee discussed concerns of a Member Board regarding the readabilily of the test booklets. The committee
adopted a motion to change from transoptic paper to retlective paper. This will allow improved readability and cleaner
erasures, thus decreasing the number of b<xlklets pulled for unnt~cessary handscoring.

The committee approved new tesl administration agencies for two Member Board.;.

The committee recommended to Ule Board of Direclors that a leller of concern be sent to a Member Board regarding a
misplaced test txlOklet.
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The members of the committee wish to thank the Board ofDireetors and Delegate Assembly for the opportunity to serve
the National Council and Member Boards in this manner.
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Board Liaison
Jean Caron

Staff
Jodi L. Borger, NCLEX Administrative Assistant
Nancy J. Miller, NCLEX Program Manager
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Attachment A
EA11
National Council of State Boards of Nursing Policy for Requesting Testing Modifications
for Candidates with Disabilities

It is the policy of the National Council to cooperate with Member Boards in providing appropriate examination
modifications for disabled NCLEX candidates whom Member Boards deem eligible for licensure. The National Council
will do so by designing and approving procedures which ensun: that such modifications are psychometrically sound and
safeguard the fairness and security of the testing process for all candidates.

Procedures for Requesting Testing Modifications

1. The Board of Nursing shall determine what modifi<:ations in testing materials or procedures the candidate
requires and shall submit its official request on document EAllb to the National Council. Requests must be
communicated to the National Council by the date established as the Member Board's examination application
deadline.

2. The request, as submitted on document EAllb, shall contain the following:

a) candidate's name
b) date of examination to be modified
c) diagnosis of candidate's disability
d) specific modifications requested by candidate

3. Attached to the request shall be a form signed by an authorized representative of the Member Board attesting
that provisions have been made to assure the following:

(i) Identification and admission of candidatl~ in conformance with security measures, Section V.B.

(ii) Distribution, collection, monitoring, and inventorying of examination materials in accordance
with security measures, Section V.

(iii) If requested, assignment ofa trained *reader, selected and approved by the Board. The reader may
serve as the examiner/proctor, but shall not assist candidate in identifying the correct responses. The
reader and the candidate shall each be issued a separate test booklet and the reader shall read the test
verbatim, e.g., "mg" not as "milligram" and! "COt not "carbon dioxide."

(iv) Ifrequested, assignment ofa *recorder (scribe), selected and approved by the Board. Therecorder
may serve a<; the reader and/or the examiner/proctor. The recorder shall not assist the candidate in
identifying the correct responses.

(v) Ifrequested or if the modification requires seating in a separate room (see note below), assignment
of an examiner to perform examiner duties for the candidate in conformance with security measures,
Section IV. It is mandatory that an examiner or proctor be with the candidate at all times.

(vi) Prevention of communication between the candidate and other candidates if either party has
completed a part of the examination not yet completed by the other.

(vii) Veri lication on the compliance report (EA8) that securi ty of the examination material and process
wa<; maintained, and thaI only modifications approved by the National Council were implemented.

• Readers and recorders shall meet all the examination team requirements in conformance with the security measures. Section IV.
Note: In the event that a modification involving verbalization by the candidate or an assigned individual is requested. the candidate
must also be seated in a separate room in order to avoid disturbance of other candidates.
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4. Candidates whose only modification is the use ofa separate room may be approved at the discretion ofthe Board
of Nursing (without National Council approval). This constitutes the establishment of a new site; as with all
sites, a separate compliance report (BA8) must be submitted following the examination administration.

Candidates whose only modification is the use of aids such as magnifying glasses, rulers, non-programmable
calculators, or assistive animals (e.g., seeing eye dogs) may be approved at the discretion of the BoardofNursing
(without National Council approval).

5. The following list indicates types of documentation Member Boards may wish to review for candidates
requesting modifications:

a) letter from an appropriate medical professional:

(i) confmning the disability, and
(ii) providing information as to what accommodations are required;

b) letter from candidate's nursing progrmn, indicating what modifications, ifany, were granted
by the program.

6. The National Council shall respond in writing to the Member Board regarding approval of the testing
modifications requested by the Member Board. The costs of approved modifications to materials (large-print
booklets, etc.) and modifications to procedures (separate room, reader, recorder, etc.) shall be borne by the
Member Board.

Approved Administration ofExamination Conunitlee . 2/lY/92
Approved Board ofDirectors - 2/22/92
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EA11b
Request for Testing Modifications for Disabled NCLEX Candidates

Please note: Requestsfor ,nodifications must be communicaud to the National Council by the date established as the
Member Board's examination application deadline.

Candidate Name: _

ConfIrmed Diagnosis of Candidate Disability:

Exam Date: _

Has candidate previously taken NCLEX using the same modifications requested herein?

___YES (for which examination(s)? _

Has candidate previously taken the NCLEX without modifications?

___YES (for which examination(s)? _

Modifications Requested:

__NO

___ NO

Directions: An authorized representative ofthe Member Board should complete and sign this form and attach it to the
request for testing modifications.

I, the undersigned, hereby certify that:

1) The Board of Nursing (or designee) detennined (candidate name) to be
qualified for testing modifications, and that the Board has NOT detennined as of this date that this candidate
is deemed ineligible for licensure.

2) The Board of Nursing is familiar with current National Council policy and procedure for testing modifications
and has determined that the requested modifications are in accord with the intent expressed in the policy
statement and with the specifIc requirements set forth in the procedure.

3) The Board of Nursing assures that the administration provisions (as set forth in the procedures) will be made
when implementing the specific testing modifications requested.

4) Please check all documentation reviewed by the Board prior to this action: (Please attach a copy of any
documents that specifically describe the nature of the: modifications requested to assist the National Council in
designing appmpriate materials/prOCedures.)

___ letter from candidate requesting modifications

---letter of diagnosis from appropriate medical professional

___ letter from nursing program indicating need for modifications and what modifications, if any, they
granted

___ other/specify:

Signature: _

Title: . _

Jurisdiction: _ Date: _
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Report of the Examination Committee

Introduction
The Examination Committee is charged with all aspects of the development of the National Council Licensure
Examinations (NCLEX-RN and NCLEX-PN). This includes: adopting the final examination forms, evaluating the [mal

statistics, monitoring research and disseminating information related to the examinations to Member Boards and other
interested parties.

The committee's activities will be presented within tlle framework of the National Council's Operational Plan.

Activities
The committee met in Bloomingdale, Illinois, on October 5-8, 1991; at ern on October 9-11,1991; December 9-13,
1991; March 30 - April 12, 1992; and June 15-19, 1992. Conference calls were held January 14,1992, and February 11,
1992.

Goal I. Develop, promote and provide relevant and innovative services.

Objective A: Develop licensure examinations that are based upon current accepted psychometric principles and
legal considerations.

1. Adopted real and tryout items for NCLEX-PN 492 and 092 and for NCLEX-RN 792 and 293.

2. Evaluated item writing and panel of content experts sessions for process and productivity.

3. Made appointments to tlle NCLEX test development panels, inclUding the Bias Sensitivity Review
Panel (BSRP).

4. Approved revised Guidelines for NCLEX-PN Item Writers.

5. Monitored the work of tlle BSRP: reviewed all items flagged by the panel as having facial bias or
culturally bound material, revised policies and procedures related to the panel, and revised the
orientation manual.

6. RespondedtoacandidatechallengeofoneitemonNCLEX-RN791. Afterreviewofthedocumentation
in tlle nursing literature and tlle conclusions of tlle expert nursing panels during the test development
process, the committee reported to tlle Board ofDirectors tllat tlle item challenged was a valid test item
and that tlle answer keyed as correct was tlle only correct answer. The item functioned as a
psychometrically sound and valid item.

7. Reviewed RN and PN items that were designatedby Member Boardsas inconsistent witll state statutes.

8. Responded to routine correspondence addressing specific NCLEX items from Member Boards and
candidates.

9. Reviewed tlle routine research report,; that are generated following each examination. These include:
preliminary and final statistical reports, ethnicity/gender reports, and person-fit reports.
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10. Reviewed a report on ''non-standard'' candidates taking the PN examination. A memo was sent to
Member Boards reminding them to correctly use program codes for RN educated candidates taking
the PN examination, as well as equivalency candidates.

11. Changed the name of the panel of content experts to item reviewers effective after the 1992 Delegate
Assembly.

12. Reviewed the PN dimensionality study and found the results to be similar to the ones found in the RN
study. There was evidence of statistical multidimensionality, however, this has no practical
significance on the examination.

13. Received computerized adaptive testing (CAT) updates at each meeting, including review of the CAT
Master Plan.

Objective B: Establish policies and procedures for the licensing examinations in nursing.

1. Made revisions to examination policies which included:

a. adding a section related to the BSRP,

b. expanding the section related to the panel of judges,

c. expanding information related to item statistics,

d. determining that Mantel-Haenszel (M-H) analysis be done only on real items based on the
triangulation studies done by CTB,

e. developing a "floating" criteria for the determination of items as acceptable which have
distractors with positive point-biserials,

f. changing the lower boundary of item p-values to .10 from .30 for inclusion in the CAT item
pool,

g. determining that after four-year-old NCLEX items have been reviewed by a panel ofcontent
experts and revalidated in two current sources, they can be returned to the item pool without
further study,

h. determining that casebound RN items may be rewritten into individual items without content
change and proceed directly into the item pool without further study. (PN items will be
discussed at the June meeting.)

2. Developed guidelines for an acceptable CAT item pool.

Objective C: Provide consultative services for National Council members, groups, agencies, and individuals
regarding the safe and effective practice of nursing.

1. Developed the program agenda for the Educational Forum that will be presented on August 18, 1992.
from 1:00 p.m. - 2:30 p.m., prior to the Delegate Assembly.
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Report of the Communications Committee

Meeting Dates
The Communications Committee met October 7-8, 1991; January 27-28, 1992; and April 9-10, 1992.

Committee Activity
The Communications Committee began its work at the October Fall Planning Retreat, helping to fonnulate and guide
National Council's communications efforts. For the purpose of this report, committee activities are organized into two
sections: 1) communications, and 2) meeting planning.

Communications

Communications Plan
The committee fmalized the communications plan for consideration by the Board of Directors; it was approved during
the Board's October meeting and is included as Attachment A. A review of the operational plan revealed that
communications-related activities were interspersed throughout, listed under various goals, objectives and strategies.
Duplication of communications activities occurred in the document, and their chaotic placement tended to make it
difficult to conduct an effective evaluation of communications activities, thereby diffusing the realization of their
collective impact on the organization. With this in mind and in light of the results of the recent trend analysis, the
committee agreed to recommend change to the operational plan by adding a goal and related objectives that are dedicated
to communications. As a result, the Communications Committee provided the Long Range Planning Committee with
a recommendation to include the Board-approved communicalions goal and related three objectives as part of National
Council's operational plan.

Input regarding the priority of strategies on the communications plan was requested and received from the Board of
Directors. Using this input, the committee again reviewed each communications activity to determine its current status
and identified those activities for which work should be minimally begun and hopefully completed by October 1992. The
committee routinely reviewed the status of all communications activities at each of its meetings in order to properly
monitor progress.

Newsletter
The comminee surveyed Member Boards and reviewed the results regarding the National Council Newsletter. Based
on the results, the comminee agreed that the Newsletter is meeting its intended purpose and the needs of its readers.
Therefore, no change was recommended for this publication at this time.

Exhibiting
The committee concurred that all exhibiting should be done under the National Council umbrella, so that the National
Council and its projects (e.g., CAT, CST) receive the greatest benefit for the dollars invested. With the budget allowing
for three exhibiting opportunities, the committee suggested that the National Council exhibit at the American Nurses'
Association (ANA), the National Student Nurses' Association (NSNA), and the third location to be one that assists the
efforts of the CATEducation Information Terun. During the past year, within the Communications Committee approved
budget, the National Council exhibiled al ANA, NSNA, and the: American Association ofColleges of Nursing (AACN).

Authorship Policy
Recognizing thai a policy does nol exisl regarding authorship by National Council commiltee members of articles
regarding National Council projects and/or activilies, the Board of Directors requesled during its December 1991
meeting that the Communications Commillee review the matter and submit a recommendation to the Board for
consideration at its February meeting. The commillee concurred with the Board's concern and developed a policy for
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consideration by the Board. The following recommended policy was reviewed and revised by legal counsel, and adopted
by the Board at its February 1992 meeting:

In an effort to ensure accuracy ofinformation being published, the National Council ofState Boards ofNursing
requires thal articles for publication in media other than National Council publications or Member Board
newsletters, written by individuals who serve as National Council volunteers, contractual vendors, or staff
regarding National Council activities and projects contain one of the following statements, as determined
following review by the National Council:
1. The opinions expressedherein are those ofthe authorandare notthose ofthe National CouncilofState

Boards ofNursing.
2. The National Council ofState Boards ofNursing confirms the accuracy ofthe facts presented in this

article; the opinions and conclusions expresst'd are those ofthe author(s).
3. The conclusions andpositions stated in this article are consistent with those ofthe National Council

ofState Boards ofNursing.

This policy now appears on National Council's Committee Volunteer Information Form and Confidentiality Agreement
Form, and is effective for all National Council volunteers, contractual vendors and staff.

Chicago Review Press (CRP)
The committee continued to monitor and enforce CRP's contract compliance. The committee was pleased to note via
correspondence from CRP that it had a successful experience in exhibiting at the National Student Nurses' Association
meeting held in Chicago in November 1991. The letter indicated that seven percent of the attendees purchased a review
book on site. CRP noted that the average expected return on such an event is three percent.

Orientation Materials
The committee discussed the development ofprinted materials targeting internal and external audiences for the purpose
of orientation to the National Council. The committee agreed that not only did printed materials need to be developed,
but an orientation program needed to be designed. The committee decided to assist by developing a plan that outlines
procedures andlorprotocols to be taken in the event ofa newly hin~d executive director, newly appointed board member,
board staff, and others, as appropriate.

The committee also discussed the possibledevelopmentofa preceptorprogram. The committee agreed thatdevelopment
of an orientation program should proceed in three stages: 1) development of printed materials; 2) identification of an
orientation process, which may incorporate a type of preceptor program through the Resource Network; and 3) specific
educational experiences for executive directors, board members and staff. This year, the committee provided staff with
an outlined direction for printed materials and decided to focus its October 1992 meeting on developing an orientation
process for consideration by the Board of Directors.

Meeting Planning

Annual Meeting
Acting on the resolution adopted by the 1991 Delegate Assembly that requested a three-day annual meeting, the Board
of Directors approved a three-day annual meeting schedule, beginning in 1993. The Communications Committee used
the three-day schedule as aguide in developing the annual meeting schedule for 1992. Attendee evaluations and existing
hotel contractual constraints were also considered. In keeping with the Board's decision to change the meeting pattern
to Thursday through Sunday in response to attendee requests for possible Saturday night stays, negotiations were entered
with the hotel to enable the 1992 meeting to be conducted Tuesday through Saturday (August 18-22, 1992) rather than
the originally contracted Monday through Friday pattern. Additionally, the recommended schedule incorporated:
1. the Board's request to allow time for the presentation of CAT vendor proposals;
2. the addition of a follow-up networking session to replace an evening social (which responds to attendee

evaluations' overwhelming requests to increase informal networking time and eliminate the National Council
off-property social event); and

3. the trial ofconcurrent educational sessions scheduled prior to the start of the business meeting (which responds
to attendee evaluations' requests to conduct educational sessions outside of the business meeting and to offer
more opportunity for dialogue on prevailing topics).
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In discussing the decision to eliminate the National Council off-property social event, the committee agreed that, in lieu
of a planned social event in 1992, registrants should be provided with information that focuses on tourist and travel
opportunities in the Colorado Springs area.

The committee recognized that the trial of concurrent educational sessions is a new direction for the National Council.
Development of the idea was created from attendee evaluations which indicated a desire for education, a need for
continuing education units, a plea for more opportunity to dialogue, and a request that educational sessions be conducted
outside of the business meeting. The committee designed a three-track program and mailed a Call for Papers to the
membership. Six papers were selected by the committee for presentation at the 1992 annual meeting. Attendee
evaluations will be reviewed prior to making plans for 1993.

Awards
At its July 1991 meeting, the Board of Directors requested that the Communications Committee review National
Council's awards program. The committee reviewed the awards program of other organizations and agreed that the
National Council needed to redesign its awards program to promote consistency ofinformation, to identify clear criteria.
and to encourage fairness of volume of information submitted. The committee worked to revise the nomination forms
ofNational Council's current awards, with revisions to begin in 1993. Its recommended revisions were approved by the
Board at its February 1992 meeting.

The call for nominations for the 1992 R. Louise McManus Award was distributed to all Member Boards, with received
nominations provided directly to the Board of Directors for selection.

Regulatory Conference
The committee reviewed the evaluations of the 1991 Regulatory Conference and agreed that the National Council must
remain the source for information regarding regulation for nursing. The continuation ofeducational programs/seminars!
conferences was considered by the committee to be imperative. Ideas for more effective programs were explored,
offering programs pre- or post-Area Meetings among them. The Communications Committee recommended to the
Board that the 1993 Regulatory Conference notbe conducted in its usual fashion, but rather, it be scheduled as an optional
day of dialogue on regulatory issues in conjunction with the 1993 Area Meetings. This recommendation was approved
by the Board at its February 1992 meeting.

These regional regulatory conferences would be tailored to Area-specific regulatory issues and presented byexperts who are
directly involved with Member Boards, Le., tapping the expertise of Member Boanl staff and board members. A call for
papers would be utilized in the same fashion as done for the annual meeting's newly-planned 1992 educational sessions.

Ample creative dialogue and networking time would be scheduled with one or two regional issues addressed in the
morning, a more national or global regulatory issue discussed during lunch, and one more regional issue tackled in the
early afternoon. Smaller, regional attendance would facilitate more open dialogue and problem-solving discussions.
This is consistent with written commenl\) submitted by those attending National Council's Regulatory Conference and!
or an educational session at the annual meeting.

As a service to Member Boards, this program could be offered at little or no cost to attendees, other than what is needed
to pay for food, beverage and minimal presenter expenses. This one-day meeting would be optional and would eliminate
additional travel expenses for those already planning to attend their Area Meetings. It would require only one additional
night's stay.

The Communication., Committee plans to evaluale nol only the success of the regional regulatory conferences, but also
review attendee evaluations from the 1992 educational sessions and CAT workshops to a\)SiSI in developing future
recommendations regarding educational programming.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, lnc/1992



4

Committee Members
Judi Crume. AL. Area m, Chair
Elaine August, WI. Area II (through February 1992)
Joyce Boone. CA-RN, Area I
Ronald S. Ellis, NY, Area IV
Faith Fields. AR, Area III
Margaret Howard, NJ. Area IV

Board Liaison
Susan Boots

Staff
Susan Woodward, Director ofCommunications
Susan Davids. Manager ofMeetings and Convention Services

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992



5
Attachment A

COMMUNICATIONS PLAN
Presented to and Approved bythe Board of Directors

October 22,1991

National Council Mission Statement
The mission of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing is to promote public policy related to the safe and effective
practice of nursing in the interest of public welfare. It strives to accomplish this mission by acting in accordance with the
decisions of its member boards of nursing on matters of common interest and concern affecting public health, safety and
welfare. To accomplish its aims, the National Council provides services and guidance to its members in performing their
functions which regulate entry to nursing practice, continuing safe nursing practice and nursing education programs.

Communications Goal
The communications goal for the National Council of State Boards of Nursing is to be recognized by all audiences as the
prime source of information and expertise regarding the regulation of nursing practice and education.

(Communications encompasses all possible interactions between an organization and its audiences, both internal and
external. The scope of communications spans development, marketing and delivery of communications vehicles and
activities.)

Communications Objectives
1) To establish communications which facilitate a responsive exchange between external and internal audiences.

2) To enhance the National Council image and credibility through utilization of a variety of professional communications
vehicles.

3) To create and seek communications opportunities that promote, inform and educate on issues regarding the
regulation of nursing practice and education.

Note: The Board o/Directors approved the communications goal and three objectives at its spring. 1991. meeting.

Objective #1: To establish communications which facilitate a responsive exchange
between external and lmernal audiences.

STRATEGIES

Maximize flow of communications
with professional nursing
organizations.

ACTIVITIES

Ensure mail list includes address of all professional
nursing organizations.

Seek opportunities to showcase National Council
activities and experts.

Explore exhibiting opponunities and costs.

Expand utilization of newsreleases and fact sheets.

Capitalize on Emerging Issues.

Create opponunities for focus groups.
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STRATEGIES

Enhance existing fonnal
communications network between
the National Council and Member
Boards.

Develop a fonnal communications
structure to improve committee-to­
committee communication.

Detennine more effective
communications pathways to ensure
dissemination of information to
internal and external audiences.

Promote participation in National
Council's awards program.

Effectively communicate crises
infonnation to Member Boards and
appropriate audiences.

Improve methods of infonnation
dissemination for annual meeting.

ACTIVITIES

Evaluate effectiveness of Newsletter and revise as
needed.

Promote role modeling and mentoring through the
promotion of the Resource Network.

Evaluate purpose/effe<:tiveness of Area meetings and
make appropriate rec:ommendations.

Promote the use of NCNET.

Continue to implement and evaluate identified
methods of disttibuting infonnation about the
National Council and regulatory trends.

Explore alternative routes of communication:
... publish Committee Communique
... consider attendance exchange of committee

members at committee meetings
... seek open dialogue with Long Range Planning

Committee

Develop orientation materials for committee chairs.

Survey Member Boards.

Talk with Area Directors.

Recommend dialogue at Area meetings regarding how
to better communicate to all audiences.

Develop a system to evaluate National Council
publications.

Identify means of sharing infonnation with interested
comsumer groups.

Review awards program and nomination criteria and
develop recommendations for Board consideration.

Develop a communications crises plan of action.

Evaluate purpose/need/use of Book of Reports.

Explore new avenues of on-site communication with
delegates during annual meeting.

Update and organize mail list by target audiences.

Streamline annual meeting schedule to maximize time
and promote information exchange.

Review evaluations on educational programs at annual
meeting and propose programs, as appropriate.

National Cowacil ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992



7
Objective '2: To enhancethe National Council Imageand credibility through utilization ofavariety of

professional communications vehicles.

STRATEGIES

Provide greater sophistication of
communication vehicles.

Enhance National Council image and
credibility through communications
effort.

ACTIVITIES

Identify variables affecting cost of communications and
make appropriate recommendations to the Board, with
accompanying budget adjustments.

Explore high-tech communications (e.g., computer
networks, videoconferencing, videotape, etc.)

Evaluate effectivene-ss of videoprojection at annual
meeting.

Analyze fee waiver policy.

Evaluate effectiveness of Regulatory Conference and
make appropriate recommendations.

Explore possibility of expanding Resource Network
concept to external audiences.

Evaluate benefits of exhibiting.

Consider development of revenue-producing
educational/informational seminars or programs.

Objective '3: To create and seekcommunicationsopportunitiesthat promote, Inform and educateon
Issues regarding the regulation of nursing practice and regulation.

STRATEGIES

Promote information exchange
among members to enhance
opportunity to utilize common
approaches where possible and
illuminate diversity where it exists.

Promote information exchange and
education among educational
consultants and educators.

ACTIVITIES

Promote NCNET for licensure verification and
disciplinary data bank usage.

Develop and make available a resource file of surveys
to be shared with Member Boards.

Continue Research Forum during annual meeting.

Promote use of Resource Network.

Investigate means of and desire for support to
educational consultants.

Evaluate current communication vehicles used to
reach educators, and revise or add as needed.

Explore possibility of greater direct communication
from the National Council to educators.

Develop a telephone directory of educational
consultants.

Consider addition of small interest group meeting for
educational consultants during annual meeting.

National Council ofState Boards ofNlUsing, Inc.l1992
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STRATEGIES

Provide orientation and infonnation
sufficient to keep new and continuing
members and staff of Member Boards
up-to-date on current issues within
the purview of the National Council.

Capitalize on cost-effective
communications that offer
alternatives to fmancially restricted
audiences.

ACTIVITIES

Review National Council orientation materials!
process.

Seek input from Member Boards regarding
effectiveness of current communication vehicles and
needs.

Evaluate need for on-site information and education
during the annual meeting.

Explore possibility of hosting regional meetings.

Develop and promote use of NCNET bulletin board.

Determine feasibility of videotaping conferences,
educational forums, and other selected meetings.

Explore feasibility of publishing and selling meeting
proceedings, speeches and monographs.

Nalional COlUlCil ofStale Boards ofNursing, /nc.l1992
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Report of the Nursing Practice and Education
Committee

Recommendations
The Nursing Practice and Education Committee (NP&E) recommends that the Delegate Assembly:

1. Adopt the Joint Statement on Nursing Shortage prepared in collaboration with the American Nurses'
Association and the National Federation of Licensed Practical Nurses, Inc., (Attachment D).

2. Direct NP&E to monitor Member Board positions regarding entry into practice and report back to the Delegate
Assembly every two years. NP&Ehas been reporting annua1lyregarding entry intopracticepositions. This year,
a statement of the position taken by responding boards and the year adopted have been incorporated into the
report. Only one state has reported taking a formal position since 1988. NP&E suggests that the topic can be
adequately monitored by collecting and reporting data on entry into practice every two years with the major
Member Board survey profIle.

The reports of the Subcommittee to Study Regulatory Models for Chemically Dependent Nurses and the Subcommiuee
to Study the Regulation of Advanced Nursing Practice are also addenda to this report and will be considered as
independent reports. NP&E supports the recommendations of the Subcommittee to Study the Regulation of Advanced
Nursing Practice.

The NP&E Committee also supports endorsement of Nursing's Agenda for Health Care Reform.

Meeting Dates
The committee met three times: October 5-9, 1991; January 30-31 and February 1, 1992; and March 13-15, 1992. The
committee also held two conference calls, on May 5 and May 15, 1992. The committee continues to follow the Delegate
Assembly direction to bring update reports on entry into practice (see Attachment A) and continued competence (see
Attachment B). At the direction of the Board of Directors, the committee surveyed National Council committees and
othernursing organizations regarding the potential regulatory implicationsofNursing's AgendaforHealth Care Reform.
The responses are summarized, along with feedback obtaiDl~ from Member Boards in 1991, in Attachment C.

Activities
The committee accomplished the following activities:

1. Reviewed and commented on reports from the Subcommittee to Study Regulatory Models for Chemically
Dependent Nurses and the Subcommittee to Study the Regulation of Advanced Nursing Practice.

2. Reviewed and analyzed data from entry into practice, continued competence, and Nursing's Agendafor Health
Care Reform surveys for general trends and presentation in the Book ofRepons.

3. Reviewed and made suggestions for revisions and additions to the Member Board Profile Survey, e.g.,
articulation issues.

4. As part of ongoing work on continued competence, began planning methods to collect data regarding
assessment of continued competence for the purpose of developing a guide for assessment.

5. Received reports from committeemembers who attended the National Organizationfor Competency Assurance
(NOCA) meeting.
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6. Met with Anna Bersky, Computerized Clinical Simulation Project Director, to discuss the possible uses of CS'I
in the areas of continued competence and discipline.

7. Developed questionnaire regarding individual nurse's approaches to maintaining continued competence for
distribution at 1992 Delegate Assembly.

8. Met with Tom Abrams, attorney with Vedder, Price, Kaufman & Kammholz, to discuss the requirements of the
Americans with Disabilities Act and the implications for nursing practice.

9. Reviewed and approved a planned survey regarding disabled examination candidates and licensed nurses.

10. Reviewed Arizona State Board of Nursing survey data regarding mv testing issues; developed a survey
insttument regarding additional mVIHVB/AIDS issues and will publish the survey results in the National
Council's Newsletter.

11. Met with Melanie Neal, Nursing Information System (NlS) Project Manager, to receive information regarding
the project and to discuss the ability of the Disciplinary Data Bank to access NIS data, particularly regarding
all states in which a nurse is licensed.

12. Continued to review information relating to the National Council's Disciplinary Data Bank and make
recommendations to staff regarding the conversion of the database and its outputs.

13. Identified topics and articles for inclusion in the nursing practice and education edition of Issues, which will
be pUblished this smnmer.

Committee Members
Tom Neumann, WI, Area II, Chair
Nancy Cook, NC, Area III (August 1991 to February 1,1992)
Tina Delapp, AK, Area I
Julia Gould, GA-RN, Area III
Barbara Hatcher, DC, Area IV
Sr. Teresa Harris, NJ, Area IV
Betty Hunt, NC, Area III (March 1991 to present)

Board Liaison
Judie Ritter

Staff
Vickie R. Sheets, Director for Public Policy, Nursing Practice and Education
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Attachment A

Entry into Practice Report

In 1986, the Delegate Assembly of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc., directed the Nursing Practice
andEducation Committee to prepare a yearly update report on entry into practice to the Delegate Assembly. In the winter
of 1988, the committee circulated the extensive questionnaire developed in 1986 by the Entry into Practice Report
Committee (as revised in 1987 by the Nursing Practice and Education Committee) and requested Member Boards to
update the information ifchanges had occurred since 1987. Tbe 1988 Delegate Assembly further directed that entry into
practice data be collected as a routine part of the National Council data collection for yearly review by the Nursing
Practice and Education Committee.

Results
Fifty-nine Member Boards responded to the entry into practice update questionnaire and reported the following results:
• Twenty-four Member Boards of the 59 responding have laken a fonnal position on entry. No states reported

taking a formal position since the update report presented to the 1991 Delegate Assembly.
• NoMember Boards reported new activity relative to independentor collaborative activity tostudyorimplement

the profession's goal of two levels of nursing education with two new titles and distinct scopes of practice.
• Thirty Member Boards reported the authority to implement changes to educational requirements for entry into

nursing.

See Table Jand Table JJ

Table I. Member Boards with Entry into Practice Positions.
40

30

20

10

o
Yes (0=24)

Alaska
Colorado
Connecticut
Idaho
DUnois
Maine
Michigan
Minnesota
Missis..ippi
Missouri
Montana
North Carolina
North Dakota
Northern Mariana bland.•
Nevada
New York
Oklahoma
South Carolina

South Dakota
Texa.. - RN
Texa.. - VN
Washingtoo - RN
We..t Virginia - RN
Wyoming

No (0=35)

Alabama
Arkan..as
Arizona
Cal.ifomia - RN
Califomia - VN
District of Columbia - RN
Delaware
A(](ida
Georgia - RN
Georgia.PN
Hawaii
Iowa
Indiana
Kansa..
Kentucky
Louisiana - RN
Louisiana· PN
Maryland

MassachlL.etU
Nebra..ka
New Hamp..hire
New Jersey
New Mexico
Ohio
Oregon
Pennsylvania
Puerto Rico
Rhode I..land
Tennes..ee
Utah
Vennont
Virginia
Wa..hington - PN
West Virginia - PN
Wisconsin
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TABLE II. MEMBER BOARD RESPONSE TO ENTRY INTO PRACflCE QUESTIONS
ON 1992 MEMBER BOARD SURVEY

,______, ,_ ,.... ~.,.," ..•. ,_·_",,",.. _···~.· __ 5._'_' _'._"~._'_""_.~

State Has Board Pos i t ion taken Date position' Is Board Is Board Board has statutory
edopted a was taken considering against authority to implement
fo,..l taking a taking a changes j n educ,
position? formal position? forma l pos it i on'? requirements?

-,-~._--_._-~.,_._-~-,.<

AIC YES 2 LEVELS OF ENTRY: 11/01/87 YES NO YES
TECHN ICAL IlURSf WITH ADN
AND PROFESSIONAL NURSE
WITH8SN

AL NO NO YES NO

AR NO NO NO NO

AS

AI NO NO YES YES

eARN NO NO NO NO

CAW NO NO NO NO

CM YES ADN AS MINIMUM ENTRY YES NO YES
INTO PRACTICE
REQUIREMENT, BUT NOT BSN
FOR REASON THAT OUR
ISLAND HAS NOT BEEN ABLE
TO MEET THE DEJWID FOR
RNs (EVEN ADN RNs)

CO YES NO POSITION 01/01/89 UNICNOloIN

CT YES SUPPORT ALL LEVELS 11/16/88 NO NO NO

DC NO NO NO YES

DE NO NO YES YES

FL NO NO NO YES

GAPN NO YES NO YES

GARN NO NO YES YES

HI NO YES NO YES

IA NO NO NO NO

10 YES BOARD'S POSITION IS 08/01/85 DNA DNA YES
CONSISTENT WITH THE
POSITION OF THE ICCNE
THAT VAS TAICEN IN 1975

IL YES NEUTRALITY 01/01/87 DNA DNA NO

IN NO NO NO NO

ICS NO NO NO NO

ICY NO NO YES NO

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc/1992



TABLE II. MEMBER BOARD RESPONSE TO ENTRY INTO PRACflCE QUESTIONS
ON 1992 MEMBER. BOARD SURVEY

5

State Has Board Position taken Date position Is Board Is Board Board has statutory
adopted a was taken considering against authority to implement
fonnal taking a taking a changes in educ.
position? fonnal position? fo,..l posi tion? requirements?

lAPN NO NO YES YES

LARN NO NO NO YES

MA NO NO YES YES

tI) NO NO YES YES

ME YES SUPPORTI NG AlIA PROPOSAL 08/01/85 NO

MI YES THE BOARD HAS ADOPTED A 03/01/88 DNA DNA NO
POSITION STATEMENT ON
THEIR VIEW OF E.I.P. NOT
ON INITIATING
lEGISLATIVE CHANGE.
"THE BOARD SUPPORTS A
MODIFICATION OF THE
lICENSURE STRUCTURE FOR
RNs TO DIFFERENTIATE THE
lEVELS OF EDUCATIONAL
PREPARATION FOR E.I.P.

MN YES NEUTRALITY 02/03/84 DNA DNA NO

NO YES NEUTRALITY 01/01/85 YES

MS YES NEUTRALITY 11/12186 NO
SUPPORT THE ADN AND BSN

AS MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS
FOR ENTRY

MT YES NEUTRALITY 02101/85 DNA DNA NO

Ne YES NEUTRALITY 05/01/86 NO

ND YES AD-LPN, BSN-RN MINIMUM 01/01/87 YES
REQUIREMENTS ALREADY
IMPLEMENTED

NE NO NO NO NO

NH NO NO NO YES

NJ NO YES NO YES

NM NO NO YES YES

NV YES 09/18/86 YES

NY YES SUPPORT ENTRY 01/10/86 DNA DNA NO

OH NO NO NO YES

OK YES 01/01/87 DNA DNA NO

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, /nc//992



6

TABLE II. MEMBER BOARD RESPONSE TO ENTRY INTO PRACflCE QUESTIONS
ON 1992 MEMBER BOARD SURVEY

---,~,-,~"-,-----,_._,,~,~,,,,--,,-

State Has Board Position taken Date position Is Board Is Board Board has statutory
adopted a was taken cons ideri ng against authority to implement
fonnal taking a taking a changes in edl!c,
position? fonnal position? formal position? requirements?

_._o<..,__= __.__·.~~_""

OR NO YES DNA 1010

PA NO NO YES NO

PR NO COMMONWEALTH ALREADY HAS NO NO NO
SEPARATE TEST fOR BSN.
AD NURSE AND LP NURSE

RI NO YES NO YES

SC YES ACCEPTED A MASTER PLAN 01/01/87 NO NO YES
CALLING fOR 2 LEVELS Of
NURSING - ADN. BSN BY
1995

SO YES SUPPORT THE ADN AND BSN 07/01/84 YES
AS MINIMAL REQUIREMENTS
fOR ENTRY INTO PRACTICE

TN NO NO NO YES

TXRN YES LIST Of BELIEfS THAT 01/01/89 NO
GIVE GUIDANCE IN ACTIONS
SHOULD LEGISLATION
AffECTING THE TITLING
AND OR LICENSURE Of RNs
(PRESENT OR fUTURE).

TXVN YES POSITION Of NEUTRALITY 05/01/87 DNA DNA NO

UT NO NO NO NO

VA NO NO NO NO

VT NO NO YES NO

WAPN NO NO YES YES

WARN YES NEUTRALITY 01/01/85 YES

WI NO NO YES YES

WPN NO NO NO NO

WVRN YES SUPPORT BSN fOR ENTRY 01/01/84 YES
INTO PRACTI CE

YES NEUTRALITY 11/01/86 YES
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Attachment B

Continued Competence Update Report

In 1986, the Delegate Assembly of the National Council of State Boards ofNursing, Inc., directed Nursing Practice and
Education Committee to monitor the use of Continued Competence Mechanisms by boards of nursing and to present a
yearly update report to the Delegate Assembly. The 1987 Delegate Assembly further directed the Nursing Practice and
Education Committee to monitor the inclusion, into Nursing Practice Acts, of the requirement of peer review as a
mechanism for measuring continued competence. Subsequently, the 1988Delegate Assembly directed that information
about continued competence mechanisms be collected as a routine part of National Council data collection for yearly
review by the Nursing Practice and Education Committee.

Results of Data Collected 1992
Sixty Member Boards responded to the questionnaire. The tabulated data resulted in the following:
• No Member Boards reported the use of peer review or client review;
• Twenty-seven Member Boards reported the use of continuing education mechanisms;
• Twenty-fourMember Boards reported the use ofperiodic refreshercourses, with various conditions, for reentry

into active practice after a prolonged absence from practice;
• Three Member Boards reported the use of a competency examination; and
• Twenty-one Member Boards reported the used of a minimum practice requirement for renewal of license.
The three most often used mechanisms are still continuing education, refresher courses, and a practice requirement.

See Table Ill.
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Table III. Continued Competency Mechanisms
---------------------,..---------------_._-_ ..._--

,- ..~
Peer Review • American S3lOOa Competency Examination

1. Louisiana PN & RN
2. Tcus RN & VN
3. Georgia PN & RN
4. Washington RN only

Periodic Refresher Course

1. Califocnia RN & VN
2. Tcus RN & VN
3. OrcJOn Nurse Practitioners ooly
4. Louilil\llll RN 001Y

-Northern Mariana Islands

- Puerto Rico

Continuing Education
--------------------+------------------_._-

1. Georgia RN only.A 2T,~VNo""

~o~o ~o~Q

• Americ;JD Samo;)

Client Review Minimum Practice Requirements

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992
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Attachment C

Summary of Responses Regarding Nursing's Agenda
for Health Care Reform

Nursing'sAgenda/orHealth CareRe/orm (Agenda)has been a collaborative effortofseveral majornursing organizations.
The Agenda calls for a "core of care" to be available to everyone. fmanced through an integration of public and private
plans and sources. The Agenda calls for planned change, identifies steps toward reducing health care costs and the use
of case management as well as insurance reforms. Access to care would be guaranteed. and emphasis is placed on
delivery of primary health care in community-based settings. A consumer focus fosters individual responsibility for
personal health. self-care and informed decision-making in selecting health care services.

In July 1991. Member Boards were mailed a copy of the Agenda and asked to review it for regulatory implications. in
the event that the Agenda is implemented. Boards were asked to considerpotential implications in the areas listed below.
and to indicate whether it wa" anticipated whether or not their board would support the Agenda. Thirty-three Member
Boards submitted feedback forms.

Responses Regarding the Regulatory Implications of the Major Agenda Concepts
Key:
NorYes - Indicates number of boards identifying regulatory impact for the particular concept.
YRI - Rank order of concepts by boards which indicated YES for Regulatory Implications
NRI - Rank order of concepts by boards which indicated NO for Regulatory Implications
Areas of Concern fQr Regulatory Im[!act
SOP - Scope of Nursing Practice
IND - Independent Nursing Practice
ADV - Advanced Nursing Practice
DIS - Discipline
BWL - Board Workload
OTH - Other Concerns

Response to Major Concepts
Delivery of primary health services to households and individuals in convenient familiar places

No-9 Yes-21
NRI - #9 YRI - #2
Order of concerns: SOP - 18

IND - 17
ADV -15
BWL -11
DIS - 9
OTH-2

Conswner focus
No 16 Yes-14
NRI - #4 YRI - #5
Order of concerns: DIS -7

BWL-7
IND-4
SOP-3
ADV -3
OTH -I

National Council o/State Boards o/Nursing,lnc.l1992
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Shift emphasis from illness/cure to wellness/care
No-I9 Yes 10
NRI - #2 YRI - #7
Order of concerns: IND - 9

SOP-8
ADV-7
DIS - 3
BWL- 3
OTH -I

Universal access to care by a range of qualified health professionals
No-I8 Yes-1O
NRI • #3 YRI - #7
Order of concerns: IND - 6

ADV-5
SOP-4
OTH-4
DIS - 2
BWL-2

Direct third party reimbursement (to nurses)
No-I5 Yes-I5
NRI - #5 YRI - #4
Order of concerns: ADV - 13

IND- 8
OTH-4
SOP-3
DIS - 3
BWL-I

Decentralized delivery system
No - 13 Yes - 17
NRI - #7 YRI - #3
Order of concerns: SOP - 11

IND-9
DIS -9
BWL-7
ADV·6
OTH-I

Emphasis on health promotion activities
No - 21 Yes - 9
NRI - # I YRI - #8
Order of concerns: SOP - 7

BWL-6
IND- 5
ADV-3
DIS - I
OTH-I

National Council o/State Boards o/Nursing, lnc.l1992
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Increased access to care by a range of qualified health professionals
No - 11 Yes - 17
NRI - #8 YRI - #3
Order of concerns: ADV - 12

SOP - 11
IND - 10
BWL-8
DIS - 6
OTH-2

Development of multidisciplinary clinical practice guidelines
No - 6 Yes - 23
NRI - #10 YRI - #1
Order of concerns: SOP - 18

ADV -14
BWL-13
IND - 10
DIS - 8
OTH-3

Establishment of statellocal review bodies to determine n~source allocation, cost reduction approaches, allowable
insurance premiums and fair/consistent provider reimbursement

No-15 Yes-13
NRI - #5 YRI - #6
Order of concerns: BWL - 5

SOP-4
OTH-4
ADV-3
IND-2
DIS - 1

Case management link fmancing of health care to the delivery of services (nurse as one of variety of case managers)
No - 21 Yes - 15
NRI - #6 YRI - #4
Order of concerns: SOP - 11

IND-9
ADV-9
BWL-8
DIS -6
OTH-l

Responses regarding anticipated board support for the Agenda

Yes - 17 ( includes one "yes in concept")
No-4
Undecided or no response - 12

Comments
One board described the Agenda a~ a major step forward for nursing. Another board respondent noted that it is positive
that nursing is being proactive. One board stated the need for reform and for a'\suring the role of nursing. Another
commented that any health care reform would involve the utilization of licensed nurses, therefore, impact regulatory
agencies. One board indicated that its broad definition ofnursing already allowed the activities described. but saw a need
for the board to preserve and enhance delivery of primary care. The strong consumer emphasis was supported by one
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board. While two boards noted that more explanation was needed, another commented "it is so broad, wbo wouldn't
support it?"

One respondent described the Agenda as very theoretical, making it difficult to attempt to measure potential regulatory
impact

Several boards noted that the Agenda does not directly pertain to regulation, that it is more in the arena of professional
associations. One respondent noted that, while supporting the Agenda personally, she did not believe it was the board's
role to support. Another board, noting that the Agenda does not fall in the regulatory role, dermed the regulatory role
as monitoring the progress of implementation and being prepared to make any needed changes.

Analysis
The response of theMember Boards to the survey was mixed. Theresponse rate forrelUroing the feedback form was lower
than most National Council surveys (n =33, or 53%). Seventeen boards indicated that support for the agenda was
anticipated (51 % ofrespondents). Only four boards indicated they did notanticipate support (12% of sample), bowever,
a significant number of boards either did not respond to the question, indicated they could not predict, or stated flatly
that it was not in the regulatory role (33% of sample).

Interestingly, many of those wbo supported the document did not identify regulatory implications of the Agenda, while
those wbo did not support identified potential regulatory implications. Concepts relating to access of bealth care were
the highest ranked for regulatory implications. Respondents noted scope ofpractice, independent practice and advanced
practice as the areas wbicb would be affected.

National Council Committees Responses

Bylaws Committee
No direct effect on Bylaws Committee work. There is always the possibility for new or changed National Council
activities requiring amendment to the bylaws.

Finance Committee
Each of the structural units [within the National Council] would need to identify the impact [ofNursing's Agenda for
Health Care Reform] and resulting activities for each of them. They would then need to determine any additional budget
requests or adjustments. After this bas been done by all of the committee and other structural units, the Fmance
Committee would review the fiscal requests and make recommendations to the Board of Directors.

Foreign Educated Nursing Credentialing Committee
No direct impact on the committee's current charges; bowever, an indirect impact was identified. The proposed
Nursing's Agendafor Health Care Reform would directly impact on the philosophy ofnursing education with resulting
changes in nursing education. Cbanges in nursing education would ultimately affect the evaluation of foreign educated
nurses. Regulatory implications discussed by members included changes in the focus of the test plan, cbanges in the
pbilosopby of nursing education, and cbanges in regulatory policy with a resulting refocusing of policy and regulation
to meet societal needs.

Long Range Planning Committee
The Agenda would affect the Long Range Planning Commiuee only as it influences trends that affect Member Boards,
causing the committee to evaluate the goals, objectives and mission of the National Council. The committee does not
anticipate supporting the Agenda; this is not within the scope of the committee.

Committee on Nominations
As for impact on the Committee on Nominations, I see the Agenda baving a positive effect on the profession as a wbole,
wbicb could result in an increased involvement of qualified nurses with the boards of nursing, resulting in an expanded
pool of qualified candidates available for nomination to the National Council Board of Directors and committees.
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Subcommittee to Study the Regulations of Advanced Nursing Practice
Almost everything in the Agenda impacts advanced practice. As roles and numbers increase, the work of boards of
nursing will increase. The National Council and its Member Boards should be concerned with the Agenda to the extent
that it may impact aspects of the health, safety and welfare of the citizens. The role of the National Council should be
to monitor the progress of the Agenda and to keep Member Boards informed, but not to take a position in relation to the
Agenda.

Nurse Information System (NIS) Committee
The Agenda, with its central concepts of increased access to basic care delivered as primary health services by a range
of qualified health care professionals, is an innovative concept that will most probably restructure both the American
health care system and the nursing profession as we know it.. How can nursing advocate this reform without current,
accurate data on available "nursepower"? The mission of the NIS Conunittee to determine an unduplicated count of
American nurses becomes pivotal. The NIS Conunittee is the one National Council group critical to determining the
feasibility of the Agenda. To date, there is no comprehensive database that provides information about the number
distribution, educational level and practice qualifications of licensed nurses. TheNIS will accomplish this, while helping
to forecast the areas of need for educational program planning.

Nursing Practice and Education (NP&E) Committee
NP&E members believe that the Agenda bas great potential for atlecting the issues that this conunittee addresses, and
that NP&E might become involved in developing guidelines to assist boards with dealing with regulatory implications
of the Agenda The conunittee discussed the potential impact on discipline, indicating that increased autonomy in
community settings would make it harder to define and identify incompetence. Increao;ingly, consumers would be the
reporters and they would need to be aware of the regulatory resoun:es to assist them. The possibility of a second level
exam was discussed, and the need to educate the public and other health care workers that "a nurse is a nurse is a nurse"
is not valid. Boards and employers need to deal consistently with clear definitions and guidelines. Emphasis on
cognitively based teaching, prioritizing and referral skills are needed as well as technical skills. The conunittee also
discussed scope of practice and concern regarding delegation issues. Are there adequate numbers to provide access to
all? What are the implications when there are not (e.g., school nurse situations where nurse-student ratio impossible)?
Without adequate numbers of competent nurses, abuse of delegation occurs. Nursing education needs to include
delegation in basic education and continuing education. Access to health care will be promoted through increased
utilization of advanced nursing practice.

Survey of Nursing Organizations
Nursing organizations were asked to respond to a survey regarding the potential regulatory implications of four major
topics reflected in Nursing's Agendafor Health Care Reform. Those topics were scope ofpractice, independent nursing
practice, advanced nursing practice, and discipline. There W~Lo; not a high response rate among the nursing organizations.
Nine national nursing organizations responded. Seven of them are listed as having endorsed the Agenda. They are the
American Association of Colleges of Nursing, the American Association of Occupation Health Nurses, the American
Nephrology Nurses Association, the American Psychiatric Nurses Association, the Dermatology Nurses Association,
the National Association of School Nurses, Inc., and the Oncology Nursing Society. Other respondents were the
American Organization of Nurse Executives and the Association of Operating Room Nurses. Ten state nursing
associations (Connecticut, Kentucky, Maine, Mao;sachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Pennsylvania, South Carolina,
Virginia, and Wyoming,) responded. Many groups identifie:d advanced practice, with prescriptive and reimbursement
issues, as an area with regulatory impact. Fewer discussed scopeofpractice, independentnursing practice and discipline.

Summary of Survey Responses
1. Conunents regarding Scope of Nursing Practice

• While one organization noted that nothing is proposed in the Agend.'l that goes beyond the current
scope ofnursing practice, others noted that practice scopes would need to be expanded with advanced
nursing practice roles. One group noted that state regulation needs to reflect accurate practice roles.
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2. Conunents regarding Independent Nursing Practic'e
• Promoting access to alternative means of health care would increase the independent role of nursing,

especially with care delivered outside traditional institutional settings. Areas would include client
education, preventive care, ca~e management and client advocacy. Independent nursing practice
would be encouraged by the Agenda and reflected in self-owned businesses, consultants, clinical
specialists and nurse practitioners.

3. Conunents regarding Advanced Nursing Practice
• The variation of state requirements was frequently noted, as wa~ the need for specific requirements

outlining education and certification requirements. Definitions need clarification. The anticipated
increased demand for advanced practice will require development of new programs. Prescriptive
authority is needed, as direct third party reimbursement. The important role of advanced nursing
practice in primary care was noted.

4. Conunents regarding Discipline
• Several respondents were not sure whether discipline was meant as a profession or as enforcement.

Potential legal challenges were noted by those who addressed enforcement. The independent role was
noted to have a potential for increa~ingcomplaints, making it difficult to identify impaired nurses. An
increased opportunity for complaint wa~ also noted, ifscopes are not clearly defined. One respondent
observed that boards of nursing need to understand fully advanced and independent roles.

5. Conunents on Other Identified Issues
• A variety of other ideas and issues were shared by the respondents. They include: reimbursement,

delegation, continued competence, hospital privileges, patient confidentiality, certification issues,
medical malpractice reform, patient right.'), the need to identify new advanced nursing roles (e.g., RN
as first surgical ao;sistant), defmitions of psychotherapy. accountability, documentation, the need for
research and demonstration projects for case management in conununity settings, interstate mobility
(consistency and reciprocity in requiremt:nts), the need to identify standards of care to guide in case
management, educational adHptation, and the NCLEX reflecting education/practice changes.

• One respondent observed that boMds need to protect the consumer. Another noted probable need for
legislative activity. The need for creative responses to promote creative nursing practice was stated.
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Attachment D

American Nurses' Association
National Council of State Boards of Nursing
National Federation of Licensed Practical Nurses, Inc.

Joint Statement on
Maintaining Professional and Legal Standards
During a Shortage of Nursing Personnel

Summary
The focus of this statement is to clarify the role of the regulatory mechanisms provided internally by the profession, and
those provided externally by the state to assure public access to high quality nursing services. Further, the statement
addresses the regulatory implications for nursing in labor market situations involving increased demands for nursing
services and a resulting shortage of licensed nurses.

I. Introduction
During a time of a shortage ofprofessional health care wodcers, such as registered nurses and licensed practical!
vocational nurses, there is a predictable trend to deregulate and substitute lesser prepared persons. Because of
the nursing shortage recently experienced in the United States, the American Nurses' Association (ANA), the
National Council of State Boards of Nursing (NCSBN), and the National Federation of Licensed Practical
Nurses, Inc., (NFLPN) believe it is in the best interest of the profession and the public to issue ajoint statement
concerning nursing shortage as it affects the regulation and maintenance of quality nursing services. The
nursing profession has traditionally accepted responsibility to assure that safe and accessible health care is
available to the public at all times including times of a shortage of nurses. The profession continues to accept
such responsibility; and also recognizes the need [0 identify strategies to promote the availability of the best
possible nursing care during these critical times.

II. Market Forces and Nursing Services
In the labor market for nursing services, the interplay of supply and demand and other market factors influence
professional and regulatory initiatives. Labor shortages often lead to efforts to expand the labor force in an
expedient amount of time. These efforts includc~ raising wages in response to market forces, temporarily
substituting lesserprepared individuals for those in short supply, and removing or reducing barriers to entry into
the marketplace.

In many instances, these mechanisms are sufficiem to achieve an equilibrium between the forces of supply and
demand. Such mechanisms are both effective and desirable when "free market" a"sumptions have been
satisfied, or are approximated. While few markets are perfect, the majority function well enough to provide
satisfactory outcomes to both consumers and producers.

These mechanisms are much less effective when markets are imperfect. Although economist,; argue about the
effectiveness with which the health care market" function, most agree that regulatory mechanisms are needed
to compensate for market imperfections. Typically, these include the govemment.'ll regulation of health care
practitioners.
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Strategies to influence market outcomes vary depending on economic, social and political factors. The
complexity of the labor market for nursing services requires careful analysis of market processes. Actions
intended to have one result may, in fact, tum out to have other, sometimes unexpected or undesirable, outcomes.
Because of the complexity of the labor market, including the influence ofconswner expectations, public policy
proposals that focus only on selected regulatory issues without a thorough assessment of the entire regulatory
process and its effects may not operate as intended.

Strategies that focus exclusively on the supply side of the market will usually be of limited effectiveness and
may have undesirable consequences. For example, reduced educational requirements for licensure may
produce a graduate not well prepared to enter the work force. Inadequate preparation may lead employers not
to hire these individuals because they do not want to absorb the cost of additional on-the-job training.
Inadequate preparation may also result in an unacceptable quality ofcare. Thus, the increased supply may nOl
have the intended effect on hospital nursing employment levels. Similar problems may be associated with
strategies to increase the supply of more foreign-source nursing personnel by reducing the requirements for
licensure in this country among nurses who received their basic nursing education in other countries.

Policy interventions aimed at reducing demandby increasing the scopeofdelegable activities are generally two­
fold in nature. First, there may be attempts to transfer direct care functions that traditionally require the services
of licensed personnel to unlicensed personnel. In service professions such as nursing, unlicensed workers are
more readily available and less costly. A second strategy is the development of new categories of care given;.
who may either be under the supervision of licensed nurses or who may function independently. Historically,
this proliferation ha~ led to overspecialization which arnIs costs to the regulatory process and by definition, dues
not address total patient concerns.

III. Regulatory Implications
Several regulatory implications of the current nursing shortage exist. First, state boards of nursing have been
pressured to reduce the requirements for entry into the profession by decreasing the passing standard of the
licensing examination and/or waiving requirements for licensure, particularly for foreign graduates. Such
pressures concern the regulatory and professional nursing communities because the public may be adversely
affected by the licensing of individuals who fail to meet the requirements of minimal competence regardless
of the supply of and demand for licensed nurses.

Second, other regulatory entities have been pressured to lower agency stafting standards, for instance by
allowing emergency medical technicians to function in the emergency room without registered nurse
supervision or by substituting unlicensed personnel for licensed nurses. These unlicensed persons have not
completed nursing education programs, or met other licensing requirements. In many instances, substitution
of unlicensed personnel for licensed nurses clearly violates state nurse practice acts. At the very least, it "is not
in the interest of the health, safety, and welfare of the public" (Statement on "Nursing Activities of Unlicensed
Personnel," Delegate Assembly of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing, 1987).

A third implication is the creation of additional categories of health care personnel. An unwarranted
proliferatioo of providers serves to confuse the consumers of health care who must be able to discern the roles
and responsibilities of the various providers if they are to evaluate the care that they receive. The confusion that
results from role blurring among providers greatly concerns the professional andregulatory communities in that
such confusion may diminish professional accountability and regulatory enforcement of legal standards.

While there ha'i been pressure from some sources to reduce the legal stand.ll'ds ofnursing practice, others argue
that the need for regulation has never been greater because the nursing short.'1ge and other unrelated economic
pressures increa'ie the likelihood that unsafe and ineffective nursing practice will result through personnel
substitution, employment of impostors, or inappropriate work a'isignment.

Many argue that the need for consumerprotection from unsafe and ineffective care is heightened during periods
in which there is an inadequate supply of health care personnel. Conswner groups are becoming increasingly
concerned about quality assurance as evidenced by their demands for more regulatory safeguards and greater
professional accountability. Examples of quality aSSUf<Ulce mechanisms that were recently developed despite
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existing personnel shortages include the federal government' s National Practitioner Data Bankand the training
and competency evaluation requirement for nurse aides employed in nursing home settings.

IV. Professional and Legal Accountability for Nursing Practice
Many professions are regulated internally through the voluntary panicipntion of members in professional
regulation or through selfregulation. Otherprofessions have also traditionally soughtexternal, legal regulation,
through mamJmory licensure to assure minimum competency for practice, thereby protecting the public from
unqualified practitioners.

The professional society also a~sumes responsibility to protect the public from unsafe, illegal. and unethical
practice. Further, the profession ha" the responsibility of providing for the educational preparation of their
members and for developing mechanisms to ensure the quality of their practice. Professional regulation takes
place through the establishment ofa scope of nursing practice sustained by a system of education, research and
services. This process is demonstrated in the profession's expression ofa code ofethics, standard and guidelines
for practice. a peer review system and a system of credentialing.

Both regulatory authorities and professional nursin,g organiz'ltions must elevate such reguL1tory initiatives in
a climate of strong incentives to reduce the cost of health care. These initiatives that propose added
responsibilities and concurrent public accountability must be balanced with proposals seeking to reduce
educational requirements and delegate increa"ed technical and functional roles to unlicensed personnel. The
profession must carefully evaluate all reguL1tory proposals to determine their comprehensive effect on the
public's access to safe, quality. nursing services, The danger seems clear thm reduced preparation for
professional practice and a failure to maintain sL1ndards ofpractice by excessive delegation ofnursing roles and
function could lead to a lack of public confidence.

The state boards of nursing that regulate the practice ofnursing, share one overriding concern: the protection
of the public health, safety, and welfare. As agents of state government, boards of nursing are empowered to

regulate activities related to nursing education, licensure and practice within their respective jurisdictions to
meet the sL1tes' constitutional obligations of protecting their citizens.

In summary, the current nursing shortage ha" resulted in various economic and political situations which
adversely impact the public health, safety and welfare. For this reason, the professional and regulatory
communities strongly oppose the impiemenL1tion of those expedient solutions that lead to the inefficient and
unsafe delivery of nursing care. Specific.111y, the American Nurses' Association, the National Federation of
Licensed Practical Nurses, Inc., and the National Council ofSL1te Boards ofNursing join to oppose: thedelivery
ofnursing care by non-nursing personnel who are not under the supervision ofa licensed nurse; the substitution
of licensed nurses with unlicensed personnel; the unnecessary creation of new categories of health care
personnel as well a" other efforts that serve to fragment care; the lowering of established legal standards
designed to prohibit the licensure ofpersons who have not demonstrated competence to practice nursing; and
the lowering ofprofessional nursing st.1n<L1fd" thalf:xist to ensure accountability ofnurses for safe and effective
nursing practice.

The American Nurses' Association, the National Federation ofLicensed Practical Nurses, Inc., and the National
Council ofState Boards ofNursing strongly support solutions to the nursing shortage that maintain and expand
the efficient utilization and employment ofexisting licensed nurses. These organizations support registered and
practicaVvocational nursing education and registered and practicaVvocational nursing licensure. Coordinated
efforts to promote nursing rold to ensure an adequate supply of nurses in the future will serve both the public
and nursing's best interests.

The professional and regulntory nursing communities also renew their respective pledges to uphold existing
professional and legal st.1ndards. Because the purpose of these st.wdmds is to protect the consumer ofnursing
services from unsafe and ineffective care, it is imperative thaI these st.-mdards and regulations be upheld and
enforced at all times regardless of supply and demand issues. When ancillary personnel are use to a~sist in
delivery of nursing care, it is imperative, from both professional and regulatory perspectives, that such
personnel be educated by and directly responsible to licensed nurses.
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For these reasons, professional nursing will continue to: (l) closely monitorand address quality ofcare concerns
through organizational and educational channels, and (2) promptly report violations of nurse practice acts to
the state boards of nursing. State boards of nursing will continue to: (1) promulgate and enforce rules and
regulations that protect the public from unsafe and ineffective nursing practice and (2) take corrective action
against those individuals whose activities violate the respective state nurse practiceacts. The American Nurses'
Association, the National Federation of Licensed Practical Nurses, Inc., and the National Council of State
Boards of Nursing believe that such activities, which require a cooperative spirit between those who practice
nursing and those who regulate it, are needed to maintain the public's trust, health, safety, and welfare during
the current nursing shortage.

American Nurses' Association
600 Maryland Avenue SW
Suite 100 West
Washington, D.C. 20024-2571
(202) 554-4444

National Council of State Boards of Nursing
676 N. SL Clair Street
Suite 550
Chicago, Illinois 60611-2921
(312) 787-6555

National Federation of Licensed Practical Nursing, Inc.
3948 Browning Place
Suite 205
Raleigh, North Carolina 27619
(919) 781-4791
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Report of the Subcommittee to Study the Regulation
of Advanced Nursing Practice

Recommendations
The Subcommittee to Study the Regulation of Advanced Nursing Practice recommends that the Delegate Assembly
adopt the following:

1. Position Paper on the Licensure of Advanced Nursing Practice (Attachment A)

2. Model Legislative Language for Advanced Nursing Practice (Attachment B)

Meeting Dates
The subcommittee met three times: October 24-26, 1991; January 9-11, 1992; and March 5-7, 1992. The subcommittee
also held a telephone conference calion May 12, 1992.

Background
The 1986 Delegate Assembly adopted a position paper on Advanced Clinical Nursing Practice. Since then, economic.
legislative and policy changes affecting health care in the United States have increased interest in alternative approachc5
to health care. The issues regarding the regulation ofadvanced nursing practice were identified as providing an area of
opportunity for the National Council in the next decade by participants in the 1990 Fall Planning Retreat. The
Subcommittee to Sbldy the Regulation of Advanced Nursing Practice was appointed to assess the current status of
advanced nursing practice, to analyze data and make recommendations, and to develop models for the regulation of
advanced nursing practice.

Activities
The subcommittee continued its analysis of the data collected in its first year and developed a position paper which
recommends licensure for advanced nursing practice roles. The subcommittee also developed model legislative
language for advanced nursing practice that could be added to the National Council Model Nursing Practice Act.

In accordance with its belief in promoting communication both within and outside the National Council, the
subcommittee shared early drafts ofits wort: with Member Boards, the representatives ofthe organizations invited to the
1991 Leadership Roundtable for Advanced Nursing Practice (American Nurses Credentialing Center; the Council on
Certification of Nurse Anesthetists; the National Certification Board of Pediatric Nurse Practitioners and Nurses; the
National Certification Corporation for the Obstetric, Gynecologic and Neonatal Nursing Specialties; and the ACNM
Certification Council, Inc.), and other interested nursing organizations. The subcommittee carefully considered the
feedback it received on the draft documentsand incorporated these ideas wheneverpossible. The subcommitteebelieves
that the exchange of ideas assisted greatly in the development of the subcommittee's work and hopes that continued
interaction with other organizations will promote the acceptance of that work in the nursing community.

Future National Council Activities Related to Advanced Nursing Practice
1. Develop Model Rule language for advanced nursing practice.

2. Review and update the ModelNursing PracticeAct andModel Nursing AdministrativeRules (Iastrevision 1988),
to include the advanced practice language.

3. Review and update the Advanced Nursing Practi(:e Position Paper and Models (at least every five years).
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4. Assist Member Boards in evaluating professional certification requirements and examinations, to deteIUline it

the examinations are developed psychometriailly to serve as a sound basis for regulation and are legally
defensible for use in the regulation of advanced nursing practice.

5. If existing examinations do not meet all criteria for legal defensibility:

a. work with certifying organizations to promote the meeting of these criteria; and, if needed.

b. give consideration to other means for providing Member Boards with examinations which would
provide a sound basis for licensure of advanced nursing practice categories.

6. Continue the liaison relationship with the advanced nursing practice professional certifying organizations in
order to provide current information regarding their credentialing processes and guidance to Member Boards
in using these credentials.

Committee Members
Corinne Dorsey, VA, Area ill, Chair
Iva Boardman, DE, Area IV
Judy Colligan, OR. Area I
Perlilure Jackson, MI, Area II
Gail Stewart, AK, Area I.

Board Liaison
Judie Ritter

Staff
Vickie R Sheets, Director for Public Policy, Nursing Practice and Education
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Attachment A

National Council of State Boards of Nursing
Position Paper on the Licensure
of Advanced Nursing Practice

Purpose
The National COlmcil of State Boards of Nursing proposes this position paper to provide guidance to Member Boards
in the licensure of advanced DlD'Sing practice. This paper explores the previous position taken by the National Council
and the changes in health care, nursing andsociety which stimulatedreview ofthatposition. Adefinitionofthe advanced
practice ofnursing is presented, followed by an examination ofmethodsofregulation and adescription ofconsiderations
basic to the selection ofa method of regulation. Nurses considered to be practicing in advanced nursing roles are nurse
practitioners, nurse anesthetists, nurse midwives and clinical nurse specialists.

Background
In 1986, the National Council adopted a Position Paper on Advanced Clinical Nursing Practice. The paper addressed
advanced nursing practice as a concept varying in interpretation and regulation, defined the educational preparation to
be at least a masters degree in nursing and concluded that the preferable method of regulating advanced nursing was
designation/recognition.

Many premises of the 1986papercontinue to be valid. However, the economic, legislative and policy changes affecting
health care in the United States, including concerns regarding cost and access to care, have increased the interest in
alternative approaches to health care. Medical diagnosis and the prescription of medication and other therapeutic
measures have traditionally been considered the practiceofmedicine. subject to regulation solely by boards ofmedicine.
There has been an increasing recognition oftheoverlapbetween medical practiceand thatofotherproviders such asnurse
practitioners, nurse midwives, nurse anesthetists, clinical nurse specialists, and others. Regulation and regulatory
authority must work to protect the public safety and welfare yet adapt to and foster these overlapping practices in the
interest of cost-effective, accessible, and competent patient care.

The demand for nurses practicing in advanced roles with greaterautonomy has increased. Federal regulations requiring
statutory recognition of advanced nursing for third party reimbursement have been a catalyst in many jurisdictions for
the regulation of advanced nursing practice. Member Boards have identified that the regulation of advanced nursing
practice presents some of the most critical challenges faced by boards of nursing as they weigh their public protection
responsibilities against other developments affecting regulation.

The evolution of nursing practice has produced an increasing body ofknowledge as well as multiple levels of nursing
practice. Regulatory systems to authorize advanced practice and professional certification toacknowledge achievement
and excellence in practice have been developed. Professional certification and regulatory systems have resulted largely
from the efforts oforganized groups of nurses seeking professional and economic recognition, and clarification of the
authority to practice. There is variety and a lack of consistency in regulatory systems and professional certification.
Consequently, there is confusion for the public, legislators, regulators, nurses and other health care providers regarding
titling, credentialing, scope of practice and reimbursement related to advanced nursing practice.

Professional nursing organizations have supported the recognition ofadvanced nursing practice through the mechanism
of voluntary certification. At this writing, nurse practitioners, nurse anesthetists, nurse midwives and clinical nurse
specialists are certified by the American Nurses Credentialing Center (ANCC); the Council on Certification of Nurse
Anesthetists (CCNA); the National Certification Board ofPediatric Nurse Practitioners and Nurses; the NCC: National
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Certification Corporation for the Obstetric. Gynecologic and Neonatal Nursing Specialties; and the ACNM Certification
Council. Inc. These and other organizations also offer specialty certification in areas not considered advanced nursing
practice as identified in this paper.

While different requirements for various areas ofnursing may be acceptable for professional certification. inconsistency
becomes problematic when attempts are made to apply professional certification requirements to regulatory systems.
Inconsistency in the requirements for certification, including the level of education and practice. titling, and logistics.
makes it difficult for boards to determine criteria broad enough to accommodate the variations yet specific enough to be
effective. Certification examinations are constructed for the purpose of professional recognition and may not be
appropriate for use in legal regulation. This raises several issues with respect to certification examinations. First, they
may not be designed to measure ability for the purpose of regulation; that is. they may be calibrated to a higher or lower
level ofdifficulty and a broader or narrower scope of subject matter than would otherwise be appropriate for regulation.
Secondly. from a measurement perspective. they may not be constructed psychometrically in a manner appropriate for
legal regulation.

Legal regulation is the responsibility of legislators and boards of nursing. The legislature in each jurisdiction enacts
nursing practice legislation and boards of nursing are authorized to promulgate regulations to implement the nursing
statutes in order to protect the public health. safety and welfare. Nursing practice statutes and administrative rules range
from no provision addressing advanced nursing practice to entire chaptersofstatutes and detailed regulations. In a 1991
survey. 47 jurisdictions addressed advanced nursing in either nursing practice statutes. administrative rules, or both.

Premises
1. The purpose for any governmental regulation of nursing practice is the protection of the public health, safety

and welfare. The criteria for regulation should reflect minimum requirements for safe and competent practice
and should be the least burdensome criteria consistent with public protection.

2. Professional nursing standards as embodied in voluntary certification programs encompass more than essential
criteria.

3. A clear and specific legislative mandate strengthens the Board's authority to promulgate rules relating to

advanced nursing practice.

4. The public has a right to access to health care. and to make informed choices regarding selection ofhealth care
options through knowledge of the area of expertise. qualifications and credentials of individuals who provide
health care.

Definition of the Advanced Practice of Nursing
The advanced practiceofnursing by nurse practitioners. nurse anesthetists. nurse midwives and clinical nurse specialisIS ,
is based on the following:

a) knowledge and skills acquired in basic nursing education;

b) licensure as a registered nurse;

c) graduate degree and experience in the designated area of practice. which includes advanced nursing theory,
substantial knowledge of physical and psychosocial assessment, appropriate interventions. and management
of health care.

Skills and abilities essential for an advanced practice registered nurse within the designated area of practice include:

• assessing clients. synthesizing and analyzing data, and understanding and applying nursing principles
at an advanced level;

• providing expert guidance and teaching;
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• working effectively with clients, families and other members of the health care team;

• managing clients' physical and psycho-social health-illness staws;

• conceptualizing and thinking in the abstrac:t, including the identification ofalternative possibilities as
to the nature of a health care problem and the selection of appropriate treatment;

• making independent decisions in solving complex client care problems;

• performing actsofdiagnosis and prescribing therapeuticmeasures consistentwith the areaofpractice;
and

• recognizing limits of knowledge and experience, planning for situations beyond expertise, and
consulting with (X' referring clients to other health care providers as appropriate.

Each individual who practices nursing at an advanced level does so with substantial autonomy and independence
requiring a high level ofaccountability. The scope ofpractice ineach of the advanced roles ofa nurse practitioner, nurse
anesthetist, nurse midwife, or clinical nurse specialist is distinguishable from the others. While there is an overlapping
of duties within these roles, there are activities which are unique to each role. For example, the grant of prescriptive
authority should be specific to the practice area, e.g., a pediatric nurse practitioner is not responsible for pescribing
medications for geriatric clients.

Methods of Regulation
Criteria to consider when selecting an appropriate level of regulation for professional practice include the risk ofharm
to the consumer; the specialized education, skills and abilities required for the professional practice; the level of
autonomy; the scope ofpractice; economic impact; alternatives to regulation; and a determination of the least restrictive
regulation consistent with the public safety.

The fl1"St level of regulation, and least restrictive approach, typically corresponds to designation/recognition. This
alternative does not limit the right ofany nurse to practice. It does provide the public with information about nurses with
special credentials. Under this approach, nurses with state recognized credentials in an advanced nursing role could
receive peImission from the board of nursing to represent themselves with those credentials. This recognition of
credentials by a board would not involve state inquiry into competence.

The second level of regulation typically corresponds to registration, and requires nurses to apply to have their names
added to an official roster, maintained by the board. of individuals who provide advanced nursing practice. Registration
does not involve state inquiry into competence and the scope of practice is not generally defmed.

The third level of regulation corresponds to certification and may be thought of as title protection. Applicants for
certification meet specified requirements, but certification does not include a defmed scope of practice. The federal
government has used the teIm "certification" to defme the credentialing process by which a non-governmental agency
or association recognizes the professional competence of an individual who bas met the predetermined qualifications
specified by that agency or association. Boards ofnursing have also used the term "certification" to authorize advanced
nursing practice, often using theprofessional association certification asarequirement for the governmentalcredentialing.
Potential for confusion exists when this term is used by both professional organizations and regulatory boards.

The fourth, andmost restrictive, levelofregulation corresponds to licensure. AnagencyofgovernmentgrantspeImission
to persons meeting predetermined qualifications, to engage in a given profession, to the exclusion of others. Ucensure
is applied to a profession when the practice of that profession could cause a greater risk ofbaIm to the public wiess there
is a high level of accountability, and when a unique scope of practice bas been identified and associated with the
profession. Statutes and regulations define the qualifications for licensure, define the scope ofpractice and limit the use
of the title. Ucensure provides that a specified scope ofpractice may only be performed legally by those individuals to
whom the state has issued a license. Licensure is used as a regulatory method when the regulated activities are complex,
require specialized knowledge and skill, great proficiency and independent decision-making.
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Considerations in Selecting a Method of Regulation
Lega/lmplications
Sinceregulation may limitentry intoadvanced nursing practice, consideration mustbegiven topossible legal challenges.
Two possible areas of challenge would be infringement of constitutional rights and violations of antitrust laws.

Individuals have the right to pursue employment of their choosing. However, this individual right to seek employment
must be balanced with the state responsibility to protect the health, safety and welfare of the public. Boards of nursing
are advised to justify the relationship between the restrictions imposed by regulations and the public health, safety and
welfare. Boards must give attention to assuring guarantees ofprocedural due process, such as notice and an opportunity
to be heard, to protect against charges of proceeding with arbitrary, discriminatory or unreasonable regulations.

Increased regulation of a profession may have anticompetitive effects, such as reducing access to the field or creating
an advantage in the employment market These anticompetitive effects may violate the federal antitrust laws unless the
regulation is expressly authorized and actively supervised by the state. In light ofcurrent judicial decisions in antitrust
suits involving professions, boards should be aware that they will be less open to challenge on antitrust grounds if the
regulation ofadvanced nursing practice is clearly mandated by statute, and if there is active oversight of the regulatory
process by the licensing authority. Boards cannot cede regulatory authority to private entities.

Effects of Variability
Variability of systems used by states to regulate the ad\'anced practice of nursing has resulted in problems of
credentialing, practice and geographic mobility for licensees, and for boards in implementing an endorsement process.
The variability of titles, education and scopes ofadvanced pr"cICtice amongjurisdictions creates confusion for consumers
of care, legislators. regulators, nurses and other health care providers.

Costs and Benefits
The cost-benefitanalysis ofthe method ofregulation mustconsider the valueofthe serviceand the valueoftheprotection,
as well as potential risks in not regulating this level of complex professional activity. Individual licensees bear the cost
of compliance with advanced nursing practice regulation. but costs are ultimately passed on to the consumer.

Effects of Statutes and RegUlations by Other Administrative Agencies
Boards of nursing should be alert to statutes and regulations promulgated by other administrative agencies for
implications on theirown regUlations. both during initial drafting and through ongoing review. Statutes supersede rules.
Rules, consistent with statutes and legislative intent (where documented) have the force and effect of law.

Impact on Nursing Practice
The regulation of advanced nursing practice has potential for unduly limiting the practice ofnurses who do not meet the
specified requirements. Care should be taken in the drafting of regulations so that the practice of registered nurses is
protected and the evolution of nursing practice at all levels is assured.

Discussion
The nursing profession has historically favored a credentialing model similar to physician specialization. Physicians are
licensed to practice medicine without regard to specialty. Many physicians choose to seek professional recognition by
obtaining certification from specialty boards which have been established by private professional organizations. These
voluntary credentials are not required for medical practice, but evidence additional expertise. A similar model was
promoted for nurses who are licensed to practice nursing wil.hout regard to specialty. Nursing organizations have made
certification programs available and many registered nurses have sought this professional recognition. This model was
reflected in the recommendation of the 1986 Position Paper in which the preferred method of regulation for advanced
nursing practice was recognition/designation.

An identifmble and unique scope of practice is a key element of licensure. The scope of practice, as defined in state
Nursing Practice Acts, is usually written in broad language and identifies boundaries of practice. Nurses in advanced
roles, with additional education and experience, have moved beyond the traditional limits ofnursing practice. Medical
diagnosis and prescription of medications are good examples ofacts that have been viewed as traditional medical acts
or as overlapping areas of practice. Regardless of how these aspects of care are characterized, additional professional
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education is necessary for a registered nurse to perform these functions. The core of skills and abilities described in
this paper's defmition ofadvanced nursing practice, plus the specific practice characteristics of each advanced nursing
category create distinguishable scopes of practice for the advanced nursing practice roles.

The knowledge, skills and abilities identified in this paperas essential for safe and competent advanced nursing practice
are beyond those attained by an individual prepared in a basic nursing education program preparing an individual for
licensure as a registered nurse. Through graduate-level education, a nurse can further develop abstract and critical
thinking, the ability to assess at an advanced level, as well as advanced nursing and other essential therapeutic skills.
Educational preparation should encompass both generalizedknowledge and theclinical component unique to thespecific
advanced nursing role. While this paper concludes that the advanced practice of nursing is based on graduate education
with a major in nursing, it is recognized that a limited nwnber of programs preparing nurse anesthetists and nurse
midwives wouldmeet this requirement. Boards ofnursing should acknowledge and consider the currenteducational and
health care environment by providing for phasing in educational requirements when developing regulations for the
jurisdiction.

The costs of professional licensure must be weighed against the value of the service and the potential risks in not
regulating the profession. The expenses for advanced nursing practice licensure borne by individual nurses include
education, costs incurred meeting other licensure requirements, and licensure fees. Boards of nursing administrative
expenses for the implementation and maintenance ofadvanced nursing practice licensure include rule development and
promulgation, program development, personnel, equipment, and other resources. Advanced practice licensing fees
could be used toward meeting those costs.

The public will benefit from licensure of advanced nursing practice roles. Advanced nursing practice provides an
importanthealth carealternative. However, performanceofadvancednursing practice by Wlqualified individualscreates
a high risk of harm to the public. The protection of the public health and welfare will be promoted through the
identification ofminimal essential qualifications for the advanced practice role, the inquiry as to whether an individual
meets those qualifications and an objective fonun for review ofconcerns regarding an individual's practice. Consumers
should be informed regarding the qualifications of the various types ofhealth care providers and what services they can
legally provide. This type ofconsumer education facilitates a knowledgeable choice ofhealth care services. Increased
mobility of qualified practitioners will increase access to an important health care alternative with the public protection
of licensure.

Nurses in advanced roles will benefit from having clear authority for their practice. Without clear authority for the
advanced level at which they fWlction, nurses in advanced roles may be practicing beyond the jurisdictional scope of
nursing practice,orcouldbeheld accoWltable for practicingmedicinewithout a license. Federal regulationsdefer to state
authority regarding licensing, and typically require the state to authorize or license individuals for the level of services
provided in order to allow direct reimbursement. Boards ofnursing do not have direct responsibility for reimbursement
issues. However, boards frequently are indirectly involved by requests to identify those nurses who have met the state
requirements for advanced practice and assisting insurers and others in the interpretation of practice acts, to determine
if specific acts fall within the authorized scope of practice. Nurses in advanced roles would also benefit from the title
protection provided by licensure.

Failure to regulate advanced nursing practice creates potential risks for the public who are receiving these health care
services. Without licensure, complex activities requiring a high level of specialized knowledge, skill, proficiency and
independent decision-making may be performed by unqualified providers. Without licensure, professionals are not held
legally accoWltable for their practice. Without licensure, the public does not have the benefit of an unbiased forum to
resolve complaints regarding issues of safety and competence.

Licensing requirements define what is necessary for the majority ofindividuals to be able to practice the profession safely
and validation that the licensure applicant has met those requirements. In any professional licensing system there are
individuals who are outliers to the system parameters. Setting minimal educational requirements for any type of
professional licensure creates the possibility that some capable individuals, who have learned through non-traditional
means and experience, would be excluded from practice. II. is important that a sufficient timeframe or a phasing-in for
meeting the requirements be provided to allow such individuals to continue in practice if they choose. There are also
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siblations when someone who bas met the set requirements proves to be unsafe or fails to maintain competence.
Licensing boards have the authority to initiate appropriate disciplinary action against the licenses of unsafe individuals.
Educational, practice and other ongoing requirements are set by many boards to assist in maintenance of competency.
Whenever a new concept is introduced, there may be initial confusion until the concept is established. However, the
benefits of moving toward a generally accepted use of terminology will, in the long run, reduce the current confusion
caused by the existing "crazy quilt" of titles, abbreviations and language across jurisdictions. Movement toward
uniformity of requirements and scopes of practice will facilitate mobility of qualified individuals in advanced nursing
roles.

Although licensure is intended to provide public protection, some have viewed licensure as a barrier, a limitation on
professional development It bas been argued that nurses prepared at the masters level and above should be
"unencumbered" by additional licensure requirements. However. another view is that. in addition to protecting the
public. the authorization for practice provided by licensure affords promotion and protection for the nurse.

The significantchange in this paper is the move from recommending recognition/designationas themethod ofregulation
for advanced nursing practice to recommending licensure as the preferred method of regulation for advanced nursing
practice. This is a major position shift in six years. The evolution ofadvanced nursing bas producedan expanded scope
of practice and a high level of autonomy based upon advanced knowledge. skills and abilities. Safe and competent
advanced nursing practice requires licensure as the method of regulation necessary to protect the public.

Conclusions
1. The advanced practice ofnursing is based on an academic degree at the graduate level with a major in nursing.

The academic preparation must include both clinical and didactic components rela1ed to the specific advanced
practice role.

2. Combined with graduate nursing education, professional certification may be used as a qualification for
licensure as long as the board of nursing bas established criteria for accepting the certification and maintains
control of the licensure process.

3. Movement toward consistent titling and uniform use ofterminology for those nurses who practice in advanced
roles will improve public understanding. Increased knowledge leads to informed consumer health care
decisions.

4. Boards of nursing should regulate advanced nursing practice by licensure ofadvanced nursing roles due to the
nature of the practice which requires advanced knowledge. clinical proficiency. independent decision-making
and autonomy. The risk of harm from unsafe and incompetent providers at this level of complex care is high.
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Attachment 8

Model Nursing Practice Act
With additions for Model Language for Advanced Nursing Practice

ThelanguageoftheNationalCouncil'sModelNursingPraeticeAct, lastrevised in 1988,ispresentedberewithsuggested
additions for Model Language for Advanced Nursing Practice. Any added language is underlined and deleted language
is crossed out of the original text.

The Subcommittee to Study the Regulation of Advanced Nursing Practice hopes that seeing the new sections in the
context of the full Model will assist in review of the proposed language.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc/1992
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Article I.

Section 1. TItle of Ad. This Act shall be known
and may be cited as "The (state) Nursing Practice
Act:

Section 2. Description of Ad. An Act to provide
for the regulation of the practice of nursing, a
practice affecting the public health, safety and
welfare~ to provide for a State Board of Nursing;
and to define the powers and duties of that
Board, including licensure of practitioners of
nursing, establishment of standards for nursing
practice and educational programs, adoption of
administratlvc rules to implement this A~ and
prescription of penalties for violation of the
provisions of this Act.

SectIon 3. Purpose. The legislature finds that the
practice of nursing by competent persons is
necessary for the protection of the public health,
safety and welfare and further finds that lite PA'8
~ levels of practice within the profession of
nursing should be regulated and controlled, in the
public interest. Therefore, it is the legislative
purpose of this Act to promote, preserve and
protect the public health, safety and welfare by
and through the effective control and regulation of
the practice of nursing and of the educational
preparation for this practice, and to ensure that
any person practicing or offering to practice
nursing, as defined in this A~ or using the title of
Registered Nurse eF~ Licensed Practical Nurse..,m:
Advanced Practice Registered Nurse after the
effective date of this Act within this state shall,
before entering upon such practice or using such
title, be licensed as hereinafter provided.

Comment

Date of enactment of Nursing Practice Act should
be cited on any reprint of the Act.

This section describes the general scope of the
Nursing Practice Act. It summarizes and clarifies
the main elements of the Act and serves as a useful
reference.

This section will answer questions about what a
legislature intended to accomplish through passage
of the statute when the courts, an Attomey General
or other legal counsel seek interpretation of the
ACT.

Mq,N1tIftNy "SMe6 aile eo'tMgwl n;1It eaftllJlialtiltg
afaIttit1NJ6 j8, ",iIt;"'1IJ9t 8tl/e ..4~ve """;"K
Jl'YldiH.

'Hthi" the ",ilti",..". 1e-r'6l thee h II WIItge /t'tNt. ls...
",i";"'",,, 18 high ",i,,;"'1IJ9t J16i1tf6. ..~ 8Nl6, 16

JH'81f18Ie ",,";Itg tit the hig1t66t 6It~1e 1et'6l;
Bst11¥i6 sf Aw,,;,.g M8tl1tJ 46.Jiglt I'egNltlli81t6 tit lite
higlt ",i";",,,,,, Iet'6lsffJNletiee.

This model luis/arion recommends licenSUre for
gdvanced nursinr practice. The license will be
issued as an Advanced Prqctice Raistered Nurse.
in the CatUOO' ofnurse practitioner. certified
rezistered nurse anesthetist. certified nurse midwife
or clinical nurse uzecialist.

Boards of Nursinr an: charged with the protection
qf the public health safety and welfare throurh the
rezulation qf nursinr practice in their jurisdiction.

As with any service. there is a range qf quality q(
nursinr practice. Regula4JO' qzencies an: charged
with identifYinr the minimal. eSsential level Q[
comgetence needed for safe nursinr can:. Behavior
which falls belqw this level is subject tq potential

National Council of State Boards of Nursin& Inc.
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ArtIcle Commeot

disctlJlinm action. The prqfessional qssocjqtioas
Rmmote standards oJ qcellence for the profession,
jdenti(yine q level Q,f corrmetence that weeds the
essentiaL q level to which indivjduq/s are
encourq~ to strive.

Boards Q,f Nunine should tiesi;J rgu1qtioas to
itientt& thOU essential elements oJ prqctjce
necessm to Protect the gublic.

In this section, nursing is established as a legal role,
thereby, affording its professional memben,
Registered Nurses, qnd Advqnced Practice
Rcgisterrd Nuaes the atten4llnt rights and
responsibilities. In addition, this section
acknowledges the practke of Licensed Practical
Nurses, the nature of whose practke also affects
directly the public health, safety and welfare and,
consequently, should be regulated and controlled.
Other persons to whom certain tasks may be
delegated by Registered Nurses 6f'L Licensed
Practical Nunes or Advanced Prqctice Rezistered
l:iJHHl. should not be licensed because the tasks
involved are limited and perfonned under
supeTVision and CQ1J be controlled and regulated by
other means.

In the history ofAmerican nursing, the process of
registration preceded that of licensure.
Nongovemmentlll registries listed nurses who met
certllin qualifications and thus served to protect the
public against incompetent practitioners. W7Jen
licensure was instituted in the various stales, the
tena "registered nurse" and the abbreviation "R.N."
were protected for use by only qualified nunes.
Registration, however, diffen from licensure in that
it is a process by which qualified individuals are
listed on an ofjicUd roster. Because mandatory
licensure affords greater protection for the public
than registration, the Nursing Practice Act should
refer only to this process. Cunmt references to
registration that are embodied in the legally
recognized Licensed Practical Nurse title can
conjuse the public and the ItN";,., IN''IIefititMeI'S
licensees. Alternate titles that would reflect the
licensed status of lHHIt lI11levels of nurses should be
considered in revisions of the Act.

Alternative titles for Registered Nune MtI.. Licensed
Practical Nune, and Advanced Practice Re,risterrd



ArtIcle
iii

Comment

!iJllu. which better reflect the method of control
and regulation and the relationship 8eftt'HII ll!.11JllU
the fWl'J levels of licensed practitioners, should be
considered. The method of control and regulation
specified in the Practice Act is licensure rather than
registratiOn. licensure is the process by which an
agency of stole government grrmts penniss;on to an
individual to engage in a given occupation upon
finding that the applicant has attained the essenlial
degree of competency necessary to ensure that the
public health, safety and welfare will be reasonably
well protected. In granting an individual permission
to practice through licensure, the state holds the
individual responsible and accountDble for that
prrzctice. The state also maintains records ofpast
and present licenses.

National Council of State B()QT(Js of Nursing, Inc.
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Article II

Section 1. Practice of Nursing. The ·Practice of
Nursing" means assisting individuals or groups to
maintain or attain optimal health, implementing a
strategy of care to accomplish defined goals. and
evaluating responses to care and treatment. This
practice includes, but is not limited to, initiating
and maintaining comfort measures, promoting and
supporting human functions and responses,
establishing an environment conducive to weU­
being, providing health counseliug and teac:b.ing,
and collaborating on certain aspects of the health
regimen. This practice is based on understanding
the human condition across the lifespan and
understanding the relationship of the individual
within the environment.

Comment

The most important part of Q pTtlCtice act is the
definition of the pTtlCtice that it seeks to regulate.
The definition should distinguish nursing pTtlCtice
from the pTtlCtice of other health care pTtlCtilioners
by assessing health staJus, establishing Q nursing
diagnosis and planning, yet should be stated in
temu sufficiently broad to include all levels of
PTtlCtice, including that of the Registered Nurse,
Licensed Prtzctical Nurse and IIlJ tIltMltktJ Mtl
eltfH'lttktJ N,.MItg IIBks Adyanced Practice
Rezjstered Nurse.

111wr1eJ .w.tJ plYMNiee ........ e/Ht.N"~ III't!

JlfYMJlieiNg " sJJHitllIy iIt aeetN'8tMee IliI" lNlvtMeeti
8tlNMIiBlt ill eli,.i_ ,.1M'SiJtg. H811'et~ IIteift
JHWetiee Mt6N1tl lie ...fltilt the JHIIYiIf"'*' iiI lite I.'
~tJIIe 8J< -1l9iItg JHW6tiee.

A broad definition of nursing will enable the Board
of Nursing to adopt implementing rules to meet
changing practice. This definition is based partly
on information found in the report, "Critical
Requirements for Saj'e/Elfective Nursing Prtzctice,
1978 research project conducted for the National
Council of State Boards of Nursing by Angeline M.
Jacobs and others.

In 1986 the National Council completed Q "Job
Analysis and Role Delineation Study ofEntry Level
Registered Nursing Prtzctice" that further defined
critical entry level elements of nursing practice.

The definition does not include reference to
educational preparation or responsibilities that are
common to all health professions, such as
/cnowiedge of biological, physical, behavioral,
psychological and sociological sciences; supervision,
administration, delegation and teaching,· and
performing interdependently with other health
professionals. It is believed that execution of the
medical regimen does not describe the essence or
unique elements of nursing that distinguishes it
from other health professionals and for which
regulation is required in order to safeguard the
public health, safety and welfare.

Others, such as pharmacists, medical social
workers, and physical therapists, also execute



Section 2. Registered Nursing means the practice
of the full scope of nursing which includes but is
not limited to:

(a) Assessing the health status of individuals and
groups;

(b) Establishing a nursing diagnosis;

(c) Establishing goals to meet identified health
care needs;

(d) Planning a strategy of care;

(e) Presaibing nursing interventio~ to implement
the strategy of care;

(I) Implementing the strategy of care;

(g) Delegating nursing interventions that may be
performed by others and that do not conflict with
this act;

(h) Maintaining safe and effective nursing care
rendered directly or indirectly;

(i) Evaluating responses to interventions;

G) Teaching the theory and practice of nursing;

(k) Managing and supervising the practice of
nursing; Ami

(I) Collaborating with other health professionals
in the management of health care; _

em) P,seaeiRg atk'8Bee4 eliRie&l BYI'MBg ill
seee,48Bee ..vi~ keewletlge sk:iUs SeEfYife4 ~e.

v
Comment

aspects of the medical regimen, but this Act does
not describe their particular pf'tICtices. However, the
process of implementing a strategy of care may
encompass collaboration with the profession of
medicine cany;ng out certQjn aspects of the medical
regimen. In many instances, the welfare of the
health care recipients necessitotes medical and
nursing care synergism. Assisting other health
professionals in providing care should be a legally
recognized component ofp1'tldice not only for
nurses, but for all health professionals.

This definition describes the responsibilities and
scope ofpf'tlCtice registered nurses and entnuts
them with overall responsibility for nursing care. It
outlines certQjn essential responsibilities which
require professional judgment, which registered
nurses have the educational preparation to
unde1tllke, and for which they are held accountable,
including the implementation of care as dirf!eted by
those persons authorized by low to give such
dirf!ction. In addition, it enables the registered
nurse to delegate nursing measures that may be
perfonned by othen under appropriale supervision.
Such a definition clearly distinguishes the difference
between a Registered Nurse's pf'tICtice and the
pf'tlCtice of othen within the field of nursin& such
as Licensed Prtlctical Nurses and Auxiliories.

National Council of State Boards of Nunin& Inc.
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Section 3. Ucensed Practical Nursing means
practice of a directed scope of nursing practice
which includes, but is not limited to:

(a) ContributiDg to the assessment of the health
status of individuals and groups;

(b) ParticipatiDg in the development and
modification of the strategy of care;

(c) ImplementiDg the appropriate aspects of the
strategy of care as defined by the Board;

(d) Maintaining safe and effective nursing care
rendered directly or indirectly;

(e) ParticipatiDg in the evaluation of responses to
interventiollS, and;

(f) Delegating nursing interventions that may be
performed by others and that do not conflict with
this Act.

The Ucensed Practical Nurse functions at the
direction of the Registered Nurse, Adyanced
Practice Remtered Nurse. licensed physician, or
licensed dentist in the performance of activities
delegated by that health care professional.

Section 4. Advanced Practice Re£istered Nursina
by gwse practitioners, nwse anesthetists. nurse
midwives and clipical nurse specialists. is based on
bowled&, and skj1ls acquired in basic nursina
education: licensure as a RClPstered Nurse: and a
araduate deme and experience in the deSilWated
area of practice. which includes advanced PUr§ina
theor,y. substantial bowled" of physical and
psycho-wcial assessment. appropriate
interventions and manaaement of health care
status. AdVanced Practice ReiPstered Nursina
includes but is not limited to:

(a) As5e§Sina clients. syntbesizina and analWna
data. and undentilDdioa and awlyinK nminK
principles at an advanced level:

(1)) Proyjdina emert Gidance and teacbina:::

Comment

This definition describes the responsibilities and
scope ofpractice for which Licensed Practical
Nurses will be held accountable and clearly
distinguishes their ~sponsibilmes and practice from
tJuu of the Registe~d Nurse. The ~sponsibility for
di~cting nursing CiUf! belonlf to the Registe~d

Nurse. However, because many Licensed Practical
Nurses worlc under the direction ofphysicians and
dentists, the law should accommodllte this practice.

Some jurisdictions may use the te"" Lkensed
Vocational Nurse instead ofLicensed Practical
Nurse.

participation implies collaboration with other
members of the health CiUf! team.

Advanced Practice Registe~ Nurse Wers to nurses
quthorized to Rractice in an advanced role.

This definition is muen broadlY. to qrldrqt a Core
of essential skills and qbilities for all categories q[
Advqnced Practice Rezjstmd Nurses rather than
listing behaviors or technical sTems ~flIli~d for
SJ!fCific practice areas·

The $ewe ofRractice in each of the advanced roles
of nurse Rractitioner. nurse anesthetist nurse
midwife or clinical nurse medalist is
distinpishable (rom the others. While thm is an
ovedqwmg of knowletke and sldlls within these
roles, the~ are activities which are uniQue to eqch
!'Q/f..



Article

U:l Workiu", effectively with clients. families and
other members of the health care team:

(.cI) MaDalPU'" clients' physical and psycho-social
health-illness status:

(el ConCC(lltuaJjPU and thiDk;D", in the abstract.
includip", the ideptificatiop of alternative
pgssibjIities as to the nature of a health care
problem and the se1ec:tjon of apprOJPIiate
treatment:

CD MaJcju", independent decisions in solyig
complex client care problems:

(K) Perform. acts of dignosis and prescribin&
therapeutic measures ron§istent with the area of
practice; and

(b) Ref9&Pinn", limitS of knowledG and
experience. plapuiD", for situations beyond
expertise. and conwltiQa with or referriga clients
to other health care providers as appropriate.

Ibis act shaJJ §VPCrsede all prior inconsistent
statutes. rules or replation regard;n", this subject.

Section s, An Advanced Practice Registered
Nurse is authorized to prescribe dru&s for
administration to and use by other persons within
the §COJXi of practice defined by rules ado,pted by
the Board. This act shall supersede all prior
inconsistent statute§. rules or re_ions
reprdin", nurse prescriptive authority.

vii
Comment

Boards must be certain that the revised nurse
practice act emressly sugmedes qll conflictini
provisions Q,[ other statutes. rules and ruulations in
this qaa.

This lanGlue is suacsted to provide clear statutoa'
grrscri,Rtive authority for the Advanced Practice
Rezisterrd Nurse. and qttemgts to comply with the
Dmz Enlorcemmt tUrney's 'jzle1UlQ' prescriptive
authority" TeflUirtmmt as set forth in proposed
ruulq#ons. Plenar:y prescriptive authority would
qllow an Advanced Practice Rezistered Nurse. who
needs to prescribe controlled substances for a
desiznated Practice qaa. to be issued a DEA
number.

Boards Q,[ Nursin.i are encourued to m1ew selWes
Q,[practice to assum that RNs and LPNs mq,y
m emmt orders written by Advanced Practice
ReJdstere4 Nurses.

Boards must be certain that the Mscriptive
authority emmssly supersedes qll conflicting
provision Q,[ other statutes. alles and ruulq#ons in
this amq.

National Council of State BQQ/'ds of Nursing, Inc.
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SeeYeR 4. SectlOP 6. Board. "Board" means the
(state) Board of Nursing.

SeebeR S. SectlOP 7. Other Board. "Other
Board" means the comparable regulatory agency
in any U.S. State or Territory.

SeeBeR (;. SectlOP 8. Ueeose. "License" means a
current document permitting the practice of
nursing as a Registered Nurse ePa Licensed
Practical Nurse. or Adyanced Practice Rccldstered
~.

Comment

Authority base, structure, and 1U1me of Tr!gUlatmy
agency will vary from state to state.

A license is a current document issued to a
qwJlified individual for the purpose ofpermitting
that individual to practice as a Registe~d Nurse lW'..

Licensed Prr:Icticai Nurse. or Advanced Practice
Regjsterrd Nurse for a specific length of time. A
license is renewable provided existing qualifications
have been met. Because the only purpose ofa
license is to grant legal permission to a qwJlified
penon to do something, no inactive license should
be provided.



Article

Article Ill.

SectIon 1. Membership; Appointment;
Nominations; Term or 0IIIce; Removal;
Vacancies; Quallftcatlons; immunity.

(a) The Board of Nursing shall consist of ( )
members to be appointed by the Governor ( )
days prior to the expiration of the term of office
of a current member. Nominations for
appointment may be made to the Governor by
any interested individual, association, or any other
entity, prOYided that such nominations be
supported by a petition executed by no less than
( ) qualified voters in this State. These
nominations shall not be binding upon the
Governor.

(b) The membership of the Board shall be at least
( ) members of Registered Nurses; at least ( )
members of Licensed Practical Nurses; at least ( )
members of Adyanced Practice Re;istered
Nurses; and at least ( ) members representing the
public.

ix
Comment

The size of the BOfJTd should take into
consideration the popultJtion of the state, the
numbers of &giIterN .'1tHN8 fiIIttll:i8e1tHtl
JlMetieill HII1'H8 l1JllUl being regulated, the number
of educational programs and agencies and the
number of members needed to effectively enforce
the Act. In most states, the number of BOfJTd
Members is an odd number so tJu1t determinations
by a clelU'majority may be made.

The State Legislature may have confirming privilege.
In those States where the BOfJTd is advisory,
appointments to the BOfJTd may be initiated or
confirmed by some govemmental agency or body
other thon the Governor or Legislature.

Some mechanism should be developed to enable
the BOfJTd to conduct its bwiness with a full
complement of members so that there is no fear of
subsequent challenge regarding delayed
appointments,' senate confirmation, apathy, changes
in the law and staggered tenns.

The provision regarding nominations avoids
challenges of conflicts of interest or discrimination,
ensures genuine interest of a number of nominating
persons, yet reserves gubernatorial discretion.

The Boqrd q[ nursinr Consisls q[ 1'(l?IUentatives q[
all levels ofnursinr licensua and consumm.

Because the majority ofnurses licensed in most
jurisdictions are Registered Nurses, the majority of
BOfJTd members should be Registered Nurses. A
majority ofnurse membm on the board is required
to determine ifpersons peifonning nursing junctions
are qualified. In addition, the judgment of
Registered Nurses constitutes the best possible
criterion for determining the legality of a nursing
action. Although it is recognized tJu1t
representatives of the public make a significant
contribution to the purpose of the Board, the need
for nursing expertise is a sufficient state interest to
justify a nursing majority membership on the Board.

Some states may desire BOfJTd membership to
represent different geographic areas or the various
areas ofnursing pTtlCtice such as education,

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.
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Each Registered Nurse member shall be an
eligible voting resident in this State, licensed in
good standing under the provisions of this
chapter, curreDtly engaged in the practice of
nursing as a Registered Nurse, and shall have bad
no less than five (5) years of experience as a
Registered Nurse, at least three (3) of which
immediately preceded appointment.

Each Licensed Practical Nurse member shall be
an eligible voting resident of this State, licensed in
good standing under the provisions of this
chapter, currently engaged in the practice of
nursing, and shall have had no less than five (5)
years of experience as a Licensed Practical Nurse,
at least three (3) of which immediately preceded
appointment.

Each Adyanced Practice Rcmtered Nurse
member MaJJ be an eligible voting resident of this
State. licensed in mod standjng under the
provisions of this chAPter. currentLY eggaged in the
practice of nursing and maJJ have had go less
thag five (5) years of experience as an Advanced
Practice Rcmtereci Nurse. at least three (3) of
which immediately preceded lP,POintment.

The representatives of the public shall be eligible
voting residents of this State who are
knowledgeable in consumer health concerns, and
shall neither be, nor ever have been, associated
with the provision of health care or be enrolled in
any health related education program.

Membership shall be restricted to no more than
one (1) person who is associated with a particular

CommeDt

administT'alion and clinical practice.

Such special group representlllion and input also
may be achieved through formation of special
advisory comminees.

Registered Nurse _ Licensed Practical Nune.Jl!JJl.
Advanced Prtgtice Rezistered Nurse members
should Juzve sufficient nuning background and
expertise to make appropriate decisions regarding
the complex and technical 11UIttefS within the
Board's jurisdiction. These members also should
Juzve a commitment to the protection and concems
of the public.

AppefJTQ1lce of conflict of interest and, on occasion,
actual conflict of interest implications are raised
when Board members hold elected positions in
professional associations. To avoid any claim of
biDs, the Registered Nurse _ the Licensed
Practical Nune and Advanced Prqctice Rezistered
!:iJIlx members should not be required to be
members of their respective associations.

However, membership in the professional
association tends to reinfOTCe professional
commitment and should not be disCOUlUged.

When Advanced Practice Rezistere4 Nurse licensure
is first jmplemented. goerience in the adVanced
nursinr cate,ories that was rained b({ore the license
Was issued should be considered in "ermininr the
five yean experience required for an Advanced
Practice Rezjstered Nurse Board member.

Consideration should be given to having more than
one (1) member representing the public. The
number chosen should increase as the size of the
Board increases.

In order to assure that public members are truly
independent in their judgment, any person who has
a possible substantial relationship with a health
provider is rendered ineligible by this section.



Article

agency, corporation or other enterprise or
subsidiary at one time.

(c) Members of the Board shall be appointed for
a term of ( ) years.

The present members of the Board holding office
under the provisions of (Act being amended or
repealed) shall serve as members for their
respective terms.

No member shall serve more than two (2)
consecutive full terms. The completion of an
unexpired portion of a full term shall not
constitute a full term for purposes of this section.
Any Board member initially appointed for less
than a full term shall be eligable to serve two (2)
additional consecutive full terms.

An appointee to a full term on the Board shall be
appointed by the Governor before the expiration
of the term of the member being succeeded and
shall become a member of the Board on the first
day following the appointment expiration date.
Appointees to unexpired portions of full terms
shall become members of the board on the day
following such appointment.

Each term of office shall expire at midnight on
the last day of the term of the appointment or at
midnight on the date on which any vacancy
occurs.

If a replacement appointment has not been made,
the term of the Member shall be extended until a
replacement is made.

(d) Any vacancy that occurs for any reason in the
membership of the Board shall be filled by the
Governor in the manner prescribed in the
provisions of this article regarding appointments.
Vacancies created by reason other than the
expiration of a term shall be filled within 0 days
after such vacancy occurs.

A person appointed to fill a vacancy shall serve
for the unexpired portion of the term.

(e) The Governor may remove any member from
the Board for neglect of any duty required by law

xi
Comment

In the event ofpassage of a new act which changes
the size of the Board, provision should be made fOT
carry-over ofBoard members.

This section is intended to continue the staggered
appointment process in effect in most jurisdiction.
However, if a jurisdiction does not have provision
for staggered appointments in the present Act, it is
recommended that this section be revised to provide
for staggered appointment.

This enables the continuity of Board activity.

Any concemed person may file a complaint against
a Board membeT with the approprilJte state agency

National Council of State Boards of Nunin& Inc.
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or for incompetency or unprofessional or
dishonorable conduct.

The general laws of this State controlling the
removal of public officials from office shall be
followed in dismissing Board members.

(1) All members of the Board shall have immunity
from individual civil liability while acting within
the scope of their duties as Board members.

(g) In the event that the entire Board, an
individual member or staff is sued, the Attorney
General shall appoint an attorney to represent the
involved party.

(h) Board meetings and hearings shall be open to
the public. In accordance with the law, the Board
may in its discretion conduct part of the meeting
in executive session closed to the public.

Section 2. POftI'S and Duties. The Board shall:

(a) Have responsibility for enforcement of the
provisions of this Act. The Board shall have all of
the duties, powers and authority specifically
granted by and necessary to the enforcement of
this Act, including subpoena power, as well as
such other duties, powers and authority as it may
be granted by appropriate status;

(b) Be authorized to make, adopt, amend, repeal
and enforce such administrative rules consistent
with law as it deems necessary for the proper
administration and enforcement of this Act and to
protect the public health, safety and welfare.

Comment

or official.

If general laws do !Jl2l address attendance of Board
Members at meetings, it is suggested that attendance
at meetings be addressed in the rules.

Because of the qutlSi-judicial functions of regulatory
boards it may be wise to cite within the law a
clause granting immunity.

Each stole's law should be researched to determine
the power of the legislolure to grant immunity as
expressed in this section.

Most stoles have adopted public meeting laws
which provide for open meetings. The Board
should investigate the content of the public meeting
law in relation to executive sessions.

The provision of executive session for review of
future test items by Board members and staff is
necessary.

An ejfOft should be made to allow for some
freedom within the stolUte to accommodate for
changes in the nature ofpractice which wiD occur
from time to time.

State Administrative Procedure Acts specify
appropriate constitutionally required procedures for
rule ntQ/cing, conducting hearings and other Board
functions that afford the public and affected
itttlivitIN.'s individuals' due process of law in such
matters. Some stoles enact procedural provisions
directly as a part of each nursing act.

Rulemaking authority can only be delegated by
specific statute. Rules (except for inte1pretive



Article

eel Be authorized to make. adam. amend. repeal
and enforce such admjnj;stratiye rule;s mp;sj;stent
with law as it deem;S nccclSHO' for replation of
adyanced nursjg practice.

~ !dl Further be authorized to do the following
without limiting the foregoing:

(i) Enforce qualifications for licensure;

(ii) Develop and enforce standards for
nursing practice and nursing education;

(iii) Examine, license and renew the
licensed of duly qualified individuals;

(iv) Develop standards for continued
competency of licensees continuing in or
returning to practice;

(v) Collect data regarding nursing;

(vi) Implement a disciplinary process;

(vii) Regulate the manner in which nurses
announce their practice to the public;

Comment

statements which are not subject to fonnaJ
lIllemaking process) 1uzve the forre and effect of
law once they have been properly adopted.

Rulemaking authority should be used only as is
necessary to cany out the provision of this Act or to
comply with a legislative mandate.

A DXci(ic and clear luWative man4qte to
promulgqte lilies relgtetl to adyqnced nursinr
practice strrngthens the Board's authority.

The Board of Nursing has a legtll responsibility to
develop essential standards as a basis for evalUllling
safe and effective nursing prtlCtice that protects the
health, safety and weI/are of the public. Other
lUU'Sing groups or organizations nuzy wish to
develop optimal standards for nursing prtlCtice.

The board shall set standards that are legally
defensible as "reasonable and unifonn."

The board with its professiofUll majority makes
these decisions for lUU'Se.

The licensing examination and the frequency and
timing should depend on a nationally established
examination and calendllT.

Consideration of continued competency and
interstate endorsement is included here. each state
Board of Nursing should determine WMn and
under what conditions reexamination nuzy be
required.

This section allows for responsible monitoring and
control of current licensu1f! and assures the public
information on the availability of lUU'Sing resourres
within the state.

This section is not intended as a restriction on a
nurse's right to advertise in a truthful manner or in
any other way that is consistent with constitutiofUll

National Council of Stole Boards of Nursing, Inc.
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(viii) Issue a limited license to practice
nursing subject to such terms and
conditions as the Board may impose;

(ix) Notify all licensees annually about
changes in law and rules regarding
nursing practice;

(x) Maintain records of proceedings as
required by the laws of this State;

(xi) Provide consultation, conduct
conferences, forums, studies and research
on nursing practice and education;

(xii) Appoint and employ a qualified
Registered Nurse to serve as Executive
Director and approve such additional staff
positions as may be necessary, in the
opinion of the board, to administer and
enforce the provisions of this Act;

(xiii) Join organizations that develop and
regulate the national nursing licensure
examinations and exclusively promote the
improvement of the legal standards of the

Comment

interpretlJtion.

To qualify for an initiDJ limited license, a
handicapped person should meet the essential
standtuds of an educational program and other
requirements specified in the statute and
administrative rules.

A licensed nurse who becomes lulndicapped may
also be issued a limited license.

A nurse whose license is under discipline by the
BOllTCl may be issued a limited license if, for some
reason, it is detennined that the licensee is
incapable at the time of safely PTrlCticing the full
scope ofnursing appropriate to the pTrlCtice of a
Registered Nurse ef'L a Licensed PTrlCtical Nurse Q!

Advanced Prqctice Rezistere4 Nurse·

Questions that would estalJlish a candidote's need
for limited licensure should be included on the
initial application for licensure, renewal application
and verification fonn.

Limited licensure provisions should be noted on the
license issued to the individual.

This authorization provides for considerution of
public policy and representation ofpublic concems.
It may also initiate educational schemes to improve
professional and occupational perjonnance.

The BOllTCl can only operate within the limits of
availilble resOU1'Ces and should be staffed to carry
out junctions in a meaninrJul manner.

This section provides an opportunity for the BOllTCl
to participate in the development of nationally
standiudized licensure examinations and to join
with other Member Boards to act on matters of



practice of nursing for the protection of
the public health, safety and welfare;

(xiv) Require such surety bonds as are
deemed necessary;

(xv) Determine and collect reasonable
fees;

(xiv) Receive and expend funds in
addition to appropriations from this State,
provided such funds are received and
expended for the pursuit of the
authorized objectives of the Board of
Nursing; such funds are maintained in a
separate account; and periodic reports of
the receipt and expenditures of such
funds are submitted to the Governor; and

(xvii) Adopt a seal which shall be in the
care of the Executive Director and which
shall be affixed only in such a manner as
prescribed by the Board.

~W This Ad shall not be construed to require
the Board of Nursing to report violations of the
provisions of the Ad whenever, in the board's
opinion, the public interest will be served
adequately by a suitable written notice of warning.

SectIon 3. Executive Director. The Executive
Director shall be responsible for:

(a) The performance of administrative
responsibilities of the Board;

(b) Employment of personnel needed to carry out
the functions of the Board; and

(c) The performance of any other duties as the
Board may direct.

Section 4. Compensation. Each member of the
Board shall receive, as compensation, a
reasonable sum for each day the member is

xv
Comment

common concem, such as inlerstllte etUitN'sement.
The OIgGfIization cumntly recogniud as facilitating
the accomplishment of these gotJls is the NationtIl
Council of State Boards of Nursing.

The titre for the Board's Executive Director may
vary in the Act.

Each Board shall appoint a permanent
administTt:ltive officer or director to perform and
supervise the administTt:ltive duties and
responsibilities of the Board on a daily basis.

Conflict of interest implications must be considered
when the Executive Director serves in an elected
office of a professional organization.

Board members should be reimbursed
commensurate with the duties and responsibilities
of the appointment. It is recommended that an

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.



xvi
Article

engaged in performance of the official duties of
the Board and reimbursement for all expenses
incurred in connection with the discharge of such
official duties.

Comment

amount not be specified in the statute in order to
allow for adjustments in keeping with economic
conditions, unless such specification is required
within the jurisdiction.

Such compensation should be equivalent to that
received by other Boards in the StlIte.



Artlde

Art1de IV. AdmiDlstratlve Procedure Act •
AppUcatloo.

The (state) Administrative Procedure Act is
hereby expressly adopted and incorporated herein
as if all the provisions of such Act were included
in this Act.

xvii
Commeot

The Administrative PrrxeduTf! Act addresses the
funcootlS of fUlemakin& adjudicalWn, and judicilll
Tf!View. These thTee functions comprise basic duties
of the Board and are Tf!levant to its regulation of
nurses.

National Council of Stale Boards of Nursin& Inc.
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Article V. UceDsure

SectIon 1. Each applicant who successfully meets
the requirements of this section shall be entitled
to licensure as a Registered Nurse or Licensed
Practical NW'SCJ or Adyanced Practice Relistered
~ whichever is applicable as follows:

(a) Licensure by EYamination. An applicant for
licensure by examination to practice as a
Registered Nurse or Licensed Practical Nurse
shall:

(i) Submit a completed written
application and appropriate fees as
established by the Board;

(il) Be a graduate of an approved nursing
education program which prepares for the
level of licensure being sought.

(iii) Be proficient in English language if a
graduate of a foreign nursing educational
program;

(iv) Pass an examination authorized by
the Board;

(v) Have committed no acts or omissions
which are grounds for disciplinary action
as set forth in Article IX, Section 2, of
this Act, or if the Board has found after
investigation that sufficient restitution has
been made.

(b) Licensure by Endorsement. An applicant for
licensure by endorsement to practice as a
Registered Nurse or Licensed Practical Nurse
shall:

(i) Submit a completed written
application and appropriate fees as
established by the Board;

(il) Have committed no acts or omissions
which are grounds for disciplinary action
in another jurisdiction or if such acts have

Comment

Designating high school gnutuation or equivalency
is not necessary if all nursing education programs in
a stale require it.

Not all Boards give the exams; however, they
should have the authority to select the exams and
provide the exam administTtztion.

Reference to grounds for discipli1Ul1Y action is used
instead of the phrase "good moral choracter"
frequently seen in such acts. Defining "good moral
character" has caused difficulty in the past, and its
requirements for licensure may not be sustained by
the couns in the future. Reference to specific
grounds included in the Act should be more easily
defined.

These requirements apply the same stilndtuds to
applicants for licensure by endorsement as for those
applicants applying for licensure by examination.
Nurses eduCaled in foreign countries are considered
under the same conditions as are nurses educaled
in the United Stales. This section does not permit
licensure by waiver because requirements as listed
are considered to be the minimal qualifications for
safe and effective practice as a Registered Nurse or
Licensed Practical Nurse.



Article

been committed and would be grounds
for disciplinary action as set forth in
Article IX, Section 2, of this Act, but the
Board has found after investigation that
sufficient restitution has been made;

(iii) Submit proof of graduation from a
Board-approved nursing program;

(iv) Submit proof of initial licensure by an
examination, with the examination having
followed completion of the nursing
education program. The applicant shall
meet this State's examination requirement
in effect when the applicant secured
initial licensure.

(v) Meet continued competency
requirements as stated in Article V,
Section 3, Section 2

(~ licensure for the Adyanced Practice
ReiWered NW'se. An iQm1ic:ant for licensure as
an Advanced Practice RClPstered Nurse shall:

(i) Be currently licensed as a Reeistered
Nurse in Obis iurisdiction):

(ji) Submit a completed written
IPJ)1ication and apprOJlriate feeS as
estahlidted by the Board:

(iii) Provide eyidence of meJuate
education and comply with other
requirements as set forth in rules: and

(iy) Haye committed no acts or omissions
which are mnmds for disciplinary action
as set forth in Article IX. Section 2 of
this Act. unless the Board has found after
investiption that sufficient restitution has
been made.

Section 1. ExamlnatioDS.

(a) The Board shall authorize the administration
of the examination to applicants for licensure as
Registered Nurses or licensed Practic:al Nurses.
The Board shall give due notice in advance of the

xix
Comment

A variety oj methods oj prewrqtion have been
recognized for Advanced fracOce Registered Nurses,
Requirements are outlined in statute and further
tkfined throuzh Boqrd rules·

Boqrd mil)' we pwessional certification as a
qualification for licensure as Icmg as the Boqrd has
estqblished criteria for qcCmODg the certitication
and maintains control oj the licensure Process.
Boqrd cannot cede rgulatory authorilJ' to private
~

NaOonal Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.
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examinations.

(b) The Board may employ, contract and
cooperate with any organization in the preparation
and grading of an appropriate nationally uniform
examination, but shall retain sole discretion and
responsibility for determining the standard of
successful completion of such an examination.
When such a national examination is utilized,
access to questions and answers shall be restricted
by the Board.

The Board shall determine whether an
examination may be repeated, the frequency of re­
examination and any requisite further education.

Section 3. Renewal of IJcenses.

(a) Licenses issued under this Act shall be
renewed every _ years according to a schedule
established by the Board.

(b) A renewal license shall be issued to a
Registered Nurse 81'. Licensed Practical Nurse m:
Advanced Practice Remtered Nurse who
demonstrates satisfactory completion of such
requirements established by the Board to ensure
continued competence and who remits the

COIDmeDt

The National Council holds a position that an
inlegrtl/ed, criterion referenced exam, Le., NCLEX,
can asSUl't competency when passed, no matter how
often it is tllken. On the other hand, there is
indication that the number or writin&S of nonn
referenced tests allowingpartial examination, i.e.,
State Board Test Pool Exmninalion, should be
limited in orfkr to asSUl't the public health, safety
and welfare. The law should be broadly stated so
that the board can set specifics in fUles and request
state-ofthe-art at different points in time.

Annual renewal provides the best process for
trr:Icldng Registered Nurses Mi( Licensed Practical
Nurses qnd Advanced Prqcdce Rezjstere4 Nurses
than less frequent renewal and is, therefore, the best
process relating to the protection of the public's
health, safety, and welfare. However, for logistical
reasons Boards may choose other renewal cycles
that allow the Board time neefkd to carry its other
Board responsibilities.

Annual renewal also provides good statistical dotD
to be used in projecting mtmpOwer needs, mobility
and other trend data for analysis. However, the
cost ofannual renewal may be prohibitive and
biennial renewal may be prefeTTed by some
jurisdictions.

It is recognized that continued competency
requirements for relicenSUTt are complicated by
frequent renewals. Each state should detennine
priorities and establish renewal frequency
accordingly. Because proctices in the health care
delivery system in general and in the fklivery of



required fee.

(c) Failure to renew the license shall result in
forfeiture of the right to practice nursing in this
state.

Section 4. Reinstatement of Lapsed UeeDSeS.

A licensee who has allowed one's license to lapse
by failure to renew may apply for reinstatement
according to the rules established by the Board.
Upon satisfaction of the requirements for
reinstatement, the Board &hall issue a renewal of
license.

Section 5. Temporary Ueenses.

(a) The Board may issue a temporary license to
practice nursing for a period not to exceed ( )
days to a Registered Nurse or Licensed Practical
Nurse currently licensed in another jurisdiction of
the United States, and who is an applicant for
licensure by endorsement, provided the applicant
submits a written application for a temporary
license in accord with the rules of the Board.

(b) The Board may issue a temporary license to
practice nursing to a graduate of an approved
nursing education program, pending the results of
the ftrst licensing examination after graduation.

(c;) The Board mAY issue a temporm license to
practice advanced nvrsin& practice tQ an applicant
whQ submits a written application in accord with
the rules of the Board.

~ !d) Temporary licenses shall not be renewable.

Comment

nuning service in pa1ticular continuously c1uJnge, it
is essential thal nunes maintain a degTee of nuning
competency which assures the public safe and
effective care. Stales may choose continuing
education requirmJents, reexaminatiorr. peer review,
self-assessment techniqua or other such methods of
determining competency.

After extended absences from practice, completion
ofan educational program or other means of
determining continued competency may be
indicatetL If Bomds have established continuing
competency requirements for renewal, such
requirmJents II1'e also approprillle for reinstatement.

The issuing of temponuy licenses lessens the
mantlotory effect of the Act but recognizes the
mobility of the nursing worlc force, the need for
nuning manpower, and the economic needs of
beginning prtlCtitioners and those movingfrom state
to state. Stales may wish to consider issuing
temportl1Y license to graduates of foreign schools of
nuning who have successfully passed the
examination administered by the Commission on
Grtlduotes of Foreign Nuning Schools (CGFNS)
flIId whose education and trtlining II1'e substantially
,rimilor to or higher than the educational standards
for the individual stale. The correlation between
scores on the licellSllTe examinlltion and the
CGFNS examination should be carefully studied
before such provisions II1'e added.

&ecific requirements (or temoorqry liCensure should
be set (orth in q4ministrative rules.

National Council of Stale Bomds of Nuning, Inc.
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SectIon 6. Umited Uceoses.

(a) The Board may issue a limited license to
practice nursing in a restricted manner as
designated by the Board. This licensure is to be
used because of a nurse's inability to practice
safely the full range of nursing.

(b) The Board may issue a limited license only to
practice nursing as part of a nursing education
program. This is allowed when the person
graduated from a nursing program in another
country and is licensed in that country but has not
passed the examination in licensure required in
that state.

SectIon 7. Duties or Uccn8eeS. Each licensee
shall:

(a) In response to Board inquiries, provide
information requested by the Board to perform its
duties in regulating and controlling nursing in
order to protect the public health, safety and
welfare. Failure to provide the requested
information may result in nonrenewal of the
license to practice nursing.

(b) Submit to a physical or mental examination by
a designated ( ) when directed in writing by the
Board for cause. If requested by the licensee. the
licensee may also designate a ( ) for an
independent medical examination. Refusal or
failure of a licensee to complete such
examinations shall constitute an admission of any
allegations relating to such condition. All
objections shall be waived as to admissibility of
the examining ( ) testimony or examination
reports on the grounds that they constitute
privileged communication. The medical testimony
or examination reports shall not be used against a
Registered Nurse et'a licensed Practical Nurse QI

"Advanced Practice ReiPstered Nurse" in another
proceeding and shall be confidential. At
reasonable intervals, a Regislered NYf'8e 8r

Comment

The intent of limited licensure here is to allow fo,
pT'tICtice with restrictions such as limited settin&r.
supervision requirements, limited narcotic
administTrltion for those with physical or mental
impairment, chemical dependence 0' deficits in
pT'tICtice captlbilities. Due process mwt be offered
to the nune before Q license is limited. A nune
may waive due process rights and voluntllrily accept
or request Q limited license.

Colleges and universities have foreign students who
are nurses and who want furthe, nursing education
but do not want American licensure bectlWe they
want to retum to their own countries. These
stueknts are in the BSN completion and graduate
programs. Limiting their pT'tICtice to thIIl controlled
by the educDtionol setting may provide for some
protection to the public while allowing thei,
advanced education.

License holekrs have Q responsibility to cooperate
with Boards in dota collection for statistical
purposes as well as Q responsibility to provide
information concemjng the individual's own status
which may affect his or he, ability to pT'tICtice
nursing safely and effectively.

An examination is helpful in establishing whethe'
CtlWe exists fo, disciplinmy action. There are.
however, safegutuds that should exist for the
licensee, e.g., option of second opinion and
confidentiality of the records. The BODI'd shall
designate the appropriate legally authorized health
care practitioners to perfonn the required services
described in this section of the Act.



ArtIcle

bieeB8ll11 Pfeetieel N_se licensee shall be
afforded an opportunity to demonstrate lftet thll
B_&11 Il&B competence to resume the 88IBPlltllBt

practice of nursing with reasonable skill and safety
to patients.

(c) Report to the Board those acts or omissions
which are violations of the act or grounds for
disciplinary action as set forth in Articles VIII and
IX of this Act.

(d) Report to the Board every adverse judgment
in a professional or occupational malpractice
action to which the licensee is party, and every
settlement of a claim against the licensee alleging
malpractice.

Comment

This establishes mandatory repoTting by nurses of
unlicensed persons or nurses who violate the
Nursing Practice Act.

Expands mandatory repoTting to the inmviduaJ
nurse.

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.



Artide VI. ntles aad Abbrniations.

Section 1. Only those persons who hold a license
to practice nursing in this state shall have the
right to use the following title abbreviations.

Comment

Titles and abbreviations lor examination or
endorsement lor licensure VOl)' from stllte to state.
Some 01 the titles and abbrwiations are:

A. Title: "Registered Nurse" and the abbreviation
"RN"

B. Title: "Licensed Practical Nurse" and the
abbreviation "LPN"

c. TItle: "Advanced Practice RcKistered Nurse"
and the abbreviation "APRN"

Section 2. Any person who has been approved as
an applicant for the licensure examination and has
been granted a temporary license for examinations
shall have the right to use the following
abbreviations.

A. Title: "Graduate Nurse" and the abbreviation
"GN"

B. Title: "Graduate Practical Nurse" and the
abbreviation "GPN"

A.

B.

C
D.

TemportJ1Y Registered Nurse­
TRN/I'emportlly Licensed Practical Nurse
- TLPN
Graduate Nurse - GN/Graduate Prrlctical
Nurse-GPN
Professional Nurse-PNjPrrlctical Nurse-PN
TlVined Nurse-TN/I'Ttlined Practical
Nurse-TPN

Section 3. Any person who has been approved as
an applicant for licensure by endorsement and has
been granted a temporary license shall have the
right to use the title ( ) and abbreviations ( )
designated by the state.

Becouse the Practice Act incorporates the concept
01 mandatory licensure lor the practice 01 nursing
and assures the public tlull those using the titles
Registered Nurse ..... Licensed Practical Nurse i!Jil.
Advanced Prqctice Rezistered Nurse are licensed
and qualified to practice nursing as defined in the
Act, any provision in the Act which permits
temporary liceTlSUTf! should be reflected in titles and
accompanying abbrwiations. These titles and
abbreviations should clearly stipulate the temporary
practice stolUS 01 these authorized individuals.
Other titles which seek to convey a temporary
licensure StolUS but do not include the work
temporary in them can be confusing to the public
and endanger its welfare.
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ArtIcle VII. Appro\'BI of Nuning Education
Programs.

Section 1. Appro\'BI Standards. The Board shall,
by administrative rules, approve the establishment
and condud of and standards for nursing
education programs, including all clinical facilities
used for learning experiences, and shall survey
and approve such programs as meet the
requirements of the Ad and the board
administrative rules.

Section 2. Approval Required. An institution
within this State desiring to condud a nursing
education program shall apply to the Board and
submit evidence that its nursing program is able
to meet the standards established by the Board.
If, upon investigation, the Board finds that the
program meets the established standards for
nursing education programs, it shall approve the
applicant program.

Section 3. PerIodic E\'BIuation of Nursing
Programs. The Board shall periodically resurvey
and reevaluate approved nursing education
programs and shall publish a list of approved
programs.

Section 4. Denial or Withdrawal of Approval.
The Board may deny or withdraw approval or
take such action as deemed necessary when
nursing education programs fail to meet the
standards established by the Board, provided that
all such actions shall be affected in accordance
with this State's Administrative Procedures Ad
and/or the Administrative Rules of the Board.

xxv
Comment

The BOflTd of Nursing in order to safeguard public
health, safety and welfare, should approve the
establishment and conduct of nursing education
programs. The BOflTd should establish standards
for and approve educational programs preparing
persons for the practice of nursing at the
undergraduate and graduate levels. The question of
what constitutes sufficient preparation for the
practice of nursing should be decided by a BOflTd of
Nursing.

Boards of Nursing may wish to utilize an
intermediate approval status, such as conditional
approval, for educational programs that do not fully
meet approval standards. This status denotes that
certain conditions must be met within a designated
time period in order for the program to be fully
approved. Failure to do so would result in
withdrawal of approval. The Board must provide
the program due process prior to withdrawal of
approval.

Conditional approval generally allows educational
programs to continue operation while they worlc
towards meeting the conditions for full approval.
The graduates of conditionally approved programs
should be eligible to take the licensing examinations
and, upon successfully passing the examination,
become licensed.

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.
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Sectloa 5. ReInstatement or Approval. The
Board shall reinstate approval of a nursing
education program upon submission of
satisfadory evidence that its program meets the
standards established by the Board.

Sectloa 6. Promlonal Approval. Provisional
approval of new programs may be granted
pending the licensure results of the first
graduating class.

Comment



ArtIcle VIII. V101aUoas and PeoalUes.

Section 1. V1oIaUoas. No person shall:

(a) Engage in the practice of nursing as defined in
the Ad without a valid, current license, except as
otherwise permitted under this Ad;

(b) Practice nursing under cover of any diploma,
license or record illegally or fraudulently obtained,
signed or issued unlawfully or under fraudulent
representation;

(c) Practice nursing during the time license is
suspended, revoked, surrendered, inactive or
lapsed;

(d) Use any words, abbreviations, figures, letters,
title, sign. card or device tending to imply that he
or she is a Registered Nurse _. Licensed
Practical Nurse or Advanced Practice Remtered
~ unless such person is duly licensed so to
practice under the provisions of this Act;

(e) Fraudulently obtain or furnish a license by or
for money or any other thing of value;

(f) Knowingly employ unlicensed persons in the
pradice of nursing;

(g) Fail to report information relating to
violations of this Ad;

Comment

The regulation of the practice of nursin& including
the control of unlicensed practice in the profession,
has a reasonable and rational relationship to public
health, safety and welfare.

In addition to potential donger to the public health,
safety and welfare, the described acts would also be
considered criminal acts such as fraud, false
representotion and others; and the provision of this
section should be consistent with the general
criminal~~ of the state.

The writ of injunction without bond should be
availalJle to the Board for enforcement of this
section. The practice ofnursing by any person who
has not been issued a license under the provisions
of this Act, or whose license has expired or has
been suspended or revoked, would be a donger to
the public health, safety and welfare.

In addition to any other civi~ criminal or
disciplinary remedy, the Attomey General, the
Board of Nursin& the Prosecuting Attomey of any
county where a person is practicing or purporting to
practice nursing without a valid license, or any
citizen may, in accordonce with the laws of the stale
goveming injunctions, maintain an action to enjoin
that person from practicing nursing until a valid
license is secured

The Board may adopt by rule a schedule for
establishing the amount of civil penalty that may be
imposed for any violation of the statule or any rule
of the Board.

K'7aen the nurse is aware of inappropriate or
questionable conduct including violations of the
state's Nursing Practice Act by another person, the
practice should be reported to the appropriate
authority. The nurse's primary commitment is to

National Council of Stale Boards of Nursin& Inc.
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(h) Conduct a nursing education program for the
preparation sf Resiste.e. NtH'888 8. biee.e.
PMRieel N8N86 for licensure under this chiaPter
unless the program has been approved by the
Board; or

(i) Otherwise violate or aid or abet another
person to violate any provision of this Act.

SectIon 2. Peoalties. Initial violation of any
provision of this article shall constitute a
misdemeanor and each subsequent violation shall
constitute a felony.

SectIon 3. Crimloal Prosecution.~ Nothin&
in this Act shall be construed as a bar to aiminal
prosecution for violation of the provisions of this
Act.

SectIon 4. CIvil PeoaIties. The Board may, in
addition to any other sanctions herein provided,
impose on any person violating a provision of this
Act or Administrative Rules of the Board, a civil
penalty not to exceed ($ ) for each count or
separate offense.

Comment

the patient's core tmd safety. Hence, the nurse
must be alen to and take appropriate action
ff!garding any instances of incompetent, unethical,
or illegal practices that ore not in the patients's best
interests.

Violations of any provision of this statute or
administrative rules adopted thereunder is cause for
disciplinary action against a licensed nurse tmd
when indicated civil penalty may be imposed.

This section is intended to serve as a significant
deterrent to violations of this Act and to ff!cognize
that sanctions imposed must be commensurate with
the wrongful act. In most states, the misdemeanor
sanction is appropriate to achieve both ends; but in
those states wheff! these actions, typically treated as
misdemeanors in most states, ore classified as
felonies, felony sanctions would certainly be
appropriate. The suggested sanction is the strongest
sanction imposed by that state for violations of its
professional licensing statutes, tmd implementation
is to be consistent with the Administrative
Proceduff! Act tmd Administrative Rules.

Implementation is to be consistent with the
Administrative Proceduff! Act and Administrative
Rules.

Implementation is to be consistent with the
Administrative Proceduff! Act and Administrative
Rules.



Article

Article IX. DIscIpline and Proceedings.

SectIon 1. Authority. The Board of Nursing shall
have the power to refuse to issue or renew, to
suspend, revoke, place on probation or reprimand
a licensee for anyone or combination of the
causes on the grounds set forth below. Fines of
up to ($ ) may be imposed.

Section 2. Grounds. The Board may take
disciplinary action against a license that:

(a) Has been convicted by a court or sanctioned
by another board of nursing or has entered a plea
of nolo contendere to a crime in any jurisdiction
that relates adversely to the practice of nursing or
to the ability to practice nursing; or

Comment

This section is intended to establish a mellllS of
disciplining or IHIIWtg lzJl!:!:i!1I from practice persons
who properly should not be pennitted to practice
nursing. Fines should be limited to cases in which
the licensee has made jillQllciai gain as a result of
the violation. They should not be the exclusive
penalty for violations resulting in patient death or
injury or used for grounds involving physical or
mental iUness. RJdes should delineate the specific
conditions for which fines can be imposed.

A disciJ1liniUJ' investigqtjon rezgrdinr the Advanced
Practice Rezjstered Nurse license should also
include review qf other nursing licenseS if
euzplicable. These other licenses mqy or mqy not
also be disciplined depending on the nature qf the
complaint. (E.g.. fqlse documentation mieht result
in concerns ruaaJing alileveis Q,f licensure, whereas
inaqgropriate prescrigtiQ,n mieht Q,nly involve the
Advanced Practice Rezistered Nurse license·)

Section 2 (a), (b) and (c) may not be mutually
exclusive in that practice which is inconsistent with
the standards of nursing practice may also be a
situation tI1ken to court.

Some examples of crimes which would be the basis
for consideration of disciplintuy action are:

1. A felony, as defined by the laws of this
stale;

2 A finding that the licensee is guilty of any
act of moral turpitude or gross immorality
that relates to the individual's nursing
practice;

3. A crime that directly relates to the
prweli1i811eFIJ licensee'S ability to practice
nursing competently and safely; or

4. A violation of the nursing laws, or TIlles
and regulations penaining thereto, of any
state or of the federal government.

National Council ofState Boards of Nursing, Inc.
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(b) Has been disciplined by a Board of Nursing in
another jurisdiction; or

(c) Has engaged in any act inconsistent with the
standards of nursing practice as defmed by board
rules; or

(4) Has violated statutes. rules or reKUlatioDS
related to prescriptive authority.

~W Has practiced fraud or deceit in procuring
or attempting to procure a license to practice
nursing; in filing any reports or completing patient
records, signing any report or records in the
nurse's capacity as a Registered Nurse. 9f-8&-&

Comment

This section may need to be more definitive or
restrictive in some states than in others. Its content
must be developed in light of other state legisllltion
since some states, for example, restrict the
circumstances under which a license may be denied
to an individual because of the commission of a
crime. In addition, an individual who Iuu been
convicted of a crime or an act involving gross
immorality and who Iuu paid his debt to society is
entitled to constitutionlll protection that may prevent
a strict application of Section 2. (a).

The need for specificity in defining the grounds
upon which a license may be revoked or suspended
should be emphasized. The term "unprofessional
conduct" is particularly susceptible to challenge as
being unconstitutionally "ague. Thus, Section 2 (c)
is being proposed as a substitute for unprofessional
conduct, and the administrative rules adopted to
implement this provision, or the act itself, must
define this and all temu in a ltUlIUIer that will
permit reasonable interpretation by persons licensed
under and authorized to enforre this Act.

These potential problems ma/ce it essential that
Boards issue appropriate Administrative Rules
defining the grounds for disciplinary action in
specijic,understllndable and reasonable terms. In
additWn, 1M BOfJI'dl. must ensure that such
Administrative Rules are published for the benefit
of all licensees within their jurisdiction. Only by
doing so can Board assure their authority to take
successful and meaningful disciplinary actions that
will not /Iller be overtumed by the courts.

Boards must be certain that the revised nurse
j11TlCtice act f.Jl'1'Cssly supersedes all conOictinr
provisions q,f other statutes. ruiws and regulations in
this area.



AI1ide

Licensed Practical Nurse or Adyanced Practice
Rcajstered Nurse~ or in submitting any
information or record to the Board; or

~mIs unfit or incompetent to practice nursing
by reason of negligence, habits or other causes; or

~!&lHas diverted or attempted to divert drugs
or controlled substances for unauthorized use; or

~ au Has had a license to practice nursing or to
practice in another health care discipline in
another state denied, revoked, suspended eF

elh8fWi5e .estfieted ,restricted or otherwise
sanctioned. other than by reason of failure to
renew or to meet continuing education
requirements; or

~ ill Has practiced nursing within this state
without a valid current license or as otherwise
permitted under this Act; or

(ij ill Has failed to report to the Board any
violation of this Act or of Board Administrative
Rules; or

~ 00 Has been found by the Board to have
violated any of the provisions of this Act or of
Board Administrative Rules; or

~ ill. Has engaged knowingly in any act which
before it was committed had been determined to
be beyond the scope of the individual's nursing
practice; or

~ !ml Has failed to meet the duties of the
licensee as provided in this Act and Board
Administrative Rules.

Section 3. Procedure. The Board shall establish
a discipline process based on the Administrative
Procedure Act of the State of ( ).

Commeat

Incompetence should be based on a pattem of
practice or beJuwior, not a single incident. This
would include incompetence based on physical or
mental illness.

Since federal employees are often not licensed by
the stale in which they practice, they would be
subject to disciplinary action in the stale in which
they hold a license.

The procedure that must be followed before
disciplinaly action can be takuI is detennined in
most states by an Administrative Procedure Act.
Each Board shall detennine to whDt extent the
disciplinaty procedure needs to be included in the
laws goveming nursing. The requirements of the
state must be investigated carefully when amending
the disciplinaty section of the Act in order to ensure
statutory requirements.

In some states, Administrative Rules goveming
practice and procedure are the appropriate

National Council of State Boards of Nursin& Inc.
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Section 4. Immunity. Any member of the Board
or staff and any person reporting to the Board of
Nursing under oath and in good faith information
relating to alleged incidents of negligence or
malpractice or the qualifications, fitness or
character of a person licensed or applying for a
license to practice nursing shall not be subject to
a civil action for damages as a result of reporting
such information.

The immunity provided by this section shall
extend to the members of any professional review
committee and witnesses appearing before the
committee authorized by the Board to act
pursuant to this section.

Comment

meclulnisms to define these procedures. The
National Council luis developed a model which can
also be used as a basis for developing rules.

In states in which the Board of Nuning does not
have authority to discipline, a provision may be
made for a review panel of Board members to
review the evidence in disciplintllY cases and to
make a recommendation as to the disposition of
the chtll"ge prior to the fino/ disciplinlJly proceeding.
The 1JoaTd (or its agent) shall issue an order on its
findiny;, and its decision and the order shall be
delivered to all concemed parties.

In addition to any available administmtive
remedies, decisions of the Board (or the disciplinlJly
IlUthOrity) may be appealed within 30 dllys from
notification of the decision to any court of
competent jurisdiction as determined by the rules of
civil procedure. The coutt action may be de novo,'
but the record of the Board hearing should be
admissible evidence, and the action should be on
the issues presented before the Board of nursing.
The coutt may allow amendments, however, as
permined by usual rules of the court.

In some states, immunity is already provided under
the stale's Administrative Procedure Act and this
possibility should be considered.



ArtIcle

ArtIcle X. Injunctive Relief.

Section 1. Grounds. The Board is empowered to
petition in its own name to a proper court of
competent jurisdiction for an injunction to enjoin:

(a) Any person who is practicing nursing within
the meaning of this Act from practicing without a
valid license, unless so exempted under Article
XII.

(b) Any licensee who appears to the Board to be
in violation of this Act from practi~.

(c) Any person, finn, corporation, institution or
association from employing any person who is not
licensed to practice nursing under this Act or
exempted under Article XII.

(d) Any person, finn, corporation, institution or
association from operating a school of nursing
without approval.

SectIon 2. Procedure. Upon the ftling of a
verified petition in such court. the court. or any
judge thereof, if satisfied that a violation as
described in Section 1 has occurred, may issue an
injunction, without notice or bond, enjoining the
defendant from further violating this provision.
A copy of the complaint shall be served on the
defendant, and the proceedinw; thereafter shall be
conducted as in other civil cases. In case of
violation of an injunction issued under this Article,
the court, or any judge thereof, may summarily try
and punish the offender for contempt of court.

SectIon 3. Preservation of Other Remedies. The
injunction proceedings herein described shall be in
addition to, not in lieu of, all penalties and other
remedies provided in this Act.

Comment

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.
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ArtIcle XI. ReportiDg Required.

Section 1. All'ected Parties.

(a) Hospitals, nursing homes and other employers
of Registered Nurses -. Licensed Practical
Nurses and Advanced Practice Rcsistered Nurses
shall report to the Board the names of those
licensees whose employment has been terminated
voluntarily or involuntarily for any reasons
stipulated in Article IX. Section l ~.

(b) Nursing associations shall report to the Board
the names of Registered Nurses -. Licensed
Practical Nurses and Advanced Practice
Rcsistered Nurses who have been investigated and
found to be a threat to the public health, safety
and welfare for any of the reasons stipulated in
Article IX. Section 2.

(c) Insurance companies shall report to the Board
any malpractice settlements or verdicts, court
awards or payment of claims based on accusations
of incompetence, negligence, misconduct or other
causes as stipulated in Article IX. Section 2.

Section 2. Court Order. The Board may seek an
order from a proper court of competent
jurisdiction for a report from any of the parties
stipulated in Section 1 of this Article if one is not
forthcoming voluntarily.

Section 3. Penalty. The geeftI B2m:d may seek a
citation for civil contempt if a court order for a
report is not obeyed by any of the parties
stipulated in Section 1 of this Article.

Section 4. Immunity. Any organization or person
reporting, in good faith, information to the Board
under this Article shall be immune from civil
action as provided in Article IX. Section 4.

Comment



ArtIcle

ArtIcle XII. Eumptloos.

No provision in this Ad: shall be construed to
prohibit:

(a) The practice of nursing that is an integral part
of a program by students enrolled in approved
nursing education programs leading to initial
licensure in the practice of nursing.

(b) The rendering of assistance by anyone in the
case of an emergency or disaster;

(c) The practice of any currently licensed
Registered Nurse eF. Licensed Practical Nurse m:
Adyanced Practice Remtered Nwse of another
state in the provision of nursing care in the case
of emergency or disaster.

(d) The incidental care of the sick by members of
the family, friends, domestic servants or persons
primarily employed as housekeepers, provided
that such care does not constitute the practice of
nursing within the meaning of this Ad:;

(e) Caring for the sick in accordance with tenets
or practices of any church or religious
denomination which teaches reliance upon
spiritual means through prayer for healing;

(f) The practice of any currently licensed
Registered Nurse eF. Licensed Practical Nurse m:
Adyanced Practice ReiWered Nurse of another
State who is employed by the United States
government, or any bureau, division or agency
thereof, while in the discharge of official duties;

(g) The practice of any currently licensed
Registered Nurse eF. Licensed Practical Nurse m:
Advanced Practice Reaistered Nurse of another
State who is employed by an individual, agency or
corporation located in another State and whose
employment responsibilities include transporting
patients into, out of, or through this State. Such
exemptions shall be limited to a period not to

Commeat

Only students in programs leading to initial
licensure should be exempted.

All other students, 1UIme1y those in graduate,
refresher counes or certification programs, should
be expected to seek licensure in the jurisdiction
where enrolled in the program; licensure is requited
to ensure thai their practice meets safe minimal
standords and can be a basis for continuing study.

It should be noted tJuIt no exemption is nuzde for
care without compensation. Standords for safe and,
effective care are expected to apply to all care
providers regardless of whether or not it is provided
free ofchorge.

FedeTrJlIaw requires this exemption. This has been
problematic for Boards of Nursing because of the
difficulty of monitoring these 1UU'$es. Stales should
estIJblish a method for identifying 1UU'$es who work
in fedeTrJI facilities as to the currency of the
individuol licenses.

This exemption allows for short-term nursing care
by nurses in the stale on a tTtlnsient basis. TIme
limitalions should be reasonable but restrictive
enough to uphold the mandlltory nature of the Act.

Providing or affecting patient care is the practice of
nursing and should requite in stale licensure for the
protection of the health, safety and welfare of the

National Council ofStale Boards of Nursing, Inc.
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exceed ( ) hours for each transport;

(h) The practice of any currently licensed
Registered Nurse ef. licensed Practical Nurse .Q!

Adyanced Practice ReiWered Nurse of another
state who provides or attends educational
programs or provides consultative services within
this state for a period not to exceed ( ) days.
Neither the education nor consultation may
include the provision of patient care, the direction
of patient care, or the affecting of patient care
policies;

(i) The establishment of an independent practice
by one or more licensed nurses for the purpose of
rendering to patients nursing services within the
scope of their educational preparation and the
scope of the license to practice nursing;

G) The practice of any other occupation or
profession licensed under the laws of this state,
provided that such care does not constitute the
practice of nursing within the meaning of this act.

Comment

state's residents.

Provides for restriction on nursing practice by those
who are not nurses.



ArtIcle

ArtIcle XIII. Revenue, Fees.

SectIon 1. Revenue. The Board is authorized to
establish appropriate fees for licensure by
examination, reexamination, endorsement and
such other fees and fines as the Board determines
necessary.

SectIon 2. DlsposlUoa or Fees. All fees collected
by the Board sha11 be administered according to
the established fiscal policies of this State in such
manner as to implement adequately the provisions
of this Act.

Comment

Some states require thai maximum or minimum fee
limitations be stipulated in the stotute. However, it
is more desirable not to do so in order to enoble
the Board to more readily respond to changing
economic and financial conditions through its
tUlministrrltive rules. Because the Board is subject
to the stlIJe's Administrrltive Procedure Act when
adopting and/or revising its tUlministrrltive rules,
those subject to the fees and fines would be
adequately protected from the establishment of
inappropriate fees.

A board of nursing may be authorized to establish
appropriate fees and fines, or, if it functions within
a state agency concemed with lice1lSU1'f!, this state
agency may establish appropriate fees for all
licensing boards. In either case, there should be
some reference to establishment of fees and fines
within this act. Funds generated by Boards of
Nursing are generally dealt with in one of three
ways:

(l) The Board of Nursing maintains its own
account in a bank or banks of its own
choosing and provides periodic reports to
certain state officials.

(2) The Board of Nursing has its own
dedicated fund within the state treasury.
Though funds are credited to the Board of
Nursing and must be dispersed in
accordance with state law, the funds are in
fact a type of revolving fund and usually
do not terminate at the conclusion of a
specific period, such as the end of a fiscal
year.

(3) The Board of Nursing deposits all funds
received into the general treasury and
receives an appropriation from the state
legislature in the same manner as other
state agencies are funded. In these
instances, the appropriations usually lilpse
at the end of a certain period, and new
appropriations are required.

The general view is that if regulatory activities in
fact selVe a public protective junction, they should

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.
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Section 3. DlspositlOD of FiDes. All fines
collected shall be used by and at the discretion of
the Board for designated projects as established in
the fiscal policy of this state.

Comment

be jifUlllced by appropriations from general
revenues, as tUe other consumer protection
activities, rather than from fees. In addition,
bUdgetary and appropriation processes provide a
legislative and executive check on govemment
agencies and, thus, increase their accountability.
Although budgetary decisions involve politics, the
appropriations process gives elected and appointed
officUUs the power to compel peTjonnance and
results. In most states, every agency of state
govemment is subject to the appropriations process.

Allows the BOQTd at their discntion to use fi1ttI /ilJi.
funds for the BOQTd projects rather than going into
the state's general fund that is used by others.



ArtIcle

ArtIcle XIV. implementation.

Section 1. ElI'ectlve Date. This Act shall take
effect (date).

Section 1. Persons Uceosed Under a Previous
uw.

(a) Any person holding a license to practice
nursing as a Registered Nurse in this State that is
valid on (effective date) shall be deemed to be
licensed as a Registered Nurse under the
provisions of this Act and shall be eligible for
renewal of such license under the conditions and
standards prescribed in this Act.

(b) Any person holding a license to practice
nursing as a Licensed Practical Nurse in this State
that is valid on (effective date) shall be deemed to
be licensed as a Licensed Practical Nurse under
the provisions of this Act and shall be eligible for
renewal of such license under the conditions and
standards prescribed in this Act.

(c) Any person eligible for reinstatement of a
license to practice nursing as a Registered Nurse
or as a Licensed Practical Nurse in this State on
(effective date) shall be deemed to be eligible to
be licensed as a Registered Nurse or as a
Licensed Practical Nurse, respectively, under
provisions under the conditions and standards
prescribed in this Act.

(d) Any person holding a lapsed license to
practice nursing as a Registered Nurse or
Licensed Practical Nurse in this State on (effective
date), because of failure to renew, may become
licensed as a Registered Nurse or as a Licensed
Practical Nurse, respectively, under the provisions
of this Act by applying for reinstatement
according to rules established by the Board of
Nursing. Application for such reinstatement must
be made within ( ) months of the effective date of
this Act.

(e) Those so licensed under the provisions of
Article XIV, Section 2, (a) through (d) above,
shall be eligible for renewal of such license under
the conditions and standards prescribed in this
Act.

Comment

Whell a nuning practice stQtUJe is repealed or
substantially amended, the creation ofprovisions
ellllbling persons licensed under the previous """' to
be licensed under the lIew stIItUte should be
considered. Such a provision is often referred to tIS

a waiver, or "gnIndfalher" provision.

If requiremellts for licensure and titles are changed,
lIew requiremellts can be "waived" and persons
licensed wu:ler the previous law are "grandfathered"
illto lIew titles.

If the requiremellts for licellSW'f! are lIot changed,
the provision is usually simply referred to tIS a
"grandfalher clause." Nurses can be "grandfalhered"
into lIew scopes ofpractice. However, a scope of
practice CQllllot be "waived."

National COUllcil of State Boards of Nursing, Illc.
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(0 New applicants for Adyanced Practice
Rep;tered Nurse licensure as of (effective date of
statute) MalJ meet all requirements set forth in
admjni§1rative rules, Any individual authorized to
practice in an advanced role prior to (effective
date) may be Il'anted an interim license as a
Adyanced Practice Rept;ered Nwse until
completion of additional educational reguirements
set forth by rule. Effective (§pecific ciate). eveD'
Advanced Practice Rpteres1 Nurse ,balJ have
completed all educational regyirements set forth
by rule.

SectIon 3. Severability. The provisions of this
Act are severable. H any provision of this Act is
declared unconstitutional, illegal or invalid, the
constitutionality, legality and validity of the
remaining portions of this Act shall be unaffected
and shall remain in full force and effect.

Section 4. Repeal. The laws specified below are
repealed except with respect to rights and duties
that have matured, penalties that were incurred
and proceedings that were begun before the
effective date of this Act. (List statute(s) to be
repealed; for example, the current nursing
practice act or appropriate sectlon(s».

Comment

Some states mqy have no ¢sting licensure
requirement for advWlced nursing practice or have
used QIIotber 'UU'roqch towqrd recomition oj
practice, Frequently, provisions to """dfather'
persons alrea4>' practicing in a role are provided.

There are tbree qwroqches to implementing
,""lations for a new licensure calewO':

0) All requirrments must be met on tbe dective
dpte q[ the leIislatitm (no f:lTI1Idfatherinr)j

(21 Indiyiduqls practicing at qn q4vqnced level at
the dective dpte q[ tbe legislation mgy aPPlY for
interim licenses on the basis q[ current practice,
After a future dqte certain (riying notice qnd time to
complY), the licensee would be qpectc4 to have
met all requirements (temporrpy "",,dfatbe';"r); or

(3) Individuals practicing at qn q4vQllcc4 level at
tbe dective dpte q[ tbe lalation ma.v 'HlRlY for
licensure on tbe basis q[ tbeir current practice, This
licensure continues as long as licensure rmewal
requirements are met (rrandfathering),'

The temporrpy rrandfqthering proyisjon shown in
(j) provides WROrtunity for nunes to complY with
requirrments whYe sOU aUawing tbem to Practice,
The public is protected because all requirements
will be met within QII identified time frame, This is
tbe recommended IIRRroqch for the modelIQllw.,
However, each iurisdjction n«ds to assess tbe
current educational QIId healtb care environment
QIId select tbe most IMlistic qwroqch for their
situation.
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Report of the Subcommittee to Study Regulatory
Models for Chemically Dependent Nurses

Historical Background
The Subcommittee to Study Regulatory Models for Chemically Dependent Nurses was established in 1988 as a
subcommittee of the Nursing Practice and Education Committee. The subcommittee was charged with the
responsibility to develop a funding proposal to study regulatory models for chemically dependent nurses and the
effectiveness of these models. The anticipated outcomes of the study will provide Member Boards and other policy­
making groups with information that would allow them to identifyan approach that would be mostappropriate in terms
ofrehabilitating chemically dependent nurses and protecting the recipients ofnursing care. The study would examine
rates of return to, or maintenance of, active license status, return to work, and recidivism in terms of characteristics
of the nurse, substance(s) abused, work setting and environment, type of management/rehabilitation model, and cost.

Activities
The chair met with the Nursing Practice and Education Committee during its October 1991 meeting to provide
information about proposal content and announce that it had been submitted to the National Institute of Drug Abuse
(NIDA) on October 1,1991. An overview of the proposal is provided in another section.

In response to notification from NIDA that the proposal was not approved for funding, the subcommittee will meet
in lune 1992 to review evaluative feedback and to identify future directions.

Overview Of Proposed StUdy
A funding proposal entitled, "Workplace and State Policies: Impact on Nurse Drug Abuse" was submitted to the
National Institute of Drug Abuse on October I, 1991. The study, to be conducted over a five-year period, is a
collaborative effort by the Center for Health Policy Research of the George Washington University and the National
Council of State Boards of Nursing. The purpose of the study is to examine the impact of workplace and state
regulatory approaches on nurses identified as having substance abuse problems. The specific aims of the study are to
examine the effects of workplace policies and state disciplinary regulations on the nurse's licensure status,
employment status, and reduction of drug use. In addition, the study proposes to identify risk factors within the
workplace and the nurse's individual and family background that are related to the etiology, maintenance and
recurrence of substance abuse. The study will employ a longitudinal design which will involve a face-to-face
psychialric interview, followed by telephone interviews on a bi-monthly basis over a two-year period. A random
sample of40 nurses will be selected from each of12 states. Six states have been chosen to represent the least punitive
regulatory approaches and six states have been chosen to represent the most punitive approaches. This sample of480
individuals will be followed for 24 months, beginning at the time they are either diverted into a substance abuse
rehabilitation program or formal disciplinary action has been taken against their license. Progress in recovery as well
as changes in the nurses' occupational functioning will be monitored. Datacollection will include interviews, surveys,
urine screens and analysis of the state regulatory process.

Committee Members
lean Sullivan, WA-RN/WA-PN, Area I, Chair
Pat Duphome, NM, Area I
Mary Haack, Consultant
Cennette lackson, GA-RN, Area ill
Marsha Straus, OH, Area n

Staff
Carolyn 1. Yocom, Director 0/Research Services
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Report of the Resolutions Committee

The committee held a conference call on May 13, 1992, to review the two resolutions received. The committee followed
the policies and procedures established by the Board of Directors in reviewing the resolutions for inclusion in the Book
ofRepons.

The committee will meet during the 1992 Delegate Assembly to review any additional resolutions received by 5:00 p.m.
on Thursday, August 20,1992. The committee will conduct the Resolutioos Forum at 8:00 am. on Satmday, August 22,
1992.

Committee Members
Debra Brady, NM, Area I, Chair
Susan Boone, OH, Area II
Joy Fleming, TX·VN, Area ill
Cynthia Flynn Capers, PA, Area IV

Finance Committee Representative
Charlene Kelly, NE, Area II

Staff
Thomas C. Vicek, Director ofOpermions
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Resolution for Endorsement of Nursing's Agenda
for Health Care Reform

WHEREAS, Nursing'sAgendafor Health Care Reform (Agenda) represents a major forward step for the nursing
profession, in expressing the philosophy of nursing that quality of health care should be available to
all; and

WHEREAS, The Agenda's "core of care" is a restructuring of health care resources to be available to everyone
through integration of public and private financial plans/services; and

WHEREAS, The Agenda's call for planned change incorporates steps to reduce health care costs, the use of case
management to deaease the fragmentation of health care, provisions for long term care, and reforms
in insurance plans; and

WHEREAS, The Nursing's Agenda for Health Care Reform has been endorsed by at least 45 national nursing
organizations; and

WHEREAS, The National Council is comprised of regulatory agencies which are charged with the responsibility
to protect the public health, safety and welfare through the regulation of nursing practice; and

WHEREAS, Regulatory boards, which are charged to protect the public health, safety and welfare, should support
all concepts which affectbroaderdelivery ofcareand preventativemeasures in the health caredelivery
system for all; and

WHEREAS, New approaches to health care and health promotion will certainly require regulatory change, thus
impacting nursing and other regulatory bodies; and

WHEREAS, Through active participation in the change process, inputas to the regulatory implications for Member
Boards would assist in a positive outcome rather than deter from the plan; now therefore, be it

RESOLVED, That the National Council of State Boards ofNursing, Inc., endorses the Nursing's Agendafor Health
Care Reform.

Submitted by
Pennsylvania State Board of Nursing

Resolution Committee Action
Recommendation to not adopt because certain aspects of the resolution are not in keeping with the National COWlcil's
mission statement.

The Fiscal Impact Statement follows on pages six and seven.

The committee has added an Executive Summary ofNursing's Agenda for Health Care Reform on the following two
pages.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.lI992
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Nursing's Agenda for Health Care Reform

Executive Summary

America's nurses have long supported our nation's efforts to create a health care system that assures access, quality, and
services at affordable costs. This document presents nursing's agenda for immediate health care reform. We call for
a basic "core" ofessential health care services to be available to everyone. We call for a restructured health care system
that will focus on the consumers and their health, with services to be delivered in familiar, convenient sites, such as
schools, workpIaces, and homes. We call for a shift from the predominant focus on illness and cure to an orientation
toward wellness and care. The basic components of nursing's "core of care" include:

• A restructured health care system which:

Enhances consumeraccess to services bydelivering primary health care in community-basedsettings.
Fosters consumer responsibility for personal health, self care, and informed decision-making in
selecting health care services.
Facilitates utilization of the most cost-effective providers and therapeutic options in the most
appropriate settings.

• A federally-defmed standard package of essential health care services available to all citizens and residents of
the United States, provided and financed through an integration of public and private plans and sources:

A public plan, based on federal guidelines and eligibility requirements, will JX'Ovide coverage for the
poor and create the opportunity for small businesses and individuals, particularly those at risk because
of preexisting conditions and those potentially medically indigent, to buy into the plan.
Aprivate plan will offer, ataminimum, thenationally standardized package ofessential services. This
standard package could be enriched as a benefit of employment or individuals could pun:hase
additional services if they so choose. Ifemployers do not offer private coverage, they must pay into
the public plan for their employees.

• A phase-in of essential services, in order to be ftseally responsible:

Coverage of pregnant women and children is critical. This fIrSt step represents a cost-effective
invesbllent in the future health and prosperity of the nation.
One early step will be to design services specifically to assist vulnerable populations who have had
limited access to our nation's health care system. A "Healthstart Plan" is proposed to improve the
health status of these individuals.

• Planned change to anticipate health service needs that correlate with changing national demographics.

• Steps to reduce health care costs include:

Required usage of managed care in the public plan and encouraged in private plans.
Incentive for consumers and providers to utilize managed care arrangements.
Controlled growth of the health care system through planning and prudent resource allocation.
Incentives for consumers and providers to be more cost efficient in exercising health care options.
Development of health care policies based on effectiveness and outcomes research.
Assurance of direct access to a full range of qualified providers.
Elimination of unnecessary bureaucratic controls and administrative procedures.

• Case management will be required for those with continuing health care needs. Case management will reduce
the fragmentation ofthe present system, promoteconsumers' activeparticipation indecisions about theirhealth,
and create an advocate on their behalf.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.ll992
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• Provisions for long term care, which include:

Public and private funding for services of short duration to prevent personal impoverishment.
Public funding for extended care if consumer resources are exhausted.
Emphasis on the consumers' responsibility to financially plan for their long term care needs. including
new personal financial alternatives and strengthened private insurance arrangements.

• Insurance reforms to assure improved access to coverage. including affordable premiums, reinsurance pools
for catastrophic coverage. and other steps to protect both insurers and individuals against excessive costs.

• Access to services assuredby no payment at the pointofservice and elimination ofbalance billing inboth public
and private plans.

• Establishment of publicJprivate sector review - operating under federal guidelines and including payers.
providers. and consumers - to determine resource allocation. cost reduction approaches. allowable insurance
premiums, and fair and consistent reimbursementlevels for providers. This review would progress in a climate
sensitive to ethical issues.

Additional resources will be required to accomplish this plan. While significant dollars can be obtained through
restructuring and other strategies. responsibility for any new funds must be shared by individuals. employers. and
government. phased in over several years to minimize the impact.

The Executive Summary was published by the National League for Nursing. 350 Hudson Street, New York, NY 10014.
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NATIONAL COUNCIL OF STATE BOARDS OF I'URSING. INC.

ASCAL IMPACT STATEMENT - DESCRIPTION

TITLE OF PROPOSAL: Resolution for Endorsement of Nursing's Agenda for
Health Care Reform

Propos.ed by: Pennsylvania State Board Name Christine Alichnie. BN, PhD
of Nursing

Date April 15. 1992 CoamUttcc--l:Nu/:.J.A:L- _

W'dl thi$ proposal aeaccllC rc¥CllUC? Please dcsaibe below:

EXPENSES

L Does thi$ pcoposal require a COIIlJIlittec? --:N""O:..- _

How many members are lIDticipated iDdudiDg lhc cbairpcnoa.? _

How often wou1d the ClOIIUIIincc meet?-----
2. How many mailings would this proposa1 require? Information may be incorporated

in the current newsletter/mailings
To whom? _

3. Printing (surveys, special reports, etc.) Please describe:

4. Other than committee meetings, is traYe1 required? _

Please desat'be: Travel would be incorporated into already scheduled
meeetings, such as Tri-Council, ANA, and NLN meet1ngs

5. What type of coosu1tation is required (Le~ legal, computer, etc.)?

OriginallY, National Council may desire legal consultation to

plans. The resolution is a philosophical support stance 1n
behalf of the concept for health care reform.

rev1ew the Agenda for Health Care Reform. Bas1cally, most or
the grass roots will occur at the state level for implementation

6. Other. Please describe:

7. Projected beginning dale: Project stop and start dates may not be appl icable
since the resolut1on 1S only a philosophical

Projected completion dale: support of a concept to health care reform.

KJH/md/021291
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Resolution for Endorsement ot Nursing's Agenda for Health
TITLE Of PROPOSAL:,---:C=:Ja~r:!:,;e=--...,R"",e-=f-",o:.::rm=- _

flSCAL IMPACT - SUMMARY
REVENUE

N/A
I $,---------------­

$,---------------
EXPENSES The maker of the resolution foresees cost expenditures to be

incorporated into current operational expenses, example
travel to Tri-Council meetings.

A DIRECT COST

L Committee Meetipes

$875 per member airfare It (# of members) It (# of mectiDgs) • $, _

S225 per day per diem It (# of members) It (# of days) - $, _

S225 per telephone conference It (# of Telephone ConfereDccs) • $, _

2. Mailing

$032 per letter It (# of mailings) It (# mailed) • $, _

$2.SO per 9 It U manila CII\'eIope (F'arst Oass) It (# of mailiDgs) It _

(#m~~)=$, _

$9.75 per Overnight M~ It (# of mailiDgs) It (# ~~) • $, _

3. Printine and CoP»n&

A (# of reports) x (# of pages) = Total pages

B. (total # of pages) x $O.os '" $, _

4. Other Travel

$875 per person airfare It (# of persons) x (# of mectiDp) - $, _

S225 per day per diem It (# of persons) It (# of days) • $, _

5. Consultation

A 1.&gal Fees

$200 per hour It (# of hours) lt~ (# of meetings) '" $, _

B. Other Consultation

$ per hour It (# of hours) x (# of meetings) = $, _

6. Other

$, per It = $, _

B. INDIRECT COST

1. ProCessional and support time requir~:

Total hours = $, _

Total Revenue: $ _

Total Expenses: $ _

Net: $ _

Indirect Cost: $ _

KJH/mct/03192
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Resolution on Financing Jurisdictional Participation
at Delegate Assembly

WHEREAS, Econmnic conditions have impacted negatively on jwisdictional representation to the National
COWlcil of State Board of Nursing's Delegate Assembly during the past two years; and

WHEREAS, The continuing legitimacy, stability, and qualitative outcome of the National Council's Delegate
Assembly decision-malcing process is dependent on representation from each jurisdiction; now,
therefore, be it

RESOLVED, That the Board ofDirectors of the National Council shall assure such representation by developing a
means to fmance the annual participation of a representative of each jurisdiction in the Delegate
Assembly beginning in 1993.

Submitted by
Delaware Board of Nursing

Resolution Committee Action
Submitted without recommendation.

The Fiscal Impact Statement follows on pages ten and eleven.

A summary of the Finance Committee's Member Board Survey on modes and costs ofparticipation in the Delegate
Assembly will be provided in a subsequent mailing prior to the Delegate Assembly.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.ll992
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NATIONAL COUNCIL OF STATE. BOARDS OF l"URSII"G. INC.

ASCAL IMPACT STATEMENT· DESCRIPTION

TITLE OF PROPOSAL: Resolution on Financing Jurisdictional Participation
at Delegate Assembly

Proposed by: Delaware Board of Nursing Namc Maureen Lauterbach, President

D~c April 14, 1992
Commiltee. _

Will this proposal geactale revcaue? ~N!.:::o:.._ _

EXPENSES

L Does this proposal require a committee? _N~o:..-__

How maay members Ill: uticipalcd iDdudiDg the cbairpcrsoIl? _

How often would the ClOIDIIIittcc meet? _

2. How many mailings would this proposal require? _

To whom?-----------------------------
3. Printing (SUlVCys, special reports, etc.) Please dcsc:ribc::

4. Other than committee mcetiogs, is travel required?

Please describe: _

5. What type of CODSullatioD is required (LC. legal. compUler. etc.)?

6. Olher. Please describe:

7. Projectcd beginning date: 1993 De lega te As semb 1y

Projecled eomplelion dale: Continuing Thereafter

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, IncJJ992
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TITLE OF PROPOSAL: Resolution on Financing Jurisdictional Participation
at Delegate Assembly

FY 1993 FISCAL IMPACT· SUMMARY
REVENUE

$,--------------­
$---------------

EXPENSES

A DIRECt COST

1. Committee MeetinD
$875 per member airfare x 62 (# of members) x 1 (# of meetings) • S5 4 « 2 5 0

S22S per day per diem x 62 (# of members) x 3 (# of days) • $ 41, 850

S22S per telephone c:oafereDcc x (# of Telephoae CoDfercDCCS) • $, _

2. M,mnp

SO.32 per letter x (ill of mailiDgs) x (# mailed) • $, _

S2.SO per 9 x 12 mauila eDYClope (FIrSt Class) x (# of mailiDgs) x _

(# mailed) = $ _

$9.75 per <hemigbt Mail x (# of mailiDgs) x (# mailed) .. $, _

3. Printin& and CopyjD&

A (# of reports) x (# of pages) .. Total pages

B. (total # of pages) x SO.05 = $, _

4. Other Travel

S87,5 per persoD airfare x (ill of persons) x (# of meetings) .. $ _

$225 per day per diem x (ill of persons) x (ill of days) .. $ _

5. Consultation

A Legal Fees

$200 per hour x (# of hours) x~ (# of meetings) .. $ _

B. Other Consultation

$ per hour x (# of hours) x (ill of meetings) = $ _

6.~ Conference Registration Fee

$ 325 « per x 6""'2:...- = $ 20, 150

B. INDIRECT COST

1. Professional and support time required:

, Total hours .. $ _

Total Revenue: $ _

Total Expenses: S 116 « 2 5 0

Net: $ _

Indirect Cost: $ _

KJH/mct/03192
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Summary of 1991 Delegate Assembly Action and
Subsequent Implementation

The 1991 Delegate Assembly passed motions directing:

1.a. That computerized adaptive testing (CA1) be the examination method for all National COWlcil licensure
examinations, NCLEX.

A CAT master plan for December 1991 through July 1993 has been created and disseminated. To date, all steps
in the plan have been implemented. The Board of Directors bas monitored implementation at each Board
meeting. Details are included in the Board of Directors' report to the Delegate Assembly and opportunity for
questions will be given at the Board's forum at the AnnualMeeting. FourCATComnwniques have beenpublisbed
to Member Boanls, to provide updates on activities.

1.b. That the conversion from paper-and-pencil to CAT occur at one point in time for all jurisdictions.

This fact was communicated to potential vendors in the Request for Proposals (RFP). All bidders have
incorporated it into their proposals.

1.c. That the National Council will contract with a national vendor(s) for the CAT administration of NCLEX in all
jurisdictions.

The RFP was issued in September 1991. Five responses from qualified vendors were received. The three
proposals best meeting the established criteria were identified by the Board of Directors in February 1992, and
contract negotiations are underway with all companies so that final terms of each vendor's services can be
announced to the delegates prior to the 1992 Annual Meeting.

1.d. That the transition timeline be established following the receipt of proposals from qualified vendor(s) so that
implementation occurs at a point mutually agreed upon between the National Council and the selected vendor(s) but no
sooner than November 1993.

All bidders have proposed implementation dates in early 1994, subject to meeting the "go/no go" criteria to be
established by the 1993 Delegate Assembly. Specific dates will be included in informational materials
regarding the proposals.

I.e. That the Board of Directors be authorized to negotiate a contract extension with CTB MacMilIanlMcGraw-Hill for
paper-and-pencil administration, if necessary, to provide services during the transition between July 1993 NCLEX-RN
and implementation of CAT. The contract is to be negotiated at a price not to exceed the current test service prices,
providing certain conditions are met reganling the number of examinations to be covered during the transitional period
and the candidate volume does not significantly decrease.

CTB has been notified of the National Council's desire to extend paper-and-pencil administrations through at
least October 1993. The identification ofadditional examinations for paper-and-pencil is awaiting the Delegate
Assembly's selection of a vendor.

National Council olState Boards olNursing, Inc.lI992
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2. lOOtresearcb and development on computerized clinical simulation testing (CSn becontinued within a three- to tOIlt·

year time frame and includeannual reports to the Delegate Assembly which evaluate progress and implications for futlJn;~

development.

A second proposal requesting a grant, over a three-year period, was submitted to the W.K. Kellogg Foundation
in October 1991. Action on the request is anticipated in August or October 1992, at the earliest An additional
proposal requesting supplemental funding for the project was submitted to the Helene Fuld Health Trust in
February 1992. We have been notified that final action on this request will not be taken until the outcome of
the Kellogg Foundation's review is known. Please see the report of the Steering Committee, CST Project, for
details of the research efforts during the past year. Due to the Kellogg Foundation's delay in taking action
regarding our request for grant funds, it is anticipated that the second phase of CST research will not be
completed until spring 1996, at the earliest.

3. lOOt the National Council providecomputerlinkageallowing Member Boards tohaveaccess to theNational Council's
Disciplinary Data Bank.

Following the completion of the pilot of electronic access to the data bank in 1991, the facility for access
remained in place for any interested users. Following redesign of the data bank and conversion ofexisting data
to the new computer system, Member Boards will have the capability of accessing the data bank via dial-up
telephone lines.

4.a. That the bylaws be amended to allow that "The President shall have served as a delegate or comminee member or
an officer prior to being eleeted to the office."

This change was publisbed to Member Boards following the 1991 Delegate Assembly and in materials
regarding nominations for office.

4.b. lOOt the bylaws be amended to allow that "The Comminee on Nominations shall submit a slate ofcandidates for
the positions to be.filled..."

This amendment allows a slate to be submitted with possibly only one candidate per office, and was made due
to the committee's difficulties in prior years with obtaining the required two candidates pet office. The slate
as submitted (see report ofCommittee on Nominations) includes multiple nominations for all positions except
one (Area IV, Committee on Nominations).

5. That the bylaws be adopted to create a six-member set of alternate members to the Examination Committee. An
alternate can be called upon at any time to serve temporarily as a member. Alternates may serve on the Examination
Committee a total of twelve consecutive years, with a maximum of six consecutive years as a [regular] committee
member.

The current set ofalternates to the Examination Committee consists of four fOlDler members of the committee.

6. lOOt the Delaware Board of Nursing be authorized to administer the Na.EX-PN in Germany to qualified 91Cs in
October 1991, October 1992 and October 1993.

The Delaware Board administered the NCLEX-PN to 44 91Cs in Landstuhl, GeIDlany, in October 1991.
Compliance with all security measures was certified and no unusual incidents were reported.

7. That future NCLEX-RN and NCLEX-PN administrations be analyzed for the relationship between time, English
proficiency and perfOlDlaIlce on the examinations, with results reported to the 1992 Delegate Assembly, including data
from CAT-RN field tests.

Data regarding time and English-as-a-Second-Language (ESL) were collected beginning with the February
1992 NCLEX-RN. A report analyzing the February examination results is included in the Board of Directors'
report; a report analyzing April results will be sent to Book ofReports holders in a supplemental mailing.
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8. Tba1 the National Council study issues related to the use oflicensure examinations in Manitoba and other similarly
situated provinces/countries and that a report describing the options be presented to the 1992 Delegate Assembly.

The report on this issue is included in the Board of Directors' report, with options and a recommendation.

9. Tba1 the National Council review the agenda for the Annual Meeting, beginning with the 1993 Annual Meeting, and
consider condensing the time to accomplish the business meeting within three calendar days.

Changes that were possible to make in the 1992 scbedule, given existing contracts, have been made to shift the
time of the Annual Meeting closer to the weekend; the business meetings for the Delegate Assembly occur
between Wednesday and Saturday, with educational pre-sessions on Tuesday. For 1993, the meeting bas been
planned in keeping with the resolutioo; all business will be conducted 'Ihursday through SalUrday, August 5-7, 1993, in
Orlando, A<Xida.

10. That the Executive Director of the National Council write a letter to Governor Stepbens and Montana Board
President, Elizabeth Campo, to express the National Council's position in unequivocal terms regarding the importance
of the integrity of the regulatory board's disciplinary process, and that the National Council believes that any single
board's disciplinary process that is based on state statutes and practice act is an expression of the National Council's
commitment to the protection of the public health, safety and welfare.

A letter in accord with the resolution was sent to Governor Stepbens and Elizabeth Campo on August 19, 1991.
All Member Boards received a copy. No inquiries or responses were received regarding the letter.

11. That, given the November 1993 expiration of the contract with The Psycbological Corporation (fPC), the Delegate
Assembly direct the Board ofDirectors to select and contract with a test service for the NACEP for the period beginning
with the expiration of the current contract.

The Board of Directors, with the NACEP Committee, identified specific criteria for renegotiation with The
Psycbological Corporation (of whicb TPC bas been informed), and another set for issuance of a Request for
Proposals. In order to avoid dealing with renegotiation or RFP development concurrent with the CATproposal/
negotiation process, and to allow TPC to bonor longer-tenn contracts with states wbicb it bad negotiated, the
Board extended the contract with TPC for one year. The decision regarding renegotiation vs. issuance of an
RFP will be on the Board's agenda for a future meeting.

12. Adoption of specific dates and alternate dates for licensure examinations in the year 2001.

The dates were publicized to Member Boards and other affected parties.

13. That there will be no cbange in the NCLEX-PN Test Plan.

This decision was publicized in a newsrelease and Issues following the Annual Meeting.

14. To adopt the "Conceptual Framework for Continued Competence" and "Nursing Care in the School Setting:
Regulatory Implications" papers.

The adoption of these papers was announced in a newsrelease following the Annual Meeting. The papers were
disseminated to Member Boards and made available to others upon request.
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Goal I.

NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

Develop, promote, and provide relevant and Innovative services.

1

Objective A.

Strategy 1.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

g.

Strategy 2.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

Develop licensure examinations that are based upon current accepted psychometric principles
and legal considerations.

Collect data relative to competencies for nursing practice.

Monitor the entry into practice issue and present an updated report to the Delegate Assembly
annually. (NPE) Funded under Nursing Practice and Education Committee.

Conduct research on the job-relatedness of the licesnure examinations. (ST) Funded under
Research.

Perform evaluation of job analysis data collection instrument and pilot test revisions. (ST)
Funded under Research.

Plan for implementation of role delineation study in FY93. (ST) Funded under Research.

Plan for conduct of RN Job Analysis in FY93. (ST) Funded under Research.

Review outcomes of evaluation of job analysis data collection tool and review plans for
conducting the FY93 entry-level RN Job Analysis and the Role Delineation Study. (JAMP)
Funded under Job Analysis Monitoring Panel.

Collect and complile supplemental data for PN and RN standard setting. (ST) Funded under
NCLEX support costs.

Establish the directions for the development of licensure examinations based on ongoing job
analysis and role delineation studies.

Determine the psychometric properties of the licensure examinations. (EC) Funded under test
service contract and NCLEX support costs.

Monitor development of licensure examinations and recommend modifications as necessary.
(EC) Funded under test service contract and NCLEX support costs.

Report on NCLEX item pool studies and need for item writers and panel of content experts.
(EC) Funded under test service contract and NCLEX support costs.

Monitor compliance of NCLEX test service with contract provisions. (BOD) Funded under
NCLEX support costs.

Review and report the effectiveness of current statistical approaches to reducing potential bias
in the licensure examinations. (EC) Funded under NCLEX support costs and test service
contract.

see AppendIX A for Key to ResponSible Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses



f.

g.

Strategy 3.

a.

b.

Strategy 4.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

g.

h.

1.

j.

NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

Evaluate NCLEX-PN dimensionality. (CfB, EC) Funded under test service contract and
NCLEX support costs.

Investigate measurement scale stability of the licensure examinations. (CfB, EC) Funded
under test service contract.

Continue to develop test plans for licensure examinations that are based on current nursing
practice.

Review and revise Guidelines for NCLEX-PN Item Writers. (EC) Funded under NCLEX
support costs and Publications.

Continue development of operational definitions to guide the coding of items to the test plan.
(EC, erE) Funded under test service contract.

Implement computerized adaptive testing for the licensing examinations.

Oversee transition to CAT. (CAT) Funded under CAT designated fund.

Identify, appoint, and delineate responsibilities of CAT committees and teams. (BOD) Funded
under Board of Directors.

Provide direction to and monitor activities of CAT committees and teams. (BOD) Funded
under Board of Directors.

Plan and conduct communication activities for CAT. (CElT) Funded under CAT designated
fund.

Issue requests for proposals (RFPs) for potential vendors for CAT. (BOD) Funded under CAT
designated fund.

Develop evaluation tool and evaluate vendor proposals for testing services. (PET) Funded
under CAT designated fund.

CoUect proposals for beta tests from vendors with the RFP. (BOD) Funded under CAT
designated fund.

Review proposals from potential vendors for CAT, and select most qualified bidders with whom
to negotiate contracts for presentation to 1992 Delegate Assembly. (BOD) Funded under
CAT designated fund.

Negotiate contracts with the selected vendors. (NT) Funded under CAT designated fund.

Present to the 1992 Delegate Assembly for selection negotiated contracts with potential CAT
test services. (BOD) Funded under CAT designated fund.

see AppendIX A for Key to ResponSIble Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses



k.

NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

Plan for CAT-PN field testing. (CAT-PN) Funded under CAT designated fund.

3

1.

m.

n.

o.

p.

Strategy 5.

a.

Edit PN item pool as provided by CfB and create CAT-PN item pool for field testing. (CAT­
PN) Funded under CAT designated fund.

Develop policies related to item pool characteristics required for transition to CAT. (CAT,
EC) Funded under CAT designated fund.

Develop additional test items in preparation for CAT. (CfB) Funded under test service
contract and NCLEX support costs.

Test and evaluate CAT software after the database conversion. (ST) Funded under CAT
designated fund.

Report to 1992 Delegate Assembly status of transition activities regarding CAT. (CAT, BOD)
Funded under CAT designated fund.

Investigate the feasbility of computerized clinical stimulation testing (CST) for initial and
continued licensure.

Continue research and development on CST and report to the 1992 Delegate Assembly on
progress evaluation and implications for future development. (CST) Funded under CST
restricted funds.

b. Continue CST database development and model modifications, and fmalize model. (ST)
Funded under CST restricted funds.

c. Begin process to identify pilot study subjects and sites. (CST) Funded under CST restricted
funds.

See Appendix A for Key to Responsible Pany.
denoted by initials in parentheses



Goal I.

Objective B.

Strategy 1.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

Strategy 2.

a.

NATIONAL COUNcn. OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22,1991

Develop, promote, and provide relevant and innovative services.

Establish policies and procedure for the licensing examinations in nursing.

Develop policies and procedures for computer-based testing.

Continue the development of policies and procedures for computer-based testing. (AEC, EC,
CST, CAT) Funded under CAT designated and CST restricted funds and NCLEX support
costs.

Prepare to recommend policies related to security measures for computer-based testing to 1993
Delegate Assembly. (AEC) Funded under CAT designated and CST restricted funds.

Include consideration of results from CAT-RN field test with respect to English as a Second
Language (ESL) in reporting to 1992 Delegate Assembly on CAT policy formulation. (BOD)
Funded under NCLEX support costs.

Develop procedures for customizing CAT item pools that minimize the possibility of duplication
or omission of content. (CTB, EC) Funded under test service contract and NCLEX support
costs.

Monitor activities developed to enhance the face validity of the CAT item pool. (EC) Funded
under test service contract and NCLEX support costs.

Evaluate policies and procedures for the licensure examinations.

Analyze future NCLEX-RN and NCLEX-PN examinations for the relationship between time,
English proficiency (of ESL candidates) and performance on the examination, and report the
results to the 1992 Delegate Assembly. (BOD) Funded under NCLEX support costs.

b. Monitor the plan for Crisis Management. (AEC) Funded under Administration of
Examination Committee.

c. Set NCLEX future dates/alternate dates and report to Delegate Assembly. (AEC) Funded
under Administration of Examination Committee.

d. Develop criteria for, monitor and evaluate the Bias Sensitivity Panel Review activities and the
effects on the licensure examination. (EC) Funded under Examination Committee.

e. Review existing policies and procedures for test development and administration. (EC, AEC)
Funded under Examination Committee and Administration of Examination Committee.

f. Monitor administration of examination in Germany by the Delaware Board. (AEC) Funded
under Administration of Examination Committee.

see AppendIX A for Key to ResponSIble Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses



NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

5

g. Visit examination administration sites. (AEC) Funded under Administration of Examination
Committee.

h. Negotiate with CfB as needed for paper/pencil test service for FY93 and beyond. (BOD)
Funded under Board of Directors.

i. Identify essential components of Member Board contracts for 1993 and beyond; submit to 1992
Delegate Assembly for approval. (BOD) Funded under NCLEX support costs and Board of
Directors.

J. Re-evaluate RN passing standard. (BOD) Funded under NCLEX support costs and test
service contract.

k. Investigate appropriateness of maximum of50% fIrst-time real items on licensure examinations.
(CfB, EC) Funded under test service contract and NCLEX support costs.

1. Investigate whether the population reference group for statistics should include fIrst-time,
foreign candidates. (CfB, EC) Funded under test service contract and NCLEX support costs.

m. Evaluate compliance with Security Measures and investigate and report noncompliance. (AEC)
Funded under Administration of Examination Committee.

n. Review and comment on ESL research. (EC, AEC) Funded under NCLEX support costs.

see AppendIX A for Rey to ResponSIble Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses



Goal I.

Objective C.

Strategy 1.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

Strategy 2.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

Strategy 3.

a.

b.

c.

NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

Develop, promote, and provide relevant and innovative services.

Provide consultative services for National Council members, groups, agencies, and individuals
regarding the safe and effective practice of nursing.

Expand and promote orientation and educational programs for Member Boards.

Review survey fmdings on educational programs at annual meeting and propose programs, if
appropriate. (CC) Funded under Communications Committee.

Prepare and present planning session for Board of Directors and committees. (BOD) Funded
under Fall Planning Retreat.

Explore systematic mechanism for orientation of new executive directors and strengthening of
current executive directors' ability to carry out their responsibilities. (CC) Funded under
Communications Committee.

Participate in NCLEX Invitational Conferences. (CTB) Funded under test service conrract and
NCLEX support costs.

Provide orientation materials and programs for new staff and Board Members of Memhcr
Boards. (CC) Funded under Communications Committee.

Meet the consultation needs of Member Boards.

Promote the Resource Network. (ST) Funded under Resource Network.

Participate in providing Resource Network services. (ST) Funded under Resource Network

Maintain a current Resource Network Team. (ST) Funded under Resource Network.

Stimulate greater use of NCSBN resources by updaring members on available services. (ST)
Funded under Public Relations.

Publish and routinely distribute staff resource list. (ST) Funded under Publications.

Monitor the health care delivery system to evaluate implications for safe and effective practice.

Monitor current publications, meerings, conferences, workshops, etc., in the health care arena.
(ST) Funded under Public Relations.

Respond and review on behalf of National Council to issues regarding regulatory implications
of proposals affecting the health care sysrem. (BOD) Funded under Board of Direcrors.

Collect information regarding HIV, AIDS issues and monitor trends in HIV, AIDS legislation.
(NPE) Funded under Nursing Practice and Education Committee.

see AppendIX A for Key to ResponSible Pany,
denoted by initialS in parentheses



NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (}Y92)
as of October 22, 1991

7

Strategy 4.

a.

b.

c.

d.

Strategy 5.

a.

b.

c.

Strategy 6.

a.

b.

c.

Strategy 7.

a.

Continue to disseminate National Council statements on trends and issues affecting nursing
education and nursing practice.

Prepare, publish and disseminate Emer~nK Issues as directed by Board of Directors. (ST)
Funded under Publications.

Make available previously published position papers on advanced practice, unlicensed personnel,
delegation, peer assistance programs, continued competence, and school nursing. (ST) Funded
under Publications.

Continue to alert Member Boards to potential issues in the health care policy arena. (BOD)
Funded under Publications.

Plan approaches related to education and practice of handicapped nurses. (NPE) Funded
under Nursing Practice and Education Committee.

Expand dissemination of information about NCSBN and regulatory trends.

Continue to implement identified methods of distributing information about the National
Council and regulatory trends. (ST) Funded under Publications.

Review and disseminate information about state and federal initiatives that have regulatory
implications. (BOD) Funded under Publications.

Perform surveys and analysis of issues and trends in nursing regulation. (ST) Funded under
Research.

Serve as resource regarding disciplinary data bank.

Monitor status of National Practitioner Data Bank (NPDB). (ST) Funded under Disciplinary
System.

Provide training and orientation to converted disciplinary data bank procedures/forms and
provide ongoing assistance in the form of orientation and training for Member Board staff to
use forms; develop materials to support this effort. (ST) Funded under Disciplinary System.

Facilitate access through computer linkage to disciplinary data bank. (ST) Funded under
Disciplinary System.

Develop Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program (NACEP).
(Aide = Nurse Aides working in Long Term Care, Acute Care settings and Home Health)

Monitor compliance with the License Agreement with test service. (BOD) Funded under
NACEP and test service contract.

see AppendiX A for Key to Responsible Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses



NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

b. Oversee the ongoing development of the Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program.
(NACEP) Funded through test service contract.

c. Continue the process for the inclusion of aides from aU settings in NACEP. (NACEP) Funded
through test service contract.

d. Market Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program to state agencies responsible for
evaluation of aU nurse aides. (TPC) Funded through test service contract and Nurse Aide
Competency Evaluation Program.

e. Review the test service's ongoing plan for assisting NACEP user state agencies with the OBRA
1987 required post approval program provider reviews. (NACEP) Funded through test service
contract.

f. Provide current information on federal and state nurse aide competency evaluation activities
to Member Boards and other interested parties. (ST) Funded under Nurse Aide Competency
Evaluation Program.

g. Explore new product/service development. (TPC, NACEP) Funded under Nurse Aide
Competency Evaluation Program.

h. Review/evaluate statistics related to NACEP to monitor the quality of the instrument.
(NACEP) Funded under Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program.

1. Sponsor nurse aide conferences as necessitated by rule changes and market demand. (ST)
Funded under Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program.

J. Maintain current information in Directory of Nurse Aide Registries. (ST) Funded under
Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program.

k. Prepare materials for discussion and decisions regarding extension of License Agreement with
test service or issuance of RFP. (BOD) Funded under Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation
Program.

1. Prepare recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding NACEP test service contract.
(NACEP) Funded under Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program.

m. Review item bank for items that appear nursing-home specific; edit items and include for field
test if needed to cover test plan areas. (TPC, NACEP) Funded under test service contract.

n. Investigate and analyze feasibility of developing a study guide/review book for NACEP.
(NACEP) Funded under Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program.

o. Review the results of Nursing Practice and Education Articulation survey related to nurse aides.
(NACEP) Funded under test service contract.

see AppendIX A for Key to Responsible Party.
denoted by initials in parentheses



Goal I.

NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

Develop, promote, and provide relevant and innovative services.

9

Objective D.

Strategy 1.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

g.

h.

1.

j.

Strategy 2.

a.

b.

Maintain and enhance communication about NCSBN, its members, and issues concerning safe
and effective nursing practice.

Investigate mechanisms for increased and enhanced communications among Member Boards
and National Council.

Continue investigation ofhigher technological communications, including teleconferencing, video
conferencing, video production, electronic mail, etc. (ST) Funded under Administration.

Ensure operational viability of NCNET and market NCNET services. (ST) Funded under
Publications.

Pilot, report, and implement (as appropriate) use of NCNET forms and transmission for
licensure verification and disciplinary data. (BOD) Funded under Board of Directors.

Segment mailing lists for effective and efficient dissemination routes for information. (ST)
Funded under Publications.

Continue to identify specific areas of policy development related to communications. (cq
Funded under Communications Committee.

Utilize Area Meetings to facilitate Board of Directors' exchange with Member Boards, e.g.,
through open forum time with Board of Director members who are in attendance. (BOD)
Funded under Area Meetings.

Continue to implement open forums at Board meetings. (BOD) Funded under Board of
Directors.

Maintain and update NCSBN Manual. (ST) Funded under Publications.

Stimulate greater use of NCSBN resources by updating members on available services. (ST)
Funded under Publications.

Provide a publication about trends in regulation and activities of Member Boards. (ST) Funded
under Publications.

Provide opportunity for Member Board exchange.

Schedule forums on topics of Member Board interest during annual meeting. (BOD) Funded
under Board of Directors.

Plan agendas for Member Board Area meetings. (AD, BOD) Funded under Area Meetings.

see AppendIX A For Key to ResponsIble Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses
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Strategy 3.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

g.

h.

Publish and evaluate current, and need for future publications related to regulation, licensure,
nursing practice and education, and National Council services and activities.

Establish a comprehensive system to evaluate National Council publications. (cq Funded
under Communications Committee.

Publish~ on quarterly basis. (ST) Funded under Publications.

Publish and market State Nursing Legislation Quarterly. (ST) Funded under Publications.

Publish and disseminate annual report, including examination data, to Member Boards and
other organizations. (ST) Funded under Publications.

Publish and disseminate Book of Reports. (ST) Funded under Publications.

Collect and publish information about Nurse Practice Acts and Regulations. (ST) Funded
under Nursing Practice and Education Committee and Publications.

Continue to collect, summarize, publish and disseminate the national disciplinary data bank
reports and summaries. (ST) Funded under Disciplinary System.

Publish National Council research and information on licensure examinations and nursing
practice. (ST) Funded under Publications.

1. Publish and make available job analysis studies conducted by the National Council. (ST)
Funded under Publications.

j. Continue to make available Model Nursing Practice Act and Model Administrative Rules. (ST)
Funded under Publications.

k. Publish and make available test plans for licensure examinations. (ST) Funded under
Publications.

1. Provide information for published study guides on the licensure examinations, and monitor
publishers contract compliance. (ST) Funded under Publications.

see AppendIx A for Key to Responsible Pany,
denoted by initials in parentheses



Goal I.

Objective E.

NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

Develop, promote, and provide relevant and innovative services.

Promote consistency in the licensing process among the respective jurisdictions.

11

Strategy 1.

a.

Strategy 2.

a.

b.

c.

Strategy 3.

a.

Evaluate the regulatory implications of entry into practice and its implications for National
Council services.

If appropriate, make a recommendation to Delegate Assembly regarding validation of
hypothesized sets of competencies through ongoing job analysis studies. (BOD) Funded under
Board of Directors.

Continue to investigate mechanisms for evaluating continued competence.

Initiate dialogue with Nursing Practice and Education Committee regarding possible
applications of CST. (CST) Funded under CST restricted funds.

Outline process which will be used to evaluate and determine the appropriate applications of
CST. (CST) Funded under CST restricted funds.

Develop a plan to assist Member Boards in assessing continued competency. (NPE) Funded
under Nursing Practice and Education Committee.

Provide data to Member Boards on licensure requirements.

Continue to make available updated compilation of Member Boards' licensure requirements.
(ST) Funded under Publications.

see AppendIX A for Key to ResponsIble Pany,
denoted by initials in parentheses



Goal II.

Objective A.

Strategy 1.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

Strategy 2.

a.

NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

Utilize human and fiscal resources efficiently to allow for growth and creativity.

Implement a planning model to be used as a guide for the development of NCSBN.

Provide for an organizational planning process and structure.

Plan for the next fiscal year before and after the Fall Planning session. (All) Funded under
Fall Planning Retreat and committees.

Review strategies of all committees for relevance to the National Council mission statement and
goals. (LRP) Funded under Long Range Planning Committee.

Review Delegate Assembly actions to evaluate implications as related to goals, objectives and
strategies. (LRP) Funded under Long Range Planning Committee.

Review the National Council structure as related to proposed committee activities. (LRP)
Funded under Long Range Planning Committee.

Determine need for ad hoc committees, establish committee charges, make committee
appointments, and communicate with committees on a regular basis. (BOD) Funded under
Board of Directors.

Facilitate the development of an organizational vision statement. (BOD) Funded under Board
of Directors.

Develop an evaluation mechanism for the organization.

Collect and compile evaluations of committee effectiveness annually. (BOD) Funded under
Board of Directors.

b. Develop a master plan for organizational evaluation. (BOD) Funded under Board 01
Directors.

Strategy 3.

a.

b.

c.

d.

Implement a program budgeting system for the National Council.

Evaluate the program budget. (Fe) Funded under Finance Committee.

Develop and monitor the annual program budget. (Fe) Funded under Finance Committee.

Analyze the fiscal impact of data for new program activities and determine availability of
funding. (Fe) Funded under Finance Committee.

Evaluate the effectiveness of the fiscal impact statement with actual costs and make adjustments
as required. (FC) Funded under Finance Committee.

see AppendIX A for Key to Responsible Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses
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e.

f.

g.

Strategy 4.

a.

Provide quarterly fmancial information to Board of Directors, Member Boards, and
management. (Fe) Funded under Finance Committee.

Maintain fmancial data for outside grants in accordance with grant requirements. (ST) Funded
under Finance Committee.

Assist auditors in preparation of work papers and prepare fmancial information for annual
audit. (ST) Funded under Finance Committee.

Investigate the feasibility of new revenue sources for the organization.

Support efforts throughout the National Council to develop new revenue sources and analyze
the fiscal feasibility of the suggestions. (Fe) Funded under Finance Committee.

b. Alert Board/Finance Committee to opportunities for external funding of projects. (ST)
Funded under Finance Committee.

c.

Strategy 5.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

Strategy 6.

a.

b.

Investigate the feasibility of a for-profit arm. (Fe) Funded under Finance Committee.

Maintain fmancial policies which provide guidelines for organizational development.

Continue to recommend financial policies to the Board of Directors and evaluate the fmancial
policies of the National Council. (Fe) Funded under Finance Committee.

Continue to evaluate and revise currently existing designated funds and recommend to the
Board of Directors the need for additional designated funds. (Fe) Funded under Finance
Committee.

Monitor and evaluate the management of the investment portfolio. (Fe) Funded under
Finance Committee.

Maintain working extramural fmancial relationship and evaluate the effectiveness of the
relationship. (Fe) Funded under Finance Committee.

Invest the funds of the organization in accordance with financial policies in order to secure the
highest return on investment. (ST) Funded under Finance Committee.

Review and revise forecast assumptions to maintain a current forecasting model.

Revise budget assumptions based on the most recent financial information. (Fe) Funded
under Finance Committee.

Revise five-year projections using the most recent financial information and budget assumptions.
(Fe) Funded under Finance Committee.

see AppendIX A for Key 10 ResponSIble Pany,
denoted by initials in parentheses
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c. Utilize five-year projections to analyze the fIScal feasibility of proposed activities and evaluation
of fee structure. (FC) Funded under Finance Committee.

d. Prepare cost data for new projects and services. (ST) Funded under Finance Committee.

e. Develop net examination revenue projections based on anticipated candidate volume projection
as needed for review by Finance Committee. (ST) Funded under Finance Committee.

see Appendix A for Key 10 ResponSible Party,
denoled by inilials in parenlheses



Goal II.
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Utilize human and fiscal resources efficiently to allow for growth and creativity.

15

Objective B.

Strategy 1.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

g.

h.

1.

j.

k.

Strategy 2.

a.

b.

Strengthen the organizational structure in the complex environment of high technology,
transforming health care delivery systems, global communication and international
interaction.

Evaluate the current organizational structure.

Consider proposed amendments to Bylaws. (Be) Funded under Bylaws Committee.

Review and evaluate candidate pre-screening framework and make recommendation(s) as
deemed appropriate. (CON) Funded under Committee on Nominations.

Evaluate candidates and prepare slate. (CON) Funded under Committee on Nominations.

Evaluate campaign process and guidelines and revise if necessary. (CON) Funded under
Committee on Nominations.

Recruit qualified candidates. (CON) Funded under Committee on Nominations.

Analyze the process of recruiting qualified candidates for offices and make recommendation(i)
as deemed appropriate. (CON) Funded under Committee on Nominations.

Maintain current Board of Director Policy and Procedure Manual. (ST) Funded under Board
of Directors.

Develop a comprehensive database to track and record volunteer involvement and interest.
(ST) Funded under Administration.

Study issues related to the use of licensure examinations in Manitoba and similarly-situated
provinces/countries and report to the 1992 Delegate Assembly. (BOD) Funded under Board
of Directors.

Annually review and evaluate staff structure in view of programs needed to accomplish the work
of the National Council. (BOD) Funded under Board of Directors.

Implement conversion to new computer hardware and software systems. (ST) Funded under
Administration.

Develop the National Council long range plan.

Reevaluate goals, objectives and strategies. (LRP) Funded under Long Range Planning
Committee.

Prepare revised Long Range Plan with rationale for changes for presentation to 1992 Delegate
Assembly. (LRP) Funded under Long Range Planning Committee.

see AppendIX A for Key to ResponSIble Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses
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c. Present trend analysis data to Fall Planning Retreat for visioning purposes. (LRP) Funded
under Long Range Planning Committee.

d. Investigate preparation of long range plan as stand-alone document for publication. (LRP)
Funded under Long Range Planning Committee.

see AppendIX A for Rey to Responsible Pany.
denoted by initials in parentheses
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Goal III.

Objective A.

Strategy 1.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

g.

Strategy 2.

a.

Strategy 3.

a.

Expand collaborative relationships with relevant organizations to facilitate the development
and promotion of health related public policy.

Provide specific opportunity for direct dialogue, interaction and mutual decision making
among national health groups.

Maintain and enhance a public relations program for the National Council.

Maintain ongoing liaison activities with major nursing, health care, consumer and regulatory
organizations. (BOD) Funded under Public Relations.

Compile nominations for the R. Louise McManus Award. (ST) Funded under Board of
Directors.

Present awards in accordance with awards/recognition program. (BOD) Funded under Public
Relations.

Maintain frequent contacts with leadership of major nursing, health care, consumer and
regulatory organizations. (BOD, ST) Funded under Public Relations.

Participate in formal liaison meetings with leadership of major nursing, health care, consumer
and regulatory organizations. (BOD, ST) Funded under Public Relations.

Send representative to annual meetings of major nursing, health care, consumer and regulatory
organizations. (BOD) Funded under Public Relations.

Publish "NCLEX News and Notes" biannually with National Council input and review. (CTB)
Funded under test service contract.

Promote the inclusion of regulatory perspective in national and regional programs on health
and related issues.

Through interorganizational liaison actiVIties, promote the inclusion of the regulatory
perspective in national and regional programs of health and related issues. (BOD) Funded
under Public Relations.

Involve consumers in the development of clear position statement on health-related public
policies.

Continue to appoint consumer members of Member Boards to National Council committees,
especially those committees that develop position statements on health-related public policies.
(BOD) Funded under Board of Directors.

see AppendIX A tor Key to ResponSible Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses



Strategy 4.

a.

b.

NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

Maintain effective working relationships with appropriale community agencies, business and

industry.

Provide for an informational inlerchange between the Nalional Council and appropriate
external agencies. (CC) Funded under Communications Committee.

Develop new working relationships with oUlside financial agencies and maintain ongoing
relationships. (ST) Funded under Finance Committee.

see Appendix A for Key 10 Responsible Party.
denoted by initials in parentheses



NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

19

Goal III.

Objective B.

Strategy 1.

a.

b.

c.

Strategy 2.

a.

b.

c.

d.

Strategy 3.

a.

Expand collaborative relationships with relevant organizations to facilitate the development
and promotion of health related public policy.

Promote and facilitate effective communications with related organizations, groups, and
individuals.

Initiate a sponsorship of educational programs of regulatory significance.

Recommend plan for next regulatory conference. (CC) Funded under Communications
Committee.

Consider the development of regional educational programs before and after Area Meetings.
(CC) Funded under Communications Committee.

Continue to participate in CfB Invitational Conferences on NCLEX. (ST) Funded under test
service contract.

Work with health-related organizations in formalizing statements on trends and issues affecting
nursing education and nursing practice.

Provide input into health policy statements by nursing and health-related organizations as
possible. (BOD) Funded under Board of Directors.

Endorse appropriate position statements of other organizations as requested, according to
criteria established by the Delegate Assembly. (BOD) Funded under Board of Directors.

Identify sources of additional information regarding continued competence by participating in
related conferences. (NPE) Funded under Nursing Practice and Education Committee.

Develop informational materials pertaining to nursing regulation. (ST) Funded under Public
Policy.

Identify and promote desirable and reasonable standards in nursing education and nursing
practice.

Work cooperatively with other nursing and health care organizations as wen as support efforts
of Member Boards and nursing community to promote desirable and reasonable standards in
nursing education and practice. (BOD) Funded under Board of Directors.

see AppendiX A for Key 10 ResponsIble Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses
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Goal III.

Objective C.

Strategy 1.

a.

b.

c.

d.

Expand collaborative relationships with relevant organizations to facilitate the development
and promotion of health related public policy.

Increase consumer involvement with NCSBN.

Promote consumer involvement in National Council activities.

Develop ways of sharing information with interested consumer groups. (CC) Funded under
Communications Committee.

Facilitate network for consumer members of Member Boards through the Citizens' Advocacy
Center. (BOD) Funded under Public Relations.

Serve as member of advisory committee for Citizens Advocacy Center. (ST) Funded under
Public Relations.

Continue to appoint consumer members of Member Boards to National Council committees.
Appoint outside consumer consultants to committees as needed. (BOD) Funded under Board
of Directors.

see AppendIX A for Key to Responsible Pany,
denoted by initials in parentheses
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Goal IV.

Objective A.

Strategy 1.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

Strategy 2.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

Develop a comprehensive information system for use by members, organizations and the
public.

Implement a five-year plan for an information system.

Consolidate present information system.

Continue to plan for data collection in all jurisdictions if feasibility study and contract
negotiations support establishment of an NIS. (NIS) Funded under NIS Committee.

Make a recommendation regarding the feasibility of the NIS, based on the outcome of contrad
negotiations. (NIS) Funded under Nurse Information System Committee.

Identify a funding consortium to support full implementation of Stage II of the NIS, if it is
feasible based on the outcome of contract negotiations. (NIS) Funded under Nurse
Information System Committee.

Draft budget for Stage II of the NIS implementation. (NIS) Funded under Nurse InformatiOll
System Committee.

Develop and submit proposals for funding stage II of NIS implementation (if feasible) to
potential funding agencies. (NIS) Funded under Nurse Information System Committee.

Develop contracts with Member Boards delineating their participation in the NIS. (NIS)
Funded under Nurse Information System Committee.

Assign a Board level committee to develop guidelines for data collection, data use, distribution,
and other functions related to information systems.

Established liaison with Communications Committee and staff regarding potential for NCNET
transmission of NIS data. (NIS) Funded under NIS Committee.

Update five-year plan (FY92-97) for NIS. (NIS) Funded under NIS Committee.

Establish liaison with NPEC and staff regarding potential linkages between NIS and disciplinary
data bank. (NIS) Funded under NIS Committee.

Continue communicating with Member Boards regarding NIS to dispel misunderstanding
concerning use of their data. (NIS) Funded under NIS Committee restricted funds.

Supervise implementation of computer hardware/software to support a comprehensive
information system. (ST) Funded under Administration.

Communicate final results of NIS feasibility study to Member Boards. (NIS) Funded under
Nurse Information System Committee.

see AppendIx A for Key to ResponsIble Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses
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g. Redefme data collection tools based on outcome of pilot study and contract negotiations. (NIS)
Funded under Nurse Information System Committee.

h. Negotiate contracts with Member Boards for participation in a nurse information system.
(BOD) Funded under Board of Directors.

see AppendIX A for Key to Responsible Patty,
denoted by initials in parentheses
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Goal IV.

Objective B.

Strategy 1.

a.

b.

Strategy 2.

a.

b.

Strategy 3.

a.

b.

c.

d.

e.

f.

Develop a comprehensive information system for use by members, organizations and the
public.

Collect, analyze and disseminate data and statistics in such areas as licensure, educational
programs, and regulatory functions.

Assess the market for data distributions.

Analyze information for review by F"mance Committee and Board of Directors regarding
potential of data as revenue source. (NIS) Funded under NIS Committee.

Continue to identify potential uses and users of NIS data and marketable methods of data
sorting. (NIS) Funded under Nurse Information System Committee.

Develop and market a nurse licensee database if market assessment indicates such action.

Continue development of licensee database. (NIS) Funded under Nurse Information System
Committee.

Develop plan to market nurse licensee database. (NIS) Funded under Nurse Information
System Committee.

Establish a data clearinghouse.

Coordinate with other organizations collecting similar data. (ST) Funded under Research.

Establish database and index of Member Board and National Council surveys. (ST) Funded
under Research.

Survey Member Boards regarding need for a central repository and/or evaluation service for
foreign educated nurse credentials. (FNCC) Funded under Foreign Nurse Credentialing
Committee.

Investigate selected credentialing resources/services. (FNCC) Funded under Foreign Nurse
Credentialing Committee.

Survey Member Boards statutes and regulations regarding educational requirements of foreign
educated nurses. (FNCC) Funded under Foreign Nurse Credentialing Committee.

Survey Member Board statutes and regulations regarding foreign educated nurse participation
in graduate nursing programs. (FNCC) Funded under Foreign Nurse Credentialing
Committee.

see AppendIX A for Key to Responsible Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses



Goal V.

Objective A.

Strategy 1.

a.

Strategy 2.

a.

b.

c.

Strategy 3.

a.

b.

Strategy 4.

a.

Strategy 5.

a.

b.

c.

NATIONAL COUNcn. OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

Advance research that contributes to the public health, safety, and welfare.

Conduct and disseminate research pertinent to the mission of NCSBN.

Evaluate the use of the Model Nursing Practice Act and make appropriate revisions.

Update report of fmdings on incorporation of continued competence mechanisms by states to
Delegate Assembly. (NPE) Funded under Nursing Practice and Education Committee

Gather data regarding the regulatory issues of chemically dependent nurses.

If funded, Study on Regulatory Models for Chemically Dependent Nurses implemented.
(NPEjSUB) Funded externally.

Report work on Regulatory Models for Chemically Dependent Nurses and seek funds to
implement as proposed. (NPEjSUB) Funded under Nursing Practice and Education
Committee.

If submitted research proposal regarding management of chemically dependent nurses is not
funded externally, proceed with plans to revise proposal or implement study as directed by the
Board of Directors. (NPEjSUB) Funded under Nursing Practice and Education
Subcommittee.

Monitor the major nursing research projects relative to implications on legal standards of
nursing practice.

Continue to monitor nursing journals to identify resources related to legal standards of nursing
practice. (ST) Funded under Publications.

Monitor changes in legal standards by states and publish in SNLQ. (ST) Funded under
Publications.

Investigate research needs regarding approval of nursing education programs.

Gather data regarding articulation at all levels. (NPE) Funded under Nursing Practice and
Education Committee.

Gather data concerning advanced practice.

Appoint individuals to participate as requested in groups considering advanced practice issues,
e.g., certification of specialties, credentialing, etc. (BOD) Funded under Public Relations.

Collect data, analyze, review options regarding inter- and intra-state issues regarding model for
advanced practice. (NPE/SUB) Funded under Nursing Practice and Education Committee.

Identify issues and changes pending on the federal level affecting advanced practice.
(NPE/SUB) Funded under Nursing Practice and Education Committee.

see AppendIX A for Key to Responsible Pany,
denoted by initials in parentheses



Goal V.

Objective B.

Strategy 1.

NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

Advance research that contributes to the public health, safety, and welfare.

Promote research proposals annually which merit funding.

Maintain a database of potential sources of funding in areas of interest.

25

a. Maintain a list of potential sources of government and private grant funds. (ST) Funded under
Research.

see AppendIx A for Key to Responsible Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses



Goal v.

Objective C.

Strategy 1.

a.

b.

NATIONAL COUNCIL OPERATIONAL PLAN (FY92)
as of October 22, 1991

Advance researcb tbat contributes to the public bealth, safety, and welfare.

Involve Member Boards in research at the jurisdictional level for use and distribution by
NCSBN.

Request and publicize abstracts of completed, ongoing and projected studies by Member
Boards.

In connection with Research Forum at annual meeting, publish abstract of Member Board
research fmdings. (ST) Funded under Publications.

Solicit and select research studies performed by Member Boards for presentation during annual
research forum. (ST) Funded under Delegate Assembly.

c. Investigate providing support for Member Board research. (BOD, ST) Funded under
Research.

Strategy 2.

a.

Publish research findings in National Council publications.

Publish research findings as obtained from Member Boards. (ST) Funded under Publications.

see AppendIX A for Key to ResponsIble Party,
denoted by initials in parentheses
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Appendix A
Key to Responsible Parties

RESPONSIBLE PARTY

AD Area Director

AEC Administration of Examination Committee

BC . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. Bylaws Committee

BOD Board of Directors

CAT-PN CAT-PN Field Test Team

CAT Computerized Adaptive Testing - Steering Committee

CC . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. Communications Committee

CElT . . . . . . . . . . . . . CAT Education/Information Team

CON

CTB

Committee on Nominations

CTB Macmillan/McGraw-Hill

EC . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. Examination Committee

FC . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. Finance Committee

FENCC Foreign Educated Nurse Credentialing Committee

JAMP Job Analysis Monitoring Panel

LRP . . . . . . . . . . . . .. Long Range Planning Committee

NACEP Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program

NIS Nurse Information System Committee

NPE Nursing Practice and Education Committee

NT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . CAT Negotiating Team

PET . . . . . . . . . . . . . . CAT Proposal Evaluation Team

CST . . . . . . . . . . . . .. Steering Committee CST Project

ST Staff

sub Sub-Committee

TPC . . . . . . . . . . . . .. The Psychological Corporation

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc./1992
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FY92 Budget - 10/1/91 - 9/30/92
By Program

NCLEX

NCLEX Exam Revenue (7,505,473 )
NCLEX Processing Costs 3,997,580
Handscoring Review Fees (65,600)
Handscoring Review Costs 53,450
Other NCLEX Related Expense 21,970
Exam Committee 18,655
Admin. of Exam Committee 28,100
Ethnic-Gender Bw Review 137,580
NCLEX Support Costs 40,750

NCLEX Income Subtotal (3,272,988 )

NACEP

Royalty Income (159,000)
Committee Travel 18,775
MarlcetinglStaff Travel 29,675
Other NACEP Expense 49,925

NACEP Income Subtotal (60,625)

INVESTMENTS

Investment Income (300,000) (300,000)

MEMBER BOARDS

Member Board Contract Income (186,000)
Associated Exp. (Legal and Other) 6,000

Member Board Income Subtotal (1SO,OOO)

PUBLICATIONS

Publications Revenue (124,000)
Publications Expense 111,525

Publications Income Subtotal (12,475)

NatioTllJI Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992
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DELEGATE ASSEMBLY

Delegate Assembly Income (58,675 )
Delegate Assembly Expense 91,175
Convention Planning 2,150

Delegate Assembly Subtotal 34,650

AREA MEETINGS

Area Meetings Board Travel 9,400
Area Meetings Staff Travel 9,400

Area Meetings Expense Subtotal 18,800

PUBLIC RELATIONS

Honoraria (3,500)
Public Relations Expense 52,700
Communications Cmnmiuee 42,075

Public Relations Expense Subtotal 91,275

RESEARCH

Research Fees 11,900
Job Analysis Monitoring Panel 8,350
Other 10,900
Job Analysis Review Panel 21,025

Research Expense Subtotal 52,175

PRACTICE AND EDUCATION

Public Policy Expense 3,600
Practice and Education Cmnmittee 35,750

Chemical Dep. Nurse Subcommittee 8,450
Disciplinary System 84
Reg. of Adv. Nursing Practice 29,450

Practice and Education Expense Subtotal 77,334

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992
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ORGANIZATIONAL

Board of Directors
PersOIUlel Committee
Projects Committee
Coordinating Committee

Nurse Info. System Committee
Committee on Nominations
Finance Committee
Bylaws Committee
Long Range Planning Committee
Fall Planning Retreat
Resolutions Committee
Foreign Educated Nurse Credentialing Committee
NCLEX Outside U.S.

Organizational Expense Subtotal

ADMINISTRATION

Personnel Costs
Salary and Benefits
Staff Travel

Professional Fees
Legal
Accounting
Other

LibrarylMembership
Printing/Supplies
Insurance
Miscellaneous Expense

Administration Expense Subtotal

OCCUPANCY

RentlUtilities
Electronic Mail
Telephone
Postage
Equipment MaintenancelRental
Computer MaintenancelRental
Depreciation

Occupancy Expense Subtotal

SUMMARY

TOTAL REVENUE
TOTAL EXPENSE

REVENUE OVER EXPENSE

105.575
7.275
7.275

14.900
96.125
11,000
26.400
16.575
34.440
25.000
6.625

28.150
10.300

1.586.753
5.000

20.000
20.000
89.075
5.500

72.000
32.000
2.400

325,000
10.000
30.000
45.800
28.000
14.000
79.633

389.640

1.832.728

532,433

(8.402,248 )
7,605,195

(797,053 )

National Council ofState Boards OfNursing. Inc./I992
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Purpose
The purpose of the Orientation Manual is to provide infonnation about the functions and operations of the National
Council. It is hoped that this manual will facilitate the active panicipation of all Delegate Assembly panicipants as
well as Board and committee members.

Following a brief discussion of the National Council's history, this manual will describe the organizational structure,
functions, policies, and procedures. Committee-specific policies, procedures, and fonns may be found in the green
and white National Council Manual. Each Member Board has its own copy of the National Council Manual which
is periodically updated.

History
The concept of an organization such as the National Council had its roots as far back as August 1912 when a special
conference on state registration laws was held during the American Nurses' Association (ANA) convention. At that
time, participants voted to create a committee that would arrangean annual conference for persons involved with state
boards of nursing to meet during the ANA convention. It soon became evident that the committee required a stronger
structure to deal with the scope of its concerns. However, for various reasons, the committee decided to remain within
the ANA.

Boards of Nursing also worked with the National League for Nursing Education (NLNE) which, in 1932, became the
ANA's DepartmentofEducation. In 1933,byagreementwith theANA, the NLNEacceptedresponsibility foradvisory
services to the State Boards of Nurse Examiners (SBNE) in all education and examination-related matters. Through
its Committee on Education, the NLNE set up a subcommittee that would address, over the following decade, state
board examination issues and problems. In 1937, NLNE published ACurriculum Guide for Schools of Nursing. Two
years later, the NLNE initiated the rust testing service through its Committee on Nursing Tests.

Soon after the beginning of World War II, nurse examiners began to face mounting pressures to hasten licensing and
to scheduleexaminations more frequently. In response, participants at a 1942 NLNEconference suggesteda "pooling
of tests" whereby each state would prepare and contribute examinations in one or more subjects that could provide a
reservoir of test items. They recommended that the Committee on Nursing Tests, in consultation with representative
nurse examiners, compile the tests in machine scorable fonn. In 1943, the NLNE Board endorsed the action and
authorized itsCommitteeon Nursing Tests to operate a pooling oflicensing tests for interested states (the"State Board
TestPool Examination" or SBTPE). This effort soon demonstrated the need for a clearinghouse whereby state boards
could obtain information needed to produce their test items. Shortly thereafter, a Bureau of State Boards of Nursing
began operating out of ANA headquarters.

The bureau was incorporated into the ANA bylaws and becamean official body within thatorganization in 1945. Two
years later, the ANA Board appointed the Committee for the Bureau of State Boards of Nurse Examiners which was
comprised of full-time professional employees of state boards.

In 1961,after reviewing the structureand function ofthe ANAand its relation to state boards ofnursing, the committee
recommended that it be replaced by a council. Although council status was achieved, many persons continued to be
concerned about potential conflicts of interest and recognized the often heard criticism that professional boards serve
primarily the interests of the profession they purport to regulate.

In 1970, following a period of financial crisis for the ANA, a council member recommended that a free-standing
federation of state boards be established. After a year ofstudy by the state boards, this proposal was overwhelmingly
defeated when the council adopteda resolution to remain with the ANA. However,an ad hoc committee was appointed
later to examine the feasibility of the council becoming a self-governing incorporated body.

At the council's 1977 meeting, a task force was elected and charged with theresponsibility ofproposing a specific plan
for the fonnation ofa new independent organization. On June 5, 1978, the Delegate Assembly of the ANA's Council
of State Boards of Nursing voted 83 to 8 to withdraw from the ANA to form the National Council of State Boards of
Nursing.

National Council o/State Boards o/Nursing,lnc.ll992
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Today, the National Council consists of 62 Member Boards including those from the Virgin Islands, Pueno RIco.
Guam, American Samoa, and the Northern Mariana Islands. An organizational chart depicting the relationship
between the National Council and the Member Boards is attached (Appendix A).

Organizational Mission, Objectives, and Goals
The mission of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing is to promote public policy related to the safe and
effective practice of nursing in the interest of public welfare. It strives to accomplish this mission by acting in
accordance with the decisions of its Member Boards of nursing on matters of common interest and concern affecting
public health, safety and welfare. To accomplish its aims, the National Council provides services and guidance to ilS
members in perfonning their functions which regulate entry to nursing practice, continuing safe nursing practice and
nursing education programs.

The National Council has several objectives, one of which is to develop and establish policy and procedure regarding
the use oflicensing examinations in nursing. Another is to identify and promote desirable uniformity in standards and
expected outcomes in nursing education and practice as they relate to the public interest. The National Council also
seeks to assess trends and issues thataffect nursing, disseminate data relating to nurse licensure, and promotecontinued
competence in nursing. To achieve these objectives, it plans and promotes educational programs; it provides
consultative services for Member Boards and others; and conducts research that addresses education, practice, and
policy-related issues. Strategies for achieving these goals are developed in accordance with organizationalobjectives
and reflect the National Council's mission. The National Council's operational plan adds short-term activities and
resources designed to accomplish the long-range goals, objectives and strategies. Activities to implement goals are
developed, assessed, and refined each fiscal yearand provide the organization with a flexible plan within a disciplined
focus. Annually, the Board of Directors and committees participate in evaluating the accomplishment of goals and
objectives and the directives of the Delegate Assembly.

Organizational Structure and Function

Membership
Membership in the National Council is extended to those boards of nursing that agree to use, under specified terms
and conditions, one or more types of licensing examinations developed by the National Council. At the present time,
there are 62 Member Boards including those from the Virgin lslands, Puerto Rico, Guam, American Samoa. and the
Northern Mariana lslands. Boards of nursing may become Member Boards upon approval of the Delegate Assembly,
payment of the required fees, and execution of a contract for using NCLEX-RN and/or NCLEX-PN.

Member Boards maintain their good standing through remittance of fees and compliance with all contract provisions
and bylaws. In return, they receive the privilege ofparticipating in the developmentand use of the National Council's
licensing examinations. Member Boards also receive information services, public policy analyses, and research
services. Member Boards who fail to adhere to the conditions of membership may have delinquent fees assessed or
their membership terminated by the Board of Directors. They may then choose to appeal the Board's decision to the
Delegate Assembly.

AnNIS
The National Council's membership is presently divided into four geographic areas. The purpose of this division IS

to facilitate communication, encourage regional dialogue on relevant issues, and provide diversity of board and
committee representation. Area Directors are elected by delegates from their respective areas through a majority vote
of the Delegate Assembly. In addition, there isa Director-at-Large who is electedby all delegates voting at the annual
meeting. (See Glossary for list of jurisdictions by area)

Delegate ABBtHnbly
The Delegate Assembly is the major policy-making body ofthe National Council that comprises delegates designated
by the Member Boards. Each Member Board has two votes and may name two delegates and alternates.

National Council o/State Boards o/Nursing, Inc.l1992
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The Delegate Assembly meets at the National Council's annual meeting, traditionally in August. Special sessions can
be called under certain circumstances. Regularly scheduled sessions take place in Chicago every third year. In the
years between, sessions are held in other cities on a rotation basis among areas.

At the annual meeting, delegates elect officers and members of the Committee on Nominations by mlijority and
plurality vote respectively. They also receive and respond to reports from officers and committees and approve the
annual audit report They may revise and amend the bylaws bya two-thirds vote, providing theproposed changes have
been submitted at least 45 days before the session. In addition, the Delegate Assembly approves most test-related
decisions, including changes in examination fees and test plans.

OffIcers
Officersofthe National Council include the president, vice-president, secretary, treasurer, area directors, and director­
at-large. Only members or staffofMember Boards may hold office, subject to exclusion from holding office ifother
professional obligations result in an actual or perceived conflict of interest

No person may hold more than one elected office at the same time. The president shall have served as a delegate or
a committee member or an officer prior to being elected to office. An officer shall serve no more than six consecutive
years on the Board of Directors in addition to filling an unexpired term.

The president, vice-president, secretary, and treasurer shall be elected for a term of two years or until their successors
are elected. The president and vice-president are elected in even-numbered years. The secretary and treasurer are
elected in odd-numbered years.

The directors are elected for a term of two years or until their successors are elected. Directors from odd-numbered
areas are elected in odd-numbered years. Directors from even-numbered areas and the director-at-Iarge are elected
in even-numbered years.

Officers are elected by ballot during the annual session of the Delegate Assembly. Area directors are elected by
delegates from their respective areas.

Election is by a majority vote. When a majority is not established by an initial ballot, re-balloting takes place between
the two nominees with the highest number of votes. In case of a tie on the re-balloting, the choice is determined by
lot

Officers assume their duties at the close ofthe session at which 'they were elected. Avacancy in the office ofpresident
is filled by the vice-president Other officer vacancies are filled by Board appointees until the term expires.

BoBrd of Director.
The Board of Directors, the administrative body of the National Council, consists of the nine elected officers. Its
primary function is to conduct the business of the National Council between sessions of the Delegate Assembly. The
Board authorizes the signing of all contracts including those between the National Council and its Member Boards.
It also engages the services of legal counsel, approves and adopts an annual budget, reviews membership status of
noncompliant Member Boards, and renders opinions, when needed, about actual or perceived conflicts of interest

Additional duties include the adoption of personnel policies for all staff, appointment of committees, monitoring of
committee progress, approval of studies and research pertinent to the National Council's purpose, and provision for
the establishment and maintenance of the administrative offices.

The work of the Board is currently organized into three committees: Coordinating, Personnel, and a Projects
Committee.

The purposes of the Coordinating Committee are to plan for efficient organization of Board business, advise and
counsel the President and Executive Director on corporate matters, approve contracts, and serve as a review body

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.I1992
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for urgent issues requiring National Council response. The Personnel Committee reviews personnel policies and
proposals for staffchanges. The Projects Committee directs the conduct of special projects requested by the Delegate
Assembly or Board of Directors.

",.tlngs of the Board ofDirectors
Meeting dates for the year are scheduled by the Board ofDirectors during its post-annual meeting Board meeting. All
Board meetings are held in Chicago with the exception of the pre- and post-annual meeting Board meetings in those
years when the annual meeting is conducted outside of Chicago.

Board members are asked to submit reports and other materials for the meeting at least three weeks prior 10 each
meeting so that they can be copied and distributed with other meeting materials. The call to meeting, agenda and
related materials are mailed to Board members two weeks before the meeting. The agenda is prepared by the
Coordinating Committee.

Activities and materials generated during the two-week interval before the meeting are reported or distributed aL the
next meeting. This limits the flood of last minute paper to be read and considered during the Board meeting.

The agenda is generally organized around committee and staff reports in the various program areas. Items for Board
discussion and action are accompanied by a memo or report which describes the item's background and indicates the
Boardaction needed. Motion papersare availableduring the meeting andareused so thatan accurate record will result.
Staff takes minutes of the meeting and later drafts a complete set in conjunction with the secretary. A summary of the
Board's major decisions is also prepared, reviewed by the Secretary, and mailed to Member Boards for their
information prior to the release of approved minutes following the next Board meeting.

Resource materials are available to each Board member for use during Board meetings. These materials, which are
updated periodically throughout the year, are kept at the National Council office and include copies of the articles of
incorporation and bylaws, policies and procedures, contracts, operational plans, budget, test plan, committee rosters.
minutes, and personnel manual.

Communications with the Board ofDirectors
Communication between Board meetings takes place in several different ways. The Executive Directorcommunicates
weekly with the President, regarding major activities and confers as needed with the Treasurer about financial matters.
The Executive Director and Treasurer also discuss the budget on a quarterly basis after the accountant has had the
opportunity to compile the necessary fmancial data. Monthly reports ofmajor activities are prepared by the Executive
Director and mailed to Board members.

In most instances, the Executive Director is the person responsible for communicating with National Council
consultants about legal, fmancial, and accounting concerns. This practice was adopted primarily as a way to monitor
and control the costs of consultant services.

Conference calls can be scheduled, ifso desired by the President. Written materials are generally forwarded to Board
members in advance of the call. These materials include staffmemos detailing the issue's background as well as Board
action required. Staff prepares minutes of the call to assist the Secretary who submits them at the next regularly
scheduled Board meeting.

Board members use the National Council letterhead when communicating as officers of the National Council.

Committee on Nominations
National Council delegates elect representatives to the Committee on Nominations. The committee consists of four
persons, one from each Area, who may be either Member Board staff or Board members. Committee members are
elected to one year terms and may not serve more than two consecutive terms. They are elected by ballot with a
plurality vote. The chair is that person who receives the highest number of votes.

National Council o/State Boards o/Nu,sing. Inc.l1992
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TheCommittee on Nominations' function is to consider the qualificationsofall candidates for BoardofDirectoroffice
and for the committee itself. The committee then preparesa slate for each position to be filled. At Delegate Assembly
additional nominations can be received from the floor.

Committees
Most of the National Council's objectives are accomplished through the committee process. Every year, the
committees report on their activities and make recommendations to the Delegate Assembly. At the present time, the
National Council has seven standing committees: Examination, Administration of Examination, Finance, Bylaws,
Nursing Practice and Education, Communications, and Long Range Planning.

Ad hoc committees or task forces are appointed by either the Delegate Assembly or the Board of Directors and to
address special issues and concerns. Examples include the Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program Committee,
the Nurse Information System Committee and the Foreign Educated Nurse Credentialing Committee.

Committees are governed by specific policies and procedures which may be found in the National Council Manual.
The manual is updated, whenever necessary, through mailings from the National Council to Member Boards.
Committee membership is extended to all current members and staffofMember Boards. An effon is made to achieve
balanced representation whenever possible, including Area, staffand Board members, registered and practical nurses,
and consumers. Consultants provide outside expertise to committees as needed, on a one-time or ongoing basis.

No individual may servemore than six consecutiveyearson the samecommittee. Vacancies, including those resulting
from a failure to attend two consecutive meetings, may be filled by the Board of Directors upon recommendation by
the committee chair.

A National Council staffmember is assigned to serve each committee. Staffworks closely with the committee chairs
to facilitate committee work and provide support and expertise to committee members, but they have no fonnal
decision-making role. Agendas for the committee meetings are established by the chair. With staff assistance, the
chair prepares the agenda, the call to meeting, and any other documents that must be reviewed prior to committee
meetings. Staffsupervises the mailing ofthesematerials, which are sent to committeemembers no less than two weeks
before the committee meeting.

At the request of committee members, staff will analyze issues and make recommendations in accordance with
committee objectives and assumptions.

F/n.nCtl Committee
TheFinanceCommitteeconsistsofat least threepersons. Oneofthe three is the Treasurer whoservesas the committee
chair. The committee's primary purpose is to supervise National Council fmances, subject to the Board of Directors'
approval. It also reviews financial status on a quarterly basis and provides the Board with a proposed annual budget
prior to each new fiscal year.

Exam/Mtlan Committee
The Examination Committee consists ofat least six persons. Oneofthese persons must represent a separate board for
practical/vocational nursing. The committee chair must have served on the committeeprior to being appointed chair.
Alternates to the Examination Committee are generally individuals with prior experience on a testing related
committee. The alternates are called upon to substitute for a regular committee member who is unable to attend a
meeting, as well as to assist the committee in other capacities, including representation at Panels of Content Experts
and Bias Sensitivity Review Panel sessions.

The purpose of the Examination Committee is to develop the licensureexaminations and evaluate procedures needed
to produce the licensure examinations. Toward this end, it recommends test plans to the Delegate Assembly and
suggests research important to the development of licensure examinations.
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for mgent issues requiring National Council response. The Personnel Committee reviews personnel policies and
proposals for staffchanges. The Projects Committee directs the conductofspecial projects requested by the Delegate
Assembly or Board of Directors.

"""ngs of the Board ofDirectors
Meeting dates for the year are scheduled by the Board ofDirectors during its post-annual meeting Board meeting. All
Board meetings are held in Chicago with the exception of the pre- and post-annual meeting Board meetings in those
years when the annual meeting is conducted outside of Chicago.

Board members are asked to submit reports and other materials for the meeting at least three weeks prior to each
meeting so that they can be copied and distributed with other meeting materials. The call to meeting, agenda and
related materials are mailed to Board members two weeks before the meeting. The agenda is prepared by the
Coordinating Committee.

Activities and materials generated dming the two-week interval before the meeting are reported or distributed at the
next meeting. This limits the flood of last minute paper to be read and considered during the Board meeting.

The agenda is generally organized around committee and staff reports in the various program areas. Items for Board
discussion and action are accompanied by a memo or report which describes the item's background and indicates the
Boardaction needed. Motion papersareavailabledming the meeting andare used so thatan accuraterecord will result.
Staff takes minutes of the meeting and later drafts a complete set in conjunction with the secretary. A summary of the
Board's major decisions is also prepared, reviewed by the Secretary, and mailed to Member Boards for their
information prior to the release of approved minutes following the next Board meeting.

Resomce materials are available to each Board member for use during Board meetings. These materials, which are
updated periodically throughout the year, are kept at the National Council office and include copies of the articles of
incorporation and bylaws, policies and procedures, contracts, operational plans, budget, test plan, committee rosters,
minutes, and personnel manual.

Communications with the Board ofDirectors
Communication between Board meetings takes place in several different ways. TheExecutive Directorcommunicates
weekly with the President, regarding major activities and confers as needed with the Treasurer about financial matters.
The Executive Director and Treasurer also discuss the budget on a quarterly basis after the accountant has had the
opportunity to compile the necessary financial data. Monthly reports ofmajor activities are preparedby the Executive
Director and mailed to Board members.

In most instances, the Executive Director is the person responsible for communicating with National Council
consultants about legal, financial, and accounting concerns. This practice was adopted primarily as a way to monitor
and control the costs of consultant services.

Conference calls can be scheduled, ifso desired by the President. Written materials are generally forwarded to Board
members in advance of the call. These materials include staffmemos detailing the issue's background as well as Board
action required. Staff prepares minutes of the call to assist the Secretary who submits them at the next regularly
scheduled Board meeting.

Board members use the National Council letterhead when communicating as officers of the National Council.

Committee on Nominations
National Council delegates elect representatives to the Committee on Nominations. The committee consists of four
persons, one from each Area, who may be either Member Board staff or Board members. Committee members are
elected to one year terms and may not serve more than two consecutive tenns. They are elected by ballot with a
plurality vote. The chair is that person who receives the highest number of votes.
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TheCommitteeon Nominations' function is to consider the qualifications ofall candidates for BoardofDirectoroffice
and for the committee itself. The committee then prepares a slate for each position to be fllied. At Delegate Assembly
additional nominations can be received from the floor.

Committees
Most of the National Council's objectives are accomplished through the committee process. Every year, the
committees report on their activities and make recommendations to the Delegate Assembly. At the present time, the
National Council has seven standing committees: Examination, Administration of Examination, Finance, Bylaws,
Nursing Practice and Education, Communications, and Long Range Planning.

Ad hoc committees or task forces are appointed by either the Delegate Assembly or the Board of Directors and to
address special issues and concerns. Examples include the Nurse AideCompetency Evaluation Program Committee,
the Nurse Information System Committee and the Foreign Educated Nurse Credentialing Committee.

Committees are governed by specific policies and procedures which may be found in the National Council Manual.
The manual is updated, whenever necessary, through mailings from the National Council to Member Boards.
Committee membership is extended to all current members and staffofMember Boards. An effort is made to achieve
balanced representation whenever possible, including Area, staffand Board members, registered and practical nurses,
and consumers. Consultants provide outside expertise to committees as needed, on a one-time or ongoing basis.

No individual may serve more than six consecutive years on the samecommittee. Vacancies, including those resulting
from a failure to attend two consecutive meetings, may be filled by the Board of Directors upon recommendation by
the committee chair.

A National Council staffmember is assigned to serve each committee. Staffworks closely with the committee chairs
to facilitate committee work and provide support and expertise to committee members, but they have no formal
decision-making role. Agendas for the committee meetings are established by the chair. With staff assistance. the
chair prepares the agenda, the call to meeting, and any other documents that must be reviewed prior to committee
meetings. Staffsupervises the mailing ofthese materials, which are sent tocommitteemembers no less than two weeks
before the committee meeting.

At the request of committee members, staff will analyze issues and make recommendations in accordance with
committee objectives and assumptions.

Finance Committee
The FinanceCommitteeconsists ofatleast threepersons. One of the three is theTreasurer who serves as the committee
chair. The committee's primary purpose is to supervise National Council finances, subject to the Board of Directors'
approval. It also reviews financial status on a quarterly basis and provides the Board with a proposed annual budget
prior to each new fISCal year.

Examination Committee
The Examination Committee consists ofat least six persons. One of these persons must represent a separate board for
practicaVvocational nursing. The committeechair must have served on the committeeprior to being appointed chair.
Alternates to the Examination Committee are generally individuals with prior experience on a testing related
committee. The alternates are called upon to substitute for a regular committee member who is unable to attend a
meeting, as well as to assist the committee in other capacities, including representation at Panels ofContent Experts
and Bias Sensitivity Review Panel sessions.

The purpose of the Examination Committee is to develop the licensure examinations and evaluate procedures needed
to produce the licensure examinations. Toward this end, it recommends test plans to the Delegate Assembly and
suggests research important to the development of licensure examinations.
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The Examination Committee is responsible for directing all aspects ofexamination development. Otherduties include
the selection of appropriate item writers, test service evaluation, and preparation of written information about the
examinations for Member Boards and other interested parties. The committee also evaluates the licensing
examinations following theiradministration through means ofitemanalysis, person-fitanalysis, and testandcandidate
statistics.

One of the National Council's major objectives is to provide psychometrically sound and legally defensible nursing
licensure examinations to Member Boards. Establishing examination validity is key to this objective. Users of
examinations have certain expectations about what an examination measures and what its results mean; a valid
examination is simply one that legitimately fulfills these expectations.

Validating a licensure examination is an evidence-gathering process to determine two things: 1) whether or not the
examination actually measures competencies required for safe and effective job performance, and 2) whether or not
it can distinguish between candidates who do and do not possess those competencies. An analysis of the job for which
the license is given is essential to validation. There are several methods for analyzing jobs, including compilation of
job descriptions, opinions ofexperts, and surveys ofjob incumbents. Regardless of the method used, the outcome of
the job analysis is a description of those tasks that are most important for safe and effective practice.

The results of the job analysis can be used to devise a framework describing the job, which can then be used as a basis
for a test plan and for a set of instructions for item writers. The test plan is the blueprint for assembling forms of the
test, and usually specifies major content or process dimensions and percentages of questions that will be allotted to
each category within the dimension. The instructions for item writers may take the form ofa detailedsetofknowledge,
skills, and abilities (KSA) statements or competency statements which the writers will use as the basis for developing
individual test items. By way of the test plan and KSA statements, the examination is closely linked to the important
job functions revealed through the job analysis. This fulfills the first validation criterion: a test that measures
important job-related competencies.

The second criterion, related to the examination's ability to distinguish between candidates who do and do not possess
the important competencies, is most frequently addressed in licensure examinations through a criterion-referenced
standard setting process. Such a process involves the selection ofa cut score to determine which candidates pass and
which fail. Expert judges with first-hand knowledge of what constitutes safe and effective practice for entry-level
nurses are selected for this process. They are trained in conceptualizing the minimally competent candidate
(performing at the lowest acceptable level), and they go through a structured process ofjudging success rates on each
individual item of the test Their pooled judgments result in identification of a cut score. Taking this outcome along
with other data relevant to identification of the level of minimum competence, the Board of Directors sets a passing
standard which distinguishes between candidates who do and do not possess theessential competencies, thus fulfilling
the second validation criterion.

Having validation evidence based on job analysis and criterion-referenced standard setting processes is the best legal
defense available for licensing examinations. For most of the possible challenges that candidates might bring against
an examination, if the testdemonstrably measures the possession ofimportantjob-relatedskills, its use in the licensure
process is likely to be upheld in a court of law.

Administration of Examination Committee
The Administration ofExamination Committee consists of at least six persons. Its purpose is to recommend criteria
and procedures needed to maintain examination security and evaluate Member Board and Test Service compliance
with the establishedcriteriaand procedures. It is the committee's duty to reportsecurity-related violations ofcontracts
between the National Council and its Member Boards to the Board of Directors. The committee recommends dates
for the administration ofexaminations to the Delegate Assembly. The committee chair is contacted in regard to crisis
managementplan implementation and investigation ofsecurity breaks. Thecommitteealso reviews National Council
staff authorizations for handicapped NCLEX candidates and examination reviews.
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Nursing Practice and Education Committee
The Nursing Practiceand Education Committee consists ofat least six persons. Thecommittee's purpose is toprovide
data regardingaspects ofnursing regulation to Member Boards. It periodically reviews and revises the Model Nursing
Practice Act and the Model Nursing Administrative Rules. and prepares other position statements and guidelines
occasionally forpresentation to the Delegate Assembly. Italso prepares written information about the legaldefinitions
and standards ofnursing practice and education which it disseminates to Member Boards and other interested parties.
In the recent past, the committee has had a number of subcommiuees to study various issues, e.g., chemically
dependent nurses, advanced practice and changing trends in nursing education.

Bylaws Committee
The Bylaws Committee consists of at least three members. Its primary duties are to receive, edit, and correlate
proposed amendments to the articles ofincorporation and bylaws. Such amendments may be originated in the Bylaws
Committee or submitted by Member Boards, the Board of Directors, or committees. Following the Bylaws
Committee's review, the proposed amendments are submitted by the commiuee to the Delegate Assembly together
with the commiuee's recommendation for action.

Long Range Planning Committee
The Long Range Planning Commiuee consists of at least five members. Its purpose is to review the structure of the
National Counciland its effectiveness in meeting the National Council'spurpose; review the mission statement, goals,
and objectives and propose revisions, if necessary; and prepare information about the National Council goals,
objectives, and strategies for dissemination.

Communlctltlons Committee
The Communications Commiuee consists of at least five members. Its purpose is to provide recommendations
regarding National Council publications and communications; monitor the effectiveness of publications and
information systems; plan the annual meeting and administer an awards program; and coordinate conferences a
authorized by the Delegate Assembly or the Board of Directors.

National Council Staff
National Council staff members are hired by the Executive Director to whom they report. Their primary role is to
implement the Delegate Assembly's policy directives and provide assistance to the Board of Directors and
committees.

The National Council staffis organized into departments for the purpose ofmeeting the organizational objectives.The
Testing Services Department exists to accomplish the National Council's primary objective which is to develop and
establish examination-relatedpolicy and procedure. Several staffmembersare assigned to this department. Otherstaff
membersare assigned to the DepartmentsofResearch Services; Communications; PublicPolicy, Nursing Practice and
Education; Operations and Administration Services to assist the National Council to meet its other objectives. A list
of staff and their respective responsibilities is attached (Appendix B).

General Delegate Assembly Information
Agendas for each session are prepared by the President in consultation with the Board of Directors and Executive
Director and approved by the Board ofDirectors. At least45 days before the annual convention, Member Boards are
sent copies of the Book ofReports. This document contains annual reports and recommendations from the standing
and ad hoc committees, Board ofDirectors, officers, and Executive Director as well as new business submittedby any
member or the Board. It also contains the agenda and operating budget, as well as proposed rules for the conduct of
Delegate Assembly business.

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992
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Prior to the annual session of the Delegate Assembly, the President appoints the Rules, Registration, Election, and
Resolutions Committees as well as the Committee to Approve Minutes. Prior to any special session, the President
appoints at least the Rules and Registration Committees. In either case, the President mustalso appoint a timekeeper,
a parliamentarian, and pages.

The pmpose of the Rules Committee is to draft, in consultation with the parliamentarian, rules for the conduct of the
specific Delegate Assembly. The Registration Committee's function is to provide delegates and alternates with
identification bearing the number of votes to which the individual is entitled. It also presents oral and written reports
at the opening session of the Delegate Assembly and immediately preceding the election of officers and Committee
on Nominations.

The Elections Committee conducts all elections thatare decided by ballot inaccordance with the bylaws and standing
rules. The Resolutions Committee initiates resolutions if deemed necessary and receives, edits, and evaluates all
others in terms of their relationship to council goals and fiscal impact At a time designated by the President, it reports
its recommendations to the Delegate Assembly.

Minutes ofthe Delegate Assemblyare keptby the Secretary, with thesupponofNationaiCouncil staff. These minutes
are then reviewed, corrected and approved by the Committee to Approve Minutes.

The duties of the Delegate Assembly, as specified in the bylaws, are to:

• approve new National Council memberships;

• elect officers and members of the Committee on Nominations;

• receive reports of officers and committees and take action as appropriate;

• approve any examination fee to be charged by the National Council;

• approve the auditor's report;

• approve policy and position statements and strategies that give direction to the National Council;

• approve the substanceofallcontraets between the National Counciland Member Boards and the National Council
and test services;

• establish the criteria for and select the test service(s) to be utilized by the National Council unless the National
Council provides such services itself;

• adopt test plans to be used for the development of licensing examinations in nursing;

• transact any other business as may come before it

General Committee Information
Committee AppoIntments
The appointment of representatives of Member Boards to committees of the National Council is a responsibility
delegated to theBoardofDirectors by thebylaws. In order to facilitate this processand to ensurea wide representation
of Member Boards, board staff and board members, the following procedure is used.

Each spring, individuals who wish to beconsidered for appointmentorreappointment to a National Council committee
submit a Committee Volunteer Form. All information from this form, along with information about the number of
positions available on each committee, is forwarded to the respective Area Director for recommendations for
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appoinanent or reappoinanent. Concurrently, committee chairs are asked to provide input as to whether individuals
currently serving on committees should be reappointed. In June, the Area Directors recommend the appointment!
reappoinanent ofindividuals to vacantcommitteepositions. The AreaDirectors' decisions are basedon inputreceived
from committee chairs, as well as information obtained from the individuals' information form.

Immediately following Delegate Assembly, the Board of Directors evaluates the qualifications of existing and
potential committee chairs, makes the appropriate appointments for committee chairs, and reviews and approves the
committee appoinanents which were recommended by AreaDirectors in June. Also during this meeting, appointments
are made to any additional subcommittees, special committees, and task forces required to accomplish the directives
of the Delegate Assembly.

Committee Mlnut••
Minutes are taken at every committee meeting including telephone conferences. Minute-taking is an extremely
important responsibility because minutes serve as records of what took place at the meeting. Although minutes can
be opposed by oral testimony, they are, in the vast majority ofcases, legally binding once they have been adopted and
certified. Thus, it is critical that they accurately reflect the committee's process and outcomes.

Committee minutes are taken by committee members or staff. Ifno one volunteers to take the minutes, the committee
chair may appoint someone to serve as secretary. Whomever takes the minutes should remember to:

• record the date, place, and time of the meeting

• include a statement that the meeting was duly called

• indicate the presiding officer, chair, or committee member

• indicate who served as secretary

• record names of persons present and quorum statistics

• record the reading, correction, and adoption of minutes from the previous meeting

• record the adjournment time

• keep them clear and concise

• not include every routine document

• make amendments to the minutes only with the committee's approval

• initial any amendments

Minutes from National Council Board and committee meetings follow a specific format. With rare exception, they
should reflect the topic discussed and the comments and/or actions that followed.

On the advice of legal counsel, the minutes of the discussion should not be laden with unnecessary detail or use a "he
said/she said" approach. In other words, it is not desirable for the secretary to transcribe verbatim statements. Only
in special circumstances is it necessary to identify individual speakers since the minutes should reflect committee
discussion as well as committee action.

Whenever possible, the secretary should leave a handwritten copy of the minutes with the staff person assigned to the
committee meeting. The staffperson will then have the minutes typed and forwarded to the committee members with
the next meeting's agenda. This procedure not only relieves the committee member of an additional burden; it also
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safeguards the minutes from loss. It also provides the committee chair with infonnation to prepare the next meeting's
agenda. In the event that the minutes cannot be left with the staff person, they should be forwarded to the National
Council office within two weeks.

Committee Repons
Committee reports are sent to the National Council office no later than three weeks prior to each Board of Directors'
meeting. The reports are written by the committeechair who is assisted by the committee staffperson. Staffprocesses
the reports and supervise their mailing.

The first page of the report contains an absttact of the report, followed by any committee recommendation(s).
Subsequentpages document the committee's activities in either narrative oroutline fonnat. Backgroundand rationale
for the committee's recommendation(s) should be clearly stated. The report concludes with a reiteration of the
committee's recommendation(s).

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing, Inc.l1992
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Appendix A

National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

Organization
As of May 15,1992

Member
Boards

Committee
Delegate Assembly on

Nominations

/
Board or

Directors'
Ad Hoc Board or Directors Committees

Committees

Coordinating

- Personnel••- Projects

Committees of the National Council

Administration of Examination

Bylaws

Communications

Examination

Finance

Long Range Planning

Nursing Practice & Education

National Council ofState Boards ofNlU'sing.lnc.l1992
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1992 STAFF RESOURCE REFERENCE LIST
Voice mail extension numbers are listed in parentheses after the staff person's name.
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AppendlxB

I
SUSAN WOODWARD (21), Director 0/Communications

National Council communications services & policies
ReprintpemUssion
Media contacts
Resource Network (tailored services for

Member Boards)

KERRY NOWICKI (20), Publications Manager
Issues
CAT communications

SUE DAvms (17), Manager 0/Meetings and Convention
Services

Annual meeting and conferences
Area meetings
Meeting planning assistance
Hotel reservations while on National Council business

CHRISTOPHER HANDZLIK (22), Editor
State Nursing Legislation Quarterly (SNLQ)
NACEP Newsletter

YVONNE BROWN (19), Communications Program
Assistant

Newsletter to Member Boards
All National Council publications: orders, payments

and invoices

HAmA HAMILTON (18), Secretary

PUBUCPOLIC'(,. NURSlNGPR,.qTlCE:ANDEDUCATlON.·>······ .

VICKIE SHEETS (47), Director for Public Policy,
Nursing Practice and Education

Nursing practice and education
Nursing trends and issues affecting regulation
Disciplinary Data Bank
National Practitioner Data Bank (NPDB)

'RESEARCH·.•.

CAROLYN YOCOM (41), Director 0/Research Services
Role delineation study
Licensure statistics
Member Board characteristics (as included in "Proflle"

survey forms)
Research study about regulatory management of

chemically dependent nurses
Research design, statistical analysis and survey

preparation (consultation)

NANCY CHORNICK (46), Research Associate
Job analysis studies
Foreign nurse credentialing committee

RICH BENTEL (48), Secretary

JERRY JACOBSON (13), Research Assistant

CYNDI BENTEL (40), Research Program Assistant
Surveys to Member Boards
Member Board profile data

RENEE ALBERS (39), Research Services Secretary
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ANNA BERSKY (35), CST Project Director
Computerized Oinical Simulation Testing

MELANIE NEAL (34), Project Manager
Nurse Information System

ANTHONY ZARA (26), Director ofTesting Services
Psychometrics and testing-related policies
Test service contract issues
Research and evaluation projects involving test services
General CAT questions

ELLEN JULIAN (46), Psychometrician
Psychometric studies
Test validity, reliability
Test methodology research

NANCY Mn.LER (31), NClEX Program Manager
ANNE WENDT (31), NClEX Program Manager

NClEX panels
NClEX security and aisis management plan
NClEX operational issues
General NCLEX issues

JODI BORGER (30), NClEX Administrative Assistant
Security measures and procedures to implement
NCLEX failure candidate review
NCLEX handicapped modification requests
General NCLEX questions
NClEX panels
Program code changes

BARBARA HALSEY (27), CAT Project Manager
General questions about computerized adaptive

testing (CAT) implementation
CAT Master Plan
CAT PN field testing
CAT software

VACANT - CAT Testing Manager

RUTH BERNSTEIN (25), CAT Project Associate
General CAT questions
CAT PN field testing
CAT education and information

ELLYN HIRSCH (56), CAT Administrative Assistant

VACANT· CAT Coordinator

National Council ofState Boards ofNursing,/nc.l1992

LOUISE PETER (32), NCLEX Secretary

BEVERLY HOWARD (29), CAT Secretary

TAMARA BOWLES (28), CAT Secretary



ELLEN GLEASON (16), NACEP Program Manager
NACEP committee activities
General NACEP program questions
NACEP implementation and administration issues

I<QPERAtiONS •.

THOMAS VlCEK (54), Director 0/ Operations
Member Board contracts

KATHY HAYDEN (51), Financial Manager
Expense reports
Financial statements
Travel policy

LARRY SANKEY (50), In/oT'Tnation Resource Manager
NCNET/Upfront
Electronic access to Disciplinary Data Bank

JENNIFER BOSMA (42), Eucutive Director
Board of Directors meetings/agenda
Delegate Assembly meetings/agenda
Media and interorganizational relations
Staff speaker requests

DORIS NAY (12), Associate Eucutive Director
Member Board liaison
Committee membership
Liaison with nursing, healthcare & regulatory groups

15

DONNA MASIULEWICZ (57), NACEP Program
Assistant
Nurse aide registry information
NACEP item writers, task developers, content experts
NCLEX handscoring (temporary assignment)

WANDA ANDERSON (49), Operations Secretary

MARY TRUCKSA (52), Accounting Assistant

I":::-::

ANN WATKINS (43), Eucutive Secretaryl
Office Manager

FLEURETTE WORKMAN (10), Receptionist

SANDRA RHODES (15), Administration Program
Assistant
Committee membership inquiries
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Glossary

AACN
American Association of Colleges of Nursing.

ABOS
American Board of Orthopaedic Surgery. (A CAT research panner)

ACT
American College Testing. A potential vendor for CAT,located in Iowa City, Iowa, and engaged in educational and
certification testing services.

Administration service
The vendor for (or a portion of) NCLEX CAT testing services providing the actual computerized testing centers.

AEC
Administration of Examination Committee.

AERA
American Educational Research Association.

ANA
American Nurses' Association.

AONE
American Organization of Nurse Executives.

Area
Designated regions of National Council Member Boards.

AmLl
Alaska
American Samoa
Arizona
California
Colorado
Guam
Hawaii
Idaho
Montana
Nevada
New Mexico
N. Mariana Islands
Oregon
Utah
Washington
Wyoming

AmLIl
lllinois
Indiana
Iowa
Kansas
Michigan
Minnesota
Missouri
Nebraska
North Dakota
Ohio
South Dakota
West Virginia
Wisconsin

AreaW
Alabama
Arkansas
Florida
Georgia
Kentucky
Louisiana
Mississippi
North Carolina
Oklahoma
South Carolina
Tennessee
Texas
Virginia

Ami IV
Connecticut
Delaware
District of Columbia
Maine
Maryland
Massachusetts
New Hampshire
New Jersey
New York
Pennsylvania
Puerto Rico
Rhode Island
Vermont
Virgin Islands
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ASCP
American Society of Clinical Pathologists. (A CAT research partner)

Batch Proce88lng
A method of submitting candidate applications for NCLEX. Applications are submitted directly to the board of
nursing, then forwarded to the Data Center on a regular basis with the appropriate funds.

Blueprint
The organizing framework for the NACEP which includes the percentage of items allocated to various categories.

Board Member
An individual who serves on a board of directors (national level) or a board of nursing (state level).

Board Processing
A method of submitting candidate applications for NCLEX. Applications are submitted directly to the board of
nursing, then forwarded to the Data Centeron a regular basis without money. The board is billed for the total numher
of processed applications at a later date.

BOD
Board of Directors of the National Council of State Boards of Nursing.

Bylaws
The laws which govern the internal affairs of an organization.

Cue Development Committee
A committeeof twelve clinical experts which has theresponsibility ofdeveloping cases for theComputerizedClinICal
Simulation Testing (CST) project

CAT
Computerized Adaptive Testing.

CAT-PNTeam
CAT-PN Field Test Team. (A team of the National Council)

CElT
CAT Education Information Team. (A team of the National Council)

CGFNS
The Commission on Graduates of Foreign Nursing Schools.

CIT
CAT Implementation Team. (A team of the National Council)

CLEAR
Council on Licensure, Enforcement and Regulation. (An organization of regulatory boards and agencies)

CMP
See Crisis Management Plan.

CNATS
Canadian Nurses Association Testing Service.
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Competency Statements
Statements of future-oriented nursing competencies synthesized by the Task Force on Examinations for the Fublre in
1988 and the Subcommittee on PNNN Competencies in 1989.

Cr.... Management Plan (formerly Disaster Plan)
A plan developed for NCLEX administtation to be implemented in the event of emergency or natural disaster.

CST
Computerized Clinical Simulation Testing.

CTB MacmlllanJMcGraw-H1II
National Council's test service for NCLEX and potential vendor for CAT testing services.

Data center
The unit at CTB which receives and processes direct NCLEX applications.

Delegate Assembly
Thepolicy-makingbodyofthe NationalCouncilwhich comprises 62 Member Boards. Each MemberBoard is entitled
to two votes.

Diagnostic Profile
The document sent to failing candidates reflecting their performance on various aspects of the NCLEX test plan.

DIF
Differential item functioning or potential bias.

Direct Application
A method of submitting candidate applications for NCLEX. Applications are submitted by candidates, with
appropriate fee, directly to the Data Center.

Disciplinary Data Bank
A National Council data management system that serves as a conduit and resource for disciplinary actions from
Member Boards.

EC
Examination Committee.

ETS
Educational Testing Service. A potential vendor for CAT, located in Princeton, New Jersey, and engaged in
educational and certification testing services.

Experimental Items
Newly written test questions placed into examinations for the purpose of gathering statistics. Experimental items or
"tryouts" are not used in determining the pass/fail result

ESL
English-as-a-Second-Language.

FARB
Federation of Associations of Regulatory Boards.
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Fiscal Year
October 1 to September 30 at the National Council.

FY
See Fiscal Year.

HCFA
Health Care Financing Administration.

ICN
International Council of Nurses.

ICONS
The Interagency Conference on Nursing Statistics. Members include the American Association of Colleges of
Nursing, the American Association ofCritical Care Nurses, the American Hospital Association's Center for Nursing
and its DataCenter, the American Nurses' Association, the Bureau ofLabor Statistics, the Division ofNursing (BHPR,
HRSA), the National Center for Health Statistics, the National Council of State Boards of Nursing, and the National
League for Nursing.

Issues
A quarterly newsletter published and nationally distributed by the National Council.

ITC
Insurance Testing Corporation. A subcontractor of ACT involved in delivering computerized tests.

Item
A test question.

Item Response Theory (IRT)
A family of psychometric measurement models based on characteristics of examinees' item responses. Their use
enables many measurement benefits (see Rasch Model).

Item Reviewers
See Panel of Content Experts; this new term will go into effect beginning FY93.

Item Writers
Individuals who write test questions for NCLEX RN/PN and NACEP.

KSA
Knowledge, Skill and Ability Statements.

LogIt
The naturallogrithem of an odds ratio, such as p/q or q/p where p is an odds (probability) value between 0 and 1, and
q equals 1-p. For items, the ratio is q/p and p represents the item p-value. Forpersons, the ratio is p/q and p represents
proportion of items an examinee gets correct on an examination. The log transformation of an odds ratio creates an
equal interval, logit scale on which item difficulty and person ability may be jointly represented.

LRP
Long Range Planning. (A committee of the National Council)

MAR
Model Administrative Rules.
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Mantel-Haenszel
A well-accepted statistical procedure used to estimate the differential item functioning or potential bias of test items.

Member Board
Ajurisdiction having a conttaet with the National Council to administer NCLEX-RN and/or NCLEX-PN.

MNPA
~~INursePracticeAcL

NACEP
Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program. (Also a committee of the National Council)

NANDA
North American Nursing Diagnosis Association.

NAPNES
The National Association for Practical Nurse Education and Service.

National Council Operational Plan
Goals, objectives and strategies of the National Council's long range plan as adopted by the Delegate Assembly. The
plan includes activities and funding sources for current and future years as planned by the Board of Directors and
committees.

National Ucensure Verification Form
A compilation of data taken from all licensure verification forms used in every state to develop a single national
licensure verifIcation form available for common use.

NBME
National Board of~edical Examiners. NB~ programmed the National Council's Computerized Adaptive Testing
(CAT) softwareand is currently modifying its computerized clinical simulation testing (CST) software for application
to nursing.

NCorNCSBN
Abbreviated form of National Council of State Boards of Nursing, Inc.

NCLEX-RNIPN
National Council Licensure Examination-Registered Nurse/PraCtical Nurse. Test dates are designated by month and
year. NCLEX-RN is administered in February andJuiy (e.g., 292 and 792). NCLEX-PN is administered in April and
October (e.g., 492 and 092).

NCME
National Council on ~easurement and Education.

NCNET
National Council's electronic mail network, available to each ~mber Board and used by subscription.

NCS
National Computer Systems. A subconttaetor with ACT for providing CAT data center services.

National COlUlcil ofState Boards ofNII.rsing, /nc.i/992
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Newsllltter
A biweekly publicationproduced by theNational Council staffand distributed to each MemberBoard. Items included
on aregularbasis: comminee reports; BoardofDirectors' agendas, majoractions and minutes; DisciplinaryDataBank
reports; analyses of federal legislation; examination statistics; notice of upcoming events; updates to the National
Council Manual; and solicitations for persons to serve in various capacities.

NFLPN
National Federation of Licensed Practical Nurses.

NIDA
National Institute of Drug Abuse.

NIMH
National Institute of Mental Health.

NIS
Nurse Information System. (A committee of the National Council)

NLN
National League for Nursing.

NP&E
Nursing Practice and Education. (A comminee of the National Council)

NPDB
National PractitionerData Bank. Afederal1y-mandated program forcollecting disciplinary data regarding health-care
practitioners. The NPDB began operation in September, 1990, receiving required medical malpractice payment
reports for all health care practitioners, and required reports of discipline and clinical privilege/society actions
regarding physicians and dentists. Mandatory reporting of licensure actions regarding other health care practitioners,
including nurses, is required by PL. 100-93, section five. Implementation of section five is on hold until the NPDB
has gained sufficient experience under Tide IV to extend services.

NT
Negotiating Team. A team of the National Council negotiating contracts with the top three bidders for NCLEX CAT
testing services.

OBRA 1987
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1987 (contains requirements for nurse aide training and competency
evaluation).

Panel of Content Experts
Individuals who review newly written items developed for NCLEX-RNIPN. Will be called "Item Reviewers"
beginning in FY93.

PCE
See Panel of Content Experts.

Person-fit Analysis
A statisticalprocedure conducted to determine whetheror not items from a previously-administered examination may
have been exposed to any group(s) of candidates.
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PL 100-203
A public law which institutes the Nursing Home Refonn Act and is part of the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act
(OBRA) of 1987.

PL99-660
Apublic law which institutes the Health CareQuality Assurance Act and establishes a national practitioners databank
(SeeNPDB).

Psych Corp
The Psychological Corporation. The Psychological Corporation is the test service contracted by the National Council
and guided by the Nurse Aide Competency Evaluation Program (NACEP) Committee to develop and maintain an
evaluation for nurse aide competency as mandated by federal legislation (OBRA).

Psychometrics
The scientific field concerned with all aspects of psychological measurement (or testing), specifically achievement,
aptitude, and mastery as measured by testing insuurnents.

Rasch Measurement Model
A psychometric item response theory model used to create the NCLEX measurement scale. Its use allows person-free
item calibration and item-free person measuremenL

Reliability
A test statistic that indicates the expected consistency ofa person's test scores across different administrations or test
forms. Reliability indicates the extent to which a test score is repeatable over time. That is. it reflects the degree to
which a test score reflects the examinee's true standing on the trait being measured. The National Council uses the
Kuder-Richardson Formula 20 (KR20) statistic to measure the reliability of NCLEX and NACEP.

RFP
Request for Proposals.

SNLQ
Slale NlI1'sing Legislation QUQTlerly. A quarterly journal publication reviewing musing legislation throughout the
country. The journal is published by the National Council and mailed by subscription.

Standard Setting
The process used to set the passing standard for an examination. The passing standard is the performance level (m
tennsofnumber ofcorrectanswers) atandabovewhich examinees areclassifiedas passing theexaminationand below
which they are classified as failing. For the National Council, the standard setting sessions are used to detennine the
minimum level of entry-level nursing knowledge. skills and abilities that candidates must demonstrate to pass. The
National Council uses a criterion-referenced procedure for standard setting and conducts a standard setting session
every three years for NCLEX and whenever the NACEP blueprint changes.

Summary Profiles
Published by CI'B, the NCLEX Summary Profiles are a concise repon of the performance of a nursing program's
graduates on the National Council Licensure Examination. A subscription to this service provides a nursing program
with percentofcandidates passing, test plan proflles, diagnostic profiles. and contentdimension reports that may help
program administrators and educators to monitor the effectiveness of the curriculum and identify areas ofstrength and
weakness.
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SUmmary Reports
Afterall phases ofa scoring cycle have been completed for an administtation, ern prepares a set ofsummary reports
for each state or jurisdiction. The reports include a variety ofdata summarizing the test performance ofall candidates.
The reports also include summaries of test performance for candidates who were educated in that state.

Sylvan-Kee Systems
A subconttaetor of ETS for delivering computerized tests.

TAA
Test Administtation Agency. An organization contracted by a Member Board to administer the NCLEX or NACEP
examination.

Tape States
A method of submitting candidate applications for NCLEX. The states develop their own applications, enter the
information on to a computer tape, and forward that tape to the Data Center following the examination.

Test Plan
The organizing framework for NCLEX-RN/PN which includes the percentageof items allocated to variouscategories.

Test service
The organization which provides test services to the National Council, including test scoring and reporting. CTB is
the test service for NCLEX, and The Psychological Corporation is the test service for NACEP.

TPC
See Psych Corp.

TRO
The Roach Organization. A subconttaetor of CI'B for delivering computerized tests.

Upfront
Software used with NCNET.

Validity
The extent to which inferences made using test scores are appropriate andjustified by evidence; an indication that the
test is measuring what it purports to measure. The National Council assures the content validity of its examinations
by basing each test strictly on the appropriate test plan (RN or PN) or blueprint (NACEP). Each test plan or blueprint
is developed from a current job analysis of entty-level practitioners.
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